
PENSION COMMITTEE
10.00 am

FRIDAY 20 SEPTEMBER 2019

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester

MEETING PAPERS





PENSION COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Friday 20 September 2019
VENUE: Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Apologies Andrea Griffiths

2.  Declarations of Interest - Andrea Griffiths
Members of the Committee are invited to declare any financial or 
pecuniary interest related to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

3.  Public Questions - Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written questions about matters that are within the 
powers and duties of the Committee. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 10.00am on 13th September 2019.

To answer any oral question(s) put by members of the public.

Depending on the nature of the oral questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in 
which case a written answer will be supplied as soon as 
reasonably possible after the meeting.

4.  Members' Questions - Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written members’ questions. The closing date/time 
for the receipt of questions is 10.00am on 13th September 2019.

5.  Minutes - (Pages 1 - 10) Andrea Griffiths
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 
10th May 2019.

6.  Presentation on Responsible Investment (Pages 11 - 34) Mark Spilsbury
The Committee is to receive a presentation from Faith Ward, 
Brunel Pension Partnership

7.  Risk Register (Pages 35 - 44) Mark Spilsbury



The Committee is asked to note the report.

8.  Draft Pension Fund Annual Report (Pages 45 - 196) Alex Bull
The Committee is asked to note the Pension Fund financial 
statements and agree the contents of the 2018/19 Annual Report.

9.  Pension Board Annual Report (Pages 197 - 198) Mark Spilsbury
The Committee is asked to note the report.

10.  Pension Administration Performance Report (Pages 199 - 200) Mark Spilsbury
The Committee is asked to note the report.

11.  Market Valuations & Quarterly Performance Review of 
Pension Fund : Quarter 2 2019 (Pages 201 - 216)

Alex Bull

12.  Exclusion of the press and public 
Resolved

 That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 the public be excluded from the 
meeting for the following agenda items, because it is likely 
that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the 
public interest in withholding the information outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information to the public.

Cllr Ray 
Theodoulou

13.  Exempt Minutes (Pages 217 - 228)
To approve as a correct record the exempt minutes of the 
meetings held on 10th May 2019.

Andrea 
Griffiths

14.  Independent Advisors Quarterly Review (Pages 229 - 246) John Arthur
The Committee is asked to note the report.

15.  Admission Body Requests (Pages 247 - 248) Alex Bull
The Committee is asked to approve the recommendation.  

16.  Review of Strategic Asset Allocation (Pages 249 - 252)
The Committee is asked to agree the recommendation.  Mark Spilsbury

17.  Ill Health Pension Strain Costs (Pages 253 - 262)
The Committee is asked to note the report.  Mark Spilsbury

18.  Brunel Pension Partnership Update (Pages 263 - 266)
The Committee is asked to note the report and confirm the 
recommended allocations.  

Mark Spilsbury

NOTES



(a) MEMBERSHIP – Councillors Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Shaun Parsons, 
Cllr Rachel Smith, Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cllr Ray Theodoulou and Cllr David Brown

COOPTEES -   Cllr Nigel Cooper and Peter Clark

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Jane Burns 01452 3284721 /fax: 42425149/e-mail: 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

(1) Will Members please sign the attendance list.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

PENSION COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Committee held on Friday 10 May 2019 
commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Lynden Stowe

Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Cllr David Brown
Peter Clark

Apologies: Cllr Rachel Smith and Cllr Nigel Moor FRTPI FRSA

In Attendance: Paul Blacker, Mark Spilsbury, Alex Bull, John Arthur (Independent 
Advisor) & Andrea Griffiths.

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Stowe informed the Committee that he was no longer a member of 
Cotswold District Council.  

2. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - 

No public questions were received.  

3. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS - 

No Members’ questions were received.  

4. MINUTES - 

The minutes of the meeting held on the 8th February 2019 were approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairperson.  

Resolved 

That the public minutes of the meeting held on the 8th February 2019 be approved as 
a correct record.  

5. PENSION BOARD MINUTES 

Resolved

That the Pension Board minutes were noted.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

6. PENSION FUND RISK REGISTER 

Mark Spilsbury, Head of Pensions introduced the risk register explaining that the 
risk register was a live document and therefore it was important for it to reflect the 
discussion carried out by the committee.    

Members were informed that since the risk register was last considered by the 
Committee, the following changes had been made: 

- A/R 1.2; the narrative had been amended to reflect the intention to increase 
the number of Senior Pension Officers, as set out in the Business Plan.  

- F1 and F5; the narrative had been updated to reflect the fact that the residual 
risk likelihood had now been reduced back to a 2, in the context of the full Q1 
2019 performance.    

- F2; Narrative updated to confirmed that the Investment Strategy Statement 
and Strategic Asset Allocation would be amended following a review to be 
undertaken later in 2019/20 once the results of the 2019 valuation were 
available.  

- F8; Narrative updated to reflect the fact that both of the employers who had 
left the fund had now paid their cessation debts in full.  

- F/D6; Narrative updated to reflect the possibility of introducing an ill health 
liability insurance process under which all employers were included within a 
blanket cover policy unless they formally opted out.  

During the discussion, further information was requested in relation the costs 
involved with ill health insurance policy/F/D6 and the benefits it provided.  It was 
agreed that a report would be produced for an appropriate future meeting of the 
Committee, which evaluates the current arrangements, with any alternative 
arrangements, from a risk and vfm perspective.  (Action MS).  Officers explained 
that pension strain costs emanating from ill health retirements are a major risk to 
individual employers within the fund, and the fund as a whole, and hence must be 
addressed by appropriate mitigating actions to protect the fund.  It was noted that 
the current insurance policy offered to employers was provided by  by Legal & 
General, via Hymans Robertson, with employers free to choose as to whether they 
took out such cover. Members felt employers should be encouraged to take the 
cover.    

In response to a question, it was noted that Hymans Robertson receive commission 
from Legal & General calculated as a percentage of premium paid by each 
employer when they opt to take out the cover. 

Resolved 

That the committee noted the Risk Register

7. PENSION FUND BUSINESS PLAN 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Head of Pension Fund, Mark Spilsbury, gave an update on the Gloucestershire 
Local Government Pension Fund Business Plan 2019-20.  
 
The Business Plan was prepared in accordance with the Department of 
Communities and Local Government best practice guidance for the governance of 
pension funds. The business plan confirmed that, at 31 March 2019, the 
Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) had 55,468 members, 
consisting of 19,026 active, 20,414 deferred and 16,028 retired 
(pensioner/dependent) members.
 
The Head of the Pension Fund clarified that the costs set out in the business plan 
were borne by the Fund and not by the County Council. Estimated costs within the 
proposed budget for 2019/20 totalled £9,143 million, which includes significant 
costs from investment managers and costs relating to the Brunel Pension 
Partnership.  It was explained that the main budget change between the 2018/19 
budget (£9,268m) and 2019/20 was a decrease in external investment 
management costs.   This was primarily because the budget for External Fund 
Manager costs had been reduced by £00,000, which reflected the removal of the 
budget provision for a potentially large performance fee that could have been 
payable under the previous UK equities investment mandate with Aberdean 
Standard Life, prior to the establishment of Brunel Active UK mandate. 

The Committee noted the key targets and major milestones for the Pension Fund 
for 2019/20, as detailed on page 28 of the report. 

Members were advised that the budget for staff costs had increased by £81,000, 
which related to the recruitment of three additional full time pension officer posts 
within the Pensions Administration Team. Officers explained that the 
Gloucestershire’s staffing costs were still significantly lower than many other similar 
sized LGPS funds.  

In response to a question, members were informed that the increased staffing 
levels would help to achieve the performance benchmark targets by 2021.  Officers 
explained that staffing costs were fully funded from the Pension Fund, hence the 
separate Pension Fund accounts.    

Members requested a costing chart over a three year period in order to closely 
monitor the BPP budget activity.  (Action – MS)  The Committee wanted to examine 
the expected reduction in external fund manager’s fees compared with the 
additional costs to the Fund of the Gloucestershire share of the Brunel Pension 
Partnership (BPP) costs.In relation to the BPP budget, the Chairperson informed 
the Committee that BPP had been advised that there is an expectation that there 
would be no future significant increases in the BPP budget.  

It was noted that there were a number of sub-groups, one of which was chaired by 
Mark Spilsbury that help to hold the BPP to account.  In response to a question, it 
was explained that all ten shareholders had to be in agreement to approve addition 
staffing resources, under the agreed Special Reserve Matter process. 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

During the discussion it was also noted that BPP senior staff would present to the 
Pension Committee throughout the year.  Mark Mansley and Chris Crozier from 
BPP would be presenting to the Committee later on in the agenda, primarily on 
investment performance and on the quarterly business report produced by the BPP.  

Resolved
 
The report was noted.

8. MARKET VALUATIONS AND QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE REVIEW OF THE 
PENSION FUND: QUARTER 1 

Alex Bull, Finance Manager (Pension Investments and Finance), presented an 
overview of market valuations and gave an update on the performance of the 
Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Scheme, (LGPS), as at 31st March 
2019. 

Member’s attention was drawn to the market value by manager table on page 33 of 
the report, from which it was noted that the fund had increased in value over the 
quarter to March 2019, rectifying the fall experienced over the quarter to December 
2018.  The committee continued to discuss the overall performance of the fund as 
set out in the chart.   This showed that, over the long term, fund performance was 
slightly higher than the strategic benchmark.

John Arthur, Independent Advisor to the Fund, added that performance had been 
managed against the benchmark and overall the fund was in a good position. 

Members expressed their frustration at the length of the external performance 
reports. Officers explained that in time Brunel would replace this report and a 
shorter, more user friendly version was anticipated.  It was suggested that it may be 
possible to offer a training session going forward on the BPP investment mandates 
and their performance.  
 
Resolved
 
That the report be noted.

9. UPDATE ON INVESTMENTS MADE WITH THE BRUNEL PENSION 
PARTNERSHIP

The Head of the Pension Fund, Mark Spilsbury informed the Committee that the 
report provided an update on: 

- The timetable for the implementation of the BPP Investment Portfolio’s
- The allocation ranges agreed by Committee under the current strategic asset 

allocation; and 
- The level of investments already made in the portfolio’s implemented to date. 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Members were advised that around 40% of the funds investments are now 
managed by or committed to the BPP. This should increase to around 64% by the 
end of 2019/20. 

Resolved

That the report be noted.  

10. BRUNEL PENSION PARTNERSHIP PERFORMANCE REPORT 

Mark Mansley and Chris Crozier, BPP presented the report.  

The Fund had delivered 7.3% on an absolute basis over Q1 and had outperformed 
its target benchmark by 0.5%.  The absolute return over the one year period was 
5%, underperforming on a one year basis by -1.8%.  The overall picture for Quarter 
1 was deemed positive by BPP.  

It was noted that 40% of the assets had now been transferred to BPP.  In response 
to a question, it was noted that the cost of the transition was significantly lower than 
the estimated figure included in the Brunel original business case.  Members felt 
that the report could be refined.  The Chairman requested that the detail and style 
of reporting needs to be re-examined in relation to future reports to the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund. BPP welcomed the opportunity to discuss the 
details further and agreed to amend the report and tweak the language where 
necessary. (MS/Mark Mansley, BPP)    

The Committee sought assurances in relations to transitions.  Mark Mansley 
explained that it was possible to keep within that estimated cost range and 
restructure the portfolio’s in order to so.  He advised members that BPP hoped to 
come in on the lower part of the range and were working hard to achieve to this 
position.  The transition panel had been appointed and they would seek to ask 
three transition managers to tender for it.  

The Independent Advisor, John Arthur inquired as to how BPP planned to appoint 
mangers to future funds, in terms of emerging markets and high alpha.  Mark 
Mansley explained that a lot of work had been already been undertaken, including 
the group analysis of managers, the correlation between categories of managers, 
diversification drawn on expertise of market characteristics.   The Independent 
Advisor supported the concept of combining managers in order to maximise the 
chances of achieving the agreed performance target, although he felt that the 
targets set were extremely stretching..  BPP remarked that the target should be 
aspirational and they were comfortable with the High Alpha and Emerging Markets 
at the moment.  

In response to a question, Members were advised that ESG considerations were 
taken very seriously by the BPP.  BPP wanted managers to take a broader long 
term view on portfolios.  If a manager decided to invest in a controversial company 
then BPP would want answers as to know why they had taken that decision.  

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

During the discussion, it was noted that Passive Developed Equites on page 69 of 
the report,  did not appear to corelate with page 71 of the report.  BPP agreed to 
check this information and report back to the next meeting of the Committee. 
(Action – Mark Mansley / Chris Crozier BPP).

Resolved 

That the report be noted.

11. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

It was resolved 

That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 & 5 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public.

12. EXEMPT MINUTES 

The exempt minutes of the meeting held on 8th February 2019 were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.
  
Resolved 

That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on the 8th February 2019 be 
approved as a correct record.  

13. EXEMPT PENSION BOARD MINUTES 

Resolved 

That exempt minutes be noted.  

14. REPORT FROM THE INDEPENDENT ADVISOR TO THE FUND 

Independent Advisor, John Arthur, provided members with an update on current 
investments.   The Committee were referred to the detailed Performance and 
Executive Summaries contained within the report.   

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

15. BRUNEL PENSION PARTNERSHIP BUSINESS REPORT 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Chris Crozier, BPP, presented the report in detail.    

Resolved

That the report be noted. 

16. 2019 ACTUARIAL VALUATION OF THE FUND 

Julie West and Paula McCall from Hymans Robertson, gave a detailed presentation 
of the report.  

Resolved 

That the presentation be noted.  

At this juncture the Chairperson had to leave the meeting, the Vice-Chairman 
proceeded to chair the meeting.  

17. ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 

The report was presented in detail by Julie West from Hymans Robertson.  It was 
explained that valuation was a statutory requirement of the regulations which 
facilitated a health check of the fund against an appropriate funding target and a 
review of its funding plan.  In order to carry out the valuation, actuarial assumptions 
were required to set an appropriate funding target.  

Member’s attention was drawn to the executive summary, which suggested 
changes to certain actuarial assumptions and the appropriate reasons were 
detailed accordingly. The Committee noted there had been some challenges with 
the valuation, although overall GCC LGPS was in a better position in comparison to 
peer funds.  

Resolved

That the actuarial assuptions set out in the report in relation to the 2019 
valuation of the Gloucestershire Fund are agreed by the Committee, subject 
to further discussion on the discount rate.  

18. ADMISSION BODY REQUESTS 

The Finance Manager, Alex Bull presented the report in detail.  Members were 
advised that since the last Pension Committee meeting in February 2019, there had 
been one new request for admitted body status within the Gloucestershire LGPS.

Resolved 

That the Committee approved the Officers recommendation.  

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 14:05pm

Page 8



Pension Committee – May  19

Topic Action Responsibility Progress
1 PENSION FUND RISK 

REGISTER 
It was agreed that a report would be 
produced for a future meeting of the 
Committee, which evaluated the current 
pension strain cost insurance 
arrangements, with any alternative 
arrangements, from a risk and vfm 
perspective.  

Mark Spilsbury Report submitted to September 2019 Pension 
Committee.

2 PENSION FUND 
BUSINESS PLAN 

Members requested a costing chart 
over a three year period in order to 
closely monitor the BPP budget activity.  

Mark Spilsbury A note, which is required to be published in the 
Annual Report of the Fund, setting out the costs 
and savings of the Brunel Pension Partnership 
applicable to the Gloucestershire Fund is included 
within the BPP update report to the September 19 
Pension Committee.

316. BRUNEL PENSION 
PARTNERSHIP 
PERFORMANCE 
REPORT 

17.

18. BPP welcomed the opportunity to 
discuss the details further and agreed 
to amend the report and tweak the 
language where necessary. 

Passive developed equites on page 69 
of the report, did not appear to correlate 
with page 71 of the report.  BPP agreed 
to check this information and report 
back to the next meeting of the 
committee.  

Mark Spilsbury/Mark 
Mansley, (BPP) 

Mark Mansley / Chris 
Crozier (BPP).

To be picked up in future Business reports 
produced by the BPP.

The BPP have confirmed that  the apparent 
difference between USA and North America 
weightings, the difference between the 
commentary and the number shown in the bar 
chart is due to the treatment of cash. (FYI, also, 
North America includes Canada)

The weight of US equity within the index (ex-cash) 
and product is 55%, however, if we include cash 
and amalgamate the Unhedged and hedged 
product the long exposure to GBP cash in the 
hedged product increases UK exposure and 
decreases the US exposure to 41.6%.

P
age 9



This is obviously quite technical and we can fully 
understand why it seems unclear to the committee 
– comes back to the point they made about more 
information and less data. We will adjust the chart 
to exclude cash going forward, as this give a more 
accurate view of equity exposure. We’ll also look 
at wording / consistency within the report to 
ensure members can readily pick up on the key 
themes.

4 BPP BUSINESS 
REPORT 

The length and format of the report was 
also raised, members felt it was a 
question of quality of information and 
perhaps the report could be more 
succinct.  

Mark Mansley Discussions are on-going with the BPP regarding 
the Business Report.

P
age 10



Responsible Investment
with a focus on reporting and climate change

Gloucestershire CC Pension Fund

Faith Ward Chief Responsible Investment Officer

DATE

Forging better futures Authorised and regulated by the 
Financial Conduct Authority No. 790168

Information Classification : Public

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 6



2Forging better futures

Our Pool

P
age 12



Forging better futures

Investment Principles

• Long-term investors

• Responsible investors

• Best practice governance

• Decisions informed through experts and 
knowledgeable officers and committees

• Evidence and research at the heart of investments

• Leadership and innovation

• Right risk for right return

• Full risk evaluation

• Responsible stewardship

• Cost effective solutions

• Transparent and accountable

• Collaboration

3

P
age 13



Forging better futures

What is Responsible Investment?

4

P
age 14



Forging better futures
5

P
age 15



Forging better futures

Aim of Brunel’s RI Strategy

To deliver stronger investment 

returns over the long term, 

protecting our clients’ interests 

through contributing to a more 

sustainable and resilient financial 

system, which supports sustainable 

economic growth and a thriving 

society.

6

P
age 16



Forging better futures

Priorities

7

Cyber security
Supply chain

management

Cost and tax transparency 

Human capital & diversity

Climate change

UK policy framework

P
age 17



Forging better futures

Stewardship

8

• Engagement
– Fund managers

– Overlay provider

– Collaborative forums e.g. LAPFF/ 
Institutional Investor Group on 
Climate Change (IIGCC)

• Voting
– Brunel voting policy – single voice

– Proxy overlay provider

– Work with fund managers, fund 
manager override

– Exceptions where needed

P
age 18



Forging better futures

Hermes EOS - Engagement & Voting

9

P
age 19



Forging better futures

Reporting

10

Strategic

• Responsible Investment Policy

• Stewardship Policy

• Climate Risk Position Statement (full policy December 2019)

• Hermes Annual Engagement Plan

• Brunel’s Annual Report and Financial Statements (includes diversity, TCFD and RI summary)

Advocacy

• Consultation responses – covering issues including corporate governance, stewardship, climate risk, audit and tax.

Quarterly

• RI & Stewardship summary of activity in the client quarterly reports

• Portfolio dashboards
– ESG risk scores – top holdings/ overall portfolio

– Carbon emissions

– Fossil fuel exposure measures

• Voting and engagement statistics

• Voting records – Brunel ((ACS) and pooled (LGIM)

• Hermes Public engagement report

Annual

• Hermes Annual Stewardship report

• LGIM Annual Corporate Governance Report (and summary)

• Brunel RI & Stewardship Annual report (interim report mid-2019, Full report early Q2 2020 onwards)

• PRI Transparency Report – 2019 performance completed and published mid-2020

• Separate more detailed TCFD/ Climate metrics report (positive/ negative impact) (planned 2020)

• Impact reporting (planned 2021)

P
age 20



To be transparent - quarterly performance RI reporting

11
Forging better futures

P
age 21



Forging better futures
12

Climate Change

P
age 22



Forging better futures

Climate Change Position Statement

“Brunel believes climate 

change poses significant 

risks to global financial 

stability and could thereby 

create climate-related 

financial risks to our own 

business operations, 

portfolios and client partner 

funds, unless action is taken 

to mitigate these risks”

13

P
age 23



Forging better futures

Climate Change Position Statement

14

Now

• 100% climate & carbon aware – all asset classes

• Carbon footprints - all listed equities

• Significant investment in clean and green 

technologies in private markets

• Targeted listed equity engagement – measuring 

success

• Voting action and support of climate shareholder 

resolutions

• Policy support to UK and international regulators and 

sovereign funds

• Task Force Climate-related Disclosures – ask all 

mangers and do it ourselves

• Signed investor statements – including Deforestation 

and forest fires in the Amazon

P
age 24



Forging better futures

Climate Change Position Statement

15

Work in progress

• What does 2C° Portfolios look like?

• Climate change full integrated into job 

descriptions and governance structures

• Physical climate risk assessments

• Scenario analysis

• Developing smart carbon risk metrics for 

portfolio construction and monitoring

• Engagement in other asset classes

• Developing new investment products

• ……. Added everyday 

P
age 25



Forging better futures

Transition pathway initiative

16

TPI is a global initiative led by Asset Owners 
and supported by Asset Managers

Established in 2017, investors supporting TPI 
jointly represent over $15 trillion combined 
Assets Under Management and Advice

TPI assesses companies’ progress on the 
transition to a low-carbon economy, 
supporting efforts to address climate change;

• in line with the recommendations of TCFD

• providing data for the Climate Action 100+ 
initiative

All TPI data are open-access and online

We currently cover 274 companies in 14 
sectors of the economy, accounting for c. 41% 
of emissions from public companies worldwide

P
age 26



Forging better futures

Overview of TPI Tool

17

TPI assesses companies on:

1. Management Quality, i.e. 

governance/management of 

emissions and transition 

risks/opportunities

2. Carbon Performance, i.e. quantitative 

benchmarking of companies’ 

emissions pathways against Paris 

Agreement

We select largest public companies by 

market cap and highest emitters in 14 

sectors:

• 116 energy companies (coal mining, 

electricity utilities, and oil and gas)

• 102 in manufacturing and basic 

materials (incl. aluminium, cement, 

paper, steel, etc.)

• 41 in transportation (autos and airlines)

• 15 in consumer goods and services

P
age 27



Forging better futures

Hot off the press

18

• New report on oil & gas, mining and 
electric utilities publication 17/9/2019

• We will discuss the main highlights and 
how this relates to Brunel’s 
commitment to decarbonisation.

P
age 28



Forging better futures

Tip of the iceberg

19

© Copyright Showeet.com

Engagement summaries

Voting records

RI Policies

Portfolio 

dashboards

Advocacy

BOB & Client Group Updates RI Subgroup

X-Pool RI

Market 

research

Daily alerts 
(data & news 

providers)

Portfolio Monitoring 
(daily/ monthly/ quarterly)

Manager 

selection & monitoring

Industry working 

groups

Product 

governance

Annual reports

Academic 

research

Public policy support

Peer to peer support

Brunel Governance 

& decision making

Best practice in our 

own operations

Confidential 

engagement

Product innovation

Training
Stakeholder 

communication

P
age 29



Forging better futures

What is changing?

• Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) requirements

• Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) guidance

• New UK Stewardship Code (late 2019)

• Other regulatory changes being considered

• Expectations of beneficiaries and other 

stakeholders

What next?

• Investment Strategy Review

• Investment opportunities

Gloucestershire's own approach

20

P
age 30



Forging better futures

Have you integrated RI and stewardship into all your areas 

of responsibility and control?

• Asset allocation - awareness of wider risks & opportunities

• Integration into liabilities (actuarial valuation)

• Ensuring consultancy advice includes ESG implications

• Holding Brunel and legacy managers to account

• Identify evolving investment needs – Client Group, CAD 

policy

• Communications to beneficiaries and other stakeholders

What is important to you?

• Identify topics or themes that priorities for Gloucestershire

• Direct affiliations/ memberships to support own agenda 

(compatible and complementary to Brunel)

Gloucestershire's own approach

21

P
age 31



Forging better futures

Sustainable Development Goals

22

Good life goals

P
age 32

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=bbrYODvkvGk&feature=youtu.be


Forging better futures
23

Disclaimer

This content is produced by the Brunel Pension Partnership Limited. It is for the exclusive 
use of the recipient and is neither directed to, nor intended for distribution or use by, 
any person or entity who is a citizen or resident of or located in any locality, state , 
country or jurisdiction where distribution, publication, availability or use of this 
document would be contrary to law or regulation. 

This content is provided for information purposes only and is Brunel’s current view, 
which may be subject to change. This document does not constitute an offer or a 
recommendation to buy, or sell securities or financial instruments, it is designed for the 
use of professional investors and their advisers. It is also not intended to be a substitute 
for professional financial advice, specific advice should be taken when dealing with 
specific situations. 

Past performance is not a guide to future performance.

Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority No. 790168

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Pension Committee
20th September 2019

Review of the
Pension Fund Risk Register 

Report of the Director of Finance

The attached Risk Register reflects the risks relating to the Pension Fund and 
indicates the significance of each risk.

As per previous reports the significance of individual risks is measured by a 
scoring system which multiplies the likelihood of the occurrence with the 
potential impact of such an occurrence. Both “likelihood” and “impact” are 
scored 1 – 5 and after multiplying both numbers together, the higher the 
product, the higher the risk.

Risk Score Range Risk Category
1 to 6 Low
7 to 12 Medium
13 to 25 High

The attached Risk Register shows each risk, scored before and after controls 
are in place (i.e. the inherent and residual risks).

The risks are referenced as follows:

Financial Risks (F)
Funding / Demography Risks (F/D)
Administration / Regulatory Risks (A/R)
Governance Risks (G)

Since the risk register was last considered by the Pension Committee in May 
2019, a number of changes have been made, which are all highlighted in 
yellow, with the new narrative being shown in red,  in the attached updated 
risk register.

The majority of the changes relate to amended period comments which are 
shown in red text. These update the risk register to reflect the current position 
without changing the overall residual risk score.

However the residual risk scores of the following risk has been amended:

Risk F/D3 - A company admitted to the Fund as an admission body may 
become financially unviable.

The likelihood has reduced from a 3 to a 2 because two high risk employers 
without guarantors left the fund between March 2018 and January 2019. Both 
have now repaid theirs cessation deficits of around £6m and £6.2m 
respectively.

Recommendation

That the Committee notes the risk register.

Contact Officer

Mark Spilsbury - Head of Pension Fund (01452 328920)

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

PENSION FUND RISK REGISTER UPDATED IN AUGUST 2019 FOR CONSIDERATION BY THE PENSION COMMITTEE IN SEPTEMBER 2019

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R

F1
Fund assets fail to deliver returns in line with the 
anticipated returns underpinning valuation of 
liabilities over the long-term

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Only anticipate long-term return on a 
relatively prudent basis to reduce risk of 
under-performing.
Assets invested on the basis of specialist 
advice, in a suitably diversified manner 
across asset classes, geographies, 
managers, etc.
Analyse progress at three yearly 
valuations for all employers.  
Inter-valuation roll-forward of liabilities 
between valuations at whole Fund level.   
Actuarial Review on a like for like basis 
has confirmed a strong deficit recovery 
plan.

2 4 8 ► Financial

Due to increased uncertainty regarding 
BREXIT and other political risks and 
possible negative long term implications, 
this risk is continually monitored to 
determine whether the  likelihood of this 
risk materialising needs to be increased. In 
the context of the significant reduction in 
the value of the Funds assets during 
quarter 4 in 2018, the residual risk 
likelihood was increased from a 2 to a 3 in 
January 2019. In the context of the returns 
for the full Q1 2019 the liklihood score has 
been returned to a 2.

28/08/2019

F2 Inappropriate long-term investment strategy. The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Regular monitoring of Fund's cash flow 
with actuarial estimates of future cash 
flow position.                               Overall 
investment strategy options including 
diversification considered as an integral 
part of the funding strategy.  Use of asset 
liability modelling.   Actuarial Review on a 
like for like basis has confirmed a strong 
deficit recovery plan.

2 4 8 ► Financial

Phased movement to new allocation is 
being undertaken in the context of reducing 

exposure to equities whilst maintaining 
adequate returns and minimising new 

transition costs before the transition into 
the Brunel Pension Partnership. A slightly 
amended asset allocation to the various 
investment portfolio's available under the 

BPP was agreed by the Pension 
Committee at it's February 18 meeting. 
The Investment Strategy Statement and 

Strategic Asset allocation will be amended 
following a review to be undertaken later in 

2019/20 once the results of the 2019 
valuation are available.

28/08/2019

F3 Fall in risk-free returns on Government bonds, 
leading to rise in value placed on liabilities.

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Stabilisation modelling at whole Fund 
level allows for the probability of this 
within a longer term context.  
Inter-valuation monitoring, as above.
Some investment in bonds helps to 
mitigate this risk.   Actuarial Review on a 
like for like basis has confirmed a strong 
deficit recovery plan.

3 3 9 ► Financial

Falling Govt Bond yields is reducing the 
discount rate (the level of expected 
investment returns) which increases the 
value placed on past service liabilities, 
which was why the Residual Risk likelihood 
score was increased to a 3 in November 
2018. Slightly higher asset outperformance 
assumption used in the 2019 valuation will 
partially address this issue.

28/08/2019

F4 Increasing Pension Fund deficit The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Actuarial review via Triennial Valuation 
and regular update reports.
Regular consideration by Pension 
Committee on manager performance 
relative to funding assumptions, funding 
position and funding strategy.  Actuarial 
Review on a like for like basis has 
confirmed a strong deficit recovery plan.

3 3 9 ► Financial

Funding deficit reduced at 2016 Fund 
Valuation and performance over the last 3 
year period exceed the anticipated returns 
used as part of the 2016 valuation. 
Funding deficit is expected to decrease 
following the 2019 valuation of the Fund.

28/08/2019

Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

1e

P
age 37



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

F5 Active investment manager under-performance 
relative to benchmark.

Maximising investment returns to help 
the Fund achieve its funding target

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Quarterly investment monitoring analyses 
market performance and active managers 
relative to their index benchmark.  
Diversification of investments across 
asset classes and across different fund 
managers

2 3 6 ► Financial

Performance in the current portfolio's and 
in the new BPP portfolio's will be monitored 
against agreed performance targets and 
will be reported back to the Committee on 
a quarterly basis. However in the context of 
the performance in quarter 4 of 2018 the 
likelihood of this risk had been increased 
from a 2 to a 3.  In the context of the 
returns for the full Q1 2019 the liklihood 
score has been returned to a 2.

28/08/2019

F6 Pay and price inflation significantly more than 
anticipated.

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 2 8

The focus of the actuarial valuation 
process is on real returns on assets, net 
of price and pay increases. 
Inter-valuation monitoring, as above, 
gives early warning. 
Some investment in index-linked bonds 
also helps to mitigate this risk.  
Employers pay for their own salary 
awards and should be mindful of the 
geared effect on pension liabilities of any 
bias in pensionable pay rises towards 
longer-serving employees.  

3 2 6 ► Financial 28/08/2019

F7 Unexpected increase in employer’s contribution 
rate 

To stabilise changes in employer 
contribution rates over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

An explicit stabilisation mechanism has 
been agreed for eligible employers as part 
of the funding strategy.  Other measures 
are also in place to limit sudden increases 
in contributions.
Obtain information on financial strength of 
individual employers. Discuss with 
employers their ability to absorb rises in 
their level of contribution.
Where appropriate mitigate impact 
through deficit spreading and phasing in 
of contribution rises, with appropriate 
security from employers and further 
analysis by the Fund’s actuary.

2 3 6 ► Financial 28/08/2019

F8 Employers without a guarantor fail financially 
leaving a deficit with the Fund.

To ensure individual employers in the 
Fund are responsible for their own 
costs 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

The Fund seeks a cessation debt (or 
security/guarantor) to minimise the risk of 
this happening in the future. At risk 
employers are identified and are engaged 
in discussions over remedial actions in 
advance of retirement of all active 
members. 
If it occurs, the Actuary calculates the 
added cost spread pro-rata among all 
employers 

2 3 6 ► Financial

Two high risk employers without 
guarantors left the fund between March 
2018 and January 2019. Both have now 
repaid theirs cessation deficits of around 
£6m  and £6.2m respectively.

28/08/2019

F9 Financial loss experienced during the transitioning 
of Assets to the new Brunel Portfolio's

Maximising investment returns to help 
the Fund achieve its funding target

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 5 15

Detailed reconciliation of assets 
transferred undertaken by the Finance 
and Investments Manager. Detailed report 
from transition experts commissioned by 
the Brunel PP will be produced following 
each transition to provide assurance to 
clients.

2 4 8 ► Financial

£510m has been transitioned to the BPP 
passive portfolio's and £345m to the BPP 
UK Equities active portfolio and a 
reconciliation has confirmed that all assets 
transitioned as expected.

28/08/2019

P
age 38



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

F/D1 Pensioners living longer, thus increasing cost to 
Fund.

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 5 2 10

Set mortality assumptions with some 
allowance for future increases in life 
expectancy.
The Fund Actuary has direct access to 
the experience of over 50 LGPS funds 
which allows early identification of 
changes in life expectancy that might in 
turn affect the assumptions underpinning 
the valuation.
The Fund also sets life expectancy 
assumptions using ClubVita, which is a 
specialised longevity company and 
provides life expectancy assumptions 
based on the profile of the Fund’s own 
membership.
Administering Authority encourage any 
employers concerned at costs to promote 
later retirement culture.  Each 1 year rise 
in the average age at retirement would 
save roughly 5% of pension costs.  

3 2 6 ► Financial

This is being addressed under the 2019 
valuation of the Fund with specific 
Gloucestershire related data being 
supplied by Club Vita analysis, hence 
longevity movements will be taken into 
account under the 2019 valuation.

28/08/2019

F/D2

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion of actively 
contributing employees declines relative to retired 
employees leading to the possibility of there not 
being sufficient liquid funds available to pay 
liabilities as they fall due.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Continue to monitor at each valuation, 
seeking monetary amounts rather than % 
of pay. Between valuations regularly 
monitor level of active members on both a 
total Fund basis and by individual 
employer. Regularly monitor how cash 
flow positive the Fund is. Regularly review 
investment strategy.

2 3 6 ► Financial

The Fund commissioned Hymans 
Robertson to undertake cash flow 
modelling based on the following three 
scenarios:
Scenario 1 – cash flows projections based 
on 2016 valuation membership data, 
Scenario 2 – cash flows projections based 
on 2016 valuation membership data, with a 
20% reduction in actives, Scenario 3  - with 
a 40% reduction in active members. This 
modelling indicated that the fund will 
remain cashflow positive until 2033 under 
scenario1, to 2026 under scenario 2 and 
would immediately become casflow 
negative under scenario 3. Given that 
active membership in the Gloucestershire 
scheme is still increasing slightly it is felt 
that scenario 1 is the most likely outcome 
for the fund.

28/08/2019

P
age 39



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

F/D3 A company admitted to the Fund as an admission 
body may become financially unviable

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

A transferee admission body will always 
have a funding guarantee from the 
transferring scheme employer. A 
community admission body will only be 
admitted to the Fund if they have a 
funding guarantee from a scheme 
employer with tax raising powers. A surety 
bond to cover the cost of paying pensions 
early if the company goes into liquidation 
is also generally required by the scheme 
employer to cover the potential risk of the 
admitted body becoming insolvent and the 
value of this surety or bond is reviewed 
regularly to ensure it provides adequate 
cover for the financial risks involved

2 3 6 ▼ Financial

The residual risk has reduced because two 
high risk employers without guarantors left 
the fund between March 2018 and January 
2019. Both have now repaid their cessation 
deficits of around £6m  and £6.2m 
respectively.

28/08/2019

F/D4 Deteriorating patterns of early retirements
To ensure individual employers in the 
Fund are responsible for their own 
costs 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Employers are charged the extra cost of 
non ill-health retirements following each 
individual decision. 2 3 6 ► Financial 28/08/2019

F/D5 Reductions in payroll causing insufficient deficit 
recovery payments

To ensure individual employers in the 
Fund are responsible for their own 
costs 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Require employers to pay sums due for 
deficit recovery contributions as a fixed 
monetary amount rather than being 
expressed as a % of pay.

2 3 6 ► Financial 28/08/2019

F/D6 Ill-health retirements significantly more than 
anticipated

To ensure individual employers in the 
Fund are responsible for their own 
costs 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Monitoring of each employer’s ill-health 
experience on an ongoing basis. The 
employer may be charged additional 
contributions if this exceeds the ill-health 
assumption built in. Ill health insurance is 
available to be purchased by individual 
employers

2 3 6 ► Financial

The possibility / feasibility of introducing a 
new ill health liability insurance procedure 
under which all high risk employers within 
the fund are included within an overall 
external insurance policy arranged by the 
fund, or are included in an internal captive 
self insurance arrangements, is currently 
being examined. It is intended that this 
new procedure will be implemented from 
the start of 2020/21 and a full report with 
the recommended way forward will be 
submitted to the Committee in November 
19. 

28/08/2019

F/D7

Adverse effect on the Fund’s investment strategy 
and employer contributions if large numbers of 
active members are outsourced on a “closed” (to 
new entrants) basis

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 3 9

Take advice from the Fund actuary on the 
likely impact this will have on Fund 
investment out performance assumptions 
and employer contributions. Monitor levels 
of outsourcings on a “closed” basis and 
advise employers of implications so these 
are taken into account when they consider 
the business case for an outsourcing. 
Regularly review investment strategy and 
strategic asset allocation.

2 3 6 ► Financial

No significant impact to date, but the risk 
will continue to be monitored on a regular 
basis. The comPASS modelling of 
contributions payable by GCC, the Police 
and District Council's has taken account of 
this, especially the Publica outsourcing and 
hence this will be taken into account when 
the employer contributions are set for the 
tears 2020/21 to 2022/23.

28/08/2019

P
age 40



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

F/D8
Transfers out of the Fund into DC schemes due to 
introduction of "Freedom & Choice" resulting in a 
change in funding level

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 3 9

Taken advice from the Fund actuary on 
the proportion of the Fund's active and 
deferred members aged 55 or over and 
the maximum exposure of the Fund to 
these transfers, split between active and 
deferred members. Considered impact on 
funding level given different possible 
levels of take up from active and deferred 
members.

2 2 4 ► Financial

The comPASS modelling of contributions 
payable by GCC, the Police and District 
Council's has taken account of this, 
especially the Publica outsourcing and 
hence this will be taken into account when 
the employer contributions are set for the 
tears 2020/21 to 2022/23.

28/08/2019

A/R1.1

Significant additional costs resulting from changes 
to national pension requirements and/or HMRC 
rules e.g. changes arising from public sector 
pensions reform, and/or more complex regulations 
requiring increased administration resources.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 3 9

The Administering Authority considers all 
consultation papers issued by the 
Government and comments where 
appropriate. Considered different % take 
up scenarios for active and deferred 
members
The results of the most recent reforms 
have been built into the 2013 valuation.  
Any changes to member contribution 
rates or benefit levels will be carefully 
communicated with members to minimise 
possible opt-outs or adverse actions. 

2 3 6 ► Legislative & 
Regulatory

In order to effectively deal with the 
increased workload emanating from the 
new 2016 CARE scheme, additional 
pensions officers were recuited to in the 
Pension Administration Team during 2016 
as stage 1 of a review of the Pension 
Administration Team. A further four staff 
members have now been recuited in 2018 
under stage 2 of the review. The Pension 
Committee agreed at it's May 19 meeting 
to build in sufficient resources within the 
budget to action Stage 3 of the review 
which is to increase the number of senior 
pension officers by three, from fiour to 
seven. 

28/08/2019

A/R 1.2

Under resourcing of Pension Administration staff 
resulting in a deterioration of performance against 
key performance indicators and/or intervention from 
the Pensions Regulator.

Experience indicates that intervention 
by the Pensions Regulator has major 
implications in terms of increased 
workload and/or adverse financial 
implications.

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

This risk is regularly monitored and, as 
detailed in risk A/R 1.1 actions have 
already been taken to increase the level 
of Pensions Officers in order to improve 
performance against key performance 
indicators.

3 3 9 ► Legislative & 
Regulatory

In order to effectively deal with the 
increased workload emanating from the 
new 2016 CARE scheme, additional 
pensions officers were recuited to in the 
Pension Administration Team during 2016 
as stage 1 of a review of the Pension 
Administration Team. A further four staff 
members have now been recuited in 2018 
under stage 2 of the review. The Pension 
Committee agreed at it's May 19 meeting 
to build in sufficient resources within the 
budget to action Stage 3 of the review 
which is to increase the number of senior 
pension officers by three, from fiour to 
seven. 

28/08/2019

A/R2 Failure to collect and account for contributions from 
employers and employees on time

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Regular monthly monitoring and 
reconciliation of Fund contributions 
received, including a detailed analysis of 
individual employer contributions and 
employee contributions by pay banding. 
Robust debt management processes are 
in place  to recover any late payments

2 3 6 ► Legislative & 
Regulatory 28/08/2019

P
age 41



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

A/R3 Loss of funds through fraud or misappropriation

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Procedures and processes are in place 
and applied in relation to eg: checking for 
"ghost" scheme members;  multiple levels 
of authorisation for claims and fund 
payments plus secondary checking of 
lump sum payments. Procedures are 
documented and staff are trained and 
managed in carrying these out. The 
Fund's internal auditors carry out regular 
reviews.

2 3 6 ► Fraud

The funds internal auditors regularly review 
the adequacy of controls within the 
Pensions Section. These reviews make 
use of experienced Counter Fraud staff 
who are available to the internal auditors.

28/08/2019

A/R4

Does the fund have sufficient resources to provide 
sufficient input to the development of the Brunel 
Pension Partnership in the context of the 
importance of ensuring that the partnership 
operates in an efficient and effective manner.

To ensure the fund is proactive in the 
development of the proposals and the 
robust control environment required for 
the collective management of assets, 
to avoid a detrimental impact on the 
fund. 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Additional staffing resources may be 
required to facilitate dedicated staffing 
resources to take forward the pooling 
proposal. This may require additional 
contributions from participating funds.

2 3 6 ► Legislative & 
Regulatory

Now that the partnership has developed to 
the establishment of the new company, 
with senior appointments being made, 
limited senior officer resources can now be 
more directed at the important client side 
roles, including looking at the adequacy of 
control systems.

28/08/2019

A/R5

Failure to undertake a full reconciliation of 
Guaranteed Minimum Pensions records held on the 
Gloucestershire LGPS Altair system with those held 
by HMRC could result in additional financial costs 
to the Gloucestershire Fund.

Additional financial costs to the Fund Head of Pension 
Fund 5 3 15

A detailed reconciliation procedure has 
commenced and a large number of 
discrepancies have been identified where 
the Gloucestershire Pension Fund is not 
liable for GMP payments held on HMRC 
records.

2 3 6 ► Governance

Detailed reconciliation process completed 
and results returned to HMRC which has 
resulted in a significant reduction in 
potential iabilities.

28/08/2019

G1

Administering Authority unaware of structural 
changes in an employer’s membership (e.g. large 
fall in employee members, large number of 
retirements) or not advised of an employer closing 
to new entrants

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority has a close 
relationship with employing bodies and 
communicates required standards e.g. for 
submission of data. 
The Actuary may revise the rates and 
Adjustments certificate to increase an 
employer’s contributions (under 
Regulation 38) between triennial 
valuations

2 3 6 ► Governance 28/08/2019

G2
Actuarial or investment advice is not sought, or is 
not heeded, or proves to be insufficient in some 
way

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority maintains 
close contact with its specialist advisers.
Advice is delivered via formal meetings 
involving Elected Members, and recorded 
appropriately.
Actuarial advice is subject to professional 
requirements such as peer review

2 3 6 ► Governance 28/08/2019

G3
Administering Authority failing to commission the 
Fund Actuary to carry out a termination valuation 
for a departing Admission Body.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority requires 
employers with Best Value contractors  ( 
Transferee Admission Bodies) to inform it 
of forthcoming changes. The 
administering authority also monitors 
contract periods of Transferee Admission 
Bodies and regularly monitors levels of 
active employees across all employers 
but particularly for Community Admission 
Bodies. Where their active membership 
materially decreases further steps are 
taken.

2 3 6 ► Governance 28/08/2019

P
age 42



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

G4 Failure to comply with the Myners’ Investment 
Principles

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Compliance as detailed in the Statement 
of Investment Principles is kept under 
regular review. 

2 3 6 ► Governance 28/08/2019

G5
Lack of relevant expertise, knowledge,skills and 
resources at officer and member level in relation to 
administering the LGPS

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Training needs assessments for the 
Administering Authority are carried out 
and an annual training plan produced. The 
Fund subscribes to the CIPFA Knowledge 
and Skills Framework for the LGPS and 
makes this information available to all 
members of the Pension Committee and 
relevant officers. Appropriately qualified 
external advisers and consultants are 
used as appropriate.

3 3 9 ► Governance

This risk has slightly increased with the 
departure of the previous S151 Officer who 
had accumulated significant expertise in 
this area, having had limited knowledge 
prior to her appointment. The acting S151 
officer now takes up this role and is 
already increasing his knowledge in this 
area after discussions with the Head of 
Pensions, Actuary, and Independent 
Advisor to the Fund.

28/08/2019

G6 Failure to internally hold personal data securely and 
keep pension records up-to-date and accurate

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Personal data and scanned documents 
relating to scheme members are 
maintained in an online system with 
logical access controls via individual 
password access for those that need to 
maintain and access this information. 
Procedures for maintaining pension 
records are documented and the process 
is monitored and managed within the 
Pensions Administration team. 
Procedures are regularly reviewed by the 
Fund's internal auditors. Physical access 
controls are also in operation within the 
Pension Fund office. 

1 4 4 ► Governance 28/08/2019

G7

Loss of experience on the Pension Fund 
Committee or Pension Board, and/or the lack of 
adequate training, resulting in a negative impact on 
governance arrangements within the 
Gloucestershire LGPS.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 4 12

Training is provided on an on-going basis 
to Committee and Board Members both at 
formal meetings of the Committee/Board 
and at internal and external training 
sessions.

1 4 4 ► Governance

The Pension Board was established in 
2015 with members appointed for a period 
of 4 years, which can be extended by 4 
years with the agreement of the member of 
the Board. Four members who have 
served for 4 years have been written to to 
see if they are willing to continue to sit on 
the Board for up to a further 4 years. At the 
time of update three members have 
confirmed that they are willing to stay on 
the Board.

28/08/2019

G8

Transition from the current custodian to State 
Street Bank under the Brunel Pension Partnership 
resulting in failings during the transition and/or 
inadequate performance reports post transition 
and/or negative impacts on the final accounts of the 
Pension Fund due to failings in the accounting 
reports received from State Street Bank

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 4 12

Detailed control procedures implemented 
during the transition with supoort from a 
transition manager working for the Brunel 
Pension Partnership

1 3 3 ► Governance

No major problems were encoutered 
during the transitions undertaken to date 
and assets transferred were reconciled 
back to the detailed records held by each 
manager.

28/08/2019

P
age 43



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

G9

Failure to comply with the General Data Protection 
Regulation resulting in breaches which have to be 
reported to the Pension Regulator and the 
Information Commissioners Office resulting in 
compliants from scheme members and/or 
significant financial fines. 

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 5 4 20

Detailed guidance and support was 
obtained from the GCC Information 
Management Team which resulted in 
additional guidance being provided on the 
Pension Fund website to meet the 
requirements of GDPR.

3 4 12 ► Governance

Detailed guidance and support was 
obtained from the GCC Information 
Management Team which resulted in 
additional guidance being provided on the 
Pension Fund website to meet the 
requirements of GDPR.

28/08/2019

G10

Failure to protect the Pension Fund's key 
information and data as a result of exploited 
technological vulnerabilities facilitated through 
malicious attack, primarily from external sources.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 5 4 20

Anti-malware and internet security 
software. Patch management policies and 
procedures. Compliance with PSN. 
Internal and External ICT security 
testing.Manging user privileges.

3 3 9 ► Governance 28/08/2019

P
age 44



Pension Committee
20th September 2019

Pension Fund Annual Report and Accounts 2018/19

Report of the Strategic Finance Director

Introduction

The enclosed draft Pension Fund Annual Report is prepared in accordance with the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013.

These regulations require the Annual Report to be published on or before 1st December 
following the year end, and also prescribe the minimum content of the report.

Annual Report and Statement of Accounts

The Annual Report for 2018/19, in accordance with the regulations, includes all of the 
Fund’s strategy and policy documents as well as the Fund’s accounts and performance 
details.

In this years’ Annual Report officers have included the summary section on pages 3 and 6 
following its introduction during 2017/18. This section includes a more graphical 
presentation of the key information contained within the full report. It remains the intention 
that, if preferred, this summary introduction section may be read as a stand alone 
summary of the Annual Report. 

The Annual Report includes the Pension Fund accounts for 2018/19 between pages 62 
and 104 of the current draft. These accounts have been audited and were considered by 
the County Council’s Audit and Governance Committee on 26th July 2019.

The Annual Report is now required to include a section on Investment Pooling which sets 
out the costs and savings resulting from the pooling initiative. Further details of 
Gloucestershire’s pooling progress including cost and savings details are available on 
pages 105 and 108 of the full report. 

Summary of Audit Findings Report issued by Grant Thornton

The detailed external auditor’s report on the Fund’s accounts is provided on pages 63 and 
64 of the current draft. The auditor’s opinion on the accounts is shown below:

In our opinion: 
 The Pension Fund financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 

transactions during the year ended 31st March 2019 and of the amount and 
disposition at that date of the Fund’s assets and liabilities; and

 The Pension Fund financial statements have been prepared properly in accordance 
with the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2018/19; and

 The Pension Fund financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014

Page 45

Agenda Item 8



Opinion on Other Matters:
 In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the 

Pension Fund’s financial statements and our knowledge of the Pension Fund the 
other information published together with the Pension Fund’s financial statements in 
the Statement of Accounts for the financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the Pension Fund’s financial statements.

The latest version of the annual report included within your committee papers is subject to 
further updates, including some reformatting and page numbering amendments, prior to 
the final version being sent to the printer at the end of September for publication by 
December 2019. 

Recommendation

The Committee are asked to note the Pension Fund financial statements and agree the 
contents of the 2018/19 Annual Report.

Contact Officer

Alex Bull – Finance Manager (01452 328945)

Page 46



1  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Information contained in this report is provided for information purposes 
only. Nothing contained herein should be construed as a recommendation or 
solicitation to buy or sell any security. Please remember past performance is 
not necessarily a guide to future returns.

Page 47



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  2

Contents
Introduction 3
Independent Investment Advisor’s Report  7
Overall Fund Management 9
 Scheme management and advisors 9
 Risk management 10
 Financial performance 11

Investment Policy and Performance 18
Scheme Administration 24
 Administration arrangements 24
     Value for money statement 24
      Summary of activity 25
      Key performance data 25
      Other information 29
      Internal Disputes Resolution Procedure 36

Pensions Administration Strategy 37
Executive Summary on the Last Triennial Valuation 42
Actuarial Report on Fund 44
Rates & Adjustment Certificate 46
Governance 52
 Pension Board 52

Governance Compliance 53
 Fund Governance Compliance Statement 54
 Governance Policy Statement 56

Fund Account, Net Assets Statement and Notes 62
Asset Pools 105
Funding Strategy Statement 109
Investment Strategy Statement 135
Communications Policy Statement 142
Summary of Fund Benefits 144
Glossary of Terms  145

Page 48



3  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

It is with pleasure that we 
introduce this year’s Annual 
Report of the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund. It contains 
details of the administration 
of the Fund, together with its 
investments and accounts for 
the year to 31st March 2019. 

Introduction

This introductory section provides a summarised 
version of the key issues set out within the Annual 
Report.

The Fund is managed and administered by 
Gloucestershire County Council on behalf of 
Gloucestershire local authorities, other bodies 
providing public services and certain admitted bodies, 
as part of the national Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) Regulations. The Fund collects 
employer and employee pension contributions in 

relation to active employees of these organisations 
and meets the cost of pension benefits due to current 
and former employees.

Fund Membership and Employers

This report is primarily aimed at members and 
participating employer organisations within the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund. In terms of Fund 
Members these have increased steadily over the last 
five years, as illustrated below.

 Contributors         Pensioners         Deferred Pensioners

 Undecided/Unprocessed Leavers         Total Members

2014/15

60,000

50,000

40,000

30,000

20,000

10,000

0
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Membership Summary

To
ta

l M
em

be
rs

Page 49



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  4

Membership at the end of 2018/19 
stood at approximately 55,400, 
split between active contributors 
(18,969), pensioners (16,058) and 
deferred members (20,417). There 
were also unprocessed leavers 
(4,690) at the end of the period. 
This equates to a rise of 1,900 
compared with the position at the 
end of 2017/18. A more detailed 
breakdown of membership can 
be found on pages 16 to 17 in the 
main body of the report.

With regards to participating 
employers, the Pension Fund 
has seen an increase of 4 new 
employers joining the Fund 
during 2018/19 to a total of 
205. A breakdown of employer 
groups and contributions received 
is shown graphically above.  
Contributions received from 
employers and employees totalled 
£111.1m during the year.

A detailed breakdown of all 
participating employers and 
the total value of contributions 
received during 2018/19 can be 
found on pages 21 to 24 in the 
main body of the report. 

Policy Documents

The latest version of the Fund’s 
policy statements covering 
Investment Principles, Funding 
Strategy, Governance and 
Communication, as well as a brief 

summary of scheme benefits are 
also included within the main body 
of the report. 

Actuarial Arrangements

The detailed actuarial report 
on the Fund can be found on 
pages 44 to 45. This outlines 
the approach taken to secure 
Fund solvency while keeping 
employer contributions stable and 
also gives details of the actuarial 
assumptions and methods used to 
value liabilities at the last triennial 
valuation. The Fund’s assets, as 

at the last triennial valuation date 
of 31st March 2016 were valued 
at £1,703 million, which were 
sufficient to meet 79.7% of the 
liabilities (i.e. the present value 
of promised retirement benefits), 
accrued up to that date. 

The funding levels at the end of 
each financial year since the last 
triennial valuation are shown in 
the graph below. The detailed 
triennial valuation of the Fund as 
at 31st March 2019 is currently 
being undertaken, with the funding 
level, as at 31st March 2019, being 

Number of Employers 2018/19 Total Contributions 2018/19
£000’s

 Admitted Bodies         Academies         Scheduled Bodies

42

96

67

74,959

14,483

21,689

  Funding Level

31
/3

/2
01

6
30

/6
/2

01
6

30
/9

/2
01

6
31

/1
2/

20
16

31
/3

/2
01

7
30

/6
/2

01
7

30
/9

/2
01

7
31

/1
2/

20
17

31
/3

/2
01

8
88%

86%

84%

82%

80%

78%

76%

74%

72%

70%

79.7%

76.3%

80.2%

82.1%

84.2%

86.2%

83.3%

87.1%

75.7%

Page 50



5  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

reported towards the end of the 
2019/20 financial year. The Fund 
commissioned an interim funding 
level assessment as at 28th 
February 2019 which indicated 
the Fund was 86.4% funded. 
Further details of the rationale and 
assumptions used to calculate 
these funding levels can be found 
in the main body of the report.

Investment and Fund 
Performance

During 2018/19 the Fund achieved 
a +5% return on its investments, 
placing it into the bottom quartile 
of LGPS Funds for the year, as 
calculated by PIRC Local Authority 
Pension Performance Analytics 
(who monitor the performance of 
Pension Funds). Despite this, the 
long-term performance of the Fund 
has been positive, particularly 
over a ten year period, where 
annualised performance was 
+11.2%, placing the Fund in the 
top quartile of LGPS Funds over 
that period.

An analysis of the performance of 
the Fund compared with 64 other 
LGPS Funds and its strategic 
benchmark is shown on the right. 
The position of the Gloucestershire 
Fund is presented as a red 
diamond in each of the relevant 
bars. The higher the positioning, 
the higher the Fund scored in 
comparison to it’s peers in terms 
of absolute return over 3, 5, 10 
and 20 year periods.

The value of the Fund’s assets as 
at 31st March 2019 was £2,379 
million. This represented an 
overall increase of £139.3 million 
compared with the position at 31st 
March 2018. The value of the Fund 
at the end of the last ten financial 
years is shown in the graph on 
page 6.

The Fund undertakes their 
investments in accordance with 
the Strategic Asset Allocation 
which is set out in the Investment 

Strategy Statement (ISS), which is 
agreed by the Pension Committee 
and a copy of this policy, 
along with details of the Fund’s 
investment and performance, is 
available on pages 27 to 39 of the 
full report.

Statement of Accounts

The full Statement of Accounts 
of the Fund for the year ended 
31st March 2019 and the auditors 
report in relation to these accounts 
can be found on pages  52 to 88. 

Scheme Details

We remind both existing and 
future pensioners, that the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) is determined by statutory 
legislation.  This legislation 
can only be changed by the 
Government via the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) and the 

scheme cannot be changed by the 
County Council or other scheduled 
employers of the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund. 

Following a review by the Public 
Service Pensions Commission 
a new LGPS scheme was 
introduced, commencing from 1st 
April 2014. The terms of the new 
LGPS scheme only apply to new 
pensionable service accrued with 
effect from April 2014. Previously 
accrued pensionable service and 
pensions in payment prior to April 
2014 are not affected. 

Further information on the main 
features of the new 2014 LGPS 
scheme can be found on pages 
129 to 130.

Pensions Administration

Details relating to the 
administration of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Scheme 

 3 years 5 years 10 years 20 years

Fund 10.1% 8.4% 11.2% 5.9%
Universal Average 10.5% 8.8% 10.7% 6.4%
Ranking (30) (37) (13) (32)

3 Year 5 Year 10 Year 20 Year

13

12

11

10

9

8

7

6

5

4

A
bs

ol
ut

e 
re

tu
rn

 %
 p

a

Page 51



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  6

are shown on pages 16 and 17 
and also within the Administration 
Strategy at page 118. 

The Public Service Pensions 
Act 2013 and LGPS regulations 
required LGPS Funds to set 
up local Pension Boards from 
2015/16. Their role, which 
continued in 2018/19, is to 
assist administering authorities in 
ensuring compliance with LGPS 
and other pension regulations. 
More details of the membership, 
meetings and work of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Board in 
relation to 2018/19 can be found 
on pages 46 and 48.

LGPS Pooling

In July 2015 the Government 
announced their intention for 
LGPS Funds to set up investment 
pooling arrangements. This 
involves a number of LGPS Funds 
with assets totalling approximately 
£30 billion jointly investing in the 
various asset classes, as chosen 
by each Fund, via a FCA approved 
organisation. The aim of this 
approach is to reduce investment 
manager fees whilst not adversely 
affecting, or even improving, 

individual Fund investment 
performance. During 2016/17 the 
Government approved and issued 
new investment regulations for the 
LGPS Funds to both facilitate and 
ensure investment pooling took 
place. 

The Gloucestershire Fund is 
collaborating with nine other LGPS 
Funds from the South West of 
England and has established a 
new FCA regulated investment 
pooling company called the Brunel 
Pension Partnership (BPP). This 
process is ongoing and the ten 
Funds are continuing to transfer 
their investments into the BPP 
as envisaged by Government. 
As at 31st March 2019, £889m 
of Gloucestershire investments 
have been transferred to the BPP. 
Further details of our pooling 
progress can be found on pages 
XX and YY of the full report.

Our Thanks

We express our thanks to 
all those involved with the 
investment, accounting and 
pension administration activities 
of the Gloucestershire Fund, and 
the development of the Brunel 

Pension Partnership. In this, we 
acknowledge the continuing work 
of the members of the Pension 
Committee, whose membership 
is shown on page 7, in 
overseeing the Fund’s investment 
management and administration 
arrangements as well as the 
support from the Pension Board, 
whose membership is shown 
on page 46, in assisting the 
administering authority to comply 
with the LGPS and other pension 
regulations.

Cllr Raymond Theodoulou 
Chairman of the Pension 
Committee 

Steve Mawson 
Director of Corporate Services 

Paul Blacker 
Director of Finance

  Market value

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

£m

2500.0

2000.0

1500.0

1000.0

500.0

0.0

1053.5
1157.4 1205.2

1384.8

1506.5

1709.1 1702.5

2088.6
2239.4

Market value of Fund by year £m

2378.7

Page 52



7  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Economic background

The global economy entered the 
financial year to March 2019 in 
good shape with all major regions 
delivering solid economic growth 
with low inflation, however, as the 
year unfolded, the global economy 
took a more erratic path than 
expected. 

Early in the financial year, global 
economic growth finally seemed 
to have developed its own 
momentum with a synchronised 
upturn across the major economic 
regions, central banks, led by the 
US Federal Reserve, began to 
remove some of the extraordinary 
monetary stimulus they had 
deployed since the 2008 Global 
Financial Crisis. As we entered the 
financial year to March 2019, the 
expectation was for the US Central 
Bank (the Fed) to continue to raise 
interest rates and to withdraw 
funds from financial markets. In 

the event, as the chart below 
shows, economic growth in the US 
faltered through the year.

The chart below shows annualised 
US GDP (%) growth derived from 
quarterly data.

It was the slowdown in economic 
growth, particularly in the US, 
which unsettled markets in the 
final quarter of 2018. Initially, the 
US Fed was slow to react to 
the changing outlook and it was 
only post a market fall that the 
Fed indicated a desire to reduce 
interest rates into the slowing 
economy rather than raise them.  
This underlines the market’s 
dilemma, if economic growth 
strengthens then Central Banks 
will wish to reduce their economic 
stimulus and raise interest rate, 
which, as seen in the fourth 
quarter of 2018, could well lead to 
a fall in the value of many assets 
including equities.  If the economy 

weakens then the Central Banks 
could increase their economic 
stimulus and cut rates further, 
thereby pumping more money into 
financial assets and driving them 
higher but this has to be followed 
by higher corporate profits 
otherwise it is just prices which are 
being pushed up making assets 
more and more expensive.

In Europe, economic growth 
continued at a more muted pace 
and whilst the US delivered GDP 
growth of 3.1% over the course of 
the 2018/19 financial year, Europe 
delivered 1.2% and Japan 0.9%. 
China also saw some deceleration 
but still delivered 6.4% GDP 
growth over the period.

Throughout the year inflation 
globally remained subdued 
despite historically high levels of 
employment in the US and UK 
and the first signs of rising real 
wages in these regions. This lack 

Independent Investment 
Advisor’s Report

Jan 2017

%

3.5

3

2.5

2

1.5

1.6

Source: Tradingeconomics.com  |  U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis

2.3

2.7

2.5

3.1
3.2

2.9
2.8

2.4

2.2
2.1

2

Jul 2017 Jan 2018 Jul 2018 Jan 2019 Jul 2019Jul 2016

Annualised US GDP Growth

Page 53



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  8

of inflation has been pivotal to 
encouraging Central Banks to 
again move back towards more 
stimulatory measures as GDP 
growth has slowed.

The uncertainty over the future 
strength of economic growth 
across the globe has been 
further hampered by a number 
of political issues including 
trade spats between the US 
and China/Mexico/EU and by 
increased tensions in Iran. With 
US presidential elections due next 
year this situation is unlikely to 
change with the danger of Iran, 
in particular, becoming a political 
focus for a number of conflicting 
reasons.

As regards Brexit, because 
mainland Europe is the UK’s 
largest trading partner, any 
disruption to the flow of goods 
between these two trading 
partners will have a detrimental 
impact on both the UK and 
European economy. As such, 
Brexit will be negative for the 
UK economy in the short term 
whatever form it takes. The 
softer the Brexit the less this 
impact will be as the changes 
to trading regulations and 
practices will be minor. A hard 
Brexit or no agreement could 
lead to substantial barriers to 
trade including tariffs and could 
create a sudden sharp shock to 
the economy.  The question is 
whether this short term impact 
will be worth the greater flexibility 
this gives the UK government in 
setting future policy. The softer 
the Brexit the less the short term 
economic impact but the more 
the UK will remain bound by EU 
regulations and the less flexibility 
this will give the Government to set 

policy which directly benefits the 
UK economy, the harder the Brexit 
the greater the short term impact 
but the greater the freedom with 
which future economic policy can 
be set. The UK is an innovative 
and entrepreneurial society and I 
have no doubt it will recover from 
whatever form of Brexit is finally 
agreed but this will take some 
time and, under a no deal Brexit, 
it may take many years to fully 
recover from the disruption and 
higher trading costs incurred, with 
any savings from not contributing 
to the EU budget quickly lost 
in slower GDP growth and any 
potential recession lowering tax 
returns.

Market returns

All major asset classes produced 
positive returns in the year to 
March 2019 although it did not 
always seem this would be the 
case.  September to December 
2018 produced one of the most 
negative market environments 
we have seen since the Global 
Financial Crisis in 2008 and was 
the first negative quarter for 
many asset classes since 2015. 
It was only a strong rebound in 
asset prices in early 2019 which 
delivered positive returns over the 
twelve month period to March 
2019.

Global Equities returned 12.0% 
over the 2018/9 financial year 
as measured by the MSCI All 
Countries World index, led by the 
US market up over 20% (S&P) 
although an element of these high 
returns was from the weakness of 
Sterling, particularly against the US 
Dollar. UK Equities lagged but still 
rose by 6.7% (FT All-Share).

Bond markets also had a 
roller coaster year, US 10 year 
government bond yields peaked in 
November 2018 at 3.2%, having 
started the year at 2.7%.  By the 
31st March 2019 they were down 
to 2.4%, driven by the moderating 
outlook for economic growth, 
low inflation and the change in 
the Fed’s policy stance.  This fall 
in yields was matched by UK 10 
year Government Gilts, which fell 
to a yield of less than 1%, but the 
weakness and political uncertainty 
in Europe drove 10 year German 
government bond yields down by 
0.55% and into negative territory 
at a yield of -0.07%. This means 
that if you lend money to the 
German Government you will get 
fractionally less back in ten years 
time that you originally invested!

Fund returns

Gloucestershire County Council 
Pension Fund returned 5.0% over 
the fiscal year 2018/19 taking the 
fund to a value in excess of £2.37 
billion. The return achieved by the 
fund was below the 6.0% return 
of its strategic benchmark for the 
year. Over a 10 year period, the 
Fund has marginally outperformed 
the return of its strategic 
benchmark returning 12.2% 
against 12.0% per annum.   

The Fund return over the period 
was driven by its holdings 
in equities and property, the 
underperformance against the 
benchmark was due to a slightly 
disappointing performance by the 
managers employed by the Fund, 
specifically in Equities, Multi Assets 
and Bonds.

The Fund has commenced the 
transition of its assets to the Brunel 

Page 54



9  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Pensions Partnership which is 
the LGPS pool responsible for 
managing all LGPS assets in the 
South West region. The Fund’s 
assets will remain segregated 
within Brunel and managed purely 
in the interest of the members 
of the Gloucestershire County 
Council Pension Fund. 

During the year the Fund’s 
holdings in UK Equities and 
those managed passively 
against a benchmark in Global 
Equities, have been successfully 
transitioned across to the Brunel 
pool. Brunel is responsible for 
the selection of investment 
managers going forward whilst the 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Pension Fund remains responsible 
for the strategic asset allocation of 
the Funds. 

Outlook

The outlook for the global 
economy remains uncertain, this 
economic expansion is now the 
longest in recent history but it has 
been a slow recovery post the 
Global Financial Crisis ten years 
ago. Central Banks have used 
unconventional policy actions 
to force long term lending rates 
down and encourage an economic 
expansion. Ideally they would 
have like the economic expansion 
to become self-sustaining 
which would have allowed 
them to reverse some of these 
unconventional policies and raise 
interest rates to above inflation. 
The US Fed started upon this 
course in 2018 but their economy 
soon showed signs of weakening 
and at the time of writing they look 
to be moving back towards cutting 
interest rates to shore up this 
economic expansion. 

Adding to this uncertainty is the 
political tension in various parts of 
the world and in many areas the 
advent of a more inward looking 
and populist mentality by much of 
the political class. 

Because of this uncertainty, I 
would expect low returns from 
most asset classes over the next 5 
years and the potential for higher 
volatility that we have experience in 
the recent past. This emphasises 
the importance of a diversified 
portfolio of assets where the 
sources of return are genuinely 
diverse and lowly correlated. 
The investment strategy for the 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Pension Fund reflects the need to 
generate good long-term returns 
while smoothing short-term 
volatility through diversification 
in asset classes, geography, 
managers and investment styles. 
The bias remains on growth 
through a well-diversified portfolio 
of quoted equities, bonds, 
property and actively managed 
Diversified Growth Funds. By 
working in partnership with Brunel, 
the Fund should be able to access 
a wider range of investment 
opportunities going forward, which 
should help it mitigate further 
the risk and volatility of returns 
over the medium to long term.  
Diversification is not a guarantee 
of positive returns in itself but it 
should led to a smoother journey 
over the long term. 

John Arthur

July 2019

Page 55



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  10

Overall Fund Management 

Scheme Management and Advisors
Administering Authority: Gloucestershire County Council

Pension Committee at 31st March 2019
Representing Gloucestershire County Council:

Cllr. D. Brown Cllr. C. Hay                                                                  Cllr. S. Parsons              Cllr. R. Smith Cllr.  L. Stowe                                                       

Representing 
Gloucestershire 
District Councils: 
Cllr. N. Cooper             

Scheme Administrator:
Gloucestershire County Council

Investment Managers as at 31st March 2019:
Aberdeen Standard Investments (formerly   
Standard Life)
BlackRock Advisors (UK) Ltd.
BlueBay Asset Management LLP
Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd.
CBRE Global Investment Partners (CBRE)
Golub Capital Partners International 
Hermes Investment Management
Western Asset Management Company
Technology Venture Partners LLP (TVP)
Yorkshire Fund Managers Equity Partners (YFM)

AVC Provider:
Prudential Assurance Company Limited
Phoenix Life Limited 

Auditor: 
Grant Thornton UK LLP
 
Global Custodian:
State Street Global Services

Performance Measurement:
State Street Global Services
PIRC Limited 
 
Banker:
HSBC
 
Legal Advisor:
Gloucestershire County Council in-house legal team

Cllr. R. Theodoulou 
(Chairman)                         

County Council Officers: 
Mr. P. Blacker
Acting Strategic Finance Director 
(and Section 151 Officer)

Mr. M. Spilsbury
Head of Pension Fund

Mr. A. Bull
Finance Manager - Pension Investments & Accounting

Asset Pool and Asset Pool Operator
Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd.
www.brunelpensionpartnership.org
e-mail: info@brunelpp.org

Independent Advisor: 
Mr. J. Arthur, AllenbridgeEpic

Fund Actuary:
Mrs J. West, Hymans Robertson LLP 
Mr. D. Green, Hymans Robertson LLP 

Representing 
Scheme 
Members:
Mr. P. Clark

Page 56



11  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Post Year-End Changes 

There are no year-end changes  
to report.

Enquiries

For information/contact details 
for committee members, fund 
managers and advisors or for 
details regarding the Fund’s 
investments and accounting 
activities, please contact the 
Finance Manager at Shire Hall, 
Gloucester, phone (01452) 
328945.

For details of Local Government 
Pension Scheme benefits and 
administration, please contact the 
Pension Administration Manager 
at Shire Hall, Gloucester, phone 
(01452) 328866.

Complaints

In the event of a complaint 
members should contact the 
Pension Administration Manager 
at Shire Hall, Gloucester, phone 
(01452) 328866 in the first instance.

Website 

Investments and Accounting 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
extra/pensions/investments

Benefits and Administration 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
pensions

Pension Schemes Office 
Registration Number: 

PSO 10079170

> Risk Management
The Pension Fund maintains a 
Risk Register which is reviewed 
and reported to every Pension 
Committee and Pension Board 
meeting. Risks are rated on a 
“traffic light system” and assigned 
to a lead officer for monitoring and 
review. Controls are documented 
and further actions identified where 
necessary.

These risks associated with 
the Fund’s administration, 
management and investments are 
included in the Funding Strategy 
Statement (FSS). The risks and 
actions to manage and reduce 
them are shown within the FSS on 
pages 112 to 115 of this report.  

In addition, the Fund’s Statement 
of Investment Principles was 
superseded by the Investment 
Strategy Statement (ISS) with 
effect from 1st April 2017 and 
should be read in conjunction 
with the Fund’s Funding Strategy 
Statement (FSS). The ISS sets out 
the roles of the Fund’s investment 
managers and custodian, who 
have a responsibility for the 
management and safeguarding 
of the Pension Fund’s assets, 
as well as the requirement to 
invest money in a wide variety of 
investments. The ISS also covers 
the authority’s approach to risk, 
including the ways in which risks 

are to be measured and managed, 
as well as the approach to pooling 
investments, including the use of 
collective investment vehicles and 
shared services. The statement 
outlines the authority’s approach 
on how social, environment 
or corporate governance 
considerations are taken into 
account in the selection, non-
selection, retention and realisation 
of investments, and the authority’s 
policy on the exercise of rights 
(including voting rights) attaching 
to investments. 

Internal auditors also evaluate 
both risk and controls for the main 
areas of governance, pension 
administration and investment 
management. This includes third 
party risk and involves obtaining 
assurances from the external fund 
managers on their governance 
and administration arrangements 
as well as acquiring copies of 
their latest audited accounts and 
internal control assurance reports. 
The internal audit results then 
feed into an annual governance 
statement. 

Other Third Party Risk

The receipt and calculation of 
employer pension contributions 
is monitored monthly. Employers 
are required to complete a 

return, which reconciles to the 
pension payment and verifies the 
calculation of both employee and 
employer contributions.

Other Investment Risk

The Pension Fund employs 
an Independent Investment 
Advisor to assist and advise the 
Pension Committee. Investment 
performance is reviewed by 
committee every quarter. Fund 
managers attend committee on 
a regular basis and are held to 
account on their performance. In 
addition further in-depth meetings 
are held at manager’s offices 
during the year. During 2018/19 
performance data was provided 
by the Fund’s Custodian as well 
as by an independent specialist 
company, PIRC Local Authority 
Pension Performance Analytics. 
Performance is measured 
against both a customised fund 
benchmark and mandate specific 
benchmarks. 

The Investment Strategy 
Statement (ISS) contains further 
details of how the Fund controls 
risk linked to its investments. There 
is an additional note on the Nature 
and Extent of Risks Arising from 
Financial Instruments within the 
Notes to the Accounts on pages 
76 to 81.

Page 57



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  12

In addition to the risks identified 
within the ISS, the Internal Audit, 
Risk and Assurance function 
carries out audits of the Pension 
Fund in accordance with their 
Internal Audit Plan each year. 
During 2018/19 the following 
conclusion was reached in relation 

to work carried out for the period:

‘The ‘Management of LGPS – 
Annual Governance Statement 
2018/19’ review did not identify 
any significant risks/assurance 
gaps which would require 
reporting by exception within 

the GCC Annual Governance 
Statement 2018/19.’

The following table summarises the 
assurance stream which supports 
the Pension Assurance Statement 
for 2018/19.

Findings

- Pensions Committee and Pensions Board in place, both with defined 
responsibilities. Full agenda, reports and minutes 2018/19 made available to ARA 
for review.

- Head of Pensions reports to the GCC Section 151 Officer (part of the GCC 
Corporate Management Team).

- Fund Actuary: Hymans Robertson. 

- Independent Advisor: Allenbridge (Epic).

- Global Custodian and performance measurement: State Street Global Services 
and PIRC Ltd. 

- Key policies and procedures confirmed as in place.

- Member and Officer training completed within 2018/19.

- 2017/18 statement of accounts and annual report (including Fund Governance 
Compliance Statement and Governance Policy Statement) unqualified. 

- Fortnightly meetings held for Committee Chair & Service Head.

- Detailed Governance Policy Statement and Governance Compliance Statement 
completed within the Annual Report. 

 - Pensions Committee and Pensions Board agenda, reports and minutes 2018/19 
confirmed:

• Confirmed investment requirements and targets through the Investment Strategy 
Statements.

• Regular & timely performance reporting for the overall Fund including BPP, with 
separate submitted reports for the BPP detail. Including assessment of returns. 

• Service targets and KPIs through the Pension Fund Business Plan; Pensions 
Administration Report and the Annual Report.  

- Gloucestershire Pension Fund Risk Register (GPFRR) held and reported. 

- Follows a standard template (inherent and residual risk) and risk scoring approach. 
Head of Service is lead risk owner. 

- Review of audit trail confirmed GPFRR reviewed, updated and discussed/
challenged (including changes & risk direction of travel) at each Pension Committee 
and Pension Board meeting within 2018/19.

- CIPFA managing risk in the LGPS risk categories considered within the GPFRR. 

- No high risk residual scores are within the GPFRR as at May 19.

- Unqualified 2017/18 external audit opinion from Grant Thornton.

- 2018/19 GCC Internal Audit Plan includes 4 specific LGPS reviews. Two have 
been reported as at May 19 – both as either satisfactory/substantial assurance.

Area

Governance

Performance 
Monitoring

Risk Registers

External Audit and 
Internal Audit

Page 58



13  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Findings

- Most recent finalised audited Statement of Accounts and internal control reports 
have been received from the 9 fund managers in place as at 31/03/2019.

- No qualified opinions have been reported to date. It is noted that some opinions 
include noted exceptions by external audit e.g. where certain Fund Manager 
activities were not completed for part of the opinion period (e.g. no data migration/
withdrawal of client monies).

- More up to date opinions have been requested in certain cases (Standard Life 
Investments and Golub Capital). Feedback from both entities has confirmed 
documentation will be supplied in June 19. 

- Regular contact evident between Head of Service, Independent Advisor and Fund 
Managers. 

- BPP annual report and financial statements obtained for the year ended 
30/09/2018. Unqualified audit opinion.

- Above document confirms governance structure, assurance providers and relevant 
advisors.

- Pensions Committee and Pensions Board agenda, reports and minutes 2018/19 
evidence review and discussion/challenge of BPP relevant outcome reports – e.g. 
transition update; performance update; pooling arrangements; etc. 

- GCC LGPS direct link to BPP governance structure – including (but not exclusive 
to) the Brunel Oversight Board; the Brunel Client Group; and a number of Sub 
Groups (e.g. the technical sub group re. pooling arrangements).  

Area

External Fund 
Managers

Brunel Pensions 
Partnership (BPP)

> Financial Performance
The Fund account (page 45) indicates an increase in the net assets of the scheme available to fund benefits 
during the year of £139.3m for 2018/19; this follows an increase of £150.8m in 2017/18. The summarised 
figures are shown in the table below.

* Excludes recoverable expenditure

   2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

    £m  £m  £m  £m  £m

 Contributions and investment income *  122.7 124.3 140.0 168.3 145.7

 Realised profit/(loss)     21.0   14.1 237.9 55.9 196.4

 Less benefits and other expenses *  (110.6) (82.8) (88.7) (91.8) (97.3)

 Annual surplus/(shortfall)  33.1 55.6 289.2 132.4 244.8

 Increase/(decrease) in market value  169.5 (62.2)      96.9      18.4 (105.5)
  of investments

 Increase/(decrease) in Fund during year  202.6 (6.6)    386.1     150.8 139.3

 Market Value of net assets at 31st March 1,709.1 1,702.5 2,088.6 2,239.4 2,378.7

Financial Summary  

Page 59



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  14

 Fund Account 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
  Actual Actual Actual  Actual  Actual Budget

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

 Contributions:   Employers -76,113 -81,156 -87,923 -112,820 -93,016 -85,000
                          Employees -16,753 -17,292 -17,625 -17,795 -18,114 -18,000
 Transfers in -3,708 -1,131 -7,100 -6,733 -6,736 -5,425
 Bulk transfer values in -2,556 - -94 - - -
 Other income -157 -139 -151 -143 -132 -132
 Benefits payable   71,008 71,937 76,653 78,170 83,460 85,000
 Payments to and on account 133 165 177 297 372 253
 of leavers
 Transfers out 3,579 2,200 3,146 5,974 4,992 4,078
 Bulk transfer values out 29,012 1,078 338   - - -
 Net additions/withdrawals 4,445 -24,338 -32,579 -53,050 -29,174 -19,226
 from dealings with members
 Investment management 5,753 6,136 6,698 5,783 6,492 5,800
 expenses
 Administration expenses  933 1,002 1,133 1,217 1,397 1,500
 Oversight & Governance 407 475 694 418 553 500
 expenses
 Investment income -23,614 -24,723 -27,256 -30,849 -27,681 -27,627
 Profit, loss and change in -190,503 48,019 -334,803 -74,344 -90,864 -112,998
 market value

 Net increase (-) / decrease -202,579 6,571 -386,113 -150,825 -139,277 -152,051
 in the Fund

Fund Account (inflows) and outflows
The following table shows the income and expenditure of the Pension Fund over the last five years together 
with an estimate for 2018/19.

Income

During 2017/18, a number of 
scheduled bodies chose to pay 
one-off secondary contributions of 
£27.2m to the Fund in relation to 
their 2018/19 and 2019/20 rates. 
As a result these bodies benefitted 
from a reduced secondary 
contribution payment which is 
reflected in the apparent reduction 
in contribution income in 2018/19. 
The 2019/20 contribution forecast 
takes account of the final year 
of reduced contributions from a 
number of scheduled bodies and 
also allows for a steady increase 
in line with membership growth 
expectations.

During 2018/19 two long standing 
admission bodies exited the Fund 
resulting in one-off cessation deficit 
payments totalling £13.4m as 
per the terms of their admission 
agreements.  

Transfer values received have 
remained broadly constant 
between 2017/18 and 2018/19. 
The 2019/20 forecast assumes 
that this will continue for a further 
year.

Investment income fell by £3.2m 
between 2017/18 and 2018/19 
from £30.8m to £27.7m. This was 
primarily due to the transition costs 
of moving assets into pooled funds 
within the regional asset pool. 

Investment income for 2019/20 
is forecast to remain broadly 
consistent with 2018/19, assuming 
that investment returns remain 
comparable during the period, and 
transition costs continue to accrue.

Expenditure

Investment management expenses 
in 2018/19 increased by £0.71m 
in comparison to 2017/18. This 
expenditure increase reflected an 
increase in pooling costs as well 
as an increase in market value 
of fund investments upon which 
management expenses are based 
upon.  We anticipate a reduction 
in these expenses in 2019/20 as 
savings begin to be realised as 

Page 60



15  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Cash flow  

For 2018/19 the inflow of cash to the Fund continued to exceed the outflow. Details of the net cash inflow to 
the Fund for the past 5 years and a forecast for the following year are shown below:

 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
 Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Forecast

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Net cash inflow 15,117 44,783 55,028 78,433 49,929 43,846

There are a number of factors that affect the size of the net cash inflow. These factors include changes in the 
levels of retirements and pensioner numbers, contribution levels, dividend income and transfers into and out 
of the scheme. During 2018/19 one-off exit payments of £13.447m were received from employers leaving the 
Pension Fund whilst 17/18 contained deficit contributions of £27.223m paid early.

a result of pooling as well as the 
removal of budget provision for 
a potentially large performance 
fee that could have been payable 
under a previous investment 
mandate prior to the transition to 
the Brunel PP mandate.

Payments to beneficiaries 
in respect of pensions have 
increased by £5.29m from 

£78.17m in 2017/18 to £83.46m 
in 2018/19. The 2019/20 forecast 
figure is based on current 
expectations for pensioner growth 
during the period. 

Administration expenses increased 
by £0.18m during 2018/19 to 
£1.4m as the Fund continued 
its commitment to an increased 
resource plan for the administration 

team. The 2019/20 forecast 
expectation of administration 
expenses includes a £0.3m 
increase to facilitate the third stage 
of the increased resource plan, 
as well as a permanent budget 
allowance for the hosting of Altair 
Pension Administration software 
following the award of a contract 
commencing 1st April 2019.

               2015/16                2016/17                  2017/18                 2018/19     2019/20
 Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 
Administrative
costs

Staff costs 692 551 769 586 807 656 832 742  917
Premises 42 46 49 66 52 65 52 74  70
IT 173 186 192 209 317 212 319 287 406
Supplies and  183 174 220 182 205 206 256 220 240
services 
Other central costs 51 41 59 47 60 61 61 66 60
Cost of democracy  - - - - - - - - -
Other - 4 - 43 - 17 - 8 -

 1,141 1,002 1,289 1,133 1,441 1,217 1,520 1,397 1,693

Operational expenses  

The following tables show budgeted and actual figures of the three constituent parts that make up the 
operating expenses of the Pension Fund.

Page 61



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  16

               2015/16                2016/17                  2017/18                 2018/19     2019/20
 Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 

Oversight & governance costs

Staff costs  142 140 181 189 193 175 200 169 210
Audit fees 24 24 25 24 38 20 31 18 19
Actuarial fees 117 199 213 326 214 196 210 207 300
Pension Committee/ 1 1 3 1 5 1 5 2 2
Board 
Performance  19 37 39 23 39 30 37 83 19
monitoring service
Investment  20 20 21 20 21 21 22 24 30
consultancy
Other professional 31 54 44 111 350 -25 653 50 980
fees

 354 475 526 694 860 418 1,158 553 1,560

The increase in staffing budget in the Administration 
team between 2018/19 and 2019/20 relates to the 
anticipated appointment of three additional senior 
pension officers that will be appointed to assist with 
the Fund objective of targeting the more technical 
areas of the administrative role provided to members.

Actuarial fees within Oversight & Governance contain 
actuarial expenses of £126,000 (2017/18 £130,000) 
which arose as a result of employer requests and 
was therefore recharged back to them. Net actuarial 
fees for 2018/19 were £81,000 (2017/18 £65,000). 

A forecast budget increase of £90,000 has been 
allowed for in 2019/20 in relation to the Fund 
undertaking the triennial valuation carried out by the 
Fund actuary.

Other professional fees include a budget increase 
of £327,000 in relation to the estimated increase 
in Brunel Pension Partnership costs that will be 
chargeable to the Fund, following the increase in the 
BPP budget in 2019/20, as approved via a Special 
Reserve Matter approved by all of the Shareholders of 
the BPP.

             2015/16                   2016/17               2017/18              2018/19  2019/20
 Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 
Investment 
management 
expenses

Management fees  4,594 4,902 4,913 4,953 4,562 4,586 6,500 5,342 5,800
Performance fees 836 463 775 377 578 432 - 544 -
Transaction costs - 695 - 1,228 - 656 - 428 -
Custody fees 96 76 78 118 90 101 90 176 90
Tax & legal costs - - - 22 - 8 - 2 -

 5,526 6,136 5,766 6,698 5,230 5,783 6,590 6,492 5,890

The budget for Management Fees has seen an 
overall reduction of £700,000 in 2019/20 as a result 
of the removal of a potentially large performance 
fee that could have been payable under a previous 
mandate prior to the transition to the Brunel Active 
UK Mandate. 

Transaction costs cannot be forecast in advance and 
hence are not budgeted for. 

Page 62



17  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
participates in the National 
Fraud Initiative (NFI) which is a 
biennial data matching exercise 
administered by the Cabinet Office.

Pension data was submitted 
through the web portal in 2018 
and data match reports produced 
matching:-

  Active pensioners with 
Department of Works and 
Pensions (DWP) deceased 
records, to identify cases where 
we might be continuing to pay 
someone who has died;

  Pensioners with payroll records 
for public sector bodies to identify 
cases where pensions should be 
abated; and

  Pensioners receiving an 
enhanced injury pension with 
individuals receiving relevant state 
benefits to identify cases where 
they have failed to declare relevant 
state benefits that may remove 
or reduce entitlement to the 
enhanced pension.

During the 2018 exercise Match 
reports were reviewed and 
additional information sought as 

necessary. The reports identified 
19 pensioners who had died 
where the Pensions Section had 
not been informed of their death 
and total overpayments amounted 
to £19,116.  As at August 2019 
£9,028 had been recovered.  
None of the cases identified were 
suspected of fraud.

 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
 £000  £000 £000 £000 £000

Pension overpayments b/fwd. 7.6 23.5 29.1 67.3 29.7

Pension overpayments in the current year 38.6 29.8 88.4 33.0 59.3

Overpayment recovered (21.9) (24.1) (50.2) (61.1) (46.1)

Overpayments written off (0.9) (0.2) - (9.5) (9.7)

Pension overpayments c/fwd. 23.4 29.0 67.3 29.7 33.2

Analysis of pension overpayments 

Analysis of pension contributions 
The timeliness of employee and employer pension contributions which should be paid to the Pension Fund no 
later than 19 days after the end of the month in which they were deducted from pay is shown below.

Employee and Total                        On Time                                   Late
Employer
Contributions £000 £000 % £000 %

2014/15 90,000 89,500 99.40 500 0.60

2015/16 97,000 96,600 99.60 400 0.40

2016/17 103,000 102,900 99.90 100 0.10

2017/18 128,000 127,950 99.95 50 0.05

2018/19 108,000 107,850 99.84 150 0.16

In total 21 (15 2017/18) monthly payments were received late, of which 15 were received within one month, 
one was received within two months and five, from the same employer, paid within seven months. (2017/18, 
14 received within one month and one within three months).

During 2018/19 the option to levy interest on overdue contributions was not exercised (2017/18 £9,450 was 
charged).

Page 63



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  18

Investment Powers 
and Duties

The powers and duties concerning 
the investment of Fund monies are 
set out in the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Management and 
Investment of Funds Regulations 
2016 (as amended) which came 
into force on the 1st November 
2016. The 2016 Regulations 
require the County Council, as 
Administering Authority for the 
Gloucestershire LGPS Fund, 
to invest any monies that are 
not immediately required to pay 
pensions and other benefits. 

The previous Regulations allowed 
a wide range of investments, 
but set certain limits; the 2016 
Regulations allows the authority to 
invest, without any restriction as to 
quantity, in any investment made 
in accordance with a scheme 
under section 11(1) of the Trustee 
Investments Act 1961.  However 
the authority’s investment strategy 
must set out the maximum 
percentage of the total value of all 
investments of fund money that it 
will invest in particular investments 
or classes of investment.  The 
authority’s investment strategy 
may not permit more than 5% of 
the total value of all investments 
of fund money to be invested in 
entities which are connected with 
that authority.

The Regulations require the 
County Council to have a suitably 

diversified portfolio of investments 
and must obtain the advice of 
properly qualified persons on 
investment matters.  In carrying 
out these duties, the County 
Council owes a fiduciary duty to 
the contributors and beneficiaries 
of the Fund, as well as to the 
council taxpayers who ultimately 
‘guarantee’ the financing of future 
liabilities.

Investment Strategy

The Pension Committee is 
responsible for the Fund’s 
investment policy. During 2018/19 
the Committee comprised of six 
County Councillors, one District 
representative and a union 
nominated representative for staff 
/ deferred / pensioner members.  
Further details on the Pension 
Committee regarding meetings 
held and voting arrangements 
can be found in the Governance 
Compliance Statement report on 
pages 47 to 51.

The Committee determines the 
overall investment strategy for the 
Fund after receiving advice from its 
officers, independent advisor and 
appropriate external investment 
consultants. The investment 
strategy developed by the Pension 
Committee is detailed in the 
Investment Strategy Statement 
(ISS) which superseded the 
Statement of Investment Principles 
(SIP) from 1st April 2017 and can 
be found on pages XX to XX 

Investment Management

The objective of LGPS pension 
fund investment policy is 
to minimise the level of the 
contributions to be paid into 
the Fund by employer bodies 
to ensure its solvency. In place 
at the year-end were nine 
investment managers, Brunel 
Pension Partnership, Legal & 
General Investment Management, 
Standard Life Investments, 
BlackRock, Western Asset 
Management, Hermes Investment 
Management, CBRE, Golub 
Capital Partners International and 
Bluebay Asset Management who 
each manage portfolios within 
specific asset categories of the 
Fund’s investments.  In addition 
there was a relatively small amount 
invested in two private equity/
venture capital funds.

Investment Policy and 
Performance Report

Page 64



19  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Fund Performance

Primarily, State Street Global 
Services and additionally, 
PIRC Local Authority Pension 
Performance Analytics, 
measure the Fund’s investment 
performance. These companies 
provide independent performance 
measuring services for the Fund.  

To 31st March 2019 the Fund 
realised the following returns: 

For general market background 
information the following shows 
rates of return achieved on 
representative market indices over 
the 12 months to 31st March 2019:

 A year of global political 
uncertainty, a burgeoning trade 
war and no resolution to the Brexit 
issue hampered Local Authority 
fund returns during 2018/19. 
However, despite this, all major 
asset classes produced positive 
returns in the year to March 2019.

 Assets returns were tightly 
grouped with bonds, property and 
equities returning 4%, 6% and 7% 
respectively for the year. 

 Most Local Authority funds 
failed to outperform their 
benchmarks this year.

 Active global equity performed 
strongly in the last year with the 
average global equity portfolio 
delivering returns of 8.6% to March 
2019.

 Alternatives including 
Private Equity and Infrastructure 
performed strongly in the year 
delivering average returns of 
15.3% and 11.7% respectively.

 Bond returns were the poorest 
of the major asset classes with an 
average universe performance of 
3.7% for the year.

The Fund’s Investment Mandate Bid Market Value
Managers are:  31st March 2019 
  £m

Investments managed by the Brunel Pension Partnership regional asset pool

Brunel Pension Partnership UK Equities 365.8
Brunel Pension Partnership Private Equity and Infrastructure Portfolio 2.3
Legal & General Investment  Passive Equities 521.2
Management

Investments managed outside of the Brunel Pension Partnership regional asset pool

BlackRock  Global Equities Including Emerging Markets 476.6
 Emerging Markets 142.7
Standard Life Investments UK Equities 1.2
 Global Multi Asset Absolute Return Fund  78.2

Western Asset Management Global Fixed Interest 344.3
 Global Multi Strategy Fixed Interest 183.4

BlueBay Asset Management LLP  UK Private Debt 22.3

Golub Capital Partners International Overseas Private Debt 20.1

CBRE Global Property 61.7

Hermes Investment Management UK Property Unit Trusts 140.7

Technology Venture Partners Private Equity 3.6

YFM Group Private Equity 1.3

Each manager is required to have regard for the Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement and the legislative 
environment in which the Fund operates.

State Street Global Services became the Fund’s appointed global custodian in November 2017.

 Fund Strategic
 % p.a. Benchmark
  % p.a. 
 

  1 year 5.0 6.9
  3 years 10.1 10.4
  5 years 8.4 9.3
  10 years 11.2 11.0

Page 65



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  20

Local Authority Universe

For 2018/19, 64 local authority 
funds were included directly in 
the PIRC Local Authority Pension 
Performance Analytics Universe. 
The average investment return 
achieved by Local Authority 
Pension Funds within the 
Universe for 2018/19 was 6.6% 
(including property assets), placing 
Gloucestershire 55th out of the 64 
funds.

The average total fund returns for 
the average local authority funds 
are shown on the right:

Comparison of investment 
performance with other 
LGPS

The Fund’s investment 
performance is compared on 
an annual basis against other 
local authority pension funds 

subscribing to PIRC Local 
Authority Pension Performance 
based on the Analytics Universe of 
64 local authority pension funds. 
The Fund performance was ranked 
55th out of 64 over one year and 
30th out of 64 over the three year 
period. Ten year performance 
placed the Gloucestershire Fund 
13th.

Investment Performance

31st March 2019 investment 
returns over 1 year, 3 years, 5 
years and since inception as 
derived from the various asset 
categories in the Gloucestershire 
Fund compared to the specific 
performance benchmark used for 
each asset class:

Average Local 
returns  Authority
over: Universe
 % 

1 year 6.6

3 years 10.5

5 years 8.8

10 years 10.7

* Performance history not available as assets not held for the entire duration of the period

                                                          Since Inception                   1 year                         3 years                          5 years 
  Fund B/mark Fund B/mark Fund B/mark Fund B/mark 
  % % % % % % % %

Asset Pool Managed 
Investments 

Equities        
UK Active*  6.0 6.0           n/a           n/a            n/a            n/a            n/a          n/a
Passive Low Carbon* 1.1 1.2           n/a           n/a            n/a            n/a            n/a          n/a
Passive Smart Beta* 1.4 1.6           n/a           n/a            n/a            n/a            n/a          n/a
Passive Developed*  0.9 1.0           n/a           n/a            n/a            n/a            n/a          n/a
Passive Developed Hedged* -0.5 -0.4           n/a           n/a            n/a            n/a            n/a          n/a

Alternatives        
Private Markets Infrastructure* -9.5 -0.1           n/a           n/a            n/a            n/a            n/a          n/a
Private Markets Private Equity* 9.4 2.4           n/a           n/a            n/a            n/a            n/a          n/a

Non-asset Pool 
Managed Investments       

Equities        
Emerging Markets Passive 7.3 7.0 -0.1 -0.3 14.5 14.4 9.3 8.9
Global 10.0 9.5 8.1 10.5 15.4 14.4 12.8 11.8

Fixed Interest        
Global 6.2 6.6 1.8 3.3 5.4 5.6 6.8 7.2
Global Multi Strategy 3.5 2.6 -0.6 2.8 4.5 2.6 2.9 2.6

Property        
UK Unit Trust 6.8 5.1 6.7 5.7 8.1 6.9 11.1 9.6
Global 9.0 8.4 7.3 5.4 6.7 7.1 9.1 9.7

Alternatives        
UK Private Debt* 7.2 5.7 8.1 5.9           n/a            n/a             n/a          n/a
Overseas Private Debt* 8.7 5.7 17.4 5.9           n/a            n/a             n/a          n/a
Global Absolute Return  2.8 5.7 -0.0 6.0 0.8 5.7 1.8 5.7

Page 66



21  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

The 10 year total fund performance returns are shown on page 31. Performance returns by fund manager are 
shown below.

Net investment performance by fund manager against benchmarks as at 31st March 2019, annualised for 1, 3 
and 5 years and since inception:

* Performance history not available as assets not held for the entire duration of the period

                Since Inception              1 year                  3 years                 5 years 
 Mandate Benchmark Portfolio B/mark Portfolio B/mark Portfolio B/mark Portfolio B/mark 
   % % % % % % % %

Asset Pool Managed Investments

Brunel UK Active 
Equity

FTSE All Share 6.0 6.0 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Brunel Private Markets 
Infra-structure

Consumer Price 
Index

-9.5 -0.1 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Brunel Private Markets 
Private Equity

MSCI All Country 
World Index

9.4 2.4 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Brunel Passive Low 
Carbon

MSCI World Low 
Carbon

1.1 1.2 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Brunel Passive Smart 
Beta

SciBeta Multifactor 
Composite

1.4 1.6 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Brunel Passive 
Developed 
Equity

FTSE World 
Developed

0.9 1.0 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Brunel Passive 
Developed 
Equity Hedged

FTSE World 
Developed Hedged

-0.5 -0.4 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Non-asset Pool Managed Investments

Aberdeen 
Standard 

Global Absolute 
Return 

6M GBP LIBOR + 
5%

2.8 5.7 -0.0 6.0 0.8 5.7 1.8 5.7

BlackRock Global Equities MSCI All Country 
World Index

10.0 9.5 8.1 10.5 15.4 14.4 12.8 11.8

BlackRock Emerging 
Markets Passive

MSCI Emerging 
Market Index

7.3 7.0 -0.1 -0.3 14.5 14.4 9.3 8.9

Western 
Asset

Global Fixed 
Interest

ICE BoAML Sterling 
Non Gilts

6.2 6.6 1.8 3.3 5.4 5.6 6.8 7.2

Western 
Asset

Global Multi 
Strategy Fixed 
Interest

3M GBP LIBOR + 
2%

3.5 2.6 -0.6 2.8 4.5 2.6 2.9 2.6

Hermes 
Investment

Property MSCI UK PPF 
Balanced PUT

6.8 5.1 6.7 5.7 8.1 6.9 11.1 9.6

CBRE Property MSCI All Balanced 
Property Funds 
Index

9.0 8.4 7.3 5.4 6.7 7.1 9.1 9.7

Golub 
Capital 
Partners

Private Debt 3M GBP LIBOR 
+5%

8.7 5.7 17.4 5.9 n/a n/a n/a n/a

BlueBay Private Debt 3M GBP LIBOR 
+5%

7.2 5.7 8.1 5.9 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Page 67



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  22

 Strategic asset  Actual asset Actual asset
 allocation allocation as at allocation as at
 target 2018/19 31st March 2018 31st March 2019
 % % %

UK Equity 13.0 17.6 15.4
Emerging Markets 7.0 6.4 6.0
Global Equity 16.0 13.2 20.1
Global Equity Including Emerging Markets 22.5 26.9 22.0
Total Equity 58.5 64.1 63.5
Global Fixed Interest (including Index Linked 24.5 22.0 22.2 
Securities) & Global Multi Strategy Fixed Interest
UK and Global Property 7.5 8.4 8.5
Multi Asset Global Absolute Return   4.0 3.5 3.3
Cash & Venture Capital 0.0 1.2 0.6
Private Debt 3.5 0.8 1.8
Infrastructure and Private Equity 2.0 0.0 0.1

 100.0  100.0 100.0

Asset Allocation – Planned compared to actual

Significant changes during the year:

Following progress with pooling arrangements, the Strategic Asset Allocation allows for a range of allocations 
to the various Brunel PP investment portfolios, as agreed by the Committee. The following identifies the 
various allocation ranges of which management can work within in consultation with the Independent Advisor 
to the Fund.

Active Equities    

UK Equities 13.0 12.0 to 15.0
High Alpha Developed Equities 14.0 11.0 to 17.0
Emerging Market Equities 7.0 5.5 to 8.5
Sustainable Global Equities 2.0 1.0 to 3.0

Passive Equities  
Developed Equities 11.0 9.0 to 13.0
Low Carbon Equities 2.0 1.0 to 3.0
Smart Beta Equities 9.5 8.0 to 11.0

TOTAL EQUITIES 58.5

Brunel Portfolio   New Proposed Allocation
 Allocation    Range
 % %

continued...

Page 68



23  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Fixed Interest  

Sterling Corporate Bonds 17.0 17.0 to 22.0
Multi Asset Credit 7.5 6.5 to 8.5

TOTAL FIXED INTEREST 24.5   

Alternatives  

Diversified Growth Fund 4.0 3.0 to 5.0
Property 7.5 5.5 to 9.5
Private Debt 3.5 3.0 to 4.5
Infrastructure 1.0 0.5 to 2.5
Private Equity 1.0 0.5 to 2.5

TOTAL ALTERNATIVES 17.0   

TOTAL ALL 100.0 

Brunel Portfolio   New Proposed Allocation
 Allocation    Range
 % %

As at 31st March 2019 the scheme assets were 
invested in a diversified portfolio that consisted 
primarily of equity and debt securities. The majority 
of the equities held by the scheme are in international 
blue chip entities as included in the FTSE and MSCI 
Indices.  The aim is to hold a globally diversified 
portfolio of equities with a small allocation to higher 
risk markets, such as Emerging Markets, to maintain 
a wide range of diversification and to improve return 
opportunities.  

Page 69



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  24

Scheme Administration

Administration 
Arrangements

The Pensions Administration 
team is responsible for the 
scheme member and pensioner 
administration of the Fund. 
Members of the Pensions Finance 
team provide support to the 
Pension Committee including 
the production of management 
information and reports.  In 
addition employers are responsible 
for ensuring that member and 
employer contributions are 
deducted at the correct rate 
and member data is sent to the 
Pensions Administration team.  

To enable assurances to be 
obtained as to the effective and 
efficient operation of the Fund’s 
investments, performance is 
benchmarked on an annual basis 
against other local authority 
pension funds subscribing to the 
PIRC Local Authority Pension 
Performance Analytics’ Universe 
of 64 local authority pension 
funds. Internal controls are also in 
place to support the reliability and 
integrity of financial information 
and the Fund is subject to internal 
and external audit.

Staff contact details can be 
found on page 8 together with 
the Fund’s web addresses which 
contain detailed documents and 
information on the following areas: 

 The Pension Fund’s policy 
statements.

 The actuary’s triennial valuation 
report at March 2007, March 
2010, March 2013 and March 
2016.

 Annual reports from 2009/10 to 
the present.

 Independent Auditor’s 
Consistency Report

 Business Plan

 Funding Strategy Statements

 Investment Strategy Statement

 Pension Board Report

 A range of guides for scheme 
members in “booklet” form 
covering different topics.

 Online copies of the various 
forms members may wish to use 
in connection with their scheme 
membership.

 Updates on latest developments 
affecting the pension scheme.

 Information on the Annual 
Benefit Statements.

 Administration Staff contact 
details

 Employer pages providing 
an Employer’s Administration 
Guide and associated forms/
documentation together with 
other relevant information.

The Pension Fund’s web pages 
also contain links to the National 
LGPS Member Website and 
the Brunel Pension Partnership 
website, the Fund’s pool asset 
manager who will eventually 
manage all the Fund’s investments 
although responsibility for asset 
allocation will remain with the 
Pension Committee.

Value for money statement

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
strives to deliver value for money 
services to all of the members 
and employers within the Fund. In 
order to demonstrate the efficiency 
and effectiveness of the services 
provided we collect data on key 

service related performance 
indicators and cost data which is 
used for comparisons over time 
and comparisons with other Funds 
where possible.

The key data to confirm value for 
money is set out on the following 
pages, but in summary this data 
confirms that the Gloucestershire 
Fund continues to deliver a good 
quality, value for money service 
which meets the expectations of 
members of the fund.

From the performance data on 
pages XX to XX it can be seen that 
across the majority of indicators 
during 2018/19 performance 
has improved significantly. Whilst 
some areas remain lower than 
the performance levels achieved 
under the pre April 2014 scheme, 
it is evident that the investment 
in the administration section of 
the service is paying off; allowing 
management to clearly target the 
complex areas of the scheme 
and ensure a high quality service 
continues to be delivered to 
members. The 2019/20 budget 
allows for the recruitment of three 
additional senior pension officers 
which the Fund hopes will support 
the improvement of service delivery 
and performance indicators even 
further.

From the results of our annual 
satisfaction survey and level of 
complaints on pages xx to xx, it 
can be seen that the Fund receives 
very positive feedback from the 
employers within the fund, and an 
extremely low level of complaints 
from members of the fund or 
employers within the Fund.

These performance figures 
should also be viewed in the 
context of the cost benchmarking 
data shown on pages xx to xx. 

Page 70



25  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

These show that scheme administration costs per scheme member are over 6% lower than average, whilst 
fund management costs per member are around 38% lower than average, reflecting the low investment 
management fees achieved by the Fund. Overall these two cost factors combine to show that the total fund 
costs per member (administration and investment) are around 34% below average.

> Summary of activity

Key Tasks Performance Information 

The Pension Fund has a number of local performance targets which are included within the Pension 
Administration Strategy report, and are detailed in the tables below.  These tables show the levels of 
achievement for the last five years for the key tasks delivered by the Pension Fund.

 Activity Target 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

 Annual Benefit Statements  31/10/15 31/08/16 31/08/17 31/08/18 31/08/19
 sent by statutory deadline:
  100% 0%** 100%* 100%* 100%* 100%*

 Provide retirement estimates within 15 working days   

 Total completed  646 693 669 571 651
 Completed on time  505 228 442 485 587
 Achievement 90% 78.2% 32.9% 66.1% 84.9% 90.2%

 Pay retirement grants within 15 working days 

 Total completed  707 650 807 768 858
 Completed on time  634 151 285 575 592
 Achievement 90% 89.7% 23.2% 35.3% 74.9% 69%

 Pay death grants within 8 working days

 Total completed  40 55 59 61 79
 Completed on time  39 6 32 45 65
 Achievement 90% 97.5% 10.9% 54.2% 73.8% 82%

   2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

   % % % % %

 Pension contributions paid on or before   99.40 99.60 99.90 99.95 99.84
 the due date

 Employers providing the Pension Fund with  75.8 78.5 81.2 79.7 81.0
 a copy of their discretions policy document 
 (171 out of 211)
 Provision of named pensions contacts for   100 100 100 100 100
 the employer

* Where all necessary information/clarification received from member’s employer.

**  This was the result of the Fund not receiving the majority of necessary employer pay data in time. The 2014 LGPS introduced 
substantial change and additional requirements of employers and fund administrators alike. Statements were issued by 30th 
November 2015.

Page 71



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  26

Results from employer satisfaction survey 

The Fund also carries out an annual employer satisfaction survey to measure the level of benefit/improved 
understanding employers derive from attending the employers’ forums and when contacting the Pensions 
section. 

% of employers completing the survey who agreed with the following statements: 

  2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
  % % % % %

 The forums had raised their understanding  83 100 100 100 100
 of current pension issues 
 Employers who felt that what they had 
 learned at the Forum and from the Pensions 88 89 100 100 100
 office would help them in their role as a
 pension fund employer 
 Where I have contacted the Pensions office 
 regarding a pension related issue, I am  95 93 100 100 100
 satisfied with the assistance given in relation 
 to the query raised

Type of complaint 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

System error - - - - -
Staff error 1 - - - 2
Staff attitude - - - - -
Total 1 - - - 2
Total as % of workload 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Complaints received

 Activity Target 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

 Pay refunds within 15 working days 

 Total completed  n/a n/a 290 448 620
 Completed on time  n/a n/a 203 429 609
 Achievement 90% n/a n/a 70% 95.8% 98.2%

 Pay transfer values within 15 working days

 Total completed  n/a n/a 71 132 147
 Completed on time  n/a n/a 55 122 144
 Achievement 90% n/a n/a 77.5% 92.4% 98%

Page 72



27  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

The management fees disclosed 
above include investment 
management fees directly 
incurred by the Fund i.e. including 
those charged on pooled fund 
investments which tend to be 
deducted from the market value 
of the investments rather than 
invoiced to the Fund. In addition 
to these costs, indirect costs are 
incurred through the bid-offer 
spread on investments sales and 
purchases. These are reflected in 
the cost of investment acquisitions 
and in the proceeds from the sales 
of investments.

Benchmarking 

The Pension Fund submits 
data (SF3 submission) on an 
annual basis to the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities & Local 
Government (MHCLG). This 
information provides a benchmark 

on the administration and fund 
management of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
and is also used in compiling the 
National Accounts and to show 
the role of pension funds in the 
economy. The SF3 submission 
is subjected to a strict validation 
by MHCLG and any significant 
variances are investigated.

Please find detailed below the 
results of the benchmarking 
obtained from that submission, 
comparing the average cost 
per scheme member of the 
Gloucestershire Fund to the 
average cost per scheme member 
of all funds in England and Wales.

The results show that the average 
cost per scheme member of the 
Gloucestershire Fund has been 
consistently lower than the average 
of all funds in England and Wales.

> Financial Indicators

Unit Costs per Member

  2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

 Investment Management Expenses   

 Total Costs £000 5,753 6,136 6,698 5,783 6,492
 Total Membership Numbers 53,203 55,891 58,465 59,768 60,134
 Cost per member £ 108.13 109.78 114.56 96.75 107.96

 Administration Expenses 

 Total Costs £000 933 1,002 1,133 1,217 1,397
 Total Membership Numbers 53,203 55,891 58,465 59,768 60,134
 Cost per member £ 17.53 17.93 19.38 20.36 23.23

 Oversight and Governance 

 Total Costs £000 407 475 694 418 553

 Total Membership Numbers 53,203 55,891 58,465 59,768 60,134

 Cost per member £ 7.65 8.50 11.87 6.99 9.20

 Total cost per member £ 133.31 136.21 145.81 124.10 140.39

Page 73



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  28

 Number of full time equivalent  10.6 10.8 11.8 14.9 14.6
 Pension Fund staff

 Total fund membership  53,203 55,891 58,465 59,768 60,134

 Number of fund members to one 5,019 5,175 4,954 4,011 4,119
 member of administration staff

  2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Staffing Indicators 

The table below shows the number of staff over the last five years in the Pensions Administration Team 
working exclusively on local government pension scheme benefits.

Other activities 
undertaken in 2018/19

In addition to the routine tasks 
detailed above, a number of 
significant one-off projects were 
delivered by the administration 
section of the Fund, as 
summarised below.

Guaranteed Minimum Pensions 
(GMP) Reconciliation Project

During the year a reconciliation of 
the GMP records held by HMRC to 
those held by the Gloucestershire 
Fund continued to progress to 
ensure that the GMP liabilities 

held by HMRC relate to the 
Gloucestershire Fund. 

Award of Pension 
Administration Software 
Contract

Two major contracts were 
awarded in 2018/19 in relation 
to the provision of the Pensions 
Administration software system 
and for a hosting solution being 
provided by the owner of the 
software to improve the quality of 
support arrangements and hence 
enhance the quality of the service 
provided.

Award of Actuarial Services 
Contract

In addition to the projects 
undertaken by the Administration 
Section the Finance and 
Investments Section undertook 
a competitive tendering exercise, 
under the LGPS National 
Framework for the award of a 
contract for actuarial services. 
Following a robust and detailed 
process a new contract was 
awarded during the year.

  2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

 Administration costs per scheme member   

 Gloucestershire County Council 22.77 26.61 32.28 27.94
 All Authorities 25.19 29.80 30.24 29.80

 Fund management costs per scheme member  

 Gloucestershire County Council 118.46 121.33 127.77 107.80
 All Authorities 144.65 148.49 155.06 175.44

 Total Administration and Fund management costs per scheme member 

 Gloucestershire County Council 141.23 147.94 160.04 135.74
 All Authorities 169.84 178.30 185.30 205.24

Page 74



29  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

> Other information
Membership Summary

 Contributors 18,141 +2.70 18,630 +1.91 18,986 -0.82 18,830 +0.74 18,969

 Pensioners 13,719 +3.56 14,207 +3.47 14,700 +4.44 15,353 +4.59 16,058

 Deferred 17,201 +5.51 18,149 +3.25 18,738 +3.87 19,463 +4.90 20,417
 pensioners

  49,061 +3.92 50,986 +2.82 52,424 +2.33 53,646 +3.35 55,444

 Undecided/ 4,142 +18.42 4,905 +23.16 6,041 +1.34 6,122 -23.39 4,690
 unprocessed
 leavers

  53,203 +5.05 55,891 +4.61 58,465 +2.23 59,768 +0.61 60,134

Deferred pensioners are former employees who have not transferred their pension rights and to whom benefits will be paid, from their 
eligible retirement date.

Undecided leavers are those members who are no longer accruing service and to whom a refund of contributions or transfer out may 
be due.

Unprocessed leavers are those members which represent cases where we are aware that a member has left, but that case has not 
yet been processed. These cases (once processed) could end up becoming Undecided Leavers or Deferred’s (depending on length of 
membership) or indeed could end up being aggregated with another record the member may hold, in which case the particular record 
itself would be deleted.

  2014/15 % 2015/16 %  2016/17 %  2017/18 %  2018/19
   diff  diff  diff  diff

Page 75



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  30

The following gives an age profile of fund members.

 Gender Category Age Active Deferred Pensioner Widow(er)/ 
      Dependant

 F under 15 0 0 0 20
 M under 15 0 0 0 10
 F 15 to 19 83 0 0 17
 M 15 to 19 35 0 0 20
 F 20 to 24 576 123 0 14
 M 20 to 24 226 100 0 26
 F 25 to 29 845 752 0 8
 M 25 to 29 330 403 0 2
 F 30 to 34 1,133 1,210 0 0
 M 30 to 34 329 531 0 1
 F 35 to 39 1,569 1,600 1 1
 M 35 to 39 326 605 0 1
 F 40 to 44 1961 1,741 3 2
 M 40 to 44 333 451 0 4
 F 45 to 49 2,720 2,588 19 11
 M 45 to 49 427 595 5 11
 F 50 to 54 2,906 3,425 38 21
 M 50 to 54 538 725 14 33
 F 55 to 59 2,209 2,942 349 39
 M 55 to 59 527 720 142 48
 F 60 to 64 1,154 1,338 1,698 77
 M 60 to 64 359 332 640 94
 F 65 to 69 216 137 2,776 114
 M 65 to 69 98 52 1,202 90
 F 70 to 74 45 24 2,138 156
 M 70 to 74 24 18 1,123 90
 F 75 to 79 0 2 1,165 222
 M 75 to 79 0 3 736 95
 F 80 to 84 0 0 671 238
 M 80 to 84 0 0 453 103
 F 85 to 89 0 0 343 199
 M 85 to 89 0 0 221 51
 F 90 to 94 0 0 133 130
 M 90 to 94 0 0 95 22
 F 95 to 99 0 0 25 48
 M 95 to 99 0 0 28 0
 F 100 to 104 0 0 5 7
 M 100 to 104 0 0 3 0
 F 105 to 109 0 0 2 2
 M 105 to 109 0 0 2 0
 F 110 to 114 0 0 0 1

 Total Members    55,444 18,969 20,417 14,030 2,028

Page 76



31  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Employer Summary

Please find listed opposite a summary of the number 
of employers in the Fund as at 31st March 2019 
analysed by scheduled bodies and admitted bodies 
which are active (with active members) and ceased 
(no active members but some outstanding liabilities) 
during the year.  

 Active Ceased Total

Scheduled bodies 163 2 161

Admitted bodies 42 4 38

Total 205 6 199

Employee Contributions

Employee contributions are 
prescribed by statute and are based 
on pay bands. The pay bands and 
rates applicable from April 2018 are 
detailed opposite:

Whilst these same rates will apply 
to the 2019/20 financial year, the 
pensionable pay banding levels 
have increased slightly.  Employees 
can opt to pay 50% of the relevant 
contribution rate to accrue 50% of 
the normal pension.

 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Normal retirement 144 156 196 195 205
Early retirement* 532 438 502 544 618
Ill-health retirement** 22 22 31 26 32
 698 616 729 765 855

Analysis of new pensioners

Please find detailed below a breakdown of new pensioners split into the various types of retirement: 

*Early retirements are made up of employees who, on being made redundant and over the age of 55, were entitled to their accrued 
pension rights plus those employees over 55 who elected to receive their pension benefits before their normal retirement age, incurring 
a reduction in their pension benefits to reflect early payment (there are some exclusions to this rule).

**Ill-health retirements relate to those members of staff, and former members of staff with deferred benefits, deemed permanently 
incapable of continuing in the employment the member was engaged in due to medical reasons and not immediately capable of 
undertaking any gainful employment in the future.  

Pensionable Pay Employee Contribution Rate
 % 

Up to £14,100  5.5
£14,101 to £22,000  5.8
£22,001 to £35,700  6.5
£35,701 to £45,200 6.8
£45,201 to £63,100  8.5
£63,101 to £89,400  9.9
£89,401 to £105,200 10.5
£105,201 to £157,800 11.4
More than £157,801  12.5

Employer Contributions

Employer contributions are assessed every three 
years by the Scheme Actuary.  The contributions are 
required to be sufficient to maintain the long-term 
solvency of the Fund. 

The results of the most recent actuarial valuation of 
the Fund, as at 31st March 2016, were announced in 
March 2017 and set the employers’ contribution rates 
payable in each of the three years commencing 1st 
April 2017. The next actuarial valuation is due as at 

31st March 2019, which will prescribe the employer 
rates from 1st April 2020.

The table overleaf summarises the whole fund 
Primary and Secondary Contribution rates at the 
2016 valuation. Primary rates relate to future service 
liabilities whilst the secondary rate relates to past 
service deficit payments. These rates are the payroll 
weighted average of the underlying individual 
employer primary and secondary rates calculated in 
accordance with the Regulations and the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA)
guidance.

Page 77



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  32

Employer Contributions as a % of pay 31st March 31st March  31st March
 2007 2010 2013

(a) Future Service Funding Rate 14.6% 15.5% 19.7%
(b) Past Service Adjustment 7.7% 10.3% 13.2%

Total Common Contribution Rate 22.3% 25.8% 32.9%

Further information regarding the valuation and the 
scheme’s funding position is included in the Actuarial 
Report on Fund on pages 39 to 40.

Details of benefits payable under the LGPS and how 
they are calculated are contained in a scheme booklet 
that is issued to new employees. A general guide to 
the benefits payable is contained on pages 177 to 
178 of this report. In accordance with the Pensions 
(Increase) Act 1971 pensions payable are increased in 
relation to the movement in the Consumer Price Index.

Participating Employers and 
Contributions Receivable

A list of the Fund’s participating and contributing 
employers is shown below. The Rates & Adjustment 
Certificate showing each individual employer’s 
contribution rate, as agreed with the Scheme Actuary, 
for the period 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2020 may 
be found in the Funding Strategy Statement on pages 
121 to 126.

* including schools

Primary Employer Contribution Rate  Secondary Rate
as a % of pay  £000
1st April 2017 to 31st March 2020 2017/18 2018/19  2019/20

                        19.6% 32,487 36,638 40,905

The table below shows the Fund “Common Contribution rate” as at 31st March for the previous three 
valuation periods for information purposes. Due to changes in the regulatory regime and guidance on 
contribution rates, comparison to the whole fund rate at 2016 was not appropriate.

2018/2019 Contributions  Employer  Employee  Total
 Contributions Contributions
 
 
Administering Authority    

Gloucestershire County Council*                            34,542,468 8,114,942 42,657,410

Scheduled Bodies    

Cheltenham Borough Council            1,236,213  423,440  1,659,654 
Cotswold District Council  1,783,095  55,978  1,839,073 
Forest of Dean District Council  50,165  20,939  71,104 
Gloucester City Council  4,228,855  332,778  4,561,633 
Stroud District Council  1,857,013  604,910  2,461,923 
Tewkesbury Borough Council  2,676,328  357,137  3,033,465 
Cotswolds Conservation Board  76,569  23,846  100,415 
Cheltenham Borough Homes  930,806  337,265  1,268,071 
Farmors Sport Centre Limited  11,978  1,877  13,855
Sir William Romney Leisure Limited 19,628  2,763  22,391
Police and Crime Commissioner for Gloucestershire  5,036,563  1,452,519  6,489,082 
Lower Severn Drainage Board  149,252  26,218  175,470 
Parish and Town Councils (pooled)  497,152  127,300  624,452 
University of Gloucestershire  4,110,793  1,151,948  5,262,741 
Cirencester College  477,593  111,389  588,982 
Gloucestershire College  1,872,966  396,891  2,269,856 
Hartpury University  1,442,877  416,207  1,859,084 

continued...

Page 78



33  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

2018/2019 Contributions  Employer  Employee  Total
 Contributions Contributions
 

Academies    
Abbey View CCT                                                               19,028  4,788  23,816 
All Saints  252,211  54,815  307,026 
Balcarras School  278,817  64,238  343,055 
Holmleigh Park High School (formerly Beaufort Academy)  329,013  62,075  391,088 
Berkeley Primary  112,026  11,023  123,049 
Berkeley UTC Academy  30,903  8,154  39,057 
Bibury C of E Primary Academy 2,572  488   3,060 
Bishops Cleeve Primary  154,327  35,138  189,465 
Blockley Primary Academy  41,802  8,604  50,406 
Bourton On The Water  84,081  18,114  102,195 
Brockworth Primary 92,343  22,675  115,018 
Cam Woodfield Junior Academy 45,004  9,326  54,330 
Charlton Kings Infants School  88,706  18,896  107,602 
Charlton Kings Junior School  81,209  15,159  96,368 
Cheltenham Bournside School  381,944  59,759  441,703 
Chesterton Primary Academy 51,380  11,788  63,168 
Chipping Campden School  246,297  52,764  299,061 
Chosen Hill School  279,785  56,953  336,738 
Christ Church C of E  64,249  14,571  78,820 
Churchdown School  297,709  57,166  354,875 
Churchdown Village Infants  75,597  17,338  92,935 
Cirencester Deer Park School  277,247  61,175  338,422 
Cirencester Kingshill School  177,380  43,183  220,563 
Clearwater Primary Academy  14,086  3,965  18,051 
Cleeve School  275,021  59,484  334,505 
Coaley C of E Primary Academy  15,465  2,579  18,044 
Cotswold School  287,594  62,504  350,098 
Crypt School  145,950  36,068  182,018 
Dene Magna School  234,738  45,180  279,918 
Denmark Road High School (formerly High School for Girls)  179,544  34,015  213,559 
Diocese of Gloucester Academies Trust  50,264  24,120  74,384 
Dursley Primary  116,945  24,215  141,160 
Farmors Academy  160,153  34,937  195,090 
Field Court C of E Infant School  110,398  24,000  134,398 
Field Court C of E Junior School  80,888  15,038  95,926 
Five Acres High School Academy  217,561  42,730  260,291 
Forest High School  95,968  17,924  113,892 
Forest View Primary  100,617   18,896  119,513 
Gloucester Academy  331,601  70,865  402,466 
Gotherington Primary School  51,481  7,488  58,969 
Grange Primary Academy 66,236  13,142  79,378 
Gretton Primary School  19,221  4,061  23,282 
Hardwicke Primary School  109,423  21,524  130,947 
Henley Bank High School (Formerly Millbrook Academy)  129,663  29,474  159,137 
Highnam C of E Primary School  40,589  9,381  49,970 
Katherine Lady Berkeley School  298,600  59,148  357,748 
Kemble Primary Academy 26,120  5,679  31,799 
Lakefield Primary Academy  65,939  13,194  79,133 
Longford Park Primary Academy  32,132  8,448  40,580 
Longney C of E Primary Academy  32,163  5,681  37,844 

continued...

Page 79



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  34

2018/2019 Contributions  Employer  Employee  Total
 Contributions Contributions
 
Academies (continued)   

Marling School  182,356  44,370  226,726  
Minchinhampton Academy   58,720  13,913  72,633 
Mitton Manor Primary Academy  50,475  10,289  60,764 
Moat Primary Academy  74,468   15,438  89,906 
Newent Com School  253,284  48,234  301,5187 
North Cerney C of E Primary Academy  20,885  3,906  24,791 
Offas Mead Primary 39,468  7,380  46,848 
Pates School  242,294  58,842  301,136 
Peak Academy 109,907  23,448  133,355 
Primrose Hill Academy  59,196  10,867  70,063 
Redmarley CofE School)  12,229  2,327  14,556 
Ribston Hall School  172,384  39,751  212,135 
Robinswood Primary School  293,413  68,966  362,379 
Rosary Catholic Primary School   58,355  11,391  69,746 
Rowanfield Infant School  66,807  13,895  80,702 
Rowanfield Junior School  111,035  25,986  137,021 
Severnbanks Primary  76,725  14,473  91,198 
Severn Vale School  260,614  57,311  317,925 
Severn View Primary 56,300  10,080   66,380 
Siddington C of E Primary Academy 18,669  4,400  23,069 
Sir Thomas Rich’s  School  170,740  35,499  206,239 
Sir William Romney’s School  258,810  26,070  284,880 
South Glos & Stroud Academy Trust  24,765  7,148  31,913 
Springbank Primary  134,870  33,989  168,859 
St James Primary Academy  105,707  18,099  123,806 
St Davids Primary  71,461  16,812  88,273 
St Dominics Catholic Primary School  20,594   3,674  24,268 
St Anthony’s Academy   508  1,909  2,417 
St Johns C of E Primary  46,247  9,621  55,868 
St Lawrence Academy  51,376  15,202   66,578 
St Mary’s Catholic Primary School  63,554  14,911  78,465 
St Peter’s Catholic High School  409,599  83,948  493,547 
Staunton and Corse C of E School  27,054  5,360  32,414 
Stone with Woodford C of E Academy  23,263   3,985  27,248 
Stroud High School  186,575  42,219  228,794 
Tewkesbury School  302,779  65,714  368,493 
The Dean Academy  247,000  45,293  292,293 
The Ridge Academy  75,402  17,827  93,229 
Thomas Keble School  201,552   41,718  243,270 
Tredworth Infant and Nursery Academy  88,051   18,577  106,628 
Whiteshill Primary Academy  21,892  3,917  25,809
Winchcombe School  136,427  26,019  162,446 
Winchcombe Abbey  68,349  14,816  83,165 
Wyedean School  289,070  48,081  337,151 

                                               38,453,065 8,331,010 46,784,075 

continued...

Page 80



35  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

 *    including schools    
**   includes ill health and early retirement contributions totalling £2.4m.
Some of the employers will include accruals for contributions due but not received as at 31st March 2019.

2018/2019 Contributions  Employer  Employee  Total
 Contributions Contributions
 
Admitted Bodies   

AMEY (Highways)  252,881  57,060  309,941 
APCOA  27,158  5,739   32,897 
Aspire Sports and Cultural Trust  71,171  28,949  100,120 
Aspens Catering (Farmors)  5,313  976  6,289 
Barnardos FOD and Stroud     9,675  2,223  11,898 
Barnardos Gloucester      36,845  9,222  46,067 
Brandon Trust  9,700  2,327  12,027 
Carers Glos. Parent partnership  10,345  2,385  12,730 
Cheltenham Trust  180,922  52,121  233,043 
Civica (FOD DC)  -645,770  10,826  -634,944 
Civica UK Ltd  213,350   48,649  261,999 
Civica UK Ltd - Glos City IT  16,041  3,003  19,044 
Cotswold Archaeological Trust  172,688  44,131  216,819 
Enterprise (Accord Operations Ltd)  152,042  46,987  199,029 
Fosseway Housing Association  7,232,000   -    7,232,000 
Gardners Lane & Oakwood (Chelt. & Tewks)  126,510  37,419  163,929 
Gloucester City Homes   686,661  128,234  814,895 
Gloucestershire Airport  441,730  23,023  464,753 
Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust  63,312  16,726  80,038 
Gloucestershire Group Homes  74,313  15,924  90,237 
Glos Rural Com Council  7,280  1,562  8,842 
INTO University Partnerships  10,195  2,131  12,326 
Kiddywinks (St Cats)  625  170  795 
The Orders of St John Care Trust  89,487  15,572  105,059 
Places for People  30,710  11,304   42,014 
Prospects Youth Service  783,942  172,333  956,275 
Publica (Cotswold)  1,015,613  386,137  1,401,750 
Publica (Forest)  887,262  194,746  1,082,009 
Ridge Crest Cleaning (Farmors)     5,286  1,101  6,387 
Severnvale Housing Association  6,921,493  23,749  6,945,242 
Skanska (GCC Street Lighting)   8,359  2,359  10,718 
Sport & Leisure Management  114,817  28,811  143,628 
Stroud Court Community Trust  66,831  17,821  84,652 
Tinies UK (Glos College)  48,597  9,529  58,126 
Two Rivers Housing  189,686  78,514  268,200 
UBICO LTD (Chelt BC)  361,138  103,798  464,936 
UBICO LTD (COTS DC)  15,183  4,530  19,713 
UBICO LTD (FODDC)   28,482  6,943  35,425 
UBICO LTD (Tewks BC)   160,265   41,597  201,862 
Wealdon Leisure (FODDC)  139,063  29,523  168,586 
  
                              20,021,201 1,668,154 21,689,355 

Total contributions                    93,016,734 18,114,106 ** 111,130,840 

Page 81



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  36

Subject    Number of Requests

Alternative investments    9
Subject access request    3
Investments in arms companies     2
Investments in tobacco companies    2
Voting records    2
Implications of pooling on investments held   1
Investments in property    1
Pension advice given    1
Pension payments made to deceased pensioners   1
Pensioners earning in excess of £28,600, £50,000 and £100,000  1
Records system used by Pension Fund   1
Transfer values paid    1
Veterans officer    1
    26

The Fund’s Internal 
Disputes Resolution 
Procedure (I.D.R.P.) 

Although the majority of problems 
relating to members benefits 
are normally the result of 
misunderstandings or incorrect 
information and can be dealt with 
informally, the LGPS Regulations 
provide a formal complaint 
procedure known as the Internal 
Dispute Resolution Procedure. 
This formal process consists of 
two stages, as detailed below, 
although many of the complaints 
are resolved during the first stage.

Stage 1

 In the first instance you should 
write to the person nominated by 
the body who made the decision 
about which you wish to appeal.  
You must do this within six months 
of the date of the notification of 
the decision or the act or omission 
about which you are complaining 
(or such longer period as the 
nominated person considers 
reasonable).  This is a formal 
review of the initial decision or act 
or omission and is an opportunity 
for the matter to be reconsidered.  
The nominated person will 
consider your complaint and notify 
you of his or her decision.

Stage 2

 If you are dissatisfied with that 
person’s decision, (or their failure 
to make a decision) you may 
apply to the Fund’s administering 
authority to have it reconsidered.

The Pensions Section can tell you 
who your employer’s nominated 
person is and supply you with a 
more detailed leaflet on the Internal 
Disputes Resolution Procedure 
and relevant time limits together 
with a form to fill in or you can ask 
your employer.

The Pensions Advisory 
Service (TPAS)

TPAS is available at any time to 
assist members and beneficiaries 
of the scheme in connection 
with any pension query they may 
have or any difficulty which they 
cannot resolve with the scheme 
administrator.  Information can 
be found on the TPAS website at 
www.pensionsadvisoryservice.org.
uk or they can be contacted on 
0800 011 3797.

Pensions Ombudsman

In cases where a complaint or 
dispute has not been satisfactorily 
resolved through the Internal 

Disputes Resolution Procedure, 
or with the help of TPAS, an 
application can be made to the 
Pensions Ombudsman within three 
years of the event that gave rise 
to the complaint or dispute or, if 
later, within three years of when 
the individual first knew about it 
(or ought to have known about 
it).  There is discretion in certain 
instances for the time limit to be 
extended.  

The Pensions Ombudsman’s 
website can be found at www.
pensions-ombudsman.org.uk or 
they can be contacted on 0800 
917 4487.  

More detailed information can be 
found on the pages of the Pension 
Section’s website by using the 
following link www.gloucestershire.
gov.uk/pensions.  Alternatively, you 
can contact the Pensions Section 
by telephoning (01452) 328888. 

Details of scheme member 
appeals during 2018/2019 are as 
follows:

There have been no appeals 
against the County Council, as 
Administering Authority, during 
2018/19.

Summary of Freedom of Information Requests received during 2018/19

Page 82



37  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Pensions Administration 
Strategy 

Introduction & Purpose

It is recognised by the Secretary 
of State that for the administration 
of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) to be improved 
and costs reduced, Employers 
and Administering Authorities must 
co-operate closely and provide 
sufficient resource to ensure that 
their statutory obligations are met. 
The purpose of this Administration 
Strategy is therefore to recognise 
those responsibilities and to set 
out the time scales within which 
tasks should be completed. 
This will subsequently improve 
the flow of information between 
Employers and Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund (as Administering 
Authority), ensuring that those 
obligations are met, and ultimately 
that costs are kept to a minimum 
and that scheme members receive 
accurate and timely payment/
notification of their entitlements. 
The Administering Authority has 
assigned responsibility for the 
management and administration of 
the Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
to the Pension Committee.

1. The Regulations

1.1 The Pension Administration 
Strategy is concerned with 
ensuring that Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund runs smoothly for its 
member’s employer organisations 
and Gloucestershire Pension Fund. 

1.2 The Pension Administration 
Strategy is made in accordance 
with Regulation 59 of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013 which states, 
amongst other things that: 

59.(1) An administering authority 
may prepare a written statement 
of the authority’s policies in 

relation to such of the matters 
mentioned in paragraph (2) 
as it considers appropriate 
(‘its pension administration 
strategy’) and, where it does so, 
paragraphs (3) to (7) apply. 

(2) The matters are: 

(a) procedures for liaison and 
communication with Scheme 
employers in relation to which 
it is the administering authority 
(‘its Scheme employers’);

(b) the establishment of 
levels of performance which 
the administering authority 
and its Scheme employers 
are expected to achieve in 
carrying out their Scheme 
functions by:

i) the setting of performance 
targets

ii) the making of agreements 
about levels of performance 
and associated matters, or

iii) such other means as 
the administering authority 
considers appropriate

(c) procedures which aim to 
secure that the administering 
authority and its Scheme 
employers comply with 
statutory requirements in 
respect of those functions and 
with any agreement about 
levels of performance;

(d) procedures for improving 
the communication by the 
administering authority and its 
Scheme employers to each 
other of information relating to 
those functions;

(e) the circumstances in which 
the administering authority 

may consider giving written 
notice to any of its Scheme 
employers under regulation 70 
(additional costs arising from 
Scheme employer’s level of 
performance) on account of 
that employer’s unsatisfactory 
performance in carrying out 
its Scheme functions when 
measured against levels of 
performance established 
under sub-paragraph (b);

(f) the publication by the 
administering authority of 
annual reports dealing with:

(i) the extent to which that 
authority and its Scheme 
employers have achieved 
the levels of performance 
established under sub-
paragraph (b), and

(ii) such other matters 
arising from its pension 
administration strategy as it 
considers appropriate; and

(g) such other matters as 
appear to the administering 
authority, after consulting its 
Scheme employers and such 
other persons as it considers 
appropriate, to be suitable for 
inclusion in that strategy. 

1.3 The Pension Administration 
Strategy is published to 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund’s 
Scheme employers and to the 
Secretary of State.

2. The Strategy 

2.1 Procedures for liaison and 
communication with Scheme 
employers 

2.1.1 The employer will nominate 
a person to act as the ‘employer 

Page 83



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  38

representative’ and Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund’s primary 
contact. The employer will notify 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
who that person is and ensure that 
changes of nominated person are 
notified to Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund immediately. 

2.1.2 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund employs a multi-channel 
approach to liaison and 
communication with Scheme 
employers to ensure that employer 
needs are constantly and 
consistently met. 

2.1.3 Channels include: 

  The ‘Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund Employers Website’, that 
gives access to:

-  information about 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and the Local Government 
Pension Scheme

-  administration forms to 
download, print and use as 
needed 

-  contact information for key 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
representatives who can inform 
and liaise with employers on the 
scheme and its application to 
individual cases 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
issues information by e-mail to the 
nominated contact for pensions at 
each organisation. 

  Employer representatives can 
distribute pension information 
as appropriate to relevant staff 
within their organisation with 
a view to ensuring the smooth 
operation of the scheme within 
their organisation. The employer 
representative should always be 

mindful of the confidentiality of 
some correspondence.

  Employer update seminars are 
held twice yearly (usually during 
January and June) covering 
scheme development issues 
and providing the opportunity for 
Employers to field any questions/
queries.

2.2 Levels of performance 

2.2.1 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund and Scheme employers must 
have regard to the current version 
of the Pension Administration 
Strategy when carrying out their 
functions. 

Levels of performance for 
Scheme employers and the 
administering authority

2.2.2 The employer must supply 
notifications (or approved 
alternatives) to Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund as follows: 

i.  New starters (FORM: Employer 
pension starter notification): within 
5 weeks of the employee joining.

ii.  Change in member’s details 
(FORM: LGPS con-change): within 
5 weeks of the event.

iii.  Early leavers (FORM: leaver1): 
within 5 weeks of the employee 
leaving.

iv.  Retirement Notifications 
(FORM: leaver1) and all other 
required documents must be 
received by Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund on or before 5 
working days after the last day of 
employment.

v.  Death in active membership 
(FORM: leaver1): within 5 working 
days of the death of the member. 

2.2.3 Great care must be taken to 
avoid breaking The Occupational 
Pension Schemes (Disclosure of 
Information) Regulations 2013. For 
example, where a retirement takes 
place before normal pension age, 
leaver1 form must be received by 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund no 
later than one month after the date 
of retirement. Where a retirement 
takes place on or after normal 
pension age, Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund must receive leaver1 
form no later than 10 working days 
after the date of retirement. The 
above timeframes within 2.2.2 are 
therefore to allow us to ensure 
compliance with the Disclosure 
Regulations in relation to all 
scheme member matters.

2.2.4 Each employer in the fund 
will provide Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund with a monthly 
statement reconciling to the total 
contributions paid. This statement 
must be received by the Pension 
Fund before the payment of the 
contribution is made. The format 
of this statement is stipulated by 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and contains information as 
detailed in the LGPS Regulations 
2013. It also provides assistance 
to the employer by validating 
the calculations. A separate 
spreadsheet is available for 
employees utilising the 50/50 
scheme and both can be obtained 
from the ‘Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund Employers Web Site’. The 
deadline for receipt of these 
statements is no later than the 
10th day of the month following 
the month in which contributions 
have been deducted. Where the 
10th falls on a weekend or bank 
holiday, the due date becomes the 
last working day prior to 10th.

Page 84



39  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

2.2.5 Employers will provide 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund with 
a year-end data return as at 31st 
March each year in an approved 
format no later than *31st May 
of that year. The return must be 
balanced by the employer against 
the employee and employer 
contribution payments made for 
that financial year. 

*Please note that in the year of the 
Triennial Valuation, this date may need to 
be brought forward. Any such change will 
be notified in advance to your nominated 
person.

2.2.6 The scheme employer 
is responsible for ensuring 
that employee and employer 
contributions are deducted at the 
correct rate and on the correct 
pensionable pay. This includes 
contributions due on leave of 
absence with reduced or no pay, 
maternity leave contributions, 
contributions relating to the 50/50 
option and any other contributions 
due to the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund or requested by the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund.

2.2.7 The employer is responsible 
for exercising the discretionary 
powers given to employers by the 
regulations. The employer is also 
responsible for publishing its policy 
in respect of the key discretions as 
required by the regulations to its 
employees. 

2.2.8 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund is not responsible for verifying 
the accuracy of any information 
provided by the employer for the 
purpose of calculating benefits 
under the provisions of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
and the Discretionary Payments 
Regulations. That responsibility 
rests with the employer. 

2.2.9 Any over payment of 
benefits resulting from inaccurate 
information supplied by the 
employer shall be recovered from 
the employer. 

Similarly, where Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund are required to 
revise their calculations due to 
incorrect notification of information 
by the employer, Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund reserves the right to 
pass on the administrative costs of 
processing that revision. 

2.2.10 In the event of 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
incurring costs or being fined by 
e.g. The Pensions Regulator, as a 
result of an employer’s action or 
inaction (e.g. the failure to notify 
a retirement within the time limits 
described above), this charge 
will be passed on to the relevant 
employer. 

2.2.11 Under the Data Protection 
Act 1998, the employer will 
protect from improper disclosure 
any information about a member 
contained (where applicable) on 
any item sent from Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund. It will also only 
use information supplied or made 
available by Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund for the operation 
of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme. 

Levels of performance for 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

2.2.12 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will make available/ issue 
forms, newsletters, booklets 
and such other materials as are 
necessary for the administration of 
the Scheme. 

2.2.13 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will support employers in 
running the Local Government 
Pension Scheme by: 

i.  providing information, 
interpretation and assistance on 
the scheme and its administration

ii.  distributing regular technical 
information

2.2.14 Working co-operatively 
with employers, Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund aims to: 

i.  in relation to retirements; pay 
retirement grants within 10 working 
days of receipt of all the relevant 
required paperwork 

ii.  in relation to deaths in service; 
pay the death gratuity within 3 
working days of receipt of all the 
relevant required paperwork 

iii.  provide employer requested 
estimates within 15 working days 
of request from employer

iv.  send Annual Benefit 
Statements (ABS’s) to scheme 
members in accordance with 
the specified timeframes within 
the LGPS Regulations following 
the relevant end of financial year, 
(subject to timely receipt of all 
required notifications under 2.2.2 
and a balanced year-end return as 
stated in 2.2.5) 

2.2.15 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will produce benefit 
illustrations for members each year 
where the employer has submitted 
useable and accurate year-end 
financial data. 

2.2.16 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will supply any information 
to employers necessary to ensure 
the smooth running of the pension 
fund. 

2.2.17 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will work with employers 
to ensure that retirement is as 
smooth a process as possible for 
the member and employer. 

2.2.18 Under the Data Protection 
Act 1998, Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will protect from improper 
disclosure any information held 
about a member. Information held 
will be used by Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund for the operation 
of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme. 

2.2.19 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund is responsible for exercising 
the discretionary powers given to it 
by the regulations. Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund is also responsible 

Page 85



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  40

for publishing its policy to its 
members in respect of the key 
discretions as required by the 
regulations. 

2.2.20 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund aims to provide a service 
to members that meet the 
requirements of the Occupational 
Pension Schemes (Disclosure of 
Information) Regulations 2013. 

2.2.21 The Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund will contact all 
scheme employers throughout 
the financial year, depending on 
their year end reporting date, 
to establish requirements for an 
annual pension liability report 
produced by the Fund’s actuary. 
These reports are required 
under the relevant International 
Accounting Standards (IAS) or 
Financial Reporting Standards 
(FRS) for inclusion in the employer’s 
annual Report & Accounts. For 
those wishing to commission 
such a report, the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund will provide all the 
necessary documentation as 
provided by the Fund’s actuary; 
the cost of obtaining this report 
will be recharged to the employer. 
Employers who fail to meet the 
advised deadlines of this exercise 
may incur a further actuarial charge 
due to the nature of the bulk 
discount fee obtained by the Fund.

2.2.22 Where employers who 
are admitted bodies to the Fund 
are required to hold an indemnity 
bond, the Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will request, from the Fund’s 
actuary, revised bond valuations 
in accordance with the employer’s 
Admission Agreement. Indemnity 
bonds are normally reviewed 
annually and the standard renewal 
date is 1st April. Where an 
employer is required to obtain a 
new or revised bond they will be 
given a minimum of 20 working 
days notice by the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund. The actuary cost of 
obtaining the bond valuation will be 
recharged to the employer.

2.3 Payments by Scheme 
employers to Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund

2.3.1 Scheme employers will 
make all payments required 
under the Local Government 
Pension Scheme, and any 
related legislation, promptly to 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and/or its Additional Voluntary 
Contribution providers (Prudential / 
Phoenix Life) as appropriate.

  Payment Dates 

Contributions can be paid over 
at any time but the latest date for 
cleared funds to be received is 
the 19th of the month immediately 
following the month in which 
deductions were made. For 
example contributions deducted 
in April must be received by 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund by 
19th May at the latest. Where the 
19th falls on a weekend or Bank 
Holiday, the due date becomes the 
last working day prior to the 19th.

Similarly, the employer will pay any 
Additional Voluntary Contributions 
to the relevant AVC Provider within 
the same timeframe. 

  Late Payment 

Under the Pensions Act 1995, 
the Pensions Regulator may be 
notified if contributions are not 
received in accordance with the 
regulators code of practice, as 
described above. 

  Monthly Contribution - 
Payment Method

Apart from Additional Voluntary 
Contributions, all other 
Contributions should be paid to 
the Gloucestershire Pension Fund’s 
bank account, by Direct Debit 
or BACS. The payment should 
match the in-month return(s) for 
the employer and a summary 
document should be sent if the 
payment covers two returns or 
more.

  Secondary(deficit) 
Contribution

It is expected that secondary 
(deficit) contribution payments will 
be included on the monthly return 
when payment is made with the 
normal monthly contributions.

  Invoice - Payment Method 

Payments of invoices raised 
by the Pension Fund are due 
immediately upon receipt and 
must be made separate to any 
contribution payment that is due. 
The payment should be paid to the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund’s 
bank account, by BACS quoting 
invoice details.

  Remittance Advices 

Employers must submit a 
remittance advice with each 
payment to the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund (email address: 
peninv@gloucestershire.gov.uk).  
Employers who are paying monthly 
contributions must provide the 
statement as detailed in paragraph 
2.2.4 above.

2.4 Additional costs incurred as 
a result of Scheme employer’s 
level of performance  

2.4.1 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will charge the scheme 
employer an administrative fee, for 
chasing any overdue/outstanding 
documentation or overdue 
payment, of £6 subject to VAT in 
relation to each item, each time it 
is chased. 

Payments paid into 
Gloucestershire County Council’s 
bank account rather than the 
Pension Fund’s bank account will 
be subject to an administration 
fee of £6 subject to VAT. Any other 
additional charges imposed by the 
Bank to transfer these payments 
will also be passed on to the 
employer.

Page 86



41  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

In addition, where additional 
costs have been incurred by 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
because of the Scheme employer’s 
level of performance in carrying out 
its functions under the LGPS, the 
additional costs will be recovered 
from that Scheme employer. Costs 
subject to VAT will be based on a 
time and materials basis.

2.4.2 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will give written notice to the 
Scheme employer stating - 

i.  the reasons for the additional 
cost incurred; 

ii.  that the Scheme employer 
should pay the additional costs 
attributable to that authority’s level 
of performance; 

iii.  the basis on which the specified 
amount is calculated; and 

iv.  the relevant provisions of the 
Pension Administration Strategy 
under which the additional costs 
have arisen. 

Additional costs incurred will 
be collated and invoiced each 
calendar year.

2.4.3 Any disagreement regarding 
the amount of additional cost 
being recovered, which cannot be 
resolved between the employer 
and Gloucestershire Pension Fund, 
will be decided by the Secretary of 
State who will have regard to - 

I.  the provisions of the Pension 
Administration Strategy that are 
relevant to the case; and

II.  the extent to which 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and the Scheme employer have 
complied with those provisions in 
carrying out their functions under 
these Regulations. 

2.5 Interest on late payments

2.5.1 In accordance with the 
LGPS Regulations, interest may be 
charged on any amount overdue 

from a Scheme employer by more 
than one month. 

2.5.2 Interest will be calculated at 
one percentage point above base 
rate on a day to day basis from the 
due date to the date of payment 
and compounded with three-
monthly rests. 

3. Review of the Pension 
Administration Strategy

3.1 The Pension Administration 
Strategy will be kept under review 
by the Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund’s Pension Committee. 

3.2 The Pension Committee’s 
relationship with Scheme 
employers including details on 
communication, governance, skills 
and knowledge, etc, is contained 
within the following documents: 
Communications Policy; 
Governance Policy; Governance 
Compliance Statement. All these 
documents are available on 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund’s 
website www.gloucestershire.
gov.uk/extra/pensions/
investments

3.3 Employers may make 
suggestions to improve the 
Pension Administration Strategy for 
consideration by Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund at any time. 

3.4 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will revise the Pension 
Administration Strategy after 
consulting with Scheme employers 
and any other persons considered 
appropriate following a material 
change in any policy covered in the 
strategy. When the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund publishes its 
Strategy or a revised Strategy it will 
send a copy to each of its Scheme 
employers and to the Secretary of 
State.  

3.5 Employers are welcome to 
discuss any aspect of the Pension 
Administration Strategy with 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund at 
any time. Employers are welcome 

to visit Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund at any time, subject to notice.

3.6 The Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund Annual Report will give 
details of the extent to which 
the Administering Authority and 
Employers have achieved the 
levels of performance as detailed 
in the Administration Strategy as 
well as such other matters from 
the Administration Strategy it 
considers important.

4. Employer contribution 
rates and administration 
costs 

4.1 Employers’ contribution 
rates are not fixed. Employers 
are required to pay whatever 
is necessary to ensure that the 
portion of the fund relating to their 
organisation is sufficient to meet its 
liabilities. 

4.2 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund has an actuarial valuation 
undertaken every three years by 
the Fund’s actuary. The actuary 
balances the fund’s assets and 
liabilities in respect of each 
employer, and assesses the 
appropriate minimum contribution 
rate for each employer to be 
applied for the subsequent three 
years. 

4.3 The cost of running 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund is 
charged directly to the Fund, and 
the actuary takes these costs 
into account in assessing the 
employers’ contribution rates. 

4.4 If an employer wishes 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund to 
carry out any employer specific 
work, Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund reserves the right to make 
a reasonable charge to cover the 
administration involved, where 
appropriate. Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund would always 
discuss such matters with 
the employer before any work 
commenced.

Page 87



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  42

Funding Position

The table below summarises the financial position of the Fund at 31st 
March 2016 in respect of benefits earned by members up to this date.

Executive Summary on the 
Last Triennial Valuation

Past Service Liabilities 1,498 1,976 2,138

Market Value of Assets 1,054 1,385 1,703

Surplus / (Deficit) (444)  (591) (435)

Funding Level                               70.4%                        70.1% 79.7%

 31st March 2010 31st March 2013 31st March 2016 

Past Service Position £m £m £m

An actuarial valuation of the Fund was carried out as at 31st March 2016. 
The results are briefly summarised below.

The main reasons for the change in the funding level over the period 
were better than anticipated investment returns, receipt of deficit repair 
contributions and changes in mortality rates. Increases in the value 
placed on liabilities due to changes in market conditions have been 
partially offset by a change in approach to determining assumptions.

Contribution Rates

The table below summarises the whole fund Primary and Secondary 
Contribution rates at the 2016 valuation. These rates are the payroll 
weighted average of the underlying individual employer primary and 
secondary rates calculated in accordance with the Regulations and the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) guidance.

Primary Employer Contribution Rate as a %  Secondary Rate
of pay 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2020  £000

 2017/18 2018/19  2019/20

                        19.6% 32,487 36,638 40,905

Page 88



43  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

The Primary rate also includes an 
allowance of 0.5% of pensionable 
pay for the Fund’s expenses. The 
average employee contribution 
rate is 6.3% of pensionable pay.

Broadly, contributions required 
to be made by employers in 
respect of new benefits earned by 
members (the primary contribution 
rate) have increased as future 
expected investment returns have 
fallen. 

The minimum contributions to 
be paid by each employer from 
1st April 2017 to 31st March 
2020 are shown in the Rates and 
Adjustment Certificate on pages 
121 to 126.

The next triennial valuation will take 
place as at 31st March 2019. This 
will set the minimum contributions 
to be paid by each employer from 
1st April 2020 to 31st March 2023. 

A copy of the most recent 
valuation can be found at  
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/
pensions/investments

Result of interim valuation 
and monitoring

The Fund continues to set life 
expectancy assumptions using 
ClubVita, which is a specialised 
longevity company and provides 
life expectancy assumptions based 
on annual monitoring of the Fund’s 

own membership.  In addition 
employers’ ill health and early 
retirement experience is monitored 
and extra contributions obtained 
where necessary.  In 2018/19 extra 
contributions of £1.6m (£1.6m 
2017/18) were collected from 
employers in connection with early 
retirements and £1.1m (£0.5m 
2017/18) in connection with ill-
health retirements.

Page 89



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  44

Actuarial Report on Fund

This statement has been prepared 
in accordance with Regulation 
57(1)(d) of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Regulations 
2013. It has been prepared at 
the request of the Administering 
Authority of the Fund for the 
purpose of complying with the 
aforementioned regulation.  

Description of Funding 
Policy

The funding policy is set out in the 
Administering Authority’s Funding 
Strategy Statement (FSS), dated 
25th February 2017. In summary, 
the key funding principles are as 
follows:

 to ensure the long-term 
solvency of the Fund, using a 
prudent long term view. This will 
ensure that sufficient funds are 
available to meet all members’/
dependants’ benefits as they fall 
due for payment;

 to ensure that employer 
contribution rates are reasonably 
stable where appropriate;

 to minimise the long-term cash 
contributions which employers 
need to pay to the Fund, by 
recognising the link between 
assets and liabilities and adopting 
an investment strategy which 
balances risk and return (this will 
also minimise the costs to be 
borne by Council Tax payers);

 to reflect the different 
characteristics of different 
employers in determining 
contribution rates. This involves 
the Fund having a clear and 
transparent funding strategy to 
demonstrate how each employer 
can best meet its own liabilities 
over future years; and

 to use reasonable measures to 
reduce the risk to other employers 
and ultimately to the Council Tax 
payer from an employer defaulting 
on its pension obligations.

The FSS sets out how the 
Administering Authority seeks 
to balance the conflicting aims 
of securing the solvency of the 
Fund and keeping employer 
contributions stable. For employers 
whose covenant was considered 
by the Administering Authority to 
be sufficiently strong, contributions 
have been stabilised to return their 
portion of the Fund to full funding 
over 20 years if the valuation 
assumptions are borne out.  
Asset-liability modelling has been 
carried out which demonstrate that 
if these contribution rates are paid 
and future contribution changes 
are constrained as set out in the 
FSS, there is still around a 67% 
chance that the Fund will return to 
full funding over 20 years.

Funding Position as at 
the Last Formal Funding 
Valuation

The most recent actuarial valuation 
carried out under Regulation 62 
of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme Regulations 2013 was 
as at 31st March 2016. This 
valuation revealed that the Fund’s 
assets, which at 31st March 2016 
were valued at £1,703 million, 
were sufficient to meet 79.7% 
of the liabilities (i.e. the present 
value of promised retirement 
benefits) accrued up to that date. 
The resulting deficit at the 2016 
valuation was £435 million.

Each employer had contribution 
requirements set at the valuation, 

with the aim of achieving full 
funding within a time horizon 
and probability measure as per 
the FSS. Individual employers’ 
contributions for the period 1st 
April 2017 to 31st March 2020 
were set in accordance with the 
Fund’s funding policy as set out in 
its FSS.  

Principal Actuarial 
Assumptions and Method 
Used to Value the Liabilities

Full details of the methods and 
assumptions used are described in 
the 2016 valuation report.

Method

The liabilities were assessed using 
an accrued benefits method which 
takes into account pensionable 
membership up to the valuation 
date, and makes an allowance 
for expected future salary growth 
to retirement or expected earlier 
date of leaving pensionable 
membership.

Assumptions

A market-related approach was 
taken to valuing the liabilities, for 
consistency with the valuation of 
the Fund assets at their market 
value. 

Page 90



45  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

The key financial assumptions adopted for the 2016 valuation were 
as follows:

 31st March 2016
 Financial assumptions 

 Discount rate 4.0%

 Salary increase assumption  2.4%

 Benefit increase assumption (CPI) 2.1%

  Males Females

 Current Pensioners 22.4 years 24.6 years

 Future Pensioners* 24.0 years 26.4 years

The key demographic assumption was the allowance made for longevity. 
The life expectancy assumptions are based on the Fund’s VitaCurves 
with improvements in line with the CMI 2013 model, assuming the 
current rate of improvements has reached a peak and will converge to a 
long term rate of 1.25% p.a. Based on these assumptions, the average 
future life expectancies at age 65 are as follows: 

Copies of the 2016 valuation report and Funding Strategy Statement are 
available on request from the Administering Authority to the Fund. 

Experience Over the Period Since 31st March 2016

Since the last formal valuation, real bond yields have fallen placing a 
higher value on the liabilities but there have been strong asset returns 
over the three years.  Both events are of broadly similar magnitude with 
regards to the impact on the funding position. 

The next actuarial valuation will be carried out as at 31st March 2019. 
The Funding Strategy Statement will also be reviewed at that time. 

Julie West FFA 
For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP
15th May 2019

Hymans Robertson LLP
20 Waterloo Street, 
Glasgow, G2 6DB

*Aged 45 at the 2016 Valuation.

Page 91



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  46

In accordance with regulation 62(4) 
of the Regulations, the Actuary 
has made an assessment of the 
contributions that should be paid 
into the Fund by participating 
employers for the period 1st April 
2017 to 31st March 2020 in order 
to maintain the solvency of the 
Fund.

The method and assumptions 
used to calculate the contributions 
set out in the Rates and 
Adjustments certificate are detailed 
in the Funding Strategy Statement 
dated 25th February 2017 and the 
Actuary’s report on the actuarial 
valuation dated 31st March 2017.

The required minimum contribution 
rates are set out below.  

The contributions shown include 
expenses and the expected cost 
of lump sum death benefits but 
exclude early retirement strain 
and augmentation costs which 
are payable by Fund employers in 
addition.

   Minimum Contributions for the Year Ending 
   Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

 Employer/Pool  2017/18  2018/19  2019/20 

 Gloucestershire County Council and Schools Pool % % %

 Gloucestershire County Council* 28.9% plus  24.4% plus 25.4% plus
   £10,150,000 £150,000 £150,000
 Finlay Community School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 Oakwood Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 Berry Hill Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 Grange Primary School 28.9 29.9 -
 Harewood Junior School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 Gardners Lane Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 Coopers Edge Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 Andoversford County Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 BlueCoat C. of E. Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 British School  28.9 29.9 30.9
 Carrant Brook Junior School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 Glebe Infants School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 Heron Primary school 28.9 29.9 30.9
 Picklenash County Junior 28.9 29.9 30.9
 St. Gregory’s R.C. School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 Swindon Village County Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 Tirlebrook School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 Warden Hill Primary School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 Cam Woodfield Junior School 28.9 - -
 Barnwood Park Arts College 28.9 29.9 30.9
 Lakers School  28.9 - -
 Maidenhill School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 Pittville School  28.9 29.9 30.9
 Rednock School 28.9 29.9 30.9
 Tewkesbury Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8

continued...

Summary Statement to the Rates 
and Adjustments Certificate

Page 92



47  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

   Minimum Contributions for the Year Ending 
   Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

 Employer/Pool  2017/18  2018/19  2019/20 

  Town and Parish Councils Pool % % % 

 Painswick Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Stonehouse Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Lydney Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Prestbury Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Cirencester Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Cinderford Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Dursley Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Charlton Kings Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Tetbury Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Cam Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Nailsworth Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Coleford Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Wotton-under-Edge Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Lechlade Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Northleach with Eastington Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Brockworth Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Cainscross Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Chalford Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Rodborough Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Hucclecote Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Leonard Stanley Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Berkeley Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 King’s Stanley Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Leckhampton with Warden Hill Parish Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Newent Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Stroud Town Council 24.8 24.8 24.8
 Moreton-in-Marsh Town Council 24.8% 24.8% 24.8%
 Tidenham Parish Council - 24.8% 24.8%
 Hinton Parish Council - 24.8% 24.8%
 Bisley with Lypiatt Parish Council - 24.8% 24.8%

 Councils     

 Gloucester City Council 17.5% plus  17.5% plus 17.5% plus  
    £2,981,000 £3,232,000 £3,484,000
 Cheltenham B.C.* 18.3% plus  18.3%  18.3%  
    £10,219,000
 Cotswold D.C.  17.9% plus 17.9% plus 17.9% plus 
    £1,468,000 £1,663,000 £1,858,000 
 Forest of Dean D.C.* 17.9% plus 17.9% 17.9% 
    £5,276,000 
 Stroud D.C.*  18.0% plus 18.0% 18.0% 
    £6,497,000 
 Tewkesbury B.C. 17.5% plus 17.5% plus 17.5% plus 
    £1,583,000 £1,775,000 £1,968,000
continued...

Page 93



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  48

continued...

   Minimum Contributions for the Year Ending 
   Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

 Employer/Pool  2017/18  2018/19  2019/20 

 Colleges and University  % % % 
 University of Gloucestershire 16.9% plus  18.5% plus 20.1% plus  
    £1,003,000 £1,028,000 £1,053,000
 Gloucestershire College 19.2% plus  19.2% plus  19.2% plus  
    £603,000 £618,000 £632,000 
 Cirencester Tertiary College 22.3% plus 22.7% plus 23.2% plus 
    £25,000 £51,000 £78,000 
 Hartpury University 20.4% plus 20.7% plus 20.9% plus 
    £52,000 £106,000 £163,000 
  Scheduled Bodies  
 Lower Severn Internal Drainage Board 26.3% plus 26.3% plus 26.3% plus  
    £57,000 £57,000 £57,000 
  Police and Crime Commissioner 17.8% plus 17.8% plus 17.8% plus
 for Gloucestershire £823,000 £988,000 £1,152,000

  Admitted Bodies 
 Apcoa  26.4 26.4 26.4
 Aspens Catering - 30.4% 30.4%
 Aspire Sports and Cultural Trust 14.9 14.9 14.9
 Barnardos Forest of Dean and Stroud 26.8% 26.8% 26.8%
 Barnardos Gloucester 25.8% 25.8% 25.8%
 Brandon Trust  25.0% 25.0% 25.0%
 Carers Gloucestershire (GCC - Parent Partnership) 28.2% plus 28.2 28.2
    £10,000 
 Cheltenham Borough Homes Ltd 18.0 18.0 18.0
 Cheltenham Leisure and Culture Trust  23.7% plus  23.7% plus  23.7% plus 
    £3,000 £3,000 £3,000 
 Civica (FODDC)  29.6 29.6 29.6
 Civica (GLOS)  27.4 27.4 27.4
 Cotswold Archaeological Trust Ltd. 29.8 29.8 29.8
 Cotswold Conservation Board 21.1 21.6 22.0
 Enterprise (AOL) Ltd 19.7 19.7 19.7
 Farmor’s Sports Centre Limited 36.6 36.6 36.6
 Forest of Dean DC - Ubico 25.3 25.3 25.3
 Gardners Lane & Oakwood 24.2 24.2 24.2
 GCC Highways - Amey 28.8 28.8 -
 Gloucester City Homes Trust 24.0 24.0 24.0
 Gloucester City IT - Civica 26.6% plus 26.6% plus 26.6% plus 
    £4,000 £4,000 £4,000
 Gloucestershire Airport Ltd. 30.7% plus  30.7% plus  30.7% plus
    £352,000 £361,000 £370,000 
 Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust (ex PCT) 25.8 25.8 25.8
 Gloucestershire Group Homes 32.8 32.8 32.8
 Gloucestershire Rural Community Council 26.6% 26.6% 26.6%
 INTO (University of Gloucester) 31.1 31.1 31.1
 Kiddywinks (GCC - St Catherine’s Catholic Primary After School) 20.2 20.2 20.2
 Places for People 16.3% 16.3% 16.3%

Page 94



49  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

continued...

   Minimum Contributions for the Year Ending 
   Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

 Employer/Pool  2017/18  2018/19  2019/20 

    % % % 
 Prospects Services 22.1 22.1 22.1
 Publica (Cotswolds) 17.9% 17.9% 17.9%
 Publica (Forest) 17.9% 17.9% 17.9%
 Ridge Crest  - 26.4% 26.4%
 Sir William Romney Leisure Limited 41.4 41.4 41.4
 Skanska  24.1% 24.1% 24.1%
 Sport Leisure Management (SLM) Ltd 25.3% plus 25.3 25.3
    £1,000
 Stroud Court Community Trust 31.3 31.3 31.3
 Tewkesbury BC - Ubico 23.6 23.6 23.6
 The Order of St. John Care Trust 31.9 31.9 31.9
 Tinies UK (Glos College) 24.2 24.2 24.2
 Two Rivers Housing 18.1 18.1 18.1
 Ubico - Cheltenham Waste 23.1 23.1 23.1
 Ubico - Cotswold Waste 22.5 22.5 22.5
 Wealden Leisure (Forest of Dean DC - Leisure) 23.8 23.8 23.8

  Academies  

 All Saints Academy  25.6 26.7 27.8
 Balcarras School 27.0 27.9 28.9
 Berkeley Primary Academy 30.1% 30.1% 30.1%
 Berkeley UTC Academy 22.4% 22.4% 22.4%
 Bibury C of E Primary Academy - 29.0% 29.0%
 Blockley CofE Primary School 27.1 27.7 28.4
 Bourton on the Water 27.2 27.2 27.2
 Brockworth Primary School 23.9 24.3 24.6
 CCT Learning   21.3 23.6 26.0
 Charlton Kings Infant 27.5 27.5 27.5
 Charlton Kings Junior 31.9 31.9 31.9
 Cheltenham Bournside 30.3 31.1 31.8
 Chesterton Primary Academy - 25.9% 25.9%
 Chipping Campden 28.1 28.7 29.3
 Chosen Hill School 29.4 30.6 31.8
 Christ Church CofE Primary (Cheltenham) 26.1 26.1 26.1
 Churchdown Secondary 33.9 34.1 34.3
 Churchdown Village Infants 24.6 24.6 24.6
 Cirencester Deer Park 27.6 27.9 28.1
 Cirencester Kingshill 24.0 25.6 27.1
 Clearwater Primary Academy - 22.4% 22.4%
 Cleeve School  25.7 26.7 27.6
 Coaley C of E Primary Academy - 24.2% 24.2%
 Dene Magna  33.2 33.2 33.2
 Denmark Road High School 29.7 32.2 34.7
 Farmors  27.4 28.8 30.2
 Field Court Infant 26.9 26.9 26.9

Page 95



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  50

   Minimum Contributions for the Year Ended 
   Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

 Employer/Pool  2017/18  2018/19  2019/20 

    % % %
 Field Court Junior 33.3 31.7 30.1
 Five Acres High School Academy 30.8% 30.8% 30.8%
 Forest High School  29.7 30.2 30.8
 Forest View Primary 30.9 31.6 32.3
 Gloucester Academy 28.4 29.9 31.4
 Gloucester Learning Alliance (Bishops Cleeve) 25.8 26.5 27.2
 Gloucester Learning Alliance (Rowanfield Junior) 24.2 25.6 27.0
 Gloucester Learning Alliance (Springbank) 23.5 24.7 25.8
 Gotherington  37.1 38.3 39.6
 Grange Primary Academy - 29.2 29.2
 Greenfield Academy 32.4 34.9 37.4  
 Gretton Primary  26.8 27.2 27.5
 Highnam C of E  25.7 25.8 25.9
 Katharine Lady Berkeleys 31.7 32.3 32.8
 Kemble Primary  - 26.3% 26.3%
 Marling School  26.5 27.4 28.2
 Moat Primary  29.0% 29.0% 29.0%
 Henley Bank High School 26.0% 26.5% 27.0%
 Lakefield Primary Academy 29.2% 29.2% 29.2%
 Longford Park Primary 22.3% 22.3% 22.3%
 Mitton Manor Primary School 26.3 27.7 29.1
 Newent Community School Academy 28.1 29.4 30.6
 Offas Mead Primary 29.5 29.5 29.5
 Our Co-Op Academy Trust (Beaufort) 29.6 32.1 34.6
 Pate’s Grammar School 27.7 27.9 28.0
 Peak Academy  28.2 29.3 30.4
 Redmarley C of E 30.1 30.1 30.1
 Ribston Hall High 28.5 29.2 29.8
 Robinswood Primary 26.1 26.1 26.1
 Rowanfield Infants School 27.8% 27.8% 27.8%
 Severn Vale  26.3 28.2 30.2
 Severn View Primary Academy 30.7 31.2 31.7
 Severnbanks Primary School 31.2 31.7 32.3
 Siddington C of E Primary - 24.2% 24.2%
 Sir Thomas Rich’s 30.4 31.6 32.8
 Sir William Romney 30.7 30.7 30.7
 South Glos. & Stroud Academy Trust Central 22.4% 22.4% 22.4%
 St David’s Primary School 24.2 24.7 25.3
 St Dominics Catholic Primary 30.6 32.6 34.6
 St. James Primary Academy 34.0% 34.0% 34.0%
 St Johns CofE Coleford 28.4 28.4 28.4
 St Mary’s Catholic Primary 24.3 25.1 25.8
 St Peters High School and Sixth Form 29.8 30.8 31.8
 Staunton Corse   29.3 29.5 29.7
 Stone with Woodford CofE Primary School 30.3 32.1 33.8
continued...

Page 96



51  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

*These employer Secondary rates have been amended to reflect 
contribution pre-payments made in 2017/18 by the employers 
to reduce Secondary contributions that were otherwise due in 
years 2018/19 and 2019/20.  The Secondary rates for GCC 

also include an additional £150k p.a. in respect of the former 
Prospects Services contract. Contribution rates are not adjusted 
for ill-health insurance take up.

Further comments

Regulation 62(8) requires a 
statement of the assumptions 
on which the certificate is given 
regarding the number of members, 
and the associated liabilities 
arising, who will become entitled 
to payment of pension under the 
regulations of the LGPS.  These 
assumptions can be found in 
Appendix E of the 31st March 
2016 formal valuation report 
dated 31st March 2017.  These 
assumptions cover members 
who become entitled to payment 
of pension via normal retirement 
and ill health retirement.  Further 
members will become entitled 
due to involuntary early retirement 
(for redundancy and efficiency 
reasons) for which no allowance 
has been made.

Contributions expressed as 
a percentage of pensionable 

payroll and monetary amounts 
should be paid into the Fund at a 
frequency in accordance with the 
requirements of the Regulations.

Further sums should be paid to 
the Fund to meet the costs of any 
early retirements, excess salary 
increases and/or augmentation 
using methods, calculations and 
factors specified by us from time 
to time.

Further sums may be required to 
be paid to the Fund by employers 
to meet the capital costs of 
any ill-health retirements that 
exceed those included within my 
assumptions.

The certified contribution rates 
represent the minimum level 
of contributions to be paid.  
Employing authorities may pay 
further amounts at any time and 
future periodic contributions may 

be adjusted on a basis approved 
by the Fund actuary.

The monetary contributions set 
out in the certificate previously 
can be repaid in advance with 
appropriate adjustments for 
interest as and when agreed with 
the Administering Authority.  Under 
these circumstances a revised 
Rates and Adjustments certificate 
may be issued reflecting any 
advance payments.

Ill health liability insurance

Note that, if an employer has ill 
health liability insurance in place 
with a suitable insurer and provides 
satisfactory evidence to the 
administering authority, then their 
Minimum Total Contribution Rate 
may be reduced by the minimum 
of their insurance premium and ill 
health budget, for the period the 
insurance is in place.

   Minimum Contributions for the Year Ended 
   Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

 Employer/Pool  2017/18  2018/19  2019/20 

    % % %
 Stroud High School 26.9 28.4 29.9
 Tewkesbury School 29.2 30.1 31.0
 The Cotswold School 28.7 29.0 29.3
 The Crypt School 24.7 25.3 25.9
 The Dean Academy 31.3 32.7 34.2
 Diocese of Gloucester Academies Trust (Central Staff) 17.8 17.8 17.8
 The Diocese of Gloucester Academies (Dursley CofE) 28.4 28.9 29.4
 The Diocese of Gloucester Academies (Hardwicke) 29.6 29.8 30.1
 The Diocese of Gloucester Academies (Longney CofE) 32.6 32.6 32.6
 The Diocese of Gloucester Academies (Minchinhampton CofE) 24.8 24.8 24.8
 The Diocese of Gloucester Academies (North Cerney) 30.6 30.6 30.6
 The Diocese of Gloucester Academies (Primrose Hill) 30.1 31.5 32.9
 The Diocese of Gloucester Academies (Whiteshill) 29.3 29.3 29.3
 The Diocese of Gloucester Academies (Winchcombe Abbey) 26.1 26.6 27.2
 The Ridge School 22.4 24.1 25.7
 The Rosary Catholic Primary 28.6 29.7 30.8
 Thomas Keble  28.6 29.4 30.2
 Tredworth Infant School 25.5 26.5 27.4
 Winchcombe Secondary 31.1 31.7 32.4
 Wyedean School 30.3 32.0 33.7 

Page 97



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  52

The Gloucestershire Local 
Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) Pension 
Board

All Public Sector Pension schemes 
were required under the Public 
Service Pensions Act 2013 to 
set up a Pension Board with 
effect from 2015/16 to assist 
the administering authorities of 
their Pension scheme in ensuring 
compliance with LGPS and other 
pension regulations.

The County Council, as 
administering authority of the 
Gloucestershire LGPS agreed the 
terms of reference of the Pension 
Board in February 2015. These 
terms of reference are included 
within the Fund’s Governance 
Policy document on pages 52 to 
61 of this Annual Report.

Employers, scheme members and 
the relevant unions were invited 
to be considered to become 
members of the Pension Board 
and the following were appointed.

Employer representatives

Cllr. Nigel Moor (Gloucestershire 
County Council)
Annette Benson (University of 
Gloucestershire) 

Scheme member representatives

Owen Shaw
Jon Topping

Taking account of the relevant 
LGPS regulations and guidance, 
the Gloucestershire LGPS decided 
to appoint an independent non 
voting chair of the Pension 

Board. An independent chair of 
the Pension Board cannot have 
any involvement (e.g. through 
membership or employer links) 
with the local pension scheme 
they would be chairing, but 
having good experience and 
knowledge of the LGPS would 
be advantageous and would 
assist the other Board members 
in their role. To comply with these 
requirements the Gloucestershire 
LGPS invited the Head of the 
Pension Fund at the Oxfordshire 
LGPS, Sean Collins, to become 
chair of the Gloucestershire 
Pension Board. 

There were two meetings of the 
Board in relation to the 2018/19 
financial year. These meetings 
were attended by the vast majority 
of the Board members, with only 
one apology being received for 
one of the meetings.

In addition to attendance at Board 
Meetings, members of the Pension 
Board are invited to attend joint 
training and update sessions 
with members of the Pension 
Committee. During 2018/19 a 
member from the Pension Board 
attended at each of the following 
training events:

Regional engagement event on the 
Brunel Pension Partnership

In house training event on 
Investment Risks and Rewards

Members of the Pension Board 
are also sent all agenda papers 
for the Pension Committee 
meetings, which they can attend 
as observers. The minutes of the 

Pension Board are reported to the 
next Pension Committee and Cllr 
Nigel Moor, as a member of the 
Board, attends to give a verbal 
update to the Committee on these 
minutes.

In relation to the financial year 
2018/19 the Board have focused 
on the following key areas:

 The continued development 
of the Governments requirement 
for LGPS Funds to combine their 
investments in pools of at least 
£25 billion via one FCA regulated 
company.

 The Risk Register. The 
Board reviewed the risk register 
at each meeting and made 
one recommendation for an 
amendment to the register, which 
was subsequently actioned.

 Pension Administration 
Arrangements. The Board 
considered a detailed performance 
report on the administration 
arrangements. 

 The Annual Business Plan 
and Annual Report of the Pension 
Fund.

 Other areas considered by 
the Board in relation to 2018/19 
included the draft guidance on 
LGPS asset pooling released by 
the Department for Communities 
and Local Government, with the 
Board receiving assurance that 
the Brunel Pension Partnership, 
which the Gloucestershire Fund 
has joined, already meets all of the 
substantive requirements included 
within the guidance.

Governance

Page 98



53  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

The Pension Fund’s Governance 
structure and the roles and 
responsibilities of each element 
within the structure are contained 
in the Governance Policy 
Statement on pages 46 to 51 of 
this report.

Membership of the Pension 
Committee showing voting rights, 
attendance at meetings and training 
received are shown in the matrix 
opposite. Training days shown 
includes attendance at courses, 
seminars and conferences. This 
is in addition to training received 
at Pension Committee meetings 
which includes fund manager and 
performance presentations, as well 
as officer and investment advisor 
briefings.

Meetings were held on 11th May 
2018, 7th September 2018, 9th 
November 2018 and 8th February 
2019.

Fund Governance 
Compliance Statement

Pension Funds are required to 
produce a statement explaining 
how well they comply with 
a number of best practice 
principles covering governance 
arrangements for the Fund. Good 
governance means there are clear 
arrangements and controls in 
place to help ensure the Pension 
Fund is managed efficiently. The 
following Governance Compliance 

Statement was reviewed in July 
2017.  The statement details the 
areas where these best practice 
principles apply, for example, 
covering committee structure and 
representation, arrangements for 
training, etc. The Governance 
Compliance Statement then 
indicates whether the Fund 
is fully compliant in all these 
areas and refers to the relevant 
policy documents such as the 
Governance Policy Statement 
(on page 52) which gives more 
information on the governance 
arrangements which are in place.

Governance Compliance

* Cllr. Oosthuysen left the Committee in November 2018
** Cllr. Smith joined the Committee in November 2018

  Voting Meetings       Training Received
 Member Rights Attended        Number of Days

    From During 
    2016/17 to 2018/19
    2018/19

 Cllr. R. Theodoulou Yes 5 9 4 

 Cllr. D. Brown Yes 4 2 1

 Cllr. N. Cooper Yes 3 4 1

 Cllr. C. Hay Yes 4 5 4

 Cllr. B. Oosthuysen* Yes 1 5 3

 Cllr. S. Parsons Yes 3 4 1

 Cllr. R. Smith** Yes 1 - -

 Cllr. L. Stowe Yes 3 3 2
 P. Clark*  No 5 6 3
 (Scheme Member Rep.)

Page 99



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  54

 
Area

 
Principle

Level of 
Compliance

Reason for 
Non-Compliance

A) Structure a) The management of the 
administration of benefits and 
strategic management of fund assets 
clearly rests with the main committee 
established by the appointing council.

FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement

b) That representatives of participating 
LGPS employers, admitted bodies and 
scheme members (including pensioner 
and deferred members) are members 
of either the main or secondary 
committee established to underpin the 
work of the main committee. 

FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement

c) That where a secondary committee 
or panel has been established, 
the structure ensures effective 
communication across both levels.

Not Applicable 
- There is no 
secondary 
committee or panel

d) That where a secondary committee 
or panel has been established, at 
least one seat on the main committee 
is allocated for a member from the 
secondary committee or panel.

Not Applicable 
- There is no 
secondary 
committee or panel

B) 
Representation

a) That all key stakeholders are afforded 
the opportunity to be represented 
within the main or secondary 
committee structure. These include:

PARTIAL - not 
all employing 
authorities are 
represented

FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement
 
FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement

FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement

Concerns over logistics 
and potential size of 
Committee but will keep 
under review.

Employers are able to 
attend Committee as 
observers and submit 
written questions. Also, 
Employer Forums, 
which are open to all 
employers, are held at 
least twice a year.

b) That where lay members sit on a main 
or secondary committee, they are 
treated equally in terms of access to 
papers and meetings, training and are 
given full opportunity to contribute to 
the decision making process, with or 
without voting rights.

FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement

Fund Governance Compliance Statement

i. employing authorities (including non-
scheme employers, e.g. admitted 
bodies);

ii. scheme members (including 
deferred and pensioner scheme 
members); 

iii. where appropriate, independent 
professional observers; and

iv. expert advisors (on an ad-hoc 
basis).

Page 100



55  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

 
Area

 
Principle

Level of 
Compliance

Reason for 
Non-Compliance

C) Selection 
and Role of Lay 
Members

a) That committee or panel members are 
made fully aware of the status, role and 
function they are required to perform on 
either a main or secondary committee.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement 

b) That at the start of any meeting, committee 
members are invited to declare any financial 
or pecuniary interest related to specific 
matters on the agenda.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

D) Voting a) The policy of individual administering 
authorities on voting rights is clear and 
transparent, including the justification for not 
extending voting rights to each body or group 
represented on main LGPS committees.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

E) Training/
Facility Time/
Expenses

a) That in relation to the way in which 
statutory and related decisions are taken 
by the administering authority, there is a 
clear policy on training, facility time and 
reimbursement of expenses in respect of 
members involved in the decision-making 
process.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement 
and Members 
Allowances 
scheme within 
the Council’s 
Constitution

b) That where such a policy exists, it applies 
equally to all members of committees, sub-
committees, advisory panels or any other 
form of secondary forum.

FULL -  see 
Governance 
Policy Statement 
and Members 
Allowances 
scheme within 
the Council’s 
Constitution

c) That the administering authority considers 
the adoption of annual training plans for 
committee members and maintains a log of 
all such training undertaken.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

F) Meetings - 
Frequency

a) That an administering authority’s main 
committee or committees meet at least 
quarterly.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

b) That an administering authority’s secondary 
committee or panel meet at least twice a 
year and is synchronised with the dates 
when the main committee sits.

Not Applicable 
- There is no 
secondary 
committee or 
panel

c) That an administering authorities who do 
not include lay members in their formal 
governance arrangements, provide a forum 
outside of those arrangements by which 
the interests of key stakeholders can be 
represented.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

Page 101



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  56

> Governance Policy Statement

Introduction

1. The County Council, as 
Administering Authority, has 
prepared this policy statement and 
consulted upon it with scheme 
employers.

2. This statement addresses the 
best practice principles identified in 
the statutory guidance issued and 
is in accordance with regulation 55 
of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) Regulations 2013.

3. The County Council’s 
Compliance Statement which 
identifies the level of compliance 
against these best practice 
principles is shown as an appendix 
to this policy statement. The 
Governance and Policy Statement 
was reviewed and updated in July 
2017.

Purpose of Governance 
Policy Statement

4. The regulations on governance 
policy and compliance statements 
require an administering 

authority, after consultation with 
such persons as they consider 
appropriate, to prepare, maintain 
and publish a written statement 
setting out:

(a)  whether it delegates its 
functions in relation to maintaining 
a pension fund to a committee, 
sub-committee or officer of the 
authority;

(b)  and, if so, it must state:

 the frequency of any committee 
/sub-committee meetings;

 the terms of reference, structure 
and operational procedures of the 
delegation;

 whether the committee/sub-
committee includes representatives 
of

- employing authorities (including 
non-scheme employers)

- scheme members

 and, if there are such 
representatives, whether they have 
voting rights.

(c)  the extent to which a 
delegation, or the absence of a 
delegation, complies with guidance 
given by the Secretary of State 
and, to the extent that it does 
not comply, the reasons for not 
complying; and 

(d)  details of the terms, structure 
and operational procedures 
relating to the local pension board 
established under regulation 53(4) 
(Scheme managers).

5. Thus, the policy statement 
should include information about 
all of the administering authority’s 
pension fund governance 
arrangements. Information 
about the representation of 
employers should also cover any 
arrangements for representing 
admitted body employers (non-
scheme employers). 

 A copy of the Terms of Reference 
for the Fund’s local pension board 
is included on pages 49 to 51.

 
Area

 
Principle

Level of 
Compliance

Reason for 
Non-Compliance

G) Access a) That subject to any rules in the council’s 
constitution, all members of main and 
secondary committees or panels have equal 
access to committee papers, documents 
and advice that falls to be considered at 
meetings of the main committee. 

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

H) Scope a) That administering authorities have taken 
steps to bring wider scheme issues 
within the scope of their governance 
arrangements.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

I) Publicity a) That administering authorities have 
published details of their governance 
arrangements in such a way that 
stakeholders with an interest in the way in 
which the scheme is governed, can express 
an interest in wanting to be part of those 
arrangements.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

Page 102



57  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Pension Committee

8.  The Pension Committee’s 
formal terms of reference (above) 
are interpreted as including:

 Determining the overall 
investment strategy and strategic 
asset allocations of the Fund, with 
regard to investment suitability and 
diversification.

 Overseeing the preparation of 
the Investment Strategy Statement 
(ISS), including the Fund’s policy 
on socially responsible investment 
and Corporate Governance.

 Annually reviewing the ISS.

 Monitoring compliance with the 
ISS

 Overseeing the preparation of 
the Funding Strategy Statement.

 Approving the Annual Report.

 Appointing, reviewing and 
when necessary, dismissing, the 
Fund’s investment managers and 
custodian, subject to changes 
agreed by Brunel Partnership as 
part of the Pooled Investments.

 Reviewing investment 
manager performance against set 

benchmarks on a regular basis.

 Appointing, reviewing and when 
necessary, dismissing, the Fund’s 
actuary, investment advisors/
consultants and performance 
measurement consultants.

 Ensuring appropriate Pension 
Fund governance arrangements 
are in place in accordance with 
the LGPS regulations and other 
regulatory requirements.

 Holding an annual meeting.

The Pension Committee reports to County Council. It meets formally each quarter and more frequently 
if formal decisions on fund management are required.

Terms of Reference:

 To set the investment policies of the Fund, including the establishment and maintenance of a strategic 
benchmark for asset allocation, drawing upon professional service providers, considering the 
forthcoming changes with Pooled Investments within Brunel Partnership.

 To appoint and review the performance of all Fund Managers and associated professional service 
providers.

 To approve and keep under review the Funding Strategy Statement.

 To approve and keep under review the Investment Strategy Statement.

 To report annually to the full Council.

 To consider any other matter relevant to the proper operation and management of the Fund.

 To review the Council’s performance as Administering Authority.

 To decide upon arrangements for managing the Administering Authority’s relationship with employers 
in the Fund e.g. agreeing contribution rates, establishing dispute resolution procedures and ensuring 
employers have established policies as required by Regulations.

 To decide upon requests for admission of qualifying organisations wishing to join the Fund.

 To decide upon key pension policy and discretions that are the responsibility of the Administering 
Authority.

 To consider advice and recommendations from the Pension Board on areas that may improve the 
governance of the Pension Fund (the remit of the Pension Board is detailed in its Terms of Reference).

 To consider the Pension Board’s proposed work plan for the forthcoming financial year.

Principle A - Structure

6. The purpose of the Pension 
Committee is to give advice on 
the proper management of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and carry out the function of the 
Council as Administering Authority.

7. Under the cabinet structure in 
local government, management 
of the pension fund is a 
non-executive function. In 
Gloucestershire it is linked to 
the administration by virtue of 
the Chairman of the Pension 
Committee being the Deputy 

Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Change. 

Page 103



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  58

Principle B - 
Representation

9. The role of independent 
professional observers in e.g. 
assessing compliance with 
the ISS’ principles and risk 
management, will be met 
by elected councillors with 
support from officers within the 
County Council and the Fund’s 
independent advisor.

Principle C – Selection & 
Role of Lay Members

10. The Agenda for any meetings 
of the Pension Committee will 
include an item at the start of the 
meeting inviting all committee 
members to declare any financial 
or pecuniary interest related to 
specific matters on the agenda.

Principle D – Voting

11. The Pension Committee 
comprises 6 County Councillors, 
including the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Change, together 
with one voting district council 
representative and one non-voting 
scheme member representative 
(who also represents pensioners 
and deferred members). The 
scheme member representative 
is non-voting because as the 
LGPS is a statutory scheme with 
benefits fully protected by statute, 
any changes in investment or 
other policies which were voted 
on by the scheme member 
representative does not affect the 
scheme members’ benefits.

The Fund’s independent 
investment advisor and the Chief 
Financial Officer and staff support 
the Committee in its role.

12. Elected councillors already 
have legal responsibilities for the 
prudent and effective stewardship 
of LGPS funds and in more general 
terms have a clear fiduciary duty in 
the performance of their functions. 
Lay members (non councillors) 
should be reminded that they 
owe a duty of care to the fund 

beneficiaries and are required to 
act in their best interests at all 
times, particularly in terms of their 
investment decisions. They are not 
there to represent their own local, 
political or private interest.

Principle E – Training/
Facility Time/Expenses

13. Decisions should only be 
taken by persons or organisations 
with the skills, information and 
resources necessary to take them 
effectively. Where trustees elect to 
take investment decisions, they 
must have sufficient expertise 
and appropriate training to be 
able to evaluate critically any 
advice they take. All members 
of the Committee (including lay 
members) are offered training, 
including that offered by the 
Employers Organisation (and are 
exposed to presentations at the 
Committee’s quarterly meetings on 
investment matters). Substitutions 
are not permitted on the Pension 
Committee.

14. Committee members 
complete a training requirement 
self-assessment form. These are 
used to determine the training 
to be provided to Committee 
Members and a log of training 
undertaken is maintained by the 
Administering Authority.

15. The members’ allowances 
scheme within the County 
Council’s Constitution outlines the 
process for both councillors and 
lay members reclaiming expenses. 
The same rules apply to both 
councillors and lay members.

Principle F – Meetings 
(frequency/quorum)

16. The Pension Committee 
reports to County Council. It meets 
formally each quarter and more 
frequently if formal decisions on 
fund management are required.

Other ways of engaging 
stakeholders which the Council 
have adopted are:

 bi-lateral discussions, and 
similar forums, involving employers 
and other stakeholders;

 an annual meeting for all 
employers and fund members;

 a triennial meeting between 
all employers and the actuary to 
discuss the results of the actuarial 
valuation.

Principle G – Access 

17. All members of the Pensions 
Committee have equal access to 
committee papers, documents 
and advice. 

Principle H – Scope

18. The terms of reference of the 
Pensions Committee (as detailed 
in paragraph 7, on page 47 of this 
document) include general scheme 
and other administrative issues 
in connection with their role as 
Administering Authority. 

19. The finance and operational 
arrangements of the Fund are 
subject to review and audit by 
both the Fund’s external auditor, 
Grant Thornton, and the Council’s 
own internal audit service. Reports 
issued by our auditors are subject 
to consideration by the Council’s 
elected members acting as an 
audit committee.

Principle I – Publicity

20. The County Council is 
committed to the widest 
inclusion of all stakeholders in 
consultation and communication 
outside of the formal governance 
arrangements. In this respect it 
has made arrangements to make 
its publications available via the 
Council’s public website and its 
intranet.

21. A copy of the Governance 
Compliance Statement will be 
published as part of the Pension 
Fund Annual Report. The Annual 
Report is discussed at the Fund’s 
annual meeting which is open to all 
fund members and employers.

Page 104



59  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Terms of Reference for the Pension Board of the 
Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund

1.  Role of the Pension 
Board

1.1 The role of the local Pension 
Board as defined by sections 5 
(1) and (2) of the Public Service 
Pensions Act 2013, is to –

 Assist Gloucestershire County 
Council  as Scheme Manager; –

- to secure compliance with 
the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) Regulations and 
any other legislation relating to the 
governance and administration of 
the LGPS

- to secure compliance with 
requirements imposed in relation 
to the LGPS by the Pensions 
Regulator

- in such other matters as the 
LGPS regulations may specify

 Provide the Scheme Manager 
with such information as it requires 
to ensure that any member of the 
Pension Board or person to be 
appointed to the Pension Board 
does not have a conflict of interest.

1.2 In addition the LGPS 
(Amendment) (Governance) 
Regulations 2015 expect the 
Pension Board to assist the 
Scheme Manager to secure the 
effective and efficient governance 
and administration of the LGPS 
for the Gloucestershire Local 
Government Pension Fund.

1.3 The Board shall provide 
an annual report to the Pension 
Committee and then to a full 
meeting of Gloucestershire County 
Council. The report will include 
information on the business 
conducted by the Pension 
Board with any risks or concerns 
identified and mitigation steps 
proposed. The report will also be 
published on the Pension Fund’s 
website. Any concerns requiring 

reporting outside the annual 
process should be raised with the 
Pensions Committee.

1.4 The Pension Board will 
ensure it effectively and efficiently 
complies with the code of 
practice on the governance and 
administration of public service 
pension schemes issued by the 
Pension Regulator.

1.5 The Pension Board 
will also help ensure that the 
Gloucestershire Local Government 
Pension Fund is managed and 
administered effectively and 
efficiently and complies with 
the code of practice on the 
governance and administration of 
public service pension schemes 
issued by the Pension Regulator. 

1.6 The cost of running the 
Pension Board will be met from the 
Pension Fund.

2.  Appointment of 
Members of the Pension 
Board

2.1 The Pension Board shall 
consist of 5 members and be 
constituted as follows:

a)  The Chairman
The Chair of the Pension Board, 
who can demonstrate their 
knowledge and understanding of 
the Local Government Pension 
Scheme will be appointed by 
the Scheme Manager following 
a selection process to be 
determined by the Constitution 
Committee members. The Chair 
of the Pension Board cannot be a 
Gloucestershire County Councillor.

b) Two employer representatives 
who can demonstrate their 
capacity to represent other 
scheme employers, and their 
knowledge and understanding of 
the Local Government Pension 
Scheme. To be appointed by the 

Scheme Manager following a 
selection process to be determined 
by the Constitution Committee 
members.

c)  Two scheme member 
representatives who can 
demonstrate, their capacity 
to represent other scheme 
members, and their knowledge 
and understanding of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme. 
To be appointed by the Scheme 
Manager following a selection 
process to be determined by the 
Constitution Committee members.

One of the employer or member 
representatives should be a 
County Councillor appointed 
annually at a meeting of Full 
Council.

3.  Length of Term and 
Removal

3.1 The Chairman, each 
employer representative, and 
scheme member representative so 
appointed shall serve initially for a 4 
year term, which may be extended 
for further 4 year terms subject to 
re-nomination and re-selection.

3.2 Board members can be 
removed on grounds of non 
attendance, breach of code of 
conduct and non participation in 
training.

3.3 Each Board member should 
endeavour to attend all Board 
meetings during the year and is 
required to attend at least one 
of the scheduled meetings each 
financial year. In the event of a 
Board member failing to do this, or 
other persistent non-attendance 
then the tenure of that member 
should be reviewed by the other 
Board members in liaison with the 
Constitution Committee members.

Page 105



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  60

3.4 Other than by ceasing to 
be eligible, a Board member 
may only be removed from office 
during a term of appointment by 
the unanimous agreement of all of 
the other members in attendance 
at the Board Meeting where this 
is being considered. The removal 
of the Chairman also requires the 
consent of the Scheme Manager. 

4.  Quorum

The Board shall have a formal 
quorum of 3 to include one 
employer representative and one 
member representative.

Because of the specialist nature 
of their work, no substitution is 
permitted.

5.  Code of Conduct and 
Conflicts of Interest

The principles included in the 
County Council’s Member Code of 
Conduct applies to all members of 
the Local Pension Board. Likewise, 
all other relevant County Council 
policies shall apply to members of 
the Pension Board.

As a condition of appointment, 
Board members shall be required 
to enter into a confidentiality 
agreement with the County 
Council. 

6. Knowledge and Skills 

A member of the Pension Board 
will be conversant with –

 The legislation and associated 
guidance of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS).

 Any document recording policy 
about the administration of the 
LGPS which is for the time being 
adopted by the Gloucestershire 
Local Government Pension Fund.

A member of the Pension Board 

must have knowledge and 
understanding of –

- The law relating to pensions, 
and

- Any other matters which are 
prescribed in regulations.

7.  Board Meetings and 
Publication of Board 
Information

7.1  The Board shall meet no less 
than twice per annum. If there is a 
need for an additional meeting this 
will be determined by the Chair of 
the Board.

7.2 The agenda and supporting 
papers shall be distributed to 
members of the board 5 clear 
working days prior to each 
meeting.

7.3 Pension Board papers, 
agendas and minutes of 
meetings will be published on the 
Gloucestershire Local Government 
Pension Fund website subject to 
the Rules on Access to Information 
and the Data Protection Act 1998. 

8. Remit of the Board

The Board shall:

i. Ensure the Pension Fund’s 
strategy and policy documents are 
in place and have been maintained 
in accordance with the LGPS 
Regulations. These documents 
are the Communications Policy 
Statement, Funding Strategy 
Statement, Governance 
Compliance Statement, Pensions 
Administration Strategy, Pension 
Fund Annual Report and 
Accounts and Investment Strategy 
Statement.

ii. Ensure the Pension Fund’s 
internal Risk Register is in place 
and reviewed at least annually.

iii. Review the Pension Fund’s 
performance in complying 
with the requirements of the 
LGPS Regulations and any 
other legislation relating to the 
governance and administration of 
the LGPS.

iv. Review the Pension Fund’s 
performance in complying with 
the requirements of the Pension 
Regulator.

v. Provide advice and make 
recommendations when required, 
to the Pensions Committee, 
on areas that may improve the 
governance of the Pension Fund.

vi. Each January, submit a 
proposed work plan for the 
forthcoming financial year, to the 
Pensions Committee. 

vii. To carry out any other activities 
relating to the efficient governance 
and administration of the Pension 
Fund, which the Pensions 
Committee may request the 
Pension Board to undertake.  

9. Voting Rights and 
Decision Making

9.1 Only members of the 
Pension Board who are employer 
or member representatives will 
have an individual voting right but 
it is expected the Pension Board 
will as far as possible reach a 
consensus.

9.2 A majority of Board 
members, with a voting right 
and present at a meeting, will be 
required to agree any decision of 
the Board, including any referrals 
back to the Pensions Committee. 

10.  Accountability

The Pension Board will be 
collectively and individually 
accountable to the Scheme 
Manager. 

Page 106



61  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Definitions

The undernoted terms shall have the following meaning when used in this document:

“Pension Board” or “Board” Means the local Pension Board for Gloucestershire County Council as 
Administering Authority for the Gloucestershire Local Government (LGPS) 
Pension Fund as required under the Public Service Pensions Act 2013

“Scheme Manager” Means Gloucestershire County Council as Administering Authority of the 
Gloucestershire Local Government (LGPS) Pension Fund

“LGPS” The Local Government Pension Scheme as constituted by the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013, the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 and The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management 
and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016

“Scheme” Means the Local Government Pension Scheme as defined under “LGPS”

Page 107



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  62

Fund Account and 
Net Assets Statement

> Statement of Accounts 2018/19

Statement of Responsibilities and Foreword 
to Accounts

The audited accounts and notes following on pages 55 to 88, 
summarise the transactions and net assets of the Fund.  

Authority’s Responsibilities

The Authority is required:

 To make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial  
affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for 
the administration of those affairs (the Chief Financial Officer).

 To manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of 
resources and safeguard its assets.

 To approve the statement of accounts.

The Chief Financial Officer’s Responsibilities

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the preparation of the 
Fund’s statement of accounts in accordance with proper practices 
set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom.

In preparing this statement of accounts, the Chief Financial Officer has:

 Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently.

 Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent.

 Complied with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting.

 Kept proper accounting records which were up to date.

 Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

Paul Blacker, CPFA 
Acting Strategic Finance Director 
(and Section 151 Officer) 
26th July 2019

Page 108



63  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Independent Auditor’s 
Report to the Members 
of Gloucestershire County 
Council

Opinion

We have audited the financial 
statements of Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund (the ‘pension fund’) 
administered by Gloucestershire 
County Council (the ‘Authority’) for 
the year ended 31st March 2019 
which comprise the Fund Account, 
the Net Assets Statement and 
notes to the pension fund financial 
statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies. 
The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law 
and the CIPFA/LASAAC code 
of practice on local authority 
accounting in the United Kingdom 
2018/19.

In our opinion, the financial 
statements:

 give a true and fair view of 
the financial transactions of the 
pension fund during the year 
ended 31st March 2019 and of 
the amount and disposition at 
that date of the fund’s assets and 
liabilities

 have been prepared properly 
in accordance with the CIPFA/
LASAAC code of practice on local 
authority accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2018/19; and 

 have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements 
of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) 
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described 
in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities 

for the audit of the financial 
statements’ section of our 
report. We are independent of 
the Authority in accordance with 
the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the pension 
fund’s financial statements in the 
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to 
going concern

We have nothing to report in 
respect of the following matters 
in relation to which the ISAs (UK) 
require us to report to you where:

 the Strategic Finance Director’s 
use of the going concern basis 
of accounting in the preparation 
of the pension fund’s financial 
statements is not appropriate; or

 the Strategic Finance Director 
has not disclosed in the pension 
fund’s financial statements any 
identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about 
the Authority’s ability to continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting for the pension fund for 
a period of at least twelve months 
from the date when the pension 
fund’s financial statements are 
authorised for issue.

Other information

The Strategic Finance Director 
is responsible for the other 
information. The other information 
comprises the information included 
in the Statement of Accounts, other 
than the pension fund’s financial 
statements, our auditor’s report 
thereon and our auditor’s report on 
the Authority’s financial statements. 
Our opinion on the pension fund’s 
financial statements does not cover 
the other information and, except 

to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in our report, we do not 
express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit 
of the pension fund’s financial 
statements, our responsibility is 
to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the pension 
fund’s financial statements or our 
knowledge of the pension fund 
obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 
If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether there 
is a material misstatement in the 
pension fund’s financial statements 
or a material misstatement of the 
other information. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to 
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this 
regard.

Opinion on other matter 
required by the Code of 
Audit Practice published 
by the National Audit 
Office on behalf of the 
Comptroller and Auditor 
General (the Code of Audit 
Practice)

In our opinion, based on the work 
undertaken in the course of the 
audit of the pension fund’s financial 
statements and our knowledge 
of the pension fund the other 
information published together 
with the pension fund’s financial 
statements in the Statement of 
Accounts for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the 
pension fund’s financial statements.

Page 109



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  64

Matters on which we 
are required to report by 
exception

Under the Code of Audit Practice, 
we are required to report to you if:

 we issue a report in the public 
interest under section 24 of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 in the course of, or at the 
conclusion of the audit; or

 we make a written 
recommendation to the Authority 
under section 24 of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 in the 
course of, or at the conclusion of 
the audit; or

 we make an application to the 
court for a declaration that an item 
of account is contrary to law under 
Section 28 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 in the 
course of, or at the conclusion of 
the audit; or; 

 we issue an advisory notice 
under Section 29 of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 in the 
course of, or at the conclusion of 
the audit; or 

 we make an application for 
judicial review under Section 31 of 
the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014, in the course of, or at the 
conclusion of the audit.

We have nothing to report in 
respect of the above matters.

Responsibilities of the 
Authority, the Strategic 
Finance Director and 
Those Charged with 
Governance for the 
financial statements

As explained more fully in the 
Statement of Responsibilities, 
the Authority is required to make 
arrangements for the proper 
administration of its financial 
affairs and to secure that one of 
its officers has the responsibility 

for the administration of those 
affairs.  In this authority, that officer 
is the Strategic Finance Director. 
The Strategic Finance Director is 
responsible for the preparation 
of the Statement of Accounts, 
which includes the pension 
fund’s financial statements, in 
accordance with proper practices 
as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC 
code of practice on local authority 
accounting in the United Kingdom 
2018/19, for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view, 
and for such internal control as 
the Strategic Finance Director 
determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the pension fund’s 
financial statements, the Strategic 
Finance Director is responsible 
for assessing the pension fund’s 
ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless there is an 
intention by government that the 
services provided by the pension 
fund will no longer be provided. 

The Audit and Governance 
Committee is those Charged with 
Governance. Those charged with 
governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Authority’s financial 
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the 
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain 
reasonable assurance about 
whether the pension fund’s 
financial statements as a 
whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs 

(UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial 
statements.

A further description of our 
responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at: www.frc.
org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report.

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the 
members of the Authority, as a 
body, in accordance with Part 5 of 
the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014 and as set out in 
paragraph 43 of the Statement 
of Responsibilities of Auditors 
and Audited Bodies published by 
Public Sector Audit Appointments 
Limited. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state 
to the Authority’s members those 
matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Authority 
and the Authority’s members as a 
body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have 
formed.

Peter Barber, Key Audit Partner

for and on behalf of 
Grant Thornton UK LLP,
Local Auditor
Bristol

29th July 2019

Page 110



65  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

 2017/18 
    
 £000  £000 £000 Note 

Fund Account for the year ended 31st March 2019

  Contributions  
 -112,820  employer contributions -93,016  N20 
 -17,795  members’ contributions -18,114  N20 
 -130,615    -111,130 N7 
   
  Transfers in from other pension funds 
 -6,733  individual transfers from other schemes or funds -6,736
 -  group transfers from other schemes or funds -  
 -6,733    -6,736 
   
  Other income    
 -143  recoveries for services provided  -132 N22 
  
  Benefits     
 65,927  pensions 69,453  N32 
 11,090  commutation of pensions and lump sum 12,203 
   retirement benefits    
 1,153  lump sum death benefits 1,804   
 78,170    83,460 N7 
   

  Payments to and on account of leavers    
 239  refunds to members leaving scheme or fund 336   
 58  payments for members joining state scheme or fund 36   
 5,974  individual transfers to other schemes or funds 4,992
 -  group transfers to other schemes or funds -   
 6,271    5,364 
 
 -53,050 Net (addition)/withdrawal from dealings with members  -29,174

 7,418 Management expenses  8,442 N22
       

  Returns on investments 
 -30,856  investment income -27,684  N15 
 7  taxes on income 3  N3 & N15 
 -74,344  Profit(-) and losses on disposal of investments and -90,864  N4 
   changes in market value of investments   
 
 -105,193 Net returns on investments  -118,545 
  
 -150,825 Net increase (-) / decrease in the net assets  -139,277  
  available for benefits during the year   
 
2,088,616  Opening net assets of the scheme  2,239,441 
  

2,239,441  Closing net assets of the scheme  2,378,718

2018/19

Page 111



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  66

 2017/18  2018/19
 re-stated  
 £000  £000 Note 

Net Asset Statement as at 31st March 2019

The Fund’s financial statements do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after the 
period end but rather summarise the transactions and net assets of the scheme.

The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is disclosed at Note N26.

The notes on the following pages form part of these Financial Statements.

  Investment assets  
 288,855  Bonds 323,927 
 380,754  Equities -
 1,331,728  Pooled investment vehicles 1,829,558 N10 & N34a

 176,138  Property unit trusts  192,478 N10 & N34a 
  710  Derivative contracts 1,297 N2 & N17 

  5,624  Other investments - Venture Capital/Private Equity 4,972 N10 
  23,118  Cash held on behalf of the investment managers 11,753 N27 
  5,871  Other investment balances 4,450  
 2,212,798   2,368,435 N14

  Long term investment assets   
 840  Brunel Pension Partnership 395 N9

 840   395

  Investment liabilities   
 -320  Derivative contracts -1,429 N2 & N17 

 -552  Other investment balances -1,412  
 -872   -2,841 N14

2,212,766 Total Net Investments 2,365,989

  Long term assets   
 282  Contributions due from employers 440  

 1,236  Other long term assets (debtors)  618 
 1,518   1,058 N14 & N24

  Current assets   
 4,121  Contributions due from employers 4,708  

 539  Other current assets 410
 618  Money due re. transfer of staff to another pension scheme 618
 156  Payments in advance 256 
 21,748  Cash balances 8,006 N2, N23
     & N27

 27,182   13,998 N14 & N24

  Current liabilities   
 -16  Unpaid benefits -26  
 -2,009  Other current liabilities -2,301
 -2,025   -2,327 N14 & N25

2,239,441 Net assets of the scheme available to fund 2,378,718 N4, N5,
  benefits at the period end  N14 & N18

Page 112



67  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

N1 Introduction  

The County Council is the 
administering body for the 
Gloucestershire Local Government 
Pension Fund. This is not only for 
County Council employees but 
also for District Councils within 
the County and other local bodies 
providing public services. A full list 
of all employing bodies who are 
members of the Fund are shown 
on pages 23 to 25. 

The Fund is governed by 
the Public Service Pensions 
Act 2013 and administered 
in accordance with the 
following secondary legislation:                                                                                                                                     
                                                                                     
- The LGPS Regulations 2013 (as 
amended) 

- The LGPS (Transitional 
Provisions, Savings and 
Amendment) Regulations 2014 (as 
amended)

- The LGPS (Management 
and Investment of Funds) 

Regulations 2016 (as amended)                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                      
The Fund exists to provide 
pensions and certain other benefits 
to former employees. The Pension 
Fund is not a Gloucestershire 
County Council fund and is 
subject to its own audit; therefore 
balances are not included in the 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Consolidated Balance Sheet.  
The Fund is administered by the 
Pension Committee, which is a 
committee of Gloucestershire 
County Council.  The Pension 
Board was set up with effect from 
the 1st April 2015 to assist the 
Pensions Committee in securing 
compliance with the relevant laws 
and Regulations and to help the 
Pension Committee ensure the 
effective and efficient governance 
and administration of the Fund.

Membership Breakdown

Membership of the LGPS is 
voluntary and employees are free 
to choose whether to join the 

scheme, remain in the scheme 
or make their own personal 
arrangements outside the scheme.

Organisations participating in 
the Pension Fund include the 
following:

- Scheduled bodies, which are 
automatically entitled to be 
members of the Fund.

- Admitted bodies, which 
participate in the Fund under the 
terms of an admission agreement 
between the Fund and the 
employer.  Admitted bodies include 
voluntary, charitable and similar 
not-for-profit organisations, or 
private contractors undertaking a 
local authority function following 
outsourcing to the private sector.

Fire fighters, police and teachers 
have their own separate nationally-
administered schemes.

Membership details are set out 
below:    

Notes to the Pension Fund Accounts 2018/19

   31st March  31st March
   2018 2019
 
 Number of employers 201 205

 Number of employees in the scheme

 County  Council 10,079  10,241 
 Other employers 8,751   8,728 

   18,830  18,969 
 Number of pensioners  

 County  Council 9,077  9,476 
 Other employers 6,276  6,582 

   15,353   16,058 
 Deferred pensioners  

 County  Council 11,555  11,996 
 Other employers 7,908  8,421 

    19,463   20,417 
    
Total number of members in pension scheme 53,646   55,444 

Page 113



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  68

In addition there were 4,690 
(6,122 2017/18) undecided or 
unprocessed leavers.  

Undecided leavers are those 
members who are no longer 
accruing service and to whom a 
refund of contributions or transfer 
out may be due.

Unprocessed leavers are those 
members which represent cases 
where we are aware that a 
member has left, but that case has 
not yet been processed.  

Funding

Benefits are funded by 
contributions and investment 
earnings.  Contributions are 
made by active members of 
the Fund in accordance with 
the Local Government Pension 
Scheme Regulations 2013 and 
ranged from 5.5% to 12.5% of 
pensionable pay for the financial 
year ending 31st March 2019.  
Employers’ contributions are 
set based on triennial actuarial 
funding valuations.  The last such 
valuation was at 31st March 2016.  
Currently, employer contribution 
rates range from 14.9% to 40.9% 
of pensionable pay.

Benefits

Prior to 1st April 2014, pension 
benefits under the LGPS were 
based on final pensionable pay 
and length of pensionable service.  
From 1st April 2014, the scheme 
became a career average scheme, 
whereby members accrue benefits 
based on their pensionable pay 
in that year at an accrual rate 
of 1/49th.  Accrued pension 
is uprated annually in line with 
Consumer Prices Index.

A range of other benefits are also 
provided including early retirement, 
disability pensions and death 
benefits, as explained on the LGPS 
website.

N2  Summary of 
significant accounting 
policies

Basis of Preparation

The Statement of Accounts 
summarises the Funds’ 
transactions for the 2018/19 
financial year and its position at 
year end as at 31st March 2019. 
The accounts have been prepared 
in accordance with the Code 
of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2018/19 which is based upon 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), as amended for 
the UK public sector. The accounts 
summarise the transactions of the 
Fund and reports on the net assets 
available to pay pension benefits. 
The accounts do not take account 
of obligations to pay pensions and 
benefits which fall due after the end 
of the financial year. The actuarial 
value of promised retirement 
benefits, valued on an International 
Accounting Standard (IAS19) 
basis, is disclosed at Note N26 of 
these accounts. The accounts are 
prepared on a going concern basis.

Critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies

The net Pension Fund liability is 
recalculated every three years by 
the appointed actuary, with annual 
updates in the intervening years.  
The methodology used is in line 
with accepted guidelines.

This estimate is subject to 
significant variances based 
on changes to the underlying 
assumptions which are agreed 
with the actuary and have been 
summarised in Note N26.

These actuarial revaluations are 
used to set future contribution 
rates and underpin the Fund’s 
most significant investment 
management policies.

Assumptions made about the 
future and other major sources 
of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial 
statements requires management 
to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported for assets and 
liabilities at the year-end-date 
and the amounts reported for the 
revenues and expenses during the 
year.  Estimates and assumptions 
are made taking into account 
historical experience, current 
trends and other relevant factors.  
However, the nature of estimation 
means that the actual outcomes 
could differ from the assumptions 
and estimates.  Income and 
expenditure have been accounted 
for on an accruals basis.

The items within the Net Asset 
Statement as at 31st March 2019, 
for which there is a risk of material 
adjustment in the forthcoming year, 
are highlighted overleaf:

Contribution Income

Income and expenditure have 
been accounted for on an accruals 
basis and amounts due have been 
determined in time for inclusion in 
the accounts.  Any amount due 
in year but  unpaid will be classed 
as a current financial asset.  
Benefits payable and refunds of  
contributions have been brought 
into the accounts on the basis of 
all valid claims approved  during 
the year.  Individual transfer values 
are accounted for when they are 
paid or received. Bulk transfer 
values are accrued when the value 
has been determined.

Management Expenses

Pension Fund expenses have been 
accounted for in accordance with 
the CIPFA guidance Accounting 
for Local Government Pension 
Scheme Management Costs.  
A more detailed breakdown of 
management expenses can be 
found in Note N22.

Page 114



69  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Investment Management 
Expenses

Investment Management 
Expenses comprise of expenses 
which are incurred in relation to 
the management of pension fund 
assets. Where an investment 
manager’s fee has not been 
received by the reporting period 
end date, an estimate based upon 
the market value of the mandate 
at the end of the reporting period 
has been used. Where fees are 
netted off quarterly valuations 
by investment managers, these 
expenses are shown separately 
in Note N22 and grossed up to 
increase the change in value of 
investments.

Hermes deducts its fees from 
a combination of assets held 
and income distributions and 
is included within Investment 
Management Expenses. 
Technology Venture Partners (TVP) 
and Yorkshire Fund Managers 
(YFM) deduct their fees from the 
value of the assets under their 
management.  Fees for TVP and 
YFM have not been included as 

they are the legal responsibility of 
the managers and not the Fund.  
Brunel Pension Partnership (BPP) 
passive global equity pooled funds 
encash units to cover their fees 
and these have been included 
within Investment Management 
Expenses. Fees incurred in relation 
to BPP’s ACS fund have also 
been included within Investment 
Management Expenses.

Acquisition and Transaction 
Costs of Investments

Acquisition costs of investments 
(e.g. stamp duty) and transaction 
costs are included within 
Investment Management Expenses 
with a corresponding offset against 
Profit on Disposal of Investments.  
In addition to the transaction 
costs disclosed, indirect costs 
are incurred through the bid/offer 
spread on investments within 
pooled investment vehicles.  The 
amounts of indirect costs are not 
separately provided to the Fund.  
A more detailed breakdown of 
management expenses, including 
transaction costs, can be found in 
Note N22.

Administration Expenses

All administrative expenses are 
accounted for on an accrual basis.  
All staff costs associated with 
administration is charged to the 
Fund.  Associated management, 
accommodation and other 
overheads are apportioned to this 
activity and charged as expenses 
to the Fund.  Further information 
on administrative expenses can be 
found in Note N22.  

Oversight & Governance 
Expenses

All Oversight and Governance 
expenses are accounted for on 
an accrual basis.  All staff costs 
associated with Oversight and 
Governance is charged to the 
Fund.  Associated management, 
accommodation and other 
overheads are apportioned to 
this activity and charged as 
expenses to the Fund.   The 
cost of investment advice from 
external consultants is included in 
Oversight & Governance.  Further 
information on Oversight and 
Governance expenses can be 
found in Note N22.  

Item Uncertainties Effect if actual results differ from 
assumptions

Actuarial present value 
of promised retirement 
benefits (Note N26)

Estimation of the net liability to 
pay pensions depends on a 
number of complex judgements 
relating to the discount rate 
used, salary increases, changes 
in retirement ages, mortality 
rates and returns on fund 
assets. A firm of consulting 
actuaries is engaged to provide 
the fund with expert advice 
about the assumptions to be 
applied

The effects on the net pension liability of 
changes in the individual assumptions can be 
measured as follows:

- A 0.5% decrease in the real discount rate 
would increase the liability by £360m

- A 0.5% increase in the pension increase rate 
would increase the liability by £289m

- A 0.5% increase in the salary increase rate 
would increase the liability by £50m

Private Equity, 
Infrastructure and Private 
Debt

Investments are not publicly 
listed and as such there is a 
degree of estimation involved in 
the valuation.

The total value of Private equity, Infrastructure 
and Private Debt investments in the 
financial statements as at 31st March 2019 
are £49.646m. There is a risk that these 
investments may be under or overstated in the 
accounts, see Note N28.

Items within the Net Asset Statement as at 31st March 2019, for 
which there is a risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming year

Page 115



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  70

Investment Income

Dividends from quoted securities 
are accounted for when the 
security is declared ex-dividend.  
Any amount not received by the 
end of the reporting period is 
recognised as a current financial 
asset.  Investment income arising 
from the underlying investments 
of Pooled Investment Vehicles 
is reinvested within the Pooled 
Investment Vehicle and reflected in 
the unit price.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash comprises cash in hand 
(bank) and demand deposits 
(money market funds) which also 
includes amounts held by the 
Fund’s custodian on behalf of its 
investment managers.

Cash equivalents are short-term, 
highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and are subject 
to minimal risk of changes in value.

Cash balances held in accordance 
with the County Councils’ Treasury 
Management Strategy and those 
held with the Funds’ Custodian 
State Street Global Services, on 
behalf of investment managers, are 
in instant access accounts.

The Actuarial Present Value of 
Promised Retirement Benefits

The actuarial present value of 
promised retirement benefits is 
assessed on a triennial basis by 
the scheme actuary in accordance 
with the requirements of IAS 19 
Post-Employment Benefits and 
relevant actuarial standards.

As permitted under the Code, 
the Fund has included a note 
disclosing the actuarial present 
value of retirement benefits by 
way of a note to the net asset 
statement in Note N26. 

Contingent assets and 
contingent liabilities

A contingent asset arises where an 

event has taken place giving rise to 
a possible asset whose existence 
will only be confirmed or otherwise 
by the occurrence of future events.

A contingent liability arises where 
an event has taken place prior 
to the year-end giving rise to a 
possible financial obligation whose 
existence will only be confirmed 
or otherwise by the occurrence of 
future events. Contingent liabilities 
can also arise in circumstances 
where a provision would be made, 
except that it is not possible at the 
balance sheet date to measure 
the value of the financial obligation 
reliably.

Contingent assets and liabilities 
are not recognised in the net asset 
statement but are disclosed by 
way of narrative in the notes.

Valuation of Assets

The SORP requires securities to 
be valued on a Fair Value Basis 
therefore assets and liabilities, 
where there is an active and readily 
available market price, are valued 
at the bid price. Where assets 
do not actively trade through 
established exchange mechanisms 
a price is obtained from the 
manager of the investment asset 
through their quarterly reports.  
Further details of their approach to 
establishing fair value can be found 
within Note N28, Basis of Valuation 
table. Investments held in foreign 
currencies are shown at market 
value translated into sterling at the 
exchange rates prevailing as at 
31st March 2019.  Purchases and 
sales during the year which require 
settlement in a foreign currency 
are converted from/to sterling at 
the exchange rate prevailing on the 
trade date.  Fixed interest securities 
are recorded at market value based 
on their yields. Pooled investment 
vehicles are valued at closing bid 
price if both bid and offer prices are 
published; or if single priced, at the 
closing single price.  In the case 
of pooled investment vehicles that 
are accumulation funds, change 
in market value also includes 

income which is re-invested in the 
fund, net of applicable withholding 
tax.  Property within the property 
unit trusts are independently 
valued mainly in accordance with 
the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors valuation standards.  
Private Equity is valued using 
the latest financial statements 
published by the respective fund 
managers and in accordance with 
the International Private Equity and 
Venture Capital Guidelines.  The 
valuation standards followed by 
the managers are in accordance 
with the industry guidelines and 
the constituent management 
agreements. Such investments 
may not always be valued on year 
end valuation as information may 
not be available, and therefore 
will be valued based on the 
latest valuation provided by the 
managers adjusted for movements 
to the year end.

Financial assets are included in 
the financial statements on a fair 
value basis at the reporting date. 
A financial asset is recognised in 
the net assets statement on the 
date the fund becomes party to the 
contractual acquisition of the asset. 
From this date any gains or losses 
arising from the changes in the fair 
value of the asset are recognised in 
the Fund Account.

The values of investment as shown 
in the net assets statement have 
been determined at fair value in 
accordance with the requirements 
of the Code and IFRS 13. For 
the purposes of disclosing levels 
of fair value hierarchy, the Fund 
has adopted the classification 
guidelines recommended in 
Practical Guidance on Investment 
Disclosures (PRAG/Investment 
Association).

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and the nine other shareholders 
each hold a 10% share in Brunel 
Pension Partnership Ltd (company 
number 10429110). As such, 
no fund is deemed to have a 
significant influence and this long 
term investment is accounted 

Page 116



71  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

N4  Investment Movements Summary

Asset Class

 Market value Purchases  Sales  Change in  Market value  
 at 31st  during the year proceeds   market value at 31st 
2018/19 March 2018  at cost and  during the year during the  March 2019 
   derivative  and derivative year  
   payments  receipts 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000

Bonds 288,855 263,080 -229,080 1,072 323,927 
Equities 380,754 43,721 -404,809 -19,666 -
Pooled Investments 1,331,728 1,622,774 -1,225,416 100,472 1,829,558
Property Unit Trusts 176,138 7,192 - 9,148 192,478
Private Equity 5,624   36 -2,198 1,510 4,972

 2,183,099 1,936,803 -1,861,503 92,536 2,350,935

Derivative contracts:
   Futures 203 2,945 -1,657 -2,033 -542
   Forward currency contracts 187 - - 223 410

Long term investment assets  

   Brunel Pension Partnership 840 - - -445 395

 840 - - -445 395

Net investment assets 2,184,329 1,939,748 -1,863,160 90,281 2,351,198

In addition to the investments there was £27,520k (£55,112k 2017/18) in cash, cash equivalents and accruals.  
Cash movements, currency adjustments and other end of year settlements totalled £583k (£11,573k 
2017/18).  As a result the total profit (-) and losses on disposal of investments and changes in market value of 
investments was -£90.9m (-£74.3m 2017/18). 

for at fair value. The asset was 
initially measured at cost and is 
subsequently revalued for any 
impairment.

The accounts for the year 
ended 31st March 2019 use the 
valuations for the Fund’s assets 
based on the figures provided by 
the Fund’s custodian, State Street.

Derivatives

Derivative contracts are valued 
at fair value and are determined 
using exchange prices at the 

reporting date.  The fair value is 
the unrealised profit or loss at the 
current bid or offer market quoted 
price of the contract.  Derivative 
contract assets, those with a 
positive value, are valued at bid 
price and derivative contract 
liabilities, those with a negative 
value, are valued at the offer price.  
The amounts included in change 
in market value are the realised 
gains and losses on closed futures 
contracts and the unrealised 
gains and losses on open futures 
contracts.  The fair value of 
the forward currency contracts 

are based on market forward 
exchange rates at the year end 
date.

N3  Taxation

The Fund is exempt from UK 
capital gains tax on the proceeds 
of investments sold. Corporation 
Tax is deducted from UK equity 
dividends; tax deducted from 
property unit trusts can be 
reclaimed. Withholding tax is 
payable on income from overseas 
investments. This tax is recovered 
wherever local tax laws permit.

Page 117



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  72

Asset Class

 Market value Purchases  Sales  Change in  Market value  
2017/18 at 31st  during the year proceeds   market value at 31st 
re-stated March 2017  at cost and  during the year during the  March 2018   
   derivative  and derivative  year 
   payments  receipts 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000

Bonds 280,713 60,935 -48,324 -4,469 288,855 
Equities 377,449 120,081 -101,335 -15,441 380,754
Pooled Investments* 1,252,164 78,306 -74,061 75,319 1,331,728
Property Unit Trusts* 134,719 34,475 -463 7,407 176,138
Private Equity 5,328 116 - 180 5,624

 2,050,373 293,913 -224,183 62,996 2,183,099

Derivative contracts:
   Futures 220 332 -153 -196 203
   Forward currency contracts 216 - - -29 187

 436 332 -153 -225 390

Long term investment assets  

   Brunel Pension Partnership - 840 - - 840

 - 840 - - 840

Net investment assets 2,050,809 295,085 -224,336 62,771 2,184,329

In addition to the investments 
there was £55,112k (£37,807k 
2016/17) in cash, cash equivalents 
and accruals.  Cash movements, 
currency adjustments and other 
end of year settlements totalled 
£11,573k (-£2,205k 2016/17).  
As a result the total profit (-) and 
losses on disposal of investments 
and changes in market value 
of investments was -£74.3m 
(-£334.8m 2016/17).

*After further investigation by 
the investment manager in 
2018/19 the asset classification 
of investments with a net value of 
£2,245k were moved within the 
pooled funds and property unit 
trust asset classifications.  The 
2017/18 comparable figures have 

been amended to reflect that 
change; please see note N34 (a) 
for details.    

The change in market value 
of investments comprises all 
increases and decreases in the 
market value of investments 
held at any time during the year, 
including profits and losses 
realised on sales of investments 
during the year.

The closing market value of the 
derivatives in the previous tables 
represents fair value as at the 
year end date.  In the case of 
derivative contracts, which are 
traded on exchanges, this value is 
determined using exchange prices 
at the reporting date.  Forward 

foreign exchange contracts are 
over the counter contracts and are 
valued by determining the gain or 
loss that would arise from closing 
out the contract at the reporting 
date and entering into an equal 
and opposite contract as at that 
date. The profit or loss arising 
is included within the cash and 
accruals figure.

All derivative contracts settled 
during the period are reported 
within the table as purchases and 
sales.

Page 118



73  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

N5  Management of Fund Assets

The market value of investments managed by each external manager at the end of the financial year was:

Where the value of an investment exceeds 5% of the total value of net assets, details have been disclosed in 
note N18.

     2017/18 2018/19
 £000 % £000 %

Investments managed by the Brunel
Pension Partnership regional asset pool    
Legal & General Investment Management - - 521,215 21.9
Brunel ACS UK Equity Fund - - 365,801 15.4
Brunel Private Equity and Infrastructure Portfolio - - 2,329 0.01
 - - 889,345 37.4

Investments managed outside of the Brunel
Pension Partnership regional asset pool
BlackRock  1,038,727 46.4 619,296 26.0
Bluebay Asset Management 6,166 0.3 22,252 0.9
CBRE 54,631 2.4 61,678 2.6
Golub Capital Partners International 10,693 0.5 20,145 0.9
Hermes Investment Management
Property Unit Trust 131,618 5.9 140,675 5.9
Aberdeen Standard Investments 
(formerly Standard Life) 471,680 21.1 79,360 3.3
Technology Venture Partners 3,635 0.1 3,629 0.2
Western Asset Management Company 492,635 22.0 527,664 22.2
Yorkshire Fund Managers (YFM) 1,989 0.1 1,342 0.1
 2,211,774 98.8 1,476,041 62.1

Total - External Managers 2,211,774 98.8 2,365,386 99.5 

In-house cash and accruals 26,676 1.2 12,730 0.5
Cash instruments with Custodian 151 0.0 207 0.0
Brunel Pension Partnership (Shareholding) 840 0.0 395 0.0

 2,239,441 100.0 2,378,718 100.0

N6  Actuarial Position 
of the Fund

   In line with the Local Government Pension 
Scheme Regulations, actuarial valuations of the Fund 
are required to be undertaken every three years, for 
the purpose of setting employer contribution rates for 
the forthcoming triennial period.  The latest valuation 
took place as at 31st March 2016 and established the 
minimum contribution payments for the three years 
until 31st March 2020.  The next valuation will take 
place as at March 2019.

   The estimate of the Pension Fund liability is subject 
to significant variations, based on changes to the 
underlying assumptions used - see opposite.

   The results of the 2016 valuation gave a primary 
rate of 19.6% for the period 1st April 2017 to 31st 
March 2020 together with a secondary rate of 
£32,487k in 2017/18, £36,638k in 2018/19 and 
£40,905k in 2019/20.  At the previous formal valuation 
at 31st March 2013, a different regulatory regime was 
in force, therefore a contribution rate that is directly 
comparable to the rates above is not provided.  
Individual employers’ rates will vary depending on the 
demographic and actuarial factors particular to each 
employer.  Full details of the contribution rates payable 
can be found in the 2016 actuarial valuation report 
and the Funding Strategy Statement on the Fund’s 
website.  This rate of contribution is the rate which, 
in addition to the contributions paid by the members, 
should be sufficient to meet:

Page 119



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  74

-  100% of the liabilities arising in respect of service 
after the valuation date;

-  plus an adjustment over a period of 17 years (20 
years for Primary Rate) to reflect the shortfall of the 
value of the County Council’s notional share of the 
Fund’s assets over 100% of its accrued liabilities, 
allowing, in the case of members in service, for future 
pay increases.

   The market value of the Fund’s assets at the 
March 2016 triennial valuation date was £1,703m 
(£1,385m March 2013) and represented 79.7% 
(70.1% March 2013) of the Fund’s accrued liabilities, 
allowing for future pay increases.  When a valuation 

reveals a deficiency, the employer contribution rates 
are adjusted to target restoration of a solvent position 
over a period of years (the recovery period).  The 
recovery period applicable for each participating 
employer is set by the Administering Authority in 
consultation with the Scheme Actuary and employer, 
with a view to balancing the various funding 
requirements against the risks involved due to such 
issues as the financial strength of the employer and 
the nature of its participation in the Fund.

   The contribution rate has been calculated using 
the projected evolution of each employers’ section of 
the Fund and the main actuarial assumptions used 
are as follows:

N7  Analysis of Contributions Receivable and Benefits Payable

     2017/18 2018/19

 Contributions  Benefits Contributions Benefits 
 receivable payable receivable payable
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gloucestershire County Council  54,853 41,302 **42,619 44,342
(Administering Authority)  

Scheduled Bodies  66,742 32,048 **46,784 33,487
(162 18/19) (157 17/18)*
(Bodies admitted by right)  

Admitted Bodies  9,020 4,820 ***21,727 5,631
(42 18/19) (43 17/18)*
(Bodies admitted by agreement) 

 130,615 78,170 111,130 83,460

   Funding Basis

  2013  2016

Rate of return on investments (Discount Rate) 4.6% pa  4.0% pa

Rate of general pay increases* 3.8% pa  2.4% pa

Rate of increase to pensions in payment (in excess of  2.5% pa  2.1% pa
guaranteed minimum pension) 

* Plus an allowance is also made for promotional pay increases.  

   The full actuarial valuation reports for 2007, 2010, 2013 and 2016 
are published on the County Council’s website and can be viewed using 
the following web address: 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments

Scheduled Bodies now include 96 (91 17/18) schools who have converted to academy status.

* These numbers relate to active 
employers with active members.

**During 2017/18, Gloucestershire County 
Council and three scheduled bodies 
made the decision to pay lump sum 

deficit contributions to the Fund to benefit 
from earning greater investment returns 
in the short term resulting in reduced 
contribution payments owing in future 
years.

*** During 2018/19, two Admitted Body 
employers left the scheme and paid one-
off exit payments, as calculated by the 
Fund actuary, resulting in an increase in 
contributions received in comparison to 
previous years

   See note N26 for details of 
the Actuarial Present Value of 
Promised Retirement Benefits.

Page 120



75  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

N8  Investment Strategy Statement

The Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) as 
required by the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 
2016 can be found on pages ??? to ????. It includes 
a statement on the Fund’s approach to pooling its 
investment assets as required under the Regulations.

N9  Related Party Transactions

Gloucestershire County Council, as Administering 
Authority for the Fund, incurred the following costs 
in relation to the administration of the Fund and was 
subsequently reimbursed by the Fund for these 
expenses.  The Council is also the single largest 
employer of members of the Pension Fund. All 
monies owing to and due from the Fund were paid or 
accrued for in the year.

Part of the Pension Fund’s cash holdings are invested 
on the money markets by the Treasury Management 
team of Gloucestershire County Council, see notes 
N2, N23 and N27.

Of the County Council’s key management personnel, 
some of the Director and Acting Director: Strategic 
Finance’s remuneration costs were recharged to 
the Fund to reflect time spent supporting the Fund.  
These consisted of salary, fees and allowances of 
£10,820 (£11,030 2017/18) and employers’ pension 
contributions of £3,235 (£3,188 2017/18).

The Director and Acting Director: Strategic 
Finance are members of the Fund as contributing 
Gloucestershire County Council employees.  This 
does not impact on their role as Finance Director and 
S151 officer, which is clearly defined.

The Pensions Committee is the decision making body 
for the Fund and Gloucestershire County Council 
nominates 6 voting committee members.

Each member of the Pension Committee is required 
to declare their interests at each meeting.

Mr. P. Clark, the Scheme Member Representative, is 
a non-voting member of the Pension Committee.  Mr. 
Clark is a contributing member of the Pension Fund 
and this does not impact on his Pension Committee 
role.

Five members of the Pension Committee were also 
District Council members as at 31st March 2019 and 
these are detailed below:

In addition to the roles outlined above, Cllr. R. 
Theodoulou sits on the Board of UBICO Limited 
and Brunel Pension Partnership (BPP Ltd).  Cllr. N. 
Cooper is a governor of Archway School.  Ubico 
Limited and Archway School are employers in the 
Fund.

The Pension Board was created on the 1st April 
2015. Two members of the Board are members of 
the Fund as contributing employees and another one 
is in receipt of pension benefits. This does not impact 
on their roles as members of the Pension Board given 
the nature of the Board’s functions.

Transactions between employers and the Fund are 
disclosed in note N7.

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd (Company 
Number 10429110) 

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. (BPP Ltd.) was 
formed on the 14th October 2016 and will oversee 
the investment of pension fund assets for Avon, 
Buckinghamshire, Cornwall, Devon, Dorset, 
Environment Agency, Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire, 
Somerset and Wiltshire Funds.  

Each of the ten local authorities, including 
Gloucestershire County Council own 10% of BPP 
Ltd. Pension Fund transactions with BPP Ltd. are as 
follows:

  2017/18 2018/19
  £000 £000

 Administrative 1,743 2,128
 expenses

Member District Council

Cllr. D. Brown Gloucester City Council

Cllr. N. Cooper  Stroud District Council

Cllr. S. Parsons Cotswold District Council

Cllr. L. Stowe Cotswold District Council

Cllr. R. Theodoulou Cotswold District Council

  2017/18 2018/19
  £000 £000

 Income - -
 Expenditure - -
 Debtors 283 -
 Creditors - 256

  283 256

Page 121



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  76

  Total  Outstanding liability Outstanding liability
  Commitment  2017/18 2018/19
  £000  £000  £000

 Bluebay Asset Management 50,000 43,869 27,730
 LLP (private debt)

 Chandos Fund (private equity) 3,000 36 -

 CBRE (property) 41,000 4,381 1,531

 Golub Capital Partners 40,000 28,396 19,625
 International (private debt)

 Brunel Pension Partnership  86,000 - 83,681
 (private equity & infrastructure))

  220,000 76,682 132,567

  2017/18 2018/19
  £000 £000

Short-term benefits 80 72
Post-employment 44 36
benefits
Other long-term - -
benefits
Termination benefits - -
Share-based - -
payments

  124 108

In addition to their role as Pension Committee 
member and Cotswold District Council councillor, 
Cllr. R Theodoulou sits on the Committee of Brunel 
Pension Partnership Ltd as Chair of the Brunel 
Oversight Board (BOB).

N9a  Key Management Personnel

The key management personnel of the Fund are 
the Section 151 Officer and the Head of Pensions 
position. The Section 151 Officer’s costs have not 
been included as the Pension Fund is recharged on 
a time spent basis and her salary is accounted for in 
Gloucestershire County Council’s accounts. 

Total remuneration payable to the Joint Heads of 
Pensions position, 0.9 full time equivalent (F.T.E.), (1.3 
F.T.E. 2016/17) is set out below.

N10  Contingent Liabilities and 
Contractual Commitments

The Fund has investment commitments with four 
managers where the investment manager has not 

yet drawn down all monies due. These commitments 
relate to investments in private debt, property 
funds and private equity and infrastructure and are 
requested as and when the respective investment 
manager identifies an investment opportunity. The 
amounts requested can therefore be irregular in 
both size and timing. It is estimated that the private 
debt funds will have drawn down 80-85% of their 
total commitment by the end of 2020 and may then 
start returning funds as investments mature rather 
than draw down the entire commitment.  Brunel has 
indicated that funds may be fully drawn down by 
2023 and CBRE anticipates that funds may be fully 
drawn down in the next financial year.  

The table below shows the Fund’s total commitment 
and the remaining liability, following drawdowns, at 
the year end. 

Fourteen admitted body employers in the Pension 
Fund hold insurance bonds to guard against the 
possibility of being unable to meet their pension  
obligations. These bonds are drawn in favour of the 
Pension Fund and payment will only be triggered in 
the eventof employer default.  No such defaults have 
occurred in 2018/19 (2017/18 nil).

N11  Contingent Assets

Due to retrospective adjustments to how pension 
payments are made for Registration staff working 
additional hours or on a fee basis, a contingent asset 
of £38,504 (16/17 £38,504) has been recorded for 
possible additional contributions from ex members of 
staff, during 2018/2019 and future years.

Page 122



77  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

  2017/18 2017/18 2018/19 
Pooled investment vehicles £000  £000  £000
    re-stated

UK equity unit trust - - 365,801
UK equity unitised insurance policy - - 13,245
Overseas equity unitised insurance policy 600,996 600,996 681,244
Global equity unitised insurance policy 294,827 294,827 303,244
Global multi asset unitised insurance policy 77,877 77,877 78,167
UK property managed fund* 3,710 7,289 8,174
Overseas fixed interest managed fund 184,099 184,099 183,405
UK property limited liability partnership* 1,809 475 476
UK private debt limited liability partnership 6,166 6,166 22,252
Overseas private debt limited liability partnership 10,693 10,693 20,145
UK Infrastructure limited liability partnership - - 1,797
Overseas fixed interest limited liability partnerships  5,248 5,248 -
Overseas private equity limited liability partnership - - 480

 1,185,425 1,187,670 1,678,430

Property unit trusts

UK property unit trust* 30,632 34,591 38,196
Overseas property unit trust* 16,134 9,930 13,608

 46,766 44,521 51,804

Total 1,232,191 1,232,191 1,730,234

N13  Stocklending

The Pension Funds’ custodian has been authorised 
to release stock to third parties under a stock lending 
arrangement. At 31st March 2019 the value of stock 
out on loan was £1.6m which was in UK Government 
stock, (In 17/18 the value out on loan was £41.6m of 
which £32.9m was in UK Equities and £8.7m in UK 
Government stock).    Collateral of £1.7m (£44.2m) 
equal to 106.4% (106.2%) of stock out on loan was 
held in the form of UK equities.

The Pension Fund stipulates those institutions that 
are allowed to borrow its stock and the type of 
collateral that is acceptable.

These investments continue to be recognised in the 
Fund’s financial statements. During the period the 
stock is on loan, the voting rights of the loaned stocks 
pass to the borrower.

*Investments managed by one of the property managers have been re-assessed and their asset classification changed.  The 2017/18 
comparable figures have been amended to reflect that change.  See Note N34 (a) for more details.

N12  Unquoted Holdings

The following holdings are unquoted:

Page 123



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  78

   2017/18 2017/18 2018/19
    re-stated
Financial assets £000 £000 £000 Note

Bonds   
UK  - Public Sector                           – Quoted 137,004 137,004 46,521 
 - Corporate                                         – Quoted 121,319 121,319 256,694
Overseas  - Public Sector                           – Quoted 23,887 23,887 1,741 
 - Corporate                                         – Quoted 6,645 6,645 18,971
    288,855 288,855 323,927 

Equities   
UK                                                     – Quoted 380,754 380,754 -

Pooled investment vehicles   
Unit Trusts  
UK           - Equities                             – Unquoted - - 365,801
Overseas  - Equities                            – Quoted 142,866 142,866 142,740
Unitised Insurance Policies  
UK  - Equities                                       – Unquoted - - 13,245
Overseas  - Equities                                       – Unquoted* 600,996 600,996 681,244
Global  - Equities         – Unquoted* 294,827 294,827 303,244 
Global  - Multi Asset    – Unquoted* 77,877 77,877 78,167 
Other Managed Funds   
O.E.I.C.’s  - Overseas Fixed Interest  – Quoted* 1,192 1,192 8,388
 - Overseas Fixed Interest  – Unquoted* 184,099 184,099 183,405  
 - UK - Property               – Unquoted 3,710 7,289 8,174 N34a
Limited Liability Partnerships  
   - UK – Private Debt                                 – Unquoted 6,166 6,166 22,252  N10
    - Overseas – Private Debt                      – Unquoted 10,693 10,693 20,145  N10
                - UK - Property                    – Unquoted 1,809 475  476  N34a
               - UK - Infrastructure                    – Unquoted - - 1,797
 - Overseas - Private Equity                    – Unquoted* - - 480
                 - Overseas Fixed Interest   – Unquoted 5,248 5,248 - 
    1,329,483 1,331,728  1,829,558  

Property Unit Trusts   
UK                       – Quoted 131,617 131,617 140,674
                      – Unquoted 30,632 34,591 38,196 N34a
Overseas                        – Unquoted 16,134 9,930 13,608 N34a
    178,383 176,138  192,478  N10

Derivative Contracts   
Futures  - UK   299 299 -
 - Overseas  - - 773
Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts  411 411 524 
    710 710 1,297 N17 

Other Investments   
Venture Capital/Private Equity - UK  5,624 5,624 4,972 N10

Cash (Managers)   
Cash instruments - UK  20,149 20,149 7,043 
  - Overseas  1,915 1,915 2,142 
Cash Deposits    - UK  716 716 1,334 
  - Overseas  338 338 1,234 
    23,118 23,118 11,753 

Other Investment Balances   
Debtors   
Outstanding settlement of investment transactions  502 502 - 
Accrued dividend income and tax reclaims due on dividend income 5,369 5,369 4,450 
    5,871 5,871 4,450

Long Term Financial Assets   
Brunel Pension Partnership  840 840 395 N9

Total Financial Assets  2,213,638 2,213,638 2,368,830

N14  Financial Asset Analysis

Page 124



79  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

   2017/18 2017/18 2018/19
    re-stated
Financial Liabilities £000 £000 £000 Note

Derivative Contracts  
Futures  – UK  - - -70
Futures  – Overseas -96 -96 -1,245
Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts -224 -224 -114
   -320 -320 -1,429 N17 

Other Investment Balances  
Creditors  

Outstanding settlement of investment transactions -552 -552 -1,412

Total Financial Liabilities -872 -872 -2,841

Long Term Assets  
Contributions due from employers 282 282 440
Money due re. transfer of staff to another pension scheme 1,236 1,236 618 

   1,518 1,518 1,058 N24

Current Assets  
Contributions due from employers 4,121 4,121 4,708
Other current assets (debtors) 539 539 410 
Money due re. transfer of staff to another pension scheme 618 618 618
Payments in advance 156 156 256 
Cash balances   21,748 21,748 8,006 N23 

   27,182 27,182 13,998 N24 

Current Liabilities  
Unpaid benefits  -16 -16 -26
Other liabilities (creditors) -2,009 -2,009 -2,301 
   -2,025 -2,025 -2,327 N25 

   2,239,441 2,239,441 2,378,718

* These overseas pooled funds may incorporate some UK assets.

  2017/18 2018/19 
  £000 £000

 Bonds 9,305 9,293
 Equities 14,038 9,957
 Pooled investment vehicles 6,920 9,658
 Interest on cash deposits  121 99
 Private equity* 393 -1,401
 Other income from stocklending,  79 78
 underwriting and class actions

  30,856 27,684
 Withholding tax -7 -3

  30,849 27,681

* During the year the Private Equity 
managers confirmed that historic cash 
distributions should have been treated 
as a return of capital rather than dividend 
income.  Therefore all income received 
since 2011 has been removed from 
dividends and has been used to reduce 
the book cost of the investments resulting 
in an increase in unrealised profit.

In November 2018 assets were transferred from the manager of the directly held UK equity portfolio to a pooled fund managed by the 
Brunel Pension Partnership (BPP).  The investment income arising from the underlying investments of this pooled fund is reinvested 
and reflected in the unit price rather than as income received.

N15  Investment Income

Investment income arises from the 
following investment categories: >

Page 125



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  80

AVC contributions of £647k were paid directly to Prudential during the year (£763k 
17/18) and included additional death in service premiums totalling £4k (£5k 17/18).  No 
contributions were paid to Phoenix Life.

Investments in derivatives are only made if they contribute to a reduction 
of risks and facilitate efficient portfolio management.  A derivative is 
a generic term for financial instruments used in the management of 
portfolios and is a financial contract between two parties, the value of 
which is determined by the underlying asset.  Derivatives include futures, 
forwards, swaps and options.

The fixed income portfolio uses futures for duration management 
purposes. Additionally, the investment strategy for this manager, for the 
majority of overseas currency exposures, is to be fully hedged back 
to Sterling which is achieved by the use of foreign exchange forward 
contracts.  To mitigate large unrealised profits or losses accruing with any 
one counterparty the contracts are split between a handful of banks and 
the contracts rolled quarterly in order that gains or losses are realised at 
regular intervals.  

The investment strategy of the property manager with overseas holdings 
is to place forward currency trades with the intention of hedging foreign 
currency exposure to ensure the portfolio is not impacted by currency 
fluctuations.  The hedges are achieved by placing foreign exchange 
forward contracts with the Fund’s custodian.

N17  Derivatives

Value of separately invested additional voluntary contributions 

  31st March 2018 31st March 2019 
  £000 £000

The Prudential Assurance 7,005  6,880 
Company Limited

Phoenix Life Limited 20  18

         7,025  6,898 

N16  Separately Invested Additional Voluntary 
Contributions (AVC’s)

Gloucestershire County Council LGPS provides additional voluntary 
contribution (AVC) schemes for its members, with The Prudential 
Assurance Company Limited and Phoenix Life Limited. The AVC’s are 
invested separately in funds managed by them.  These are in the form 
of with-profits, unit-linked and deposit accounts and secure additional 
benefits on a money purchase basis for those members electing to 
pay additional voluntary contributions.  Members participating in this 
arrangement receive an annual statement confirming amounts held 
to their account and movements in the year. These amounts are not 
included in the Pension Fund Accounts in accordance with Regulation 
4 (1) (b) of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and 
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 (as amended).

Page 126



81  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

    2017/18  2018/19  2017/18 2018/19 
   Contract Notional Notional Expiration Market Market 
   type* Value Value  Value Value

    £000 £000  £000 £000

 Investment Assets  
 Futures      
 UK - Fixed Interest       
      UK Long Gilt Future   ET  15,967 - Less than 3 months 299 - 
 UK Futures  15,967    -  299 -

 Overseas - Fixed Interest       
      US Treasury Long Bond Future   ET  - 1,723 Less than 3 months - 47 
      US 5yr Note Future ET -    68,801 Less than 3 months - 726

    - 70,524  - 773

 Total Futures  15,967 70,524  299 773

 Forward foreign exchange contracts  OTC  21,237 42,329 Less than 3 months 411 524

 Total Derivative Assets  37,204  112,853  710 1,297

 Investment Liabilities       

 Futures      
 UK - Fixed Interest       
      UK Long Gilt Future   ET  - -4,528 Less than 3 months - -70 
 UK Futures  -    -4,528  - -70

 Overseas - Fixed Interest
         German Euro Bund Future ET -1,677 -36,838 Less than 3 months -25 -795 
         US 10yr Note Future ET - -13,155 Less than 3 months - -223
         US Treasury Bond Future ET -2,288 -6,446 Less than 3 months -71 -227

 Overseas Futures  -3,965 -56,439  -96 -1,245

 Total Futures  -3,965 -60,967  -96 -1,315

 Forward foreign exchange contracts  OTC  26,452  15,407 Less than 3 months -224 -114

 Total Derivative Liabilities  22,487 -45,560  -320 -1,429

 Net Futures     390 -132

Derivative Contract Analysis

* Contract types ET (exchange traded) OTC (over-the-counter)

Page 127



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  82

   Currency Local Currency Local Asset Liability 
  Settlement bought Value Sold Value Value Value

    000  000 £000 £000

 Up to six months GBP 20,419 EUR 23,158 435 
 Up to six months GBP 6,707 USD 8,728 23 
 Up to six months GBP 4,190 EUR 4,823 21 
 Up to six months GBP 5,375 USD 6,994 19 
 Up to six months GBP 3,127 USD 4,070 10 
 Up to three months USD 2,200 GBP 1,676 9 
 Up to three months USD 950 GBP 721 7 
 Up to six months GBP 114 NZD 218 - 
 Up to six months GBP 5,735 USD 7,573  -52
 Up to six months EUR 1,458 GBP 1,288  -30
 Up to six months USD 4,235 GBP 3,253  -9
 Up to six months GBP 1,333 AUD 2,465  -7
 Up to six months GBP 657 HKD 6,792  -6
 Up to six months GBP 440 JPY 63,944  -4
 Up to three months GBP 199 EUR 233  -2
 Up to three months GBP 1,147 USD 1,500  -2
 Up to three months GBP 191 EUR 222  -1
 Up to three months GBP 1,033 USD 1,350  -1
 Up to six months GBP 131 SGD 232  -

 Open forward currency contracts at 31st March 2019        524 -114

 Net forward currency contracts at 31st March 2019    410

 Prior year comparative      

 Open forward currency contracts at 31st March 2018   411 -224

 Net forward currency contracts at 31st March 2018     187

Open Forward Currency Contracts at 31st March 2019

A breakdown of the open forward foreign exchange contracts at 31st March 2019 is given below:-

Page 128



83  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

N18  Investments Exceeding 5% of Total Net Assets

At 31st March 2019 the Pension Fund held eight, (2017/18, five) investments that each exceeded 5% of the 
total value of the net assets of the scheme. These eight investments totalled £1,704,544k out of a total market 
value for the Fund of £2,378,718k.These are detailed as follows:

Investments exceeding 5%       2017/18   2018/19
of Total Net Assets £000   %  £000   %

BlackRock Global Equity Fund 600,996  26.8 476,518  20.3
Brunel ACS UK Equity Fund -  - 365,801  15.4
Legg Mason Global Funds - WA GMS 184,098  8.2 183,405  7.7
Legal & General Multi Factor North America Fund -  - 142,913  6.0
BlackRock Emerging Markets Index Fund 142,866  6.4 142,740  6.0
Hermes Property Unit Trust 131,617  5.9 140,674  5.9
Legal & General Developed World Equity -  - 127,496  5.3
Index Fund
Legal & General Developed World Equity -  - 124,997  5.2
Hedged Currency Index Fund
BlackRock Aquila Life MSCI Developed  187,939  8.4 -  - 
World (hedged) 

  1,247,516  55.7 1,704,544  71.8

The BlackRock Global and Aquila Life Funds are Unitised 
Insurance Policies investing in global equities and the developed 
world, excluding emerging markets, respectively.  Blackrock 
Emerging is a Unit Trust investing in emerging markets.

The Brunel ACS UK Equity Fund is a Unit Trust.

The Legg Mason Global Fund is an O.E.I.C. investing in overseas 
fixed interest.

Hermes Property Unit Trust is a Property Unit Trust.

The Legal & General Funds are passively managed Unitised 
Insurance Policies . 

N19  Agency Services

The Pension Fund pays discretionary pension awards 
to former employees on behalf of some Pension Fund 
employers. The amounts paid are not included within 
the Fund Account but are provided as a service and 
fully reclaimed from the employer bodies.  The sums 
are disclosed opposite.

N20  Contributions Breakdown 

The employers’ monthly contributions are based 
on a percentage of pensionable pay. Deficit funding 
payments are either based on a percentage of 
pensionable pay or paid as a lump sum. Both 
monthly contributions and deficit funding payments 
have been identified opposite. The deficit funding 
contributions relate to past service benefit accrual 
and are payable over an agreed recovery period, not 
exceeding 20 years.   

 2017/18 2018/19 
 £000 £000

Discretionary 1,083 1,100
Payments

Contributions 2017/18 2018/19 
Breakdown £000 £000

From Employers: 
Normal 52,623 54,499 
Augmentation - - 
Deficit Funding* 58,112 22,349
Section 75 debt -150 13,447
(cessation of employer) 
Other 2,226 2,721 
 
 112,820 93,016 

From Members:   
Normal 17,400 17,869 
Additional Voluntary 395 245 
 
 17,795 18,114

* During 2017/18 four employers paid lump sum deficit 
contributions totalling £27.223m to the Fund in Year 1 of the 
valuation period relating to 2018/19 and 2019/20. These early 
payments benefitted from earning greater investment returns in 
the short term resulting in reduced contribution payments owing 
in future years.

Page 129



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  84

Employers who left the scheme 
during 2018/19 paid outstanding 
deficit payments, where necessary, 
and this was included under 
Section 75 debt.

Other contributions are those 
contributions paid by an employer 
to compensate the Pension Fund 
for early retirement costs, excess 
ill health retirement costs or to 
improve their funding levels.   

These payments follow the 
principles outlined in the Funding 
Strategy Statement.  Early 
retirement costs are usually paid in 
one lump sum or were historically 
paid over several years dependent 
on the status of the employer.  
When a payment is spread there 
is an extra cost to reflect the 
delay in total payment.  There are 
currently no early retirement costs 
being spread and at 31st March 
2019 there were no accrued 
early retirements due to the Fund 
(2017/18 £0.1m).   

Excess ill health retirement costs 
are invoiced for as they arise and 
funding level payments are made 
by an employer voluntarily.  At 31st 
March 2019 £505k (2017/18 £0) 
was due to the Pension fund for ill 
health retirement costs which have 
been accrued; £235k of which 
(2017/18 £0) is being spread over 
two years. 

It had been agreed previously 
that an employer who left the 
Fund in 2008/09 could spread 
the payment of their deficit over a 
number of years.  The total amount 
was credited to the Pension Fund 
and an accrual made for the 
outstanding amount. The accrual 
is rolled forward each year and 
adjusted for deficit payments 
made.

N21  Custody of 
Investments

The accounts for the year ended 
31st March 2019 use the valuations 
for the Fund’s assets provided by 

our custodian, State Street Global 
Services. This reflects the position 
of the custodian who is ultimately 
the master book of record. Fund 
Managers must make sure that 
their records agree with those 
kept by the custodian, although 
the investment values may be 
obtained from different sources. 
Using the custodian’s valuations 
ensures that the various portfolios 
are priced consistently, so that 
the same stocks, in different 
portfolios, are valued on the same 
basis. Investments held in custody 
by State Street Global Services 
on behalf of the Pension Fund, 
are ring‐fenced from the assets 
of the Bank and segregated 
within its books as belonging to 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund.

N22  Management  
Expenses

Pension Fund expenses have been 
accounted for in accordance with 
the CIPFA guidance Accounting 
for Local Government Pension 
Scheme Management Costs. 

Investment management expenses 
are generally set on a fixed fee 
basis, calculated using the market 
value of each portfolio. The cost of 
investment management expenses 
varies with the value of assets 
under management. 

The increased investment 
management expenses during 
the period relates in part to the 
operational activities of the Brunel 
Pension Partnership (BPP) asset 

pool of which Gloucestershire 
pension fund is an equal 
shareholder. The remaining 
increase in expenses is as a result 
of the increase in value of assets 
under management during the 
period.   

The increase in Administration 
Expenses is largely due to 
an increase in staff costs and 
overhead recharges.  The increase 
in Oversight & Governance is 
mainly due to an increase in 
actuarial fees in the pre triennial 
valuation period and an increase in 
performance monitoring costs.

Within Oversight and Governance 
costs there were actuarial 
expenses of £126,358 (£130,410 
2017/18) generated by specific 
employer requirements, these 
were then charged back to the 
employer. The corresponding 
income is included within 
Recoveries for Services Provided 
in the Fund Account.  

In addition to the recharged 
actuarial expenses, recoveries for 
services provided includes £5,328 
for pension reimbursements.

The management fees disclosed 
overleaf include all investment 
management fees directly incurred 
by the Fund. In addition to these 
costs, indirect costs are incurred 
through the bid-offer spread on 
investments sales and purchases.  
These are reflected in the cost 
of investment acquisitions and in 
the proceeds from the sales of 
investments.  

 Management expenses 2017/18 2018/19
  £000 £000
 
 Investment management expenses *   5,783 6,492
 Administration expenses 1,217 1,397 
 Oversight & governance 418 553

          7,418 8,442

* Please see a more detailed breakdown of the investment management expenses overleaf.

Page 130



85  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

N24  Current & Long Term Assets

Current Assets  2017/18 20178/19
  £000 £000 

Contributions due - Employees   743 816
Contributions due - Employers   3,378 3,892
Sundry debtors  539 410
Payment in advance  156 256
Money due re. transfer of staff to another pension scheme 618 618

  5,434 5,992

Cash balances   21,748 8,006

  27,182 13,998

Long term assets   
Long term debtors  1,518 1,058

Audit fees

Audit fees of £18,325, (£23,799 in 
2017/18) were incurred in relation 
to Grant Thornton UK LLP, the 
auditors appointed by the Public 
Sector Audit Appointments Ltd. for 
external audit services.

Transaction costs

When an asset is purchased or 
sold a cost is incurred for broker 
commission and stamp duty, when 
appropriate, based on a small 
percentage of the value of assets 
being transacted.  

Transaction costs of £427,453 
(£656,256 2017/18) were 
included within the purchase cost/
proceeds of investment at the 
point of purchase or sale but for 
transparency purposes have been 
added to Investment Management 
Expenses with a corresponding 
offset against Profit on Disposal of 
Investments as recommended by 
CIPFA.

Transaction costs decreased 
in 2018/19 largely due to a 
re-organisation of investment 
managers which resulted in a large 
number of directly held equities 
being sold part way through the 
year and the money used to 
purchase pooled funds.  

N23  Cash

From the 1st April 2010 the 
Pension Fund has had its own 
bank account. At 31st March 2019 
cash of £8.0m (£21.7m in 2017/18) 
was invested through the County 
Council’s short-term investment 
procedures. During the year the 
average investment balance 
was £12.3m (£11.4m 2017/18) 
earning interest of £65.6k (£25.5k 
2017/18).

 Investment management 2017/18 2018/19
 expenses £000 £000
 
 Fund value based management fees 
  - invoiced 3,723 4,798
  - deducted from investment 863 544

           486 5,342
 Performance fee
  - invoiced - -
  - deducted from investment 432 544

           432 544

   5,018 5,886
 Transaction costs 
  - equities 649 233
  - derivatives 2 27
  - bonds - 1
  - pooled funds 5 167

   656 428

 Custody costs 101 176
 Tax and legal costs 8 2

          5,783 6,492

Page 131



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  86

One central government body has 
transferred to another pension fund 
and the resulting bulk transfer value 
due is being paid over a number 
of years. The total amount was 
credited to the Pension Fund and 
an accrual has been made for the 
outstanding amount. The accrual 
will be rolled forward each year and 

adjusted for payments made.  A 
payment of £618,000 is due to the 
Pension Fund within the next twelve 
months.  

It had been agreed that an 
employer who left the Fund could 
spread the payment of their deficit 
over a number of years. The 

total amount was credited to the 
Pension Fund and an accrual made 
for the outstanding amount. The 
accrual is rolled forward each year 
and adjusted for deficit payments 
made. A payment of £7,200 is due 
to the Pension Fund within the next 
twelve months.

N25  Current Liabilities

  2017/18 2018/19
  £000 £000 

Benefits payable  -16 -26
Sundry creditors  -2,009 -2,301
  -2,025 -2,327

N26  Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits

In addition to the triennial funding valuation (See Note N6), the fund’s Actuary also undertakes a valuation 
of the Pension Fund liabilities on an IAS19 basis every year. These liabilities have been projected using a roll 
forward approximation from the last triennial valuation as at 31st March 2016. 

Balance Sheet

Net Assets Available for Benefits

Year ended 31st March 2018 31st March 2019 
  £m £m

Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits 3,082 3,472

Year ended 31st March 2018 31st March 2019 
  £m £m

Net Assets 2,239 2,379

The assumptions used are suitable for IAS19 
purposes as required by the Code of Practice; these 
differ from those used at the 31st March 2018. 
It is estimated that the impact of the change of 
assumptions to 31st March 2019 is to increase the 
actuarial present value by £261m (17/18 decrease 
of £60m). There is no impact from any change in the 
demographic and longevity assumptions because 
they are identical to the previous period.

Please note that the above present value of promised 
retirement benefits figure has been adjusted to 
include an approximate allowance for the McCloud 
ruling, i.e. an estimate of the potential increase in 
past service benefit arising from this case affecting 
public sector pension schemes. The allowance was 
calculated as 0.2% of total liability which is equal to 
approximately £7m.

Page 132



87  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

  Males Females 
  Years Years

Current Pensioners 22.4 24.6
Future Pensioners** 24.0 26.4

Longevity assumptions as at 31st March 2019

Year ended 31st March 2018 31st March 2019 
  % pa % pa

Inflation/Pension Increase Rate 2.4 2.5
Salary Increase Rate 2.7 2.8 
Discount Rate 2.7 2.4

Significant Actuarial Assumptions Used 
Financial assumption:

Longevity assumption:

The life expectancy assumption is based on the Fund’s VitaCurves with improvements in line with the CMI 
2013 model, assuming the current rate of improvements has reached a peak and will converge to a long 
term rate of 1.25% p.a. Based on these assumptions the average future life expectancies at age 65 are 
summarised below: 

** Future pensioners are assumed to be aged 45 at the most recent formal valuation as at 31st March 2016.

  Males Females 
  Years Years

Current Pensioners 22.4 24.6
Future Pensioners** 24.0 26.4

Longevity assumptions as at 31st March 2018

Commutation assumption:

An allowance is included for future 
retirements to elect to take 35% 
(35% 2017/18) of the maximum 
additional tax free cash up to 
HMRC limits for pre-April 2008 
service and 68% (68% 2017/18) 
of the maximum tax free cash for 
post-April 2008 service.

Sensitivity Analysis:

CIPFA guidance requires the 
disclosure of the sensitivity 
of the results to the methods 
and assumptions used. The 
sensitivities regarding the principal 
assumptions used to measure the 
liabilities are set out opposite:

The principal demographic 
assumption is the longevity 
assumption. For sensitivity 
purposes, the Actuary estimates 
that a 1 year increase in life 
expectancy would approximately 
increase the liabilities by around 
3-5%. 

 Sensitivity to the Approximate Approximate
 assumptions for the year % increase monetary
 ended 31st March 2019 to liabilities amount

  % £m

 0.5% p.a. increase in the 8 290
 Pension Increase Rate 

 0.5% p.a. increase in the 1  50
 Salary Increase Rate

 0.5% p.a. decrease in the 10  361
 Real Discount Rate

 Sensitivity to the Approximate Approximate
 assumptions for the year % increase monetary
 ended 31st March 2018 to liabilities amount

  % £m

 0.5% p.a. increase in the 8 250
 Pension Increase Rate 

 0.5% p.a. increase in the 1  44
 Salary Increase Rate

 0.5% p.a. decrease in the 10  311
 Real Discount Rate

Page 133



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  88

N27  Nature and Extent 
of Risks Arising from 
Financial Instruments

The Gloucestershire Local 
Government Pension Fund’s (“The 
Fund”) objective is to generate 
positive investment returns for a 
given level of risk. Therefore the 
Fund holds financial instruments 
such as securities (equities, 
bonds), collective investment 
schemes (or pooled funds) and 
cash and cash equivalents. In 
addition debtors and creditors 
arise as a result of its operations.  
The value of these financial 
instruments in the financial 
statements approximates to their 
fair value.

The Fund’s primary long-term risk 
is that the Fund’s assets will fall 
short of its liabilities i.e. promised 
benefits payable to members. 
Therefore the aim of investment 
risk management is to minimise 
the risk of an overall reduction 
on the value of the Fund and to 
maximise the opportunity for gains 
across the whole fund portfolio.  
The Fund achieves this through 
asset diversification to reduce 
exposure to market risk (price risk, 
currency risk and interest rate risk) 
and credit risk to an acceptable 
level. In addition, the Fund 
manages its liquidity risk to ensure 
there is sufficient liquidity to meet 
the Fund’s forecast cash flows.

The Fund’s investments are 
managed on behalf of the Fund 
by the appointed Investment 
Managers. Each Investment 
Manager is required to invest 
the assets managed by them in 
accordance with the terms of 
their investment guidelines or 
pooled fund prospectus. The 
Gloucestershire Local Government 
Pension Fund Committee 
(“Committee”) has determined 
that the investment management 
structure is appropriate and is in 
accordance with its investment 
strategy. The Committee regularly 
monitors each investment 
manager and considers and 

takes advice on the nature of the 
investments made and associated 
risks.

The Fund’s investments are held 
by State Street Global Services, 
who act as custodian on behalf of 
the Fund.

Because the Fund adopts a long 
term investment strategy, the high 
level risks described below will 
not alter significantly during the 
year unless there are significant 
strategic or tactical changes in the 
portfolio.  

Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk 
that the fair value of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices, interest 
rates or currencies. The Fund is 
exposed through its investments 
in equities, bonds and investment 
funds, to all these market risks.  
The aim of the investment strategy 
is to manage and control market 
risk within acceptable parameters, 
while optimising the return from 
the investment portfolio.

In general, excessive volatility in 
market risk is managed through 
the diversification of the portfolio 
in terms of geographical, industry 
sectors, individual securities, 
investment mandate guidelines 
and Investment Managers. The risk 
arising from exposure to specific 
markets is limited by the strategic 
asset allocation, which is regularly 
monitored by the Committee as 
well as appropriate monitoring of 
market conditions and benchmark 
analysis.

Other Price Risk

Other price risk represents the 
risk that the value of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate as a 
result of changes in market 
prices, caused by factors other 
than interest rate or foreign 
currency movements, whether 
those changes are caused by 
factors specific to the individual 
instrument, its issuer or factors 

affecting all such instruments in the 
market.

Market price risk arises from 
uncertainty about the future value 
of the financial instruments that 
the Fund holds. All securities 
investments present a risk of loss 
of capital. Except for shares sold 
short, the maximum risk resulting 
from financial instruments is 
determined by the fair value of 
the financial instruments. Possible 
losses from shares sold short 
are unlimited. The Investment 
Managers mitigate this price risk 
through diversification in line with 
their own investment strategies 
and mandate guidelines.

Other Price Risk - 
Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity of the Fund’s 
investments to changes in market 
prices has been analysed using 
the volatility of return experienced 
by each investment portfolio during 
the year to 31st March 2019. The 
volatility data is broadly consistent 
with a one-standard deviation 
movement in the value of the 
assets. The analysis assumes that 
all other variables remain constant.  

Movements in market prices would 
have increased or decreased the 
assets, as held by the Fund’s 
custodian, at 31st March 2019 by 
the amounts shown overleaf:

Page 134



89  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

As at 31st March 2019 Value Volatility Value on Value on
  of return Increase Decrease  
 £000  % £000 £000

UK Bonds 303,215 10.50 335,053 271,377

UK Equities 379,046 16.60 441,968 316,124

Overseas Bonds 212,505 10.50 234,818 190,192

Multi National Equities 1,205,394 16.60 1,405,489 1,005,299

UK Property 187,521 14.30 214,337 160,705

Overseas Property  13,608  14.30 15,554 11,662

Venture Capital/Private Equity/Infrastructure 7,249 28.30 9,300 5,198

Private Debt 42,397 5.90 44,898 39,896

  2,350,935   2,701,417  2,000,453  

Total Gloucestershire Fund 2,350,935 10.80 2,604,836 2,097,034

Interest Rate Risk

The Fund invests in financial assets 
for the primary purpose of obtaining 
a return on investments.  These 
investments are subject to interest 
rate risk, which represents the risk 
that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market 
interest rates. This risk will affect 
the value of both fixed interest and 

index linked securities. The amount 
of income receivable from cash 
balances will also be affected by 
fluctuations in interest rates.

The Funds exposure to interest rate 
movements, as a result of the bond 
portfolio, as at the 31st March 
2019 is set out opposite along with 
the interest rate sensitivity analysis 
data.

Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity 
Analysis

The Council recognises that 
interest rates can vary and can 
affect both income to the Fund 
and the value of the net assets 
available to pay benefits. Over the 
last five years long term yields, as 
measured by the yield on the FTSE 
Over 15 Year Gilt Index as at the 
end of March 2019, have averaged 

As at 31st March 2018 Value Volatility Value on Value on
re-stated*  of return Increase Decrease  
 £000  % £000 £000

UK Bonds 172,032 10.20 189,579 154,485

UK Index Linked Gilts 86,291 7.20 92,504 80,078

UK Equities 380,754 16.80 444,721 316,788

Overseas Bonds 221,071 10.20 243,620 198,521

Multi National Equities 1,116,566 17.50 1,311,965 921,167

UK Property 173,972 14.30 198,850 149,094

Overseas Property 9,930 14.30 11,351 8,510

Venture Capital/Private Equity 5,624 28.30 7,216 4,032

Private Debt 16,859 5.10 17,718 15,999

  2,183,099  2,517,524 1,848,674 

Total Gloucestershire Fund 2,183,099 11.30% 2,429,789 1,936,409

* Please see Note 34(a) for details

Page 135



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  90

 Assets exposed to Carrying amount  as            Change in the year in the net
 interest rate risk      at 31st March 2018           assets available to pay benefits

    +100BPS  -100BPS
    (1% increase)  (1% decrease)

  £000  £000   £000

 Cash held directly by the Fund 21,748    -    -

 Cash and cash equivalents held  23,118    -     - 
 on behalf of the Fund

 Bond Portfolio - Fixed Interest 480,716 -52,509  52,509
 Securities excluding cash

  525,582 -52,509  52,509

2.11% (2017/18 2.41%) and 
moved between a high of 3.45% 
(3.58% 2017/18) and a low of 
1.13% (1.17% 2017/18). As at the 
end of March 2019 this yield was 
1.48% (1.63% 2017/18). Given 
the high degree of uncertainty over 

the future economic situation, the 
Fund’s bond manager has advised 
that it is entirely possible that 
yields could fluctuate anywhere 
within this historic range in the next 
year, or in extreme circumstances 
outside these boundaries.

The analysis that follows assumes 
that all other variables, in particular, 
exchange rates, remain constant 
and shows the effect in the year 
on the values of a +/- 100bps (1%) 
change in interest rates on a time-
weighted basis.

 Assets exposed to Carrying amount  as            Change in the year in the net
 interest rate risk      at 31st March 2019           assets available to pay benefits

    +100BPS  -100BPS
    (1% increase)  (1% decrease)

  £000  £000   £000

 Cash held directly by the Fund 8,006    -    -

 Cash and cash equivalents held  11,753   -     - 
 on behalf of the Fund

 Bond Portfolio - Fixed Interest 520,040 -33,024  33,024
 Securities excluding cash

   539,799 -33,024  33,024

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk represents 
the risk that the fair value of 
future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in foreign exchange 
rates. The Fund is exposed to 
currency risk on both monetary 
and non-monetary investments 
denominated in a currency other 
than Sterling. For a Sterling based 
investor, when Sterling weakens, 
the Sterling value of foreign 
currency denominated investments 
rises. As Sterling strengthens, the 

Sterling value of foreign currency 
denominated investment falls. We 
permit the fixed income portfolio 
manager, global property manager, 
developed world passive manager 
and the global multi asset manager 
to hedge currency exposures back 
to Sterling.

Currency Risk Sensitivity 
Analysis

Following analysis of historical 
data, by the Fund’s performance 
measurement service, the likely 
volatility associated with foreign 

exchange rate movements 
is considered to be 8.8% (as 
measured by one standard 
deviation).   

This analysis assumes that all other 
variables, in particular interest 
rates, remain constant.

A 8.8% strengthening/weakening 
of the Pound against the various 
countries in which the Fund holds 
investments would increase/
decrease the net assets available 
to pay benefits as follows overleaf:

Page 136



91  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

2018/19 Asset value as                Change to net assets 
Curency exposure - at 31st March 2019          available to pay benefits
Asset Type £000 £000  £000

  +8.8%  -8.8%

UK Equities                    -              -                   -
Global  Equities 815,919 887,720 744,118
Emerging Market Equities 142,739 155,300 130,178
Overseas Private Debt 20,145 21,918 18,372
Venture Capital /Private Equity/ Infrastructure 2,277 2,477 2,077
Cash/Cash equivalents* 3,375 3,672 3,078

                        984,455  1,071,087   897,823   

2017/18 Asset value as               Change to net assets 
Currency exposure - at 31st March 2018         available to pay benefits
Asset Type £000 £000  £000
  +9.1%  -9.1%

UK Equities 1,033 1,124 942
Global  Equities 732,208 796,642 667,774
Emerging Market Equities 96,495 104,987 88,003
Overseas Private Debt 10,693 11,634 9,752
Venture Capital /Private Equity/ Infrastructure          -            -                   -
Cash/Cash equivalents* 2,011 2,194 1,828

                       842,440  916,581  768,299 

Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the risk that 
the counterparty to a transaction 
or financial instrument will fail 
to discharge an obligation and 
cause the Fund to incur a financial 
loss. This is often referred to as 
counterparty risk.  

In essence the Fund’s entire 
investment portfolio is exposed 
to some form of credit risk, with 
exception of the derivatives 
positions, where the risk equates 
to the net market value of a 
positive derivative position.  
However, the careful selection 
and monitoring of counterparties 
including brokers, custodian and 
investment managers minimises 
any credit risk that may occur 
through the failure to settle 
transactions in a timely manner.  
The Fund’s contractual exposure to 
credit risk is represented by the net 

payment or receipt that remains 
outstanding, and the cost of 
replacing the derivative position in 
the event of a counterparty default.  
The residual risk is minimal due 
to the various insurance policies 
held by the exchanges to cover 
defaulting counterparties.

Bankruptcy or insolvency of the 
custodian may affect the Fund’s 
access to its assets. However, 
all assets held by the custodian 
are ring-fenced as “client assets” 
and therefore cannot be claimed 
by creditors of the custodian.  
The Fund manages its risk by 
monitoring the credit quality and 
financial position of the custodian.

Credit risk on over the counter 
derivative contracts is minimised 
as counterparties are recognised 
financial intermediaries with 
acceptable credit ratings determined 
by a recognised rating agency.

The Fund’s bond portfolios have 
significant credit risk through its 
underlying investments. This risk 
is managed through diversification 
across sovereign and corporate 
entities, credit quality and maturity 
of bonds. The market prices of 
bonds incorporate an assessment 
of credit quality in their valuation 
which reflects the probability 
of default (the yield of a bond 
will include a premium that will 
compensate for the risk of default).

The Council believes it has 
managed its exposure to credit risk 
within an acceptable level and its 
default experience over the last five 
financial years is not significantly 
out of line with the industry.  

Another source of credit risk is 
the cash balances held to meet 
operational requirements or by 
the managers at their discretion.  
Internally held cash is managed on 

* Includes all cash instrument balances with currency exposure which were not included in prior years. 
The impact of this inclusion had no bearing on the overall percentage change reported in 2017/18.

Page 137



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  92

the Fund’s behalf by the Council’s 
Treasury Management Team 
in line with the Fund’s Treasury 
Management Policy which sets out 
the permitted counterparties and 
limits.  The Fund invests surplus 
cash held with the custodian in 
diversified money market funds.

Through its securities lending 
activities, the Fund is exposed 
to the counterparty risk of the 
collateral provided by borrowers 

against the securities lent.  This 
risk is managed by restricting 
the collateral permitted to high 
grade sovereign debt, AAA 
rated fixed interest stock issued 
by Supranational bodies and a 
restrictive list of equities indices.  
Cash collateral is not permitted.

Foreign exchange contracts are 
subject to credit risk in relation to 
the counterparties of the contracts 
which are primarily banks.  The 

maximum credit exposure on 
foreign currency contracts is any 
net profit on forward contracts, 
should the counterparty fail to 
meet its obligations to the Fund 
when it falls due.

The credit risk within the bond 
portfolios can be analysed using 
standard industry credit ratings 
and the analysis as at 31st March 
2019 is set out below.  

Credit Analysis AAA AA A BBB BB B CCC
31st March 2019 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

UK Gilts - 46,945 - - - - -

UK Index Linked - - - - - - -

Overseas Govt Bonds 933 - - - - - -

Overseas Inflation-linked - - - - - - -

Corporate Bonds 2,988 16,689 136,721 80,529 153 - -

High Yield - - - - 5,063 3,559 150

Emerging Markets                  - - 1,484 - 1,228 - -

Mortgage Backed Securities - 4,724 7,430 22,755 378 - -

Supra/Sov/Local Govts - - - - - - -

Cash/Cash Equivalents/       
Currency Forwards 8,101 - 595 2,611 - - -

 12,022 68,358 146,230 105,895 6,822 3,559 150

% of Fixed Interest Portfolio 3.5 19.9 42.5 30.8 2.0 1.0 0.04

Credit Analysis AAA AA A BBB BB B Unrated
31st March 2018 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

UK Gilts - 51,051 - - - - -

UK Index Linked - 86,526 - - - - -

Overseas Govt Bonds 14,338 - - - - - -

Overseas Inflation-linked 9,718 - - - - - -

Corporate Bonds                  1,802 14,035 49,918 38,933 - - -

High Yield - - - - 8,979 - -

Emerging Markets                  - - 1,457 - 940 - -

Mortgage Backed Securities - 2,058 3,503 10,676 2,639 - -

Supra/Sov/Local Govts - - - - - - -

Cash/Cash Equivalents/       
Currency Forwards 10,411 - 1,313 - - - -

 36,269 153,670 56,191 49,609 12,558 - -

% of Fixed Interest Portfolio 11.8 49.8 18.2 16.1 4.1 - -

Page 138



93  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Treasury Management Year End Cash Balances

The management of Pension Fund cash balances not held by the Custodian is delegated to Gloucestershire 
County Council’s Treasury Management team to manage in accordance with their Treasury Management 
Strategy, which reflects the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Public Services. Pension 
Fund cash is invested separately from Gloucestershire County Council monies.

The Fund’s cash holding under its treasury management arrangements at 31st March 2019 is shown below:

  Balances as at   Balances as at
                                  31st March 2018   31st March 2019
Account Name Rating* £000 Rating* £000

Aberdeen Standard Liquidity Fund** AAAm 6,191 AAAm 757

Federated Short Term Sterling  AAAm 7,376 AAAm 6,209
Prime Fund

HSBC Instant Access A1+/AA- 392 AA- 861

HSBC Current Account A1+/AA- 240 AA- 179

Goldman Sachs AAAm 7,549 AAAm -

Total   21,748  8,006

* Ratings quoted are all Standard and Poors as at 31st March 2019 and 2018.
**Change following merger of Standard Life Plc. and Aberdeen Asset Management Plc.

Credit risk may also occur if an 
employing body not supported by 
central government does not pay 
contributions promptly, or defaults 
on its obligations. The Pension 
Fund has not experienced any 
actual defaults in recent years and 
the current practice is to obtain a 
guarantee before admitting new 
employers so that all pension 
obligations are covered in the 
event of that employer facing 
financial difficulties. Contributions 
due as at 31st March 2019 was 
£4,708k (2017/18 £4,121k) and as 
at 16th July 2019, £54k remained 
outstanding.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk represents the risk 
that the Fund will not be able 
to meet its financial obligations 
as they fall due.  The Council 
therefore takes steps to ensure 
that the Pension Fund has 
adequate cash resources to meet 
its commitments. A substantial 
portion of the Fund’s investments 
consist of readily realisable 
securities, in particular equities and 

fixed income investments, even 
though a significant proportion is 
held in pooled funds.  However, 
the main liability of the Fund are 
the benefits payable, which fall 
due over a long period and the 
investment strategy reflects the 
long term nature of these liabilities.  
Therefore the Fund is able to 
manage the liquidity risk that arises 
from its investments in less liquid 
asset classes such as property 
which are subject to longer 
redemption periods and cannot be 
considered as liquid as the other 
investments. The Fund maintains 
a cash balance to meet working 
requirements and has immediate 
access to its cash holdings.

Refinancing Risk

Refinancing risk relates to the 
Fund being required to replenish 
a significant proportion of its 
financial instruments at a time 
of unfavourable interest rates.  
Refinancing risk within the Bond 
portfolio is mitigated through 
credit and liquidity analysis of all 
investments and diversification 

by issuer and maturity. The 
CBRE property fund managed on 
behalf of the Pension Fund is not 
leveraged or subject to refinancing 
risk. However, the underlying 
investments within this portfolio are 
leveraged and so may be subject 
to refinancing risk. This risk is 
mitigated by covenants written into 
the Fund documentation. There 
are no other financial instruments 
that have refinancing risk as part 
of its treasury management and 
investment strategies.

N28  Fair Value Hierarchy

Basis of valuation

The basis of the valuation of each 
class of investment asset is set 
out opposite. There has been no 
change in the valuation techniques 
used during the year. All assets 
have been valued using fair value 
techniques which represent the 
highest and best price available at 
the reporting date.

Page 139



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  94

Description 
of asset

Valuation 
hierarchy

Basis of 
valuation

Observable and 
unobservable 
inputs

Key sensitivities affecting 
the valuations provided

Quoted Equities Level 1 Published bid market 
price ruling on the 
final day of the 
accounting period.

Not required Not required

Quoted Bonds Level 1 Fixed interest 
securities are valued 
at a market value 
based on current 
yields.

Not required Not required

Futures and 
options in UK 
bonds

Level 1 Published exchange 
prices at the year 
end.

Not required Not required

Forward foreign 
exchange 
derivatives

Level 2 Market forward 
exchange rates at 
the year end.

Exchange rate risks Not required

Pooled 
investments

Level 2 Closing bid price 
where bid and offer 
prices are published.
Closing single price 
where single price 
published.

NAV based pricing 
set on a forward 
pricing basis 
and daily prices 
published.  

Not required

Property pooled 
investments

Level 3 Closing bid price 
where bid and offer 
prices are published.
Closing single price 
where single price 
published.

NAV based pricing 
set on a forward 
pricing basis.  

Valuations could be 
affected by changes in the 
structure of the holdings 
such as changing from a 
closed ended fund to an 
open ended fund.

Private equity Level 3 Comparable 
valuation of similar 
companies in 
accordance with 
International Private 
Equity and Venture 
Capital Valuation 
Guidelines (2012).

EBITDA multiple, 
Revenue multiple, 
Discount for lack 
of marketability, 
Control premium.

Valuations could be 
affected by material events 
occurring between the date 
of the financial statements 
provided and the Pension 
Fund’s own reporting 
date, by changes to 
expected cash flows and 
by any differences between 
audited and unaudited 
accounts.

Page 140



95  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Sensitivity of assets valued at level 3

Having consulted with independent advisors, the Fund has determined that the valuation methods described 
on the previous page and above are likely to be accurate to within the following ranges, and has set out 
opposite the consequent potential impact on the closing value of investments held at 31st March 2019.

Description 
of asset

Valuation 
hierarchy

Basis of 
valuation

Observable and 
unobservable 
inputs

Key sensitivities affecting 
the valuations provided

Private Debt Level 3 Fair value is 
determined by the 
following factors: 
enterprise value of a 
portfolio company; 
the nature and 
realisable value of 
any collateral; the 
portfolio company’s 
ability to make 
payments and its 
earnings; discounted 
cash flows; market 
environment 
and changes in 
the interest rate 
environment.

Initial recognition 
cost, Principal 
repayments, 
effective interest 
method, Impairment 
reductions.

Valuations could be 
affected by material events 
occurring between the date 
of the financial statements 
provided and the Pension 
Fund’s own reporting date, 
by changes to expected 
cash flows, and by any 
differences between 
audited and unaudited 
accounts.

Infrastructure 
Funds

Level 3 Direct investments: 
Independent 
valuation performed 
using discounted 
cash flow 
methodology in 
accordance with 
international private 
equity valuation 
guidelines

Future free 
cash flows 
from underlying 
investments. Cost of 
capital of underlying 
investments

Valuations could be 
affected by material 
events occurring after 
the preparation of the 
independent reports, and 
by changes to expected 
cash flows

Page 141



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  96

2018/19 Assessed Value at Value on Value on
 valuation 31st March Increase Decrease
 range (+/-) 2019    
   £000 £000 £000

UK property pooled funds 14% 164,487 187,515 141,458

Overseas property pooled funds 14% - - -

Venture Capital/Private equity/ 28% 7,249 9,279 5,219
Infrastructure
UK corporate Bonds 11% 3,512 3,898 3,126

Overseas Private Debt 6% 20,145 21,354 18,936

UK Private Debt 6% 22,252 23,587 20,917

Total  217,645 245,633 189,657

Fair Value Hierarchy

The Fund is required to classify 
its investments using a fair 
value hierarchy that reflects the 
subjectivity of the inputs used 
in making an assessment of fair 
value.  Fair value is the value at 
which the investments could 
be realised within a reasonable 
timeframe.  This hierarchy is not 
a measure of investment risk but 
a reflection of the ability to value 
the investments at fair value. 
Asset and liability valuations have 
been classified into three levels, 
according to the quality and 
reliability of information used to 

determine fair values.  Transfers 
between levels are recognised 
in the year in which they occur. 
The fair value hierarchy has the 
following levels:

   Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted 
prices in an active market for 
identical assets or liabilities that the 
reporting entity has the ability to 
access at the measurement date. 
Products classified as Level 1 
comprise quoted equities, quoted 
fixed securities and quoted index 
linked securities.

   Level 2 – Inputs other than 
quoted market prices under 

Level 1, for example, when an 
instrument is traded in a market 
that is not considered to be active, 
or where valuation techniques are 
used to determine fair value.

   Level 3 – At least one input that 
could have a significant effect on 
the instrument’s valuation is not 
based on observable market data.

The following table provides an 
analysis of the financial assets 
and liabilities of the Pension Fund 
grouped into levels 1 to 3, based 
on the level at which the fair value 
is observable.

2017/18 Assessed Value at Value on Value on
 valuation 31st March Increase Decrease
 range (+/-) 2018    
   £000 £000 £000

UK property pooled funds 14% 150,695 171,792 129,598

Overseas property pooled funds 14% 2,706 3,085 2,327

Private equity 28% 5,624 7,199 4,049

UK corporate Bonds 10% 2,047 2,252 1,842

Overseas Private Debt 5% 10,693 11,228 10,158

UK Private Debt 5% 6,166 6,474 5,858

Total  177,931 202,030 153,832

Page 142



97  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

 Quoted Using With significant 
 market price observable unobservable 
  inputs inputs 

Values at 31st March 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets at fair value  402,797 1,625,449 176,896 2,205,142
through profit and loss

Non-financial assets at fair value  - - - -
through profit and loss

Financial liabilities at fair value  - - - -
through profit and loss

Investment manager cash and    6,784
accruals

Net Investment Assets 402,797 1,625,449 176,896 2,211,926

Brunel Pension Partnership    840 

Investment Debtors/Creditors*    26,675

Total Net Investments Assets 402,797 1,625,449 176,896 2,239,441

 Quoted Using With significant 
 market price observable unobservable 
  inputs inputs 

Values at 31st March 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets at fair value  773 2,142,475 217,645 2,360,893
through profit and loss

Non-financial assets at fair value  - - - -
through profit and loss

Financial liabilities at fair value  -1,315 - - -1,315
through profit and loss

Investment manager cash and    6,015
accruals

Net Investment Assets -542 2,142,475 217,645 2,365,593

Brunel Pension Partnership    395

Investment Debtors/Creditors    12,730

Total Net Investments Assets -542 2,142,475 217,645 2,378,718

* Investment debtors and creditors have been added to this table to reflect the total net assets of the Fund.

Page 143



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  98

Transfers between Levels 1  
and 2

In consultation with Fund 
Managers and the Global 
Custodian, the Fund has made 
the decision to move all cash 
instrument balances from level 
1 to level 2 following a detailed 
review of the Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP) 
as well as an extract from the 

Practical Guidance on Investment 
Disclosures (PRAG, Investment 
Association 2016). The Fund 
considers cash instruments 
to have ‘observable inputs to 
valuation techniques’.

Cash instrument balances currently 
valued at £9,185k (£21,853k 
2017/18) have been moved from 
level 1 in 2017/18 to level 2 in 
2018/19.

In addition, during 2018/19 the 
Fund transitioned out of its UK 
equity mandate and into the Brunel 
Pension Partnership (BPP) UK 
equity unit trust. The Fund has 
categorised the new mandate as a 
level 2 asset as a result.

2018/19 UK Property Overseas  Overseas UK UK
 Pooled Property Private Private Private Corporate
 Funds Pooled Funds Equity Debt Debt Bonds Total

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Market Value        153,401 - 5,624 10,693 6,166 1,012 176,896
31st March 2018*

Transfers into            - - - - - - -
Level 3

Transfers out of -                  -                       -    - - - -
Level 3

Purchases            6,728 - 2,313 8,771 20,409 2,557 40,778
during the year 
and derivative 
payments

Sales during - - -797 - -4,270 -47 -5,114
the year and
derivative receipts

Unrealised 4,358 - 109 681 -53 -10 5,085
gains/(losses)

Realised 
gains/(losses) - - - - - - -

Market Value        164,487 - 7,249 20,145 22,252 3,512 217,645
31st March 2019 

Reconciliation of Fair Value Measurements within Level 3

*During 2018/19, two property assets previously categorised as overseas property pooled funds were re-evaluated as UK 
property pooled funds on the basis that the underlying funds held within the portfolio are invested in UK property despite being 
domiciled overseas.

Page 144



99  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

2017/18 UK Property Overseas  Overseas UK UK
re-stated Pooled Property Private Private Private Corporate
 Funds Pooled Funds Equity Debt Debt Bonds Total

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Market Value        114,950 - 5,328 - - - 120,278
31st March 2017

Transfers into            1,594 - - - - 1,012 2,606
Level 3

Transfers out of -                  -                       -    - - - -
Level 3

Purchases            31,685 - 116 11,604 6,131 - 49,536
during the year 
and derivative 
payments

Sales during -25 - - - - - -25
the year and
derivative receipts

Unrealised 5,287 - 180 -911 35 - 4,591
gains/(losses)

Realised 
gains/(losses) -90 - - - - - -90

Market Value        153,401 - 5,624 10,693 6,166 1,012 176,896
31st March 2018 

The Fund determined one 
corporate bond security to be 
level 3 during 2017/18. We have 
since been able to establish a 
market price for this security 
which we believe indicates this 

should be categorised as level 2. 
The 2018/19 UK Corporate Bond 
figures reflect this omission.

Please see note 34(b) for further 
breakdown.

Page 145



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  100

2018/19 Fair value through Assets at Liabilities at
 profit & loss amortised cost amortised cost

 £000 £000 £000 

Financial assets
Bonds 323,927                     -                     - 
Equities -  - -
Pooled investments 1,829,558  - -
Property Unit Trusts 192,478  - -
Private equity 4,972   - -
Brunel Pension Partnership 395 - -
Derivative contracts 1,297 - -
Cash - 19,759  -
Other investment balances - 4,450  -
Debtors - 1,902  -
                2,352,627  26,111 - 

Financial liabilities
Derivative contracts -1,429 - -
Other investment balances  - -1,412 -
Creditors - - -2,301
Borrowings - - -
 -1,429 -1,412 -2,301

Total 2,351,198 24,699 -2,301

N29  Financial Instrument Disclosure

* Investments managed by one of the property managers have been re-assessed and their asset classification changed.  
The 2017/18 comparable figures have been amended to reflect that change.  See Note N34 (a) for more details.

2017/18 Fair value through Assets at Liabilities at
 profit & loss amortised cost amortised cost

 £000 £000 £000 

Financial assets
Bonds 288,855                     -                     - 
Equities 380,754  - -
Pooled investments* 1,331,728  - -
Property Unit Trusts* 176,138  - -
Private equity 5,624 - -
Brunel Pension Partnership 840 - -
Derivative contracts 710 - -
Cash - 44,866  -
Other investment balances - 5,871  -
Debtors - 2,549  -
                2,184,649 53,286 -

Financial liabilities
Derivative contracts -320 - -
Other investment balances  - -552 -
Creditors - - -2,009
Borrowings - - -
 -320 -552 -2,009

Total 2,184,329 52,734 -2,009

Page 146



101  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

N29(a)  Net gains and 
losses on financial 
instruments

All realised gains and losses 
arise from the sale or disposal of 
financial assets which have been 
derecognised in the financial 
statements.

The Fund has not entered into 
any financial guarantees that are 
required to be accounted for as 
financial instruments.

N30  Bulk Transfers in and 
out of the Pension Fund

Transfers to or from other 
pension funds

During 2018/19 there were no bulk 
transfers to or from other pension 
funds.

N31  Accounting 
Standards that have been 
issued but have not yet 
been adopted

The Code requires consideration of 
the impact of standards that have 
been issued but not yet adopted.  
This is to enable users to evaluate 
the risk of these new standards 
on the Pension Fund’s current 
financial position. 

IAS 40 Investment Property: 
Transfers of Investment Property 
provides further explanation of 
the instances in which a property 
can be reclassified as investment 
property. This will not have an 
impact on the Pension Fund and 
is therefore considered to be 
immaterial.

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency 
Transactions and Advance 
Consideration clarifies the 
treatment of payments in a foreign 
currency made in advance of 
obtaining or delivering services 

or goods. The Pension Fund 
does not have any material 
transactions within the scope of 
the amendment.

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income 
Tax Treatments provides additional 
guidance on income tax treatment 
where there is uncertainty. This 
will have no impact on the fund 
account or net asset statement.

N32  Taxation where 
lifetime or annual 
allowances are exceeded

Where a member’s benefit 
entitlement exceeds the United 
Kingdom Inland Revenue tax limits 
(Lifetime Allowance or the Annual 
Allowance), the member is liable 
for taxation.  This tax can be paid 
by the member or has to be paid 
by the Pension Fund on behalf 
of the member in exchange for a 
reduction in benefit entitlement.  
The Pension Fund has paid £81k 
on behalf of members during 
2018/19 (£71k 2017/18).  Any 
lifetime or annual allowance tax 
paid on behalf of members is 
recovered from their future pension 
payments.  No accruals are made 
for the recovery of this tax element 

on the grounds of materiality and 
the very long term nature of its 
recovery.

N33  Events after the 
reporting date

There were no events after the 
reporting date.

N34  Changes to 
comparative figures

Change in asset classification
N34 (a) 

Investments managed by one 
of the property managers have 
been re-assessed and their asset 
classification changed.  The 
2017/18 comparable figures 
have been amended to reflect 
that change in the Net Asset 
Statement, Note 4, Investment 
Movement Summary, Note 12, 
Unquoted Holdings, Note 14, 
Financial asset analysis and 
Note 29, Financial Instrument 
Disclosure.    

  2017/18 2018/19

  £000 £000

 Financial assets

 Fair value through profit and loss 74,344   90,864 

 Amortised cost - realised gains on - -
 de-recognition of assets

 Amortised cost - unrealised gains - -

 Financial liabilities

 Fair value through profit and loss - -

 Amortised cost - realised losses on - -
 de-recognition of assets

 Amortised cost - unrealised losses - -

   74,344   90,864 

Page 147



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  102

  2017/18 2017/18 Difference
   re-stated 

  Market value Market value 
  £000 £000 £000

 Net Asset Statement

 Pooled investment vehicles        1,329,483  1,331,728  2,245
 Property Unit Trusts  178,383 176,138  -2,245

  1,507,866 1,507,866  -
 

 Investment Movement Summary Market value Market value
 (Note 4) at 31st March at 31st March
  2017 2017
  £000 £000 £000

 Pooled Investment Vehicles 1,251,349 1,252,164 -815  
 Property Unit Trusts 135,534 134,719 815

  1,386,883 1,386,883  -

  Purchases Purchases
  during the during the
  year at cost year at cost
  and derivative and derivative
  payments payments
  £000 £000 £000

 Pooled Investment Vehicles 77,148 78,306 -1,158 
 Property Unit Trusts 35,633 34,475 1,158

  112,781 112,781  -

  Change in Change in 
  market value market value
  during the during the
  year year
  £000 £000 £000

 Pooled Investment Vehicles 75,047 75,319 -272   
 Property Unit Trusts 7,679 7,407 272 

  82,726 82,726  -

  Market value Market value 
  at 31st March at 31st March
  2018 2018
  £000 £000 £000

 Pooled Investment Vehicles 1,329,483 1,331,728 -2,245  
 Property Unit Trusts 178,383 176,138 2,245 

  1,507,866 1,507,866 -

Page 148



103  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

  2017/18 2017/18 Difference
   re-stated 
  £000 £000 £000

 Unquoted Holdings (Note 12)

 UK property managed fund 3,710 7,289 3,579
 UK property limited liability partnership 1,809 475 -1,334
 UK property unit trust 30,632  34,591 3,959
 Overseas property unit trust 16,134  9,930 -6,204

   52,285 52,285                 -

 
 Financial Asset Analysis (Note 12) £000 £000 £000

 O.E.I.C.’s   

      UK - Property - Unquoted  3,710 7,289 3,579
    Limited Liability Partnerships   

   UK - Property - Unquoted 1,809 475 -1,334

    Property Unit Trusts   

      UK          - Unquoted 30,632 34,591 3,959

      Overseas - Unquoted 16,134 9,930 -6,204

  48,575 44,996                 -

 Nature and extent of risks arising from 
 Financial Instruments (Note 27)   

 Other Price Risk Sensitivity Analysis £000 £000 £000

 UK Property 164,058 173,972 9,914 
 Overseas Property 19,844 9,930 -9,914

  183,902 183,902                 -

 Financial Instrument Disclosure Fair value Fair value 
 (Note 29) through profit athrough profit
  and loss  and loss
  2017/18 2017/18 Difference
   re-stated
  £000 £000 £000

 Pooled Investment Vehicles 1,329,483 1,331,728 2,245 
 Property Unit Trusts 178,383 176,138 -2,245

  1,507,866 1,507,866                 -   

Page 149



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  104

N34 (b) 

During 2018/19, two property 
assets previously categorised as 
overseas property pooled funds 
were re-evaluated as UK property 
pooled funds on the basis that 
the underlying funds held within 

the portfolio are invested in UK 
property despite being domiciled 
overseas.

The Fund determined one 
corporate bond security to be 
level 3 during 2017/18. We have 
since been able to establish a 

market price for this security 
which we believe indicates this 
should be categorised as level 2. 
The 2018/19 UK Corporate Bond 
figures reflect this omission.

  UK Overseas UK
  property property corporate
  pooled funds pooled funds bonds
  £000 £000 £000

 Market Value 31st March 2018 150,695 2,706 2,047

 Two property assets now classified 2,706 -2,706                 -
 as UK property

 Removal of Corporate Bond from                     -                  - -1,035
 level 3 to level 2

 Re-stated Market Value 153,401                  - 1,012
 31st March 2018

Page 150



105  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Investment Pooling – 
Brunel Pension 
Partnership

In 2015 the Department 
of Communities and Local 
Government (as it then was) 
issued LGPS: Investment Reform 
Criteria and Guidance which set 
out how the government expected 
funds to establish asset pooling 
arrangements. The objective was 
to deliver:

 Benefits of scale

 Strong governance and 
decision making

 Reduced costs and excellent 
value for money, and

 An improved capacity and 
capability to invest in infrastructure

This has led to the creation of 
eight asset pools which have 
significantly changed the previous 
approach to investing, although 
it should be stressed that the 
responsibility for determining asset 
allocations and the investment 
strategy remains with individual 
pension funds.

As a result of the investment 
pooling agenda, the 

Gloucestershire Fund joined with 
nine other LGPS administering 
authorities to set up the Brunel 
Pension Partnership (BPP). 
Gloucestershire County Council 
approved the business case for 
BPP in December 2016, based 
on estimated potential fee savings 
of £550 million over a 20 year 
period across the ten funds, of 
which Gloucestershire’s share was 
estimated to be £10.8 million. This 
estimated fee saving is much lower 
than for the majority of Funds in 
the BPP, due to the fact that the 
investment management fees 
being paid by the Gloucestershire 
Fund were generally lower than 
those paid by the other Funds in 
the BPP. 

The project will see initial net costs 
in the early years primarily due 
to transition costs, but will break 
even in the future as fee savings 
are delivered. With regard to the 
Gloucestershire Fund the original 
business case forecasts that the 
Fund would break even by 2029.

Governance 
Arrangements of the pool

The governance arrangement in 
place between the pool and the 

ten funds involves two types of 
representation:

1. Oversight Board made up of 
one representative from each of 
the fund Committee’s and two 
member representative observers 

2. Client Group made up of senior 
officers from each of the ten fund’s

Further details of the role and 
involvement of administering 
authorities in the governance 
arrangements of the pool can 
be found within the BPP annual 
report for the year ended 30th 
September 2018. A link to this 
document can be found here: 

https://www.
brunelpensionpartnership.org/
wp-content/uploads/2019/01/
BrunelAnnualReport2018.pdf

Pool set up costs and 
savings

The expected costs and savings 
for the Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund, as per the original business 
case approved in December 
2016, and then submitted to 
Government, are set out in the 
table below.

Asset Pools

 2016/ 2017/ 2018/ 2019/ 2020/ 2021/ 2022/ 2023/ 2024/ 2025/ 2026 Total
 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026       to 2036

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Set up costs 117 1,034 - - - - - - - - - 1,151

Ongoing - - 413 535 552 570 588 607 627 647 7,742 281
Brunel costs

Client savings - - (64) (66) (68) (70) (72) (74) (76) (78) (924) (1,492)

Transition costs - - 1,327 2,652 13 - - - - - - 3,992

Fee savings - - (171) (557) (898) (965) (1,037) (1,111) (1,191) (1,274) (19,514) (26,718)

Net costs / 117 1,034 1,505 2,564 (401) (465) (521) (578) (640) (705) (12,696) (10,786)
(realised 
savings)

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Expected Costs and Savings from Pooling
(As per Business Case Submissions)

Page 151



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  106

Following approval of the business 
case, the BPP Ltd was established 
in July 2017, as a company wholly 
owned by the Administering 
Authorities (in equal shares) 
that participate in the pool. The 
company is authorised by the 
Financial Conduct Authority (FCA). 
It is responsible for implementing 
the detailed Strategic Asset 
Allocations of the participating 
funds by investing Funds’ assets 

within defined outcome focused 
investment portfolios. In particular, 
it researches and selects the 
external managers or pooled funds 
needed to meet the investment 
objective of each portfolio.

Now that BPP is operational, 
the financial performance of the 
pool will be monitored to ensure 
that BPP is delivering on the key 
objectives of investment pooling. 

This includes reporting of the costs 
associated with the appointment 
and management of the pool 
company including set up costs, 
investment management expenses 
and the oversight and monitoring 
of BPP by the client funds. The set 
up and transition costs incurred 
to date are set out in the following 
table.

Gloucestershire’s share of the              2018/19      Cumulative
Brunel Pool set up costs    to date
 Direct Indirect Total 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 
Set up costs

Recruitment - - - 18
Legal - - - 133 
Consulting, advisory & procurement - - - 82
Other support costs e.g IT, accommodation - - - 0
Share purchase / subscription costs - - - 840
Staff costs - - - - 
Other costs  - - - -

Total set up costs - - - 1,073 

Transition costs

Transition fee - - - -
Tax - 555 555 555 
Other transition costs  - 1,628 1,628 1,628

Total transition costs - 2,183 2,183 2,183 

BPP Pool Set Up Costs

The Gloucestershire Fund 
transitioned its first assets to BPP 
in July 2018. During 2018/19 the 
allocations made to the mandates 
set out in the table overleaf were 
actioned. The savings achieved to 
date by the Gloucestershire Fund 
are also provided in the table.

Page 152



107  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Portfolio Value in Original Value at Price Quantity Total 
 Business Case 31st March Variance Variance Saving/
 (31st March 2016) 2019   (Cost)
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 

Global Developed Passive 301,562 252,494 51,493 11,279 62,772 
Equities
Smart Beta Passive Equities - 217,971 56,436 (119,782) (63,346)
Low Carbon Passive Equities - 50,750 5,388 (12,572) (7,184)
Active UK Equities  318,696 365,801 181,159 (41,516) 139,643
Infrastructure - - - - -
Private Equity  - - - - -

Total   294,476 (162,591) 131,885

Investment Fee Savings from Pooling

This analysis shows the fee 
savings achieved for the assets 
that have transitioned to BPP 
portfolios in comparison to the 
fees estimated at the time the 
business case for pooling was 
prepared in 2016. Where fee 
reductions were granted by one of 

the Investment Managers due to 
pooling, slightly in advance of the 
formulation of the business case, 
the benefits of these fee reductions 
are included within the table.

Where the Gloucestershire Fund 
was not invested in some of the 

mandates at 31st March 2016, 
the fee savings were estimated by 
comparing the fees payable under 
BPP, with the average of fees paid, 
pre BPP, by other Funds joining 
the Brunel Pension Partnership, 
who were invested in these 
mandates at 31st March 2016.

                              2017/18                              2018/19
 Budget Actual Budget Actual

 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Set up costs 1,034 1,151 1,072 1,072 0 1,151 0 1,072 
Ongoing Brunel costs - - - - 413 413 660 660
Gloucestershire Fund savings - - - - (64) (64) 0 0
Transition costs  - - - - 1,327 1,327 2,183 2,183
Fee savings - - - - (171) (171) (294) (294)

Net costs/(realised savings) 1,034 1,151 1,072 1,072 1,505 2,656 2,549 3,621

Expected Costs compared to Actual Costs / Savings to Date

 In
 y

ea
r

C
um

ul
at

iv
e

to
 d

at
e

In
 y

ea
r

C
um

ul
at

iv
e

to
 d

at
e

In
 y

ea
r

C
um

ul
at

iv
e

to
 d

at
e

In
 y

ea
r

C
um

ul
at

iv
e

to
 d

at
e

The most significant variances 
from the original business case 
can be summarised as follows:

The actual transition costs for 
2018/19 for the Gloucestershire 
Fund totalled £2.183 million 
compared with the estimate 

shown in the original business 
case of £1.237 million. The costs 
in excess of budget related to the 
UK equities transition which was 
forecast to cost the equivalent 
of 14 basis points in the original 
business case, but actually cost 
the equivalent of 54.3 basis points. 

The key reasons for the costs 
exceeding the original budget 
were:

1. The budget for transition costs 
relating to the UK equity tender 
in the original business case did 
not include stamp duty payable. 

Page 153



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  108

This equated to the equivalent of 
12.6 basis points, or £472,000 
in relation to the Gloucestershire 
Fund.

2. The budget included in the 
original business case could not be 
based on specific asset holdings, 
and hence used estimated assets 
under management based on 
original client intentions. The 
assumptions behind the budget 
figure assumed a materially more 
liquid portfolio than the one that 
was actually transitioned, resulting 
in higher costs than anticipated 
when the original business case 
was formulated, and could 
not take account of specific 
portfolio holdings, one of which 
experienced a significant downturn 
in value over the transition period.

Fee savings in 2018/19 are higher 
as a result of higher asset values 
due to the higher than anticipated 
investment returns over the last 
three years, and the fact that the 
fee rates achieved by the Brunel 
Pension Partnership were slightly 
lower than included within the 
original business case.

Additional resources have been 
required by BPP over and above 
those envisaged by the original 
business case, in order to deliver 
the service required by their 
clients. As a result, the ongoing 
overhead costs of the BPP are 
higher than originally estimated.

Implementation and 
application of the Funding 
Strategy Statement

The Funding Strategy Statement 
(FSS) focuses on how employer 
liabilities are measured, the pace at 
which these liabilities are funded, 
and how employers or pools 
of employers pay for their own 
liabilities.  The FSS is in essence a 
summary of the Fund’s approach 
to funding its liabilities.  The FSS 
was reviewed as part of the 
Triennial Fund Valuation process 
and employers consulted prior to 
the current FSS being finalised.  
The full version of the FSS can be 
found on pages 120 to 156.

A key challenge for the 
Administering Authority is to 
balance the need for stable 
affordable employer contributions 
with the requirement to take a 
prudent, longer-term view of 
funding and ensure the solvency 
of the Fund.  With this in mind, 
there are a number of methods 
which the Administering Authority 
may permit in order to improve the 
stability of employer contributions.  
These include, where 
circumstances permit, capping 
of employer contribution rate 
changes within a pre-determined 
range (“stabilisation”), the use of 
extended deficit recovery periods, 
the phasing in of contribution 
rises or reductions, the pooling of 

contributions amongst employers 
with similar characteristics and 
the use of some form of security 
or guarantee to justify a lower 
contribution rate than would 
otherwise be the case.  Section 
3.3 of the FSS on pages 128 to 
129 gives a summary of how the 
main funding policies differ for 
different types of employer.  

New eligible admitted bodies, 
those employers who do not 
have an automatic right to join the 
Pension Fund, are only admitted 
into the Fund if they have a 
guarantor to cover any pension 
obligations which are not met.  
They may also be required to have 
an indemnity bond or security in 
place to cover any potential risks 
and these are reviewed annually.  
Admitted bodies do not have the 
same freedoms as scheduled 
bodies in how they fund their 
liabilities and these are set out 
again in Section 3.3 of the FSS on 
pages 128 to 129.

Page 154



109  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Funding Strategy 
Statement 

The Funding Strategy Statement 
shown below is the current version 
of this statement. 

1. Introduction

1.1  What is this document?

This is the Funding Strategy 
Statement (FSS) of the 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Pension Fund (“the Fund”), 
which is administered by 
Gloucestershire County Council, 
(“the Administering Authority”). 

It has been prepared by the 
Administering Authority in 
collaboration with the Fund’s 
actuary, Hymans Robertson LLP, 
and after consultation with the 
Fund’s employers and investment 
adviser.  It is effective from 
February 2017.

1.2  What is the Gloucestershire 
County Council Pension Fund?

The Fund is part of the national 
Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS). The LGPS was 
set up by the UK Government 
to provide retirement and death 
benefits for local government 
employees, and those employed in 
similar or related bodies, across the 
whole of the UK. The Administering 
Authority runs the Gloucestershire 
County Council Fund, in effect the 
LGPS for the Gloucestershire area, 
to make sure it: 

 receives the proper amount 
of contributions from employees 
and employers, and any transfer 
payments;

 invests the contributions 
appropriately, with the aim that the 
Fund’s assets grow over time with 
investment income and capital 
growth; and

 uses the assets to pay Fund 
benefits to the members (as and 
when they retire, for the rest of 
their lives), and to their dependants 
(as and when members die), as 
defined in the LGPS Regulations. 
Assets are also used to pay 
transfer values and administration 
costs.

The roles and responsibilities of 
the key parties involved in the 
management of the Fund are 
summarised in Appendix B.

1.3  Why does the Fund need a 
Funding Strategy Statement?

Employees’ benefits are 
guaranteed by the LGPS 
Regulations, and do not change 
with market values or employer 
contributions.  Investment returns 
will help pay for some of the 
benefits, but probably not all, 
and certainly with no guarantee.  
Employees’ contributions are fixed 
in those Regulations also, at a level 
which covers only part of the cost 
of the benefits.  

Therefore, employers need to 
pay the balance of the cost of 
delivering the benefits to members 
and their dependants.  

The FSS focuses on how employer 
liabilities are measured, the pace at 
which these liabilities are funded, 
and how employers or pools 
of employers pay for their own 
liabilities.  This statement sets out 
how the Administering Authority 
has balanced the conflicting aims 
of:

 affordability of employer 
contributions, 

 transparency of processes, 

  stability of employers’ 
contributions, and 

  prudence in the funding basis. 

There are also regulatory 
requirements for an FSS, as given 
in Appendix A.

The FSS is a summary of the 
Fund’s approach to funding 
its liabilities, and this includes 
reference to the Fund’s other 
policies; it is not an exhaustive 
statement of policy on all issues.  
The FSS forms part of a framework 
which includes:

 the LGPS Regulations;

 the Rates and Adjustments 
Certificate (confirming employer 
contribution rates for the next 
three years) which can be found in 
an appendix to the formal valuation 
report;

  actuarial factors for valuing 
individual transfers, early retirement 
costs and the costs of buying 
added service; and

  the Fund’s Statement of 
Investment Principles/Investment 
Strategy Statement (see Section 4).

1.4  How does the Fund and this 
FSS affect me?

This depends on who you are:

  a member of the Fund, i.e. a 
current or former employee, or a 
dependant: the Fund needs to be 
sure it is collecting and holding 
enough money so that your 
benefits are always paid in full;

 an employer in the Fund (or 
which is considering joining the 
Fund): you will want to know how 
your contributions are calculated 
from time to time, that these 
are fair by comparison to other 
employers in the Fund, and in 
what circumstances you might 

Page 155



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  110

need to pay more. Note that 
the FSS applies to all employers 
participating in the Fund;

  an Elected Member whose 
council participates in the Fund: 
you will want to be sure that the 
council balances the need to hold 
prudent reserves for members’ 
retirement and death benefits, with 
the other competing demands for 
council money;

  a Council Tax payer: your 
council seeks to strike the balance 
above, and also to minimise 
cross-subsidies between different 
generations of taxpayers.

1.5  What does the FSS aim to 
do?

The FSS sets out the objectives of 
the Fund’s funding strategy, such 
as: 

  to ensure the long-term 
solvency of the Fund, using a 
prudent long term view. This will 
ensure that sufficient funds are 
available to meet all members’/
dependants’ benefits as they fall 
due for payment;

  to ensure that employer 
contribution rates are reasonably 
stable where appropriate;

  to minimise the long-term cash 
contributions which employers 
need to pay to the Fund, by 
recognising the link between 
assets and liabilities and adopting 
an investment strategy which 
balances risk and return (NB this 
will also minimise the costs to be 
borne by Council Tax payers);

  to reflect the different 
characteristics of different 
employers in determining 
contribution rates. This involves 
the Fund having a clear and 
transparent funding strategy to 
demonstrate how each employer 
can best meet its own liabilities 
over future years; and

  to use reasonable measures to 
reduce the risk to other employers 
and ultimately to the Council Tax 

payer from an employer defaulting 
on its pension obligations.

1.6  How do I find my way 
around this document?

In Section 2 there is a brief 
introduction to some of the main 
principles behind funding, i.e. 
deciding how much an employer 
should contribute to the Fund from 
time to time.

In Section 3 we outline how the 
Fund calculates the contributions 
payable by different employers in 
different situations.

In Section 4 we show how the 
funding strategy is linked with the 
Fund’s investment strategy.

In the Appendices we cover 
various issues in more detail if you 
are interested:

A. the regulatory background, 
including how and when the FSS 
is reviewed,

B. who is responsible for what,

C. what issues the Fund needs to 
monitor, and how it manages its 
risks,

D. some more details about the 
actuarial calculations required,

E. the assumptions which the 
Fund actuary currently makes 
about the future,

F. a glossary explaining the 
technical terms occasionally used 
here.

If you have any other queries 
please contact the Pensions  
Team in the first instance 
at e-mail address 
peninv@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
or on telephone number 01452 
328949.

2. Basic funding issues

(More detailed and extensive 
descriptions are given in Appendix 
D).

2.1  How does the actuary 
measure the required 
contribution rate?

In essence this is a three-step 
process:

  Calculate the ultimate funding 
target for that employer, i.e. the 
ideal amount of assets it should 
hold in order to be able to pay 
all its members’ benefits. See 
Appendix E for more details of 
what assumptions we make to 
determine that funding target;

  Determine the time horizon 
over which the employer should 
aim to achieve that funding target. 
See the table in 3.3 and Note (c) 
for more details;

  Calculate the employer 
contribution rate such that it 
has at least a given probability 
of achieving that funding target 
over that time horizon, allowing 
for different likelihoods of various 
possible economic outcomes over 
that time horizon. See 2.3 and 
the table in 3.3 Note (e) for more 
details.

2.2  What is each employer’s 
contribution rate?

This is described in more 
detail in Appendix D. Employer 
contributions are normally made 
up of two elements:

a) the estimated cost of benefits 
being built up each year, after 
deducting the members’ own 
contributions and including 
administration expenses. This is 
referred to as the “Primary rate”, 
and is expressed as a percentage 
of members’ pensionable pay; plus

b) an adjustment for the difference 
between the Primary rate above, 
and the actual contribution the 
employer needs to pay, referred to 
as the “Secondary rate”. In broad 
terms, payment of the Secondary 
rate will aim to return the employer 
to full funding over an appropriate 
period (the “time horizon”). The 
Secondary rate may be expressed 

Page 156



111  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

as a percentage of pay and/or a 
monetary amount in each year. 

The rates for all employers are 
shown in the Fund’s Rates and 
Adjustments Certificate, which 
forms part of the formal Actuarial 
Valuation Report. Employers’ 
contributions are expressed as 
minima, with employers able to 
pay contributions at a higher rate. 
Account of any higher rate will 
be taken by the Fund actuary at 
subsequent valuations, i.e. will 
be reflected as a credit when 
next calculating the employer’s 
contributions.

2.3  What different types of 
employer participate in the 
Fund?

Historically the LGPS was intended 
for local authority employees only.  
However over the years, with the 
diversification and changes to 
delivery of local services, many 
more types and numbers of 
employers now participate. There 
are currently more employers 
in the Fund than ever before, a 
significant part of this being due to 
new academies. 

In essence, participation in the 
LGPS is open to public sector 
employers providing some form 
of service to the local community. 
Whilst the majority of members 
will be local authority employees 
(and ex-employees), the majority of 
participating employers are those 
providing services in place of (or 
alongside) local authority services: 
academy schools, contractors, 
housing associations, charities, etc.

The LGPS Regulations define 
various types of employer as 
follows:

Scheduled bodies - councils, 
and other specified employers 
such as academies and further 
education establishments. These 
must provide access to the LGPS 
in respect of their employees who 
are not eligible to join another 
public sector scheme (such as 

the Teachers Scheme). These 
employers are so-called because 
they are specified in a schedule to 
the LGPS Regulations.    

It is now possible for Local 
Education Authority schools to 
convert to academy status, and for 
other forms of school (such as Free 
Schools) to be established under 
the academies legislation. All such 
academies (or Multi Academy 
Trusts), as employers of non-
teaching staff, become separate 
new employers in the Fund. As 
academies are defined in the 
LGPS Regulations as “Scheduled 
Bodies”, the Administering 
Authority has no discretion over 
whether to admit them to the 
Fund, and the academy has no 
discretion whether to continue to 
allow its non-teaching staff to join 
the Fund. There has also been 
guidance issued by the DCLG 
regarding the terms of academies’ 
membership in LGPS Funds.

Designating employers - 
employers such as town and 
parish councils are able to 
participate in the LGPS via 
resolution (and the Fund cannot 
refuse them entry where the 
resolution is passed). These 
employers can designate which of 
their employees are eligible to join 
the scheme.

Other employers are able to 
participate in the Fund via an 
admission agreement, and are 
referred to as ‘admission bodies’.  
These employers are generally 
those with a “community of 
interest” with another scheme 
employer – community admission 
bodies (“CAB”) or those providing 
a service on behalf of a scheme 
employer – transferee admission 
bodies (“TAB”). CABs will include 
housing associations and charities, 
TABs will generally be contractors. 
The Fund is able to set its 
criteria for participation by these 
employers and can refuse entry if 
the requirements as set out in the 
Fund’s admissions policy are not 
met. (NB The terminology CAB 

and TAB has been dropped from 
recent LGPS Regulations, which 
instead combine both under the 
single term ‘admission bodies’; 
however, we have retained the old 
terminology here as we consider 
it to be helpful in setting funding 
strategies for these different 
employers.

2.4  How does the measured 
contribution rate vary for 
different employers?

All three steps below are consid-
ered when setting contributions 
(more details are given in Section 3 
and Appendix D).

1. The funding target is based 
on a set of assumptions about 
the future, (e.g. investment 
returns, inflation, pensioners’ life 
expectancies). However, if an 
employer is approaching the end 
of its participation in the Fund 
then its funding target may be set 
on a more prudent basis, so that 
its liabilities are less likely to be 
spread among other employers 
after its cessation;

2. The time horizon required 
is, in broad terms, the period 
over which any deficit is to be 
recovered. A shorter period will 
lead to higher contributions, and 
vice versa (all other things being 
equal). Employers may be given 
a lower time horizon if they have 
a less permanent anticipated 
membership, or do not have 
tax-raising powers to increase 
contributions if investment returns 
under-perform; and

3. The probability of achieving 
the funding target over that time 
horizon will be dependent on 
the Fund’s view of the strength 
of employer covenant and its 
funding profile. Where an employer 
is considered to be weaker, or 
potentially ceasing from the Fund, 
then the required probability will 
be set higher, which in turn will 
increase the required contributions 
(and vice versa).

Page 157



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  112

For some employers it may be 
agreed to pool contributions, see 
3.4. 

Any costs of non ill-health early 
retirements must be paid by the 
employer, see 3.6.

Costs of ill-health early retirements 
are covered in 3.7 and 3.8.

2.5 How is a deficit (or surplus) 
calculated?

An employer’s “funding level” is 
defined as the ratio of:

  the market value of the 
employer’s share of assets (see 
Appendix D, section D5, for further 
details of how this is calculated), to 

  the value placed by the actuary 
on the benefits built up to date 
for the employer’s employees and 
ex-employees (the “liabilities”).  
The Fund actuary agrees with 
the Administering Authority 
the assumptions to be used in 
calculating this value.

If this is less than 100% then it 
means the employer has a shortfall, 
which is the employer’s deficit; 
if it is more than 100% then the 
employer is said to be in surplus. 
The amount of deficit or shortfall is 
the difference between the asset 
value and the liabilities value.

It is important to note that the 
deficit/surplus and funding level are 
only measurements at a particular 
point in time, on a particular set 
of assumptions about the future. 
Whilst we recognise that various 
parties will take an interest in these 
measures, for most employers 
the key issue is how likely it is that 
their contributions will be sufficient 
to pay for their members’ benefits 
(when added to their existing asset 
share and anticipated investment 
returns).

In short, deficits and funding levels 
are short term measures, whereas 
contribution-setting is a longer 
term issue.

2.6 How does the Fund 
recognise that contribution 
levels can affect council and 
employer service provision, 
and council tax?

The Administering Authority and 
the Fund actuary are acutely aware 
that, all other things being equal, 
a higher contribution required to 
be paid to the Fund will mean less 
cash available for the employer to 
spend on the provision of services.  
For instance:

  Higher Pension Fund 
contributions may result in reduced 
council spending, which in turn 
could affect the resources available 
for council services, and/or greater 
pressure on council tax levels;

  Contributions which Academies 
pay to the Fund will therefore not 
be available to pay for providing 
education; and

  Other employers will provide 
various services to the local 
community, perhaps through 
housing associations, charitable 
work, or contracting council 
services. If they are required to pay 
more in pension contributions to 
the LGPS then this may affect their 
ability to provide the local services 
at a reasonable cost.

Whilst all this is true, it should also 
be borne in mind that:

  The Fund provides invaluable 
financial security to local families, 
whether to those who formerly 
worked in the service of the local 
community who have now retired, 
or to their families after their death;

  The Fund must have the 
assets available to meet these 
retirement and death benefits, 
which in turn means that the 
various employers must each 
pay their own way. Lower 
contributions today will mean 
higher contributions tomorrow: 
deferring payments does not alter 
the employer’s ultimate obligation 
to the Fund in respect of its 

current and former employees;

  Each employer will generally 
only pay for its own employees 
and ex-employees (and their 
dependants), not for those of 
other employers in the Fund;

  The Fund strives to maintain 
reasonably stable employer 
contribution rates where 
appropriate and possible. 
However, a recent shift in 
regulatory focus means that 
solvency within each generation is 
considered by the Government to 
be a higher priority than stability of 
contribution rates;

  The Fund wishes to avoid the 
situation where an employer falls so 
far behind in managing its funding 
shortfall that its deficit becomes 
unmanageable in practice: such 
a situation may lead to employer 
insolvency and the resulting 
deficit falling on the other Fund 
employers. In that situation, those 
employers’ services would in turn 
suffer as a result;

  Council contributions to the 
Fund should be at a suitable level, 
to protect the interests of different 
generations of council tax payers. 
For instance, underpayment of 
contributions for some years 
will need to be balanced by 
overpayment in other years; the 
council will wish to minimise 
the extent to which council tax 
payers in one period are in effect 
benefitting at the expense of 
those paying in a different period. 

Overall, therefore, there is clearly 
a balance to be struck between 
the Fund’s need for maintaining 
prudent funding levels, and the 
employers’ need to allocate 
their resources appropriately.  
The Fund achieves this through 
various techniques which affect 
contribution increases to various 
degrees (see 3.1). In deciding 
which of these techniques to 
apply to any given employer, the 
Administering Authority takes a 
view on the financial standing of 

Page 158



113  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

the employer, i.e. its ability to meet 
its funding commitments and the 
relevant time horizon.

The Administering Authority will 
consider a risk assessment of that 
employer using a knowledge base 
which is regularly monitored and 
kept up-to-date. This database 
will include such information as the 
type of employer, its membership 
profile and funding position, any 
guarantors or security provision, 
material changes anticipated, etc.  

For instance, where the 
Administering Authority has 
reasonable confidence that an 
employer will be able to meet its 
funding commitments, then the 
Fund will permit options such as 
stabilisation (see 3.3 Note (b)), 
a longer time horizon relative to 
other employers, and/or a lower 
probability of achieving their funding 
target. Such options will temporarily 
produce lower contribution levels 
than would otherwise have applied. 
This is permitted in the expectation 
that the employer will still be able to 
meet its obligations for many years 
to come.

On the other hand, where there is 
doubt that an employer will be able 
to meet its funding commitments 
or withstand a significant change 
in its commitments, then a higher 
funding target, and/or a shorter 
deficit recovery period relative to 
other employers, and/or a higher 
probability of achieving the target 
may be required.

The Fund actively seeks employer 
input, including to its funding 
arrangements, through various 
means: see Appendix A.  

3. Calculating 
contributions for  
individual Employers

3.1 General comments

A key challenge for the 
Administering Authority is to 
balance the need for stable, 
affordable employer contributions 

with the requirement to take a 
prudent, longer-term view of 
funding and ensure the solvency 
of the Fund. With this in mind, 
the Fund’s three-step process 
identifies the key issues:

1. What is a suitably (but not 
overly) prudent funding target? 

2. How long should the employer 
be permitted to reach that target? 
This should be realistic but not 
so long that the funding target is 
in danger of never actually being 
achieved.

3. What probability is required to 
reach that funding target? This will 
always be less than 100% as we 
cannot be certain of future market 
movements. Higher probability 
“bars” can be used for employers 
where the Fund wishes to reduce 
the risk that the employer ceases 
leaving a deficit to be picked up by 
other employers. 

These and associated issues are 
covered in this Section.

The Administering Authority 
recognises that there may 
occasionally be particular 
circumstances affecting individual 
employers that are not easily 
managed within the rules and 
policies set out in the Funding 
Strategy Statement. Therefore the 
Administering Authority may, at its 
sole discretion, direct the actuary 
to adopt alternative funding 
approaches on a case by case 
basis for specific employers.

3.2 The effect of paying lower 
contributions 

In limited circumstances the 
Administering Authority may permit 
employers to pay contributions at 
a lower level than is assessed for 
the employer using the three step 
process above. At their absolute 
discretion the Administering 
Authority may: 

  extend the time horizon for 
targeting full funding;

  adjust the required probability 
of meeting the funding target;

  permit an employer to 
participate in the Fund’s 
stabilisation mechanisms; 

  permit extended phasing in of 
contribution rises or reductions;

  pool contributions amongst 
employers with similar 
characteristics; and/or

  accept some form of security 
or guarantee in lieu of a higher 
contribution rate than would 
otherwise be the case.

Employers which are permitted 
to use one or more of the above 
methods will often be paying, for 
a time, contributions less than 
required to meet their funding 
target, over the appropriate time 
horizon with the required likelihood 
of success. Such employers 
should appreciate that:

  their true long term liability (i.e. 
the actual eventual cost of benefits 
payable to their employees and 
ex-employees) is not affected by 
the pace of paying contributions; 

  lower contributions in the short 
term will be assumed to incur a 
greater loss of investment returns 
on the deficit.  Thus, deferring a 
certain amount of contribution may 
lead to higher contributions in the 
long-term; and

  it may take longer to reach 
their funding target, all other things 
being equal.  

Overleaf (3.3) is a summary of how 
the main funding policies differ 
for different types of employer, 
followed by more detailed notes 
where necessary.

Section 3.4 onwards deals with 
various other funding issues which 
apply to all employers.

Page 159



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  114

3.3 The different approaches used for different employers

Type of employer

Sub-type

Funding Target 
Basis used

Primary rate 
approach

Stabilised 
contribution rate?

Maximum time 
horizon – Note (c)

Secondary rate – 
Note (d)

Treatment of 
surplus

Probability of 
achieving target

Phasing of 
contribution 
changes

Review of rates – 
Note (f)

New employer

Cessation of 
participation: 
cessation debt 
payable

 Scheduled Bodies  Community  Transferee
  Admission Bodies  Admission 
  and Designating Bodies
  Employers 

 Local Other Open to Closed (all)
 Authorities  Scheduled new to new
  and Police Bodies entrants entrants 

Ongoing, assumes fixed 
contract term in the Fund 

(see Appendix E)

Ongoing, assumes long-term Fund 
participation (see Appendix E)

Ongoing, but may move 
to “gilts basis” - 

see Note (a)

(see Appendix D – D.2)

 Yes - see Note (b)  No No No No

 17 years (20 yrs 17 years 20 years  Future Outstanding
 for Primary rate)    working  contract term
    lifetime

 Monetary Monetary Monetary Monetary Monetary amount
 amount amount amount amount

Covered by 
stabilisation 
arrangement

Preferred approach: contributions kept at 
Primary rate. However, reductions may 

be permitted by the Administering Authority

 Covered by  3 years for 3 years 3 years
 stabilisation  increases, 
 arrangement immediate for
  reductions

Administering Authority reserves the right to review contribution 
rates and amounts, and the level of security provided, at regular 

intervals between valuations

Cessation is assumed not to be 
generally possible, as Scheduled 

Bodies are legally obliged to 
participate in the LGPS. In the 

rare event of cessation occurring 
(machinery of Government 
changes for example), the 

cessation debt principles applied 
would be as per Note (j).

Can be ceased subject 
to terms of admission 
agreement. Cessation 

debt will be calculated on 
a basis appropriate to the 

circumstances of cessation 
– see Note (j).

 n/a  n/a except  Note (h) 
  for Academies
  - see Note (g)

Where the calculated 
secondary rate is 

negative, contributions 
are the maximum of the 
current rate in payment 

or the sum of the primary 
and the secondary rates.

Where the calculated 
secondary rate is positive, 
contributions are set to be 

the primary rate.

3 years for increases, 
immediate for reductions

Particularly reviewed in 
last 3 years of contract

Notes (h) & (i)

Participation is assumed 
to expire at the end of 

the contract.  Cessation 
debt (if any) calculated on 
ongoing basis. Awarding 

Authority will be liable 
for future deficits & 

contributions arising.

66%, 75% or 80% depending on Fund’s assessment of employer profile in the Fund and 
consequent urgency of required funding – see Note (e)

Page 160



115  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Note (a) (Basis for CABs and 
Designating Employers closed 
to new entrants)

In the circumstances where:

  the employer is a Designating 
Employer, or an Admission Body 
but not a Transferee Admission 
Body, and

  the employer has no guarantor, 
and

  the admission agreement is 
likely to terminate, or the employer 
is likely to lose its last active 
member, within a timeframe 
considered appropriate by the 
Administering Authority to prompt 
a change in funding, 

the Administering Authority may 
set a higher funding target (e.g. 
using a discount rate set equal 
to gilt yields) by the time the 
agreement terminates or the last 
active member leaves, in order 
to protect other employers in the 
Fund. This policy will increase 
regular contributions and reduce, 
but not entirely eliminate, the 
possibility of a final deficit payment 
being required from the employer 
when a cessation valuation is 
carried out.  

The Administering Authority also 
reserves the right to adopt the 
above approach in respect of 
those Designating Employers 
and Admission Bodies with no 
guarantor, where the strength 
of covenant is considered to be 
weak but there is no immediate 
expectation that the admission 
agreement will cease or the 
Designating Employer alters its 
designation.

Note (b) (Stabilisation)

Stabilisation is a mechanism 
where employer contribution rate 
variations from year to year are 
kept within a pre-determined 
range, thus allowing those 
employers’ rates to be relatively 
stable. In the interests of stability 
and affordability of employer 
contributions, the Administering 
Authority, on the advice of the 
Fund Actuary, believes that 
stabilising contributions can 
still be viewed as a prudent 
longer-term approach. However, 
employers whose contribution 
rates have been “stabilised” (and 
may therefore be paying less than 
their theoretical contribution rate) 
should be aware of the risks of 
this approach and should consider 
making additional payments to the 
Fund if possible.

This stabilisation mechanism 
allows short term investment 
market volatility to be managed 
so as not to cause volatility in 
employer contribution rates, on 
the basis that a long term view 
can be taken on net cash inflow, 
investment returns and strength of 
employer covenant.

The current stabilisation 
mechanism applies if:

  the employer satisfies the 
eligibility criteria set by the 
Administering Authority (see below) 
and;

  there are no material events 
which cause the employer to 
become ineligible, e.g. significant 
reductions in active membership 
(due to outsourcing or 
redundancies), or changes in the 
nature of the employer (perhaps 
due to Government restructuring), 
or changes in the security of the 
employer.

On the basis of extensive 
modelling carried out for the 2016 
valuation exercise (see Section 4), 
the stabilised details are as follows:

Type of Employer Employers with precept (tax raising) powers

Max contribution increase per annum 1% to 2.5% of pay *

Max contribution decrease per annum 1% to 2.5% of pay *

* the monetary increases applied to these employers’ contributions will be determined by the Administering Authority in 
discussion with the Fund Actuary and will depend on each employer’s individual circumstances including deficit level, funding 
position, cashflow, and maturity. The monetary increases applied at the 2013 formal valuation are unchanged following the 2016 
formal valuation and the % of pay shown reflects the employer’s pay base when stabilisation was introduced.  

The stabilisation criteria and limits will be reviewed at the 31st March 2019 valuation, to take effect from 1st 
April 2020. However the Administering Authority reserves the right to review the stabilisation criteria and limits 
at any time before then, on the basis of membership and/or employer changes as described above.

Page 161



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  116

Note (c) (Maximum time 
horizon)

The maximum time horizon starts 
at the commencement of the 
revised contribution rate (1st April 
2017 for the 2016 valuation). The 
Administering Authority would 
normally expect a reducing period 
to be used at successive triennial 
valuations, assuming this could be 
achieved without a material impact 
on the contribution strategy. The 
Administering Authority would 
reserve the right to propose 
alternative time horizons, for 
example where there were no new 
entrants.

Note (d) (Secondary rate)

The Secondary contribution rate 
for most employers covering the 
three year period until the next 
valuation will generally be set as 
a monetary amount as opposed 
to a percentage of salaries.  
However, where a percentage 
of salaries approach is used,  
the Administering Authority 
reserves the right to amend these 
rates between valuations and/
or to require these payments 
in monetary terms instead, for 
instance where:

  the employer is relatively 
mature, i.e. has a large Secondary 
contribution rate (e.g. above 15% 
of payroll), or

  there has been a significant 
reduction in payroll due to 
outsourcing or redundancy 
exercises, or

  the employer has closed the 
Fund to new entrants.

Note (e) (Probability of 
achieving funding target)

Each employer has its funding 
target calculated, and a relevant 
time horizon over which to reach 
that target. Contributions are 
set such that, combined with 
the employer’s current asset 

share and anticipated market 
movements over the time horizon, 
the funding target is achieved 
with a given minimum probability. 
A higher required probability bar 
will give rise to higher required 
contributions, and vice versa.

The way in which contributions are 
set using these three steps, and 
relevant economic projections, 
is described in further detail in 
Appendix D.

Different probabilities are set for 
different employers depending on 
their nature and circumstances: in 
broad terms, a higher probability 
will apply due to one or more of 
the following:

  the Fund believes the employer 
poses a greater funding risk than 
other employers;

  the employer does not have 
tax-raising powers;

  the employer does not have 
a guarantor or other sufficient 
security backing its funding 
position; and/or

  the employer is likely to cease 
participation in the Fund in the 
short or medium term.

Note (f) (Regular Reviews)

Such reviews may be triggered 
by significant events including 
but not limited to: significant 
reductions in payroll, altered 
employer circumstances, 
Government restructuring affecting 
the employer’s business, or failure 
to pay contributions or arrange 
appropriate security as required by 
the Administering Authority.

The result of a review may be to 
require increased contributions 
(by strengthening the actuarial 
assumptions adopted and/or 
moving to monetary levels of deficit 
recovery contributions), and/or 
an increased level of security or 
guarantee.  

Note (g) (New Academy 
conversions)

At the time of writing, the Fund’s 
policies on academies’ funding 
issues are as follows: 

i. The new academy will be 
regarded as a separate employer 
in its own right and will not be 
pooled with other employers in the 
Fund. The only exception is where 
the academy is part of a Multi 
Academy Trust (MAT) in which 
case the academy’s figures will be 
calculated as below but can be 
combined with those of the other 
academies in the MAT;

ii. The new academy’s past 
service liabilities on conversion will 
be calculated based on its active 
Fund members on the day before 
conversion. For the avoidance of 
doubt, these liabilities will include 
all past service of those members, 
but will exclude the liabilities 
relating to any ex-employees of 
the school who have deferred or 
pensioner status;

iii. The new academy will be 
allocated an initial asset share 
from the ceding council’s assets 
in the Fund. This asset share will 
be calculated using the estimated 
funding position of the ceding 
council at the date of academy 
conversion. The share will be 
based on the active members’ 
funding level, having first allocated 
assets in the council’s share to 
fully fund deferred and pensioner 
members. The asset allocation will 
be based on market conditions 
and the academy’s active Fund 
membership on the day prior to 
conversion;

iv. The new academy’s initial 
contribution rate will be calculated 
using market conditions, the 
council funding position and, 
membership data, all as at the day 
prior to conversion.

Page 162



117  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

The Fund’s policies on academies 
are subject to change in the light 
of any amendments to DCLG 
guidance. Any changes will be 
notified to academies, and will 
be reflected in a subsequent 
version of this FSS. In particular, 
policies (iii) and (iv) overleaf will be 
reconsidered at each valuation.

Note (h) (New Admission 
Bodies)

With effect from 1st October 2012, 
the LGPS 2012 Miscellaneous 
Regulations introduced mandatory 
new requirements for all Admission 
Bodies brought into the Fund 
from that date. Under these 
Regulations, all new Admission 
Bodies will be required to provide 
some form of security, such 
as a guarantee from the letting 
employer, an indemnity or a bond.  
The security is required to cover 
some or all of the following:

  the strain cost of any 
redundancy early retirements 
resulting from the premature 
termination of the contract;

  allowance for the risk of asset 
underperformance;

  allowance for the risk of a fall in 
gilt yields;

  allowance for the possible non-
payment of employer and member 
contributions to the Fund; and/or

  the current deficit.

Transferee Admission Bodies: 
For all TABs, the security must 
be to the satisfaction of the 
Administering Authority as well as 
the letting employer, and will be 
reassessed on an annual basis. 
See also Note (i) below.

Community Admission Bodies: 
The Administering Authority will 
only consider requests from CABs 
(or other similar bodies, such as 
section 75 NHS partnerships) to 
join the Fund if they are sponsored 
by a Scheduled Body with tax 

raising powers, guaranteeing their 
liabilities and also providing a form 
of security as above. 

The above approaches reduce 
the risk, to other employers in 
the Fund, of potentially having to 
pick up any shortfall in respect of 
Admission Bodies ceasing with an 
unpaid deficit.

Note (i) (New Transferee 
Admission Bodies)

A new TAB usually joins the 
Fund as a result of the letting/
outsourcing of some services from 
an existing employer (normally 
a Scheduled Body such as a 
council or academy) to another 
organisation (a “contractor”). This 
involves the TUPE transfer of some 
staff from the letting employer to 
the contractor. Consequently, for 
the duration of the contract, the 
contractor is a new participating 
employer in the Fund so that 
the transferring employees 
maintain their eligibility for LGPS 
membership. At the end of the 
contract the employees revert 
to the letting employer or to a 
replacement contractor.

Ordinarily, the TAB would be set 
up in the Fund as a new employer 
with responsibility for all the 
accrued benefits of the transferring 
employees; in this case, the 
contractor would usually be 
assigned an initial asset allocation 
equal to the past service liability 
value of the employees’ Fund 
benefits. The quid pro quo is that 
the contractor is then expected to 
ensure that its share of the Fund is 
also fully funded at the end of the 
contract: see Note (j).

Employers which “outsource” 
have flexibility in the way that 
they can deal with the pension 
risk potentially taken on by the 
contractor. In particular there are 
three different routes that such 
employers may wish to adopt.  
Clearly as the risk ultimately 
resides with the employer letting 

the contract, it is for them to agree 
the appropriate route with the 
contractor:

i) Pooling

Under this option the contractor is 
pooled with the letting employer.  
In this case, the contractor pays 
the same rate as the letting 
employer, which may be under a 
stabilisation approach.

ii) Letting employer retains pre-
contract risks

Under this option the letting 
employer would retain 
responsibility for assets and 
liabilities in respect of service 
accrued prior to the contract 
commencement date. The 
contractor would be responsible 
for the future liabilities that accrue 
in respect of transferred staff. The 
contractor’s contribution rate could 
vary from one valuation to the next. 
It would be liable for any deficit 
at the end of the contract term 
in respect of assets and liabilities 
attributable to service accrued 
during the contract term.

iii) Fixed contribution rate agreed

Under this option the contractor 
pays a fixed contribution rate and 
does not pay any cessation deficit.

The Administering Authority is 
willing to administer any of the 
above options as long as the 
approach is documented in the 
Admission Agreement as well 
as the transfer agreement. The 
Admission Agreement should 
ensure that some element of risk 
transfers to the contractor where 
it relates to their decisions and 
it is unfair to burden the letting 
employer with that risk. For 
example the contractor should 
typically be responsible for pension 
costs that arise from:

  above average pay increases, 
including the effect in respect 
of service prior to contract 
commencement even if the letting 

Page 163



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  118

employer takes on responsibility 
for the latter under (ii) overleaf;  

  redundancy and early 
retirement decisions.

Note (j) (Admission Bodies 
Ceasing)

Notwithstanding the provisions 
of the Admission Agreement, 
the Administering Authority may 
consider any of the following as 
triggers for the cessation of an 
admission agreement with any 
type of body:

  Last active member ceasing 
participation in the Fund (NB 
recent LGPS Regulation changes 
mean that the Administering 
Authority has the discretion to 
defer taking action for up to three 
years, so that if the employer 
acquires one or more active Fund 
members during that period then 
cessation is not triggered. The 
current Fund policy is that this is 
left as a discretion and may or may 
not be applied in any given case);

  The insolvency, winding up or 
liquidation of the Admission Body;

  Any breach by the Admission 
Body of any of its obligations 
under the Agreement that they 
have failed to remedy to the 
satisfaction of the Fund;

  A failure by the Admission Body 
to pay any sums due to the Fund 
within the period required by the 
Fund; or

  The failure by the Admission 
Body to renew or adjust the level 
of the bond or indemnity, or to 
confirm an appropriate alternative 
guarantor, as required by the Fund.

On cessation, the Administering 
Authority will instruct the Fund 
actuary to carry out a cessation 
valuation to determine whether 
there is any deficit or surplus. 
Where there is a deficit, payment of 
this amount in full would normally 
be sought from the Admission 

Body; where there is a surplus 
it should be noted that current 
legislation does not permit a refund 
payment to the Admission Body.

For non-Transferee Admission 
Bodies whose participation 
is voluntarily ended either by 
themselves or the Fund, or 
where a cessation event has 
been triggered, the Administering 
Authority must look to protect 
the interests of other ongoing 
employers. The actuary will 
therefore adopt an approach 
which, to the extent reasonably 
practicable, protects the other 
employers from the likelihood 
of any material loss emerging in 
future:

a) Where a guarantor does not 
exist then, in order to protect 
other employers in the Fund, the 
cessation liabilities and final deficit 
will normally be calculated using 
a “gilts cessation basis”, which is 
more prudent than the ongoing 
basis. This has no allowance 
for potential future investment 
outperformance above gilt 
yields, and has added allowance 
for future improvements in life 
expectancy. This could give rise to 
significant cessation debts being 
required.  

b) Where there is a guarantor for 
future deficits and contributions, 
the details of the guarantee will be 
considered prior to the cessation 
valuation being carried out. In 
some cases the guarantor is 
simply guarantor of last resort and 
therefore the cessation valuation 
will be carried out consistently 
with the approach taken had 
there been no guarantor in place.  
Alternatively, where the guarantor 
is not simply guarantor of last 
resort, the cessation may be 
calculated using the ongoing basis 
as described in Appendix E;

c) Again, depending on the 
nature of the guarantee, it may 
be possible to simply transfer the 
former Admission Body’s liabilities 

and assets to the guarantor, 
without needing to crystallise 
any deficit. This approach may 
be adopted where the employer 
cannot pay the contributions due, 
and this is within the terms of the 
guarantee.

Under (a) and (c), any shortfall 
would usually be levied on the 
departing Admission Body as a 
single lump sum payment. If this is 
not possible then the Fund would 
spread the payment subject to 
there being some security in place 
for the employer such as a bond 
indemnity or guarantee.

Where the ceasing employer 
participates in a pool, the deficit 
on cessation from the Fund will be 
calculated as a pro-rated share of 
the total pool deficit. 

In the event that the Fund is 
not able to recover the required 
payment in full, then the unpaid 
amounts fall to be shared amongst 
all of the other employers in 
the Fund. This may require an 
immediate revision to the Rates 
and Adjustments Certificate 
affecting other employers in the 
Fund, or instead be reflected in 
the contribution rates set at the 
next formal valuation following the 
cessation date.

As an alternative, where the 
ceasing Admission Body is 
continuing in business, the Fund 
at its absolute discretion reserves 
the right to enter into an agreement 
with the ceasing Admission Body.  
Under this agreement the Fund 
would accept an appropriate 
alternative security to be held 
against any deficit, and would carry 
out the cessation valuation on an 
ongoing basis: deficit recovery 
payments would be derived 
from this cessation debt.  This 
approach would be monitored as 
part of each triennial valuation: 
the Fund reserves the right to 
revert to a “gilts cessation basis” 
and seek immediate payment of 
any funding shortfall identified.  

Page 164



119  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

The Administering Authority may 
need to seek legal advice in such 
cases, as the Body would have no 
contributing members.

3.4 Pooled contributions

From time to time, with the advice 
of the Actuary, the Administering 
Authority may set up pools 
for employers with similar or 
complementary characteristics.  
This will always be in line with 
its broader funding strategy. The 
current pools in place within the 
Fund are as follows:

  Town and Parish Councils (as 
a way of sharing experience and 
smoothing out the effects of costly 
but relatively rare events such as 
ill-health retirements or deaths in 
service).  

  LEA schools generally are also 
pooled with their funding Council.  
However there may be exceptions 
for specialist or independent 
schools.

  Smaller Transferee Admission 
Bodies may be pooled with the 
letting employer, provided all 
parties (particularly the letting 
employer) agree.

Those employers which have been 
pooled are identified in the Rates 
and Adjustments Certificate.

Employers who are permitted to 
enter (or remain in) a pool at the 
2016 valuation will not normally 
be advised of their individual 
contribution rate unless agreed by 
the Administering Authority.

Community Admission Bodies that 
are deemed by the Administering 
Authority to have closed to new 
entrants are not usually permitted 
to participate in a pool.  

On exit from a pool, Town and 
Parish Councils, and LEA schools 
converting to academies, will 
normally be attributed assets on 
a pro-rata basis measuring the 
pool’s funding position at the time; 

this differs from the alternative 
approach (in effect applied to 
TABs ceasing their contract) which 
would be to assess the individual 
employer’s calculated asset 
share. The reason for this different 
approach is the long history of 
Town and Parish Councils and 
LEA schools paying pooled rates 
regardless of their own calculated 
asset share, and also to ensure 
that any orphan liabilities are 
accounted for.

3.5 Additional flexibility in 
return for added security

The Administering Authority 
may permit greater flexibility to 
the employer’s contributions if 
the employer provides added 
security to the satisfaction of the 
Administering Authority.  

Such flexibility includes a reduced 
rate of contribution, an extended 
time horizon, or permission to join 
a pool with another body (e.g. the 
Local Authority). 

Such security may include, but 
is not limited to, a suitable bond, 
a legally-binding guarantee from 
an appropriate third party, or 
security over an employer asset of 
sufficient value.

The degree of flexibility given may 
take into account factors such as:

  the extent of the employer’s 
deficit;

  the amount and quality of the 
security offered;

  the employer’s financial security 
and business plan; and

  whether the admission 
agreement is likely to be open or 
closed to new entrants.

3.6 Non ill health early 
retirement costs

It is assumed that members’ 
benefits are payable from the 
earliest age that the employee 

could retire without incurring a 
reduction to their benefit (and 
without requiring their employer’s 
consent to retire). (NB the relevant 
age may be different for different 
periods of service, following 
the benefit changes from April 
2008 and April 2014). Employers 
are required to pay additional 
contributions (‘strain’) wherever an 
employee retires before attaining 
this age. The actuary’s funding 
basis makes no allowance for 
premature retirement except on 
grounds of ill-health.   

Employers must make these 
additional contributions as a 
one off payment to the fund 
immediately on awarding the 
early retirement. The exception 
to this rule are statutory bodies 
with tax raising powers, where, 
depending on the circumstances, 
the Administering Authority may 
at its absolute discretion agree to 
spread the payment over a period 
not exceeding 3 years. If this is 
agreed, interest will be charged, 
using factors provided by the 
actuary. In any event the spread 
period cannot exceed the period 
to the member’s normal retirement 
date if this is shorter than 3 years.  

3.7 Ill health early retirement 
costs

In the event of a member’s early 
retirement on the grounds of 
ill-health, a funding strain will 
usually arise, which can be very 
large. Such strains are currently 
met by each employer, although 
individual employers may elect to 
take external insurance (see 3.8 
overleaf).

Admitted Bodies will usually have 
an ‘ill health allowance’; Scheduled 
Bodies may have this also, 
depending on their agreement 
terms with the Administering 
Authority. The Fund monitors each 
employer’s ill health experience on 
an ongoing basis. If the cumulative 
cost of ill health retirement in 
any financial year exceeds 

Page 165



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  120

the allowance at the previous 
valuation, the employer will be 
charged additional contributions 
on the same basis as apply for 
non ill-health cases. Details will 
be included in each separate 
Admission Agreement.

3.8 External ill health insurance

If an employer provides satisfactory 
evidence to the Administering 
Authority of a current external 
insurance policy covering ill health 
early retirement strains, then:

- the employer’s contribution to 
the Fund each year is reduced by 
the lesser of the amount of that 
year’s insurance premium and the 
employer’s ill health allowance, and

- there is no need for monitoring 
of allowances.

The employer must keep the 
Administering Authority notified 
of any changes in the insurance 
policy’s coverage or premium 
terms, or if the policy is ceased.

3.9 Employers with no 
remaining active members

In general an employer ceasing in 
the Fund, due to the departure of 
the last active member, will pay a 
cessation debt on an appropriate 
basis (see 3.3, Note (j)) and 
consequently have no further 
obligation to the Fund. Thereafter 
it is expected that one of two 
situations will eventually arise:

a) The employer’s asset share 
runs out before all its ex-
employees’ benefits have been 
paid. In this situation the other 
Fund employers will be required 
to contribute to pay all remaining 
benefits: this will be done by the 
Fund actuary apportioning the 
remaining liabilities on a pro-
rata basis at successive formal 
valuations;

b) The last ex-employee or 
dependant dies before the 
employer’s asset share has been 
fully utilised. In this situation 

the remaining assets would be 
apportioned pro-rata by the Fund’s 
actuary to the other Fund. 

c) In exceptional circumstances 
the Fund may permit an employer 
with no remaining active members 
to continue contributing to the 
Fund. This would require the 
provision of a suitable security or 
guarantee, as well as a written 
ongoing commitment to fund 
the remainder of the employer’s 
obligations over an appropriate 
period. The Fund would reserve 
the right to invoke the cessation 
requirements in the future, 
however. The Administering 
Authority may need to seek 
legal advice in such cases, as 
the employer would have no 
contributing members.

3.10 Policies on bulk transfers

Each case will be treated on its 
own merits, but in general:

  The Fund will not pay bulk 
transfers greater than the lesser 
of (a) the asset share of the 
transferring employer in the Fund, 
and (b) the value of the past 
service liabilities of the transferring 
members;

  The Fund will not grant added 
benefits to members bringing 
in entitlements from another 
Fund unless the asset transfer 
is sufficient to meet the added 
liabilities; and

  The Fund may permit shortfalls 
to arise on bulk transfers if the 
Fund employer has suitable 
strength of covenant and commits 
to meeting that shortfall in an 
appropriate period. This may 
require the employer’s Fund 
contributions to increase between 
valuations.  

3.11 Excess salary awards

The Fund Actuary makes 
assumptions regarding future pay 
growth applying to the pre-1st April 
2014 accrual of benefit of current 
active members. Should actual 

pay rises exceed this assumption 
then the employer’s liabilities will 
increase, and this increase could 
be very marked as pay growth 
immediately affects all benefits 
accrued before April 2014.

The Administering Authority 
therefore has a policy in place 
which identifies whether each 
employer’s actual pay awards 
have exceeded the actuary’s 
assumptions, and may require 
the employer to pay additional 
contributions to meet the increase 
in liabilities. 

4. Funding strategy 
and links to investment 
strategy

4.1 What is the Fund’s 
investment strategy? 

The Fund has built up assets over 
the years, and continues to receive 
contribution and other income.  
All of this must be invested in 
a suitable manner, which is the 
investment strategy.

Investment strategy is set by 
the administering authority, after 
consultation with the employers 
and after taking investment advice.  
The precise mix, manager make 
up and target returns are set out 
in the Statement of Investment 
Principles (being replaced by an 
Investment Strategy Statement 
under new LGPS Regulations), 
which is available to members and 
employers.

The investment strategy is set for 
the long-term, but is reviewed from 
time to time. Normally a full review 
is carried out as part of each 
actuarial valuation, and is kept 
under review annually between 
actuarial valuations to ensure that it 
remains appropriate to the Fund’s 
liability profile.  

4.2 What is the link between 
funding strategy and investment 
strategy?

The Fund must be able to meet 
all benefit payments as and when 

Page 166



121  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

they fall due. These payments will 
be met by contributions (resulting 
from the funding strategy) or asset 
returns and income (resulting from 
the investment strategy). To the 
extent that investment returns or 
income fall short, then higher cash 
contributions are required from 
employers, and vice versa.

Therefore, the funding and 
investment strategies are 
inextricably linked.  

4.3 How does the funding 
strategy reflect the Fund’s 
investment strategy?

In the opinion of the Fund 
actuary, the current funding 
policy is consistent with the 
current investment strategy of the 
Fund. The asset outperformance 
assumption contained in the 
discount rate (see Appendix E3) 
is within a range that would be 
considered acceptable for funding 
purposes; it is also considered 
to be consistent with the 
requirement to take a “prudent 
longer-term view” of the funding 
of liabilities as required by the UK 
Government (see Appendix A1).

However, in the short term – such 
as the three yearly assessments 
at formal valuations – there is the 
scope for considerable volatility 
and there is a material chance 
that in the short-term and even 
medium term, asset returns 
will fall short of this target.  The 
stability measures described in 
Section 3 will damp down, but not 
remove, the effect on employers’ 
contributions.  

The Fund does not hold a 
contingency reserve to protect 
it against the volatility of equity 
investments.  

4.4 How does this differ for a 
large stable employer?

The Actuary has developed four 
key measures which capture the 
essence of the Fund’s strategies, 
both funding and investment:

  Prudence - the Fund should 
have a reasonable expectation of 
being fully funded in the long term;

  Affordability – how much can 
employers afford;

  Stewardship – the assumptions 
used should be sustainable in the 
long term, without having to resort 
to overly optimistic assumptions 
about the future to maintain 
an apparently healthy funding 
position; and

  Stability – employers should 
not see significant moves in their 
contribution rates from one year 
to the next, to help provide a more 
stable budgeting environment.

The key problem is that the key 
objectives often conflict. For 
example, minimising the long term 
cost of the scheme (i.e. keeping 
employer rates affordable) is best 
achieved by investing in higher 
returning assets e.g. equities.  
However, equities are also very 
volatile (i.e. go up and down fairly 
frequently in fairly large moves), 
which conflicts with the objective 
to have stable contribution rates.

Therefore, a balance needs to 
be maintained between risk 
and reward, which has been 
considered by the use of Asset 
Liability Modelling: this is a set of 
calculation techniques applied by 
the Fund’s actuary to model the 
range of potential future solvency 
levels and contribution rates.

The Actuary was able to model 
the impact of these four key 
areas, for the purpose of setting 
a stabilisation approach (see 
3.3 Note (b)). The modelling 
demonstrated that retaining the 
present investment strategy, 
coupled with constraining 
employer contribution rate 
changes as described in 3.3 Note 
(b), struck an appropriate balance 
between the above objectives.  
In particular the stabilisation 
approach currently adopted 
meets the need for stability of 

contributions without jeopardising 
the Administering Authority’s aims 
of prudent stewardship of the 
Fund.  

Whilst the current stabilisation 
mechanism is to remain in place 
until 2020, it should be noted 
that this will need to be reviewed 
following the 2019 valuation.

4.5 Does the Fund monitor its 
overall funding position?

The Administering Authority 
monitors the relative funding 
position, i.e. changes in the 
relationship between asset values 
and the liabilities value, annually. It 
reports this to the regular Pensions 
Committee meetings, and also to 
employers via e-mail, Employers 
Forums and its Annual General 
Meeting.

5. Statutory reporting and 
comparison to other LGPS 
Funds

5.1 Purpose

Under Section 13(4)(c) of the 
Public Service Pensions Act 2013 
(“Section 13”), the Government 
Actuary’s Department must, 
following each triennial actuarial 
valuation, report to the Department 
of Communities & Local 
Government (DCLG) on each 
of the LGPS Funds in England 
& Wales. This report will cover 
whether, for each Fund, the rate of 
employer contributions are set at 
an appropriate level to ensure both 
the solvency and the long term 
cost efficiency of the Fund.  

This additional DCLG oversight 
may have an impact on the 
strategy for setting contribution 
rates at future valuations.

5.2 Solvency

For the purposes of Section 13, 
the rate of employer contributions 
shall be deemed to have been set 
at an appropriate level to ensure 
solvency if:

Page 167



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  122

(a) the rate of employer 
contributions is set to target 
a funding level for the Fund of 
100%, over an appropriate time 
period and using appropriate 
actuarial assumptions (where 
appropriateness is considered in 
both absolute and relative terms in 
comparison with other funds); and 
either 

(b) employers collectively have 
the financial capacity to increase 
employer contributions, and/
or the Fund is able to realise 
contingent assets should future 
circumstances require, in order to 
continue to target a funding level 
of 100%; or

(c) there is an appropriate plan in 
place should there be, or if there 
is expected in future to be, a 
material reduction in the capacity 
of fund employers to increase 
contributions as might be needed.  

5.3 Long Term Cost Efficiency

The rate of employer contributions 
shall be deemed to have been set 
at an appropriate level to ensure 
long term cost efficiency if:

i. the rate of employer 
contributions is sufficient to make 
provision for the cost of current 
benefit accrual,

ii. with an appropriate adjustment 
to that rate for any surplus or 
deficit in the Fund.

In assessing whether the above 
condition is met, DCLG may 
have regard to various absolute 
and relative considerations.  A 
relative consideration is primarily 
concerned with comparing LGPS 
pension funds with other LGPS 
pension funds.  An absolute 
consideration is primarily 
concerned with comparing Funds 
with a given objective benchmark.

Relative considerations include:

1. the implied deficit recovery 
period; and

2. the investment return required 
to achieve full funding after 20 
years. 

Absolute considerations include:

1. the extent to which the 
contributions payable are sufficient 

to cover the cost of current benefit 
accrual and the interest cost on 
any deficit;

2. how the required investment 
return under “relative 
considerations” above compares 
to the estimated future return 
being targeted by the Fund’s 
current investment strategy; 

3. the extent to which 
contributions actually paid have 
been in line with the expected 
contributions based on the extant 
rates and adjustment certificate; 
and 

4. the extent to which any new 
deficit recovery plan can be directly 
reconciled with, and can be 
demonstrated to be a continuation 
of, any previous deficit recovery 
plan, after allowing for actual Fund 
experience. 

DCLG may assess and compare 
these metrics on a suitable 
standardised market-related basis, 
for example where the local funds’ 
actuarial bases do not make 
comparisons straightforward. 

A1  Why does the Fund need an 
FSS?

The Department for Communities 
and Local Government (DCLG) has 
stated that the purpose of the FSS 
is: 

  “to establish a clear and 
transparent fund-specific 
strategy which will identify how 
employers’ pension liabilities are 
best met going forward;

  to support the regulatory 
framework to maintain as nearly 
constant employer contribution 
rates as possible; and   

  to take a prudent longer-term 
view of funding those liabilities.”

These objectives are desirable 
individually, but may be mutually 
conflicting.

The requirement to maintain 
and publish a FSS is contained 

in LGPS Regulations which 
are updated from time to time. 
In publishing the FSS the 
Administering Authority has to 
have regard to any guidance 
published by Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) (most recently in 2016) 
and to its Statement of Investment 
Principles / Investment Strategy 
Statement.

This is the framework within 
which the Fund’s actuary carries 

> Appendix A 
Regulatory framework

Page 168



123  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

out triennial valuations to set 
employers’ contributions and 
provides recommendations to the 
Administering Authority when other 
funding decisions are required, 
such as when employers join or 
leave the Fund. The FSS applies 
to all employers participating in the 
Fund.

A2  Does the Administering 
Authority consult anyone on 
the FSS?

Yes. This is required by LGPS 
Regulations. It is covered in more 
detail by the most recent CIPFA 
guidance, which states that the 
FSS must first be subject to 
“consultation with such persons 
as the authority considers 
appropriate”, and should include 
“a meaningful dialogue at officer 
and elected member level with 
council tax raising authorities and 
with corresponding representatives 
of other participating employers”.

In practice, for the Fund, the 
consultation process for this FSS 
was as follows:

a) A draft version of the FSS 
was issued to all participating 
employers in November 2016 for 
comment;

b) Comments were requested 
within 30 days;

c) There was an Employers Forum 
on 1st December 2016 at which 
questions regarding the FSS could 
be raised and answered;

d) Following the end of the 
consultation period the FSS was 
updated where required and then 
published by 1st April 2017.

A3  How is the FSS published?

The FSS is made available through 
the following routes:

  Published on the website, at 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/
pensions/investments

  A copy sent by e-mail to each 
participating employer in the Fund;

  A copy sent by e-mail 
to employee/pensioner 
representatives;

  A summary issued to all Fund 
members;

  A full copy included in the 
annual report and accounts of the 
Fund;

  Copies sent to investment 
managers and independent 
advisors;

  Copies made available on 
request.

A4  How often is the FSS 
reviewed?

The FSS is reviewed in detail at 
least every three years as part of 
the triennial valuation. This version 
is expected to remain unaltered 
until it is consulted upon as part 
of the formal process for the next 
valuation in 2019. 

It is possible that (usually slight) 
amendments may be needed 
within the three year period. These 
would be needed to reflect any 
regulatory changes, or alterations 
to the way the Fund operates (e.g. 
to accommodate a new class of 
employer). Any such amendments 
would be consulted upon as 
appropriate: 

  trivial amendments would be 
simply notified at the next round of 
employer communications, 

  amendments affecting only 
one class of employer would be 
consulted with those employers, 

  other more significant 
amendments would be subject to 
full consultation.

In any event, changes to the FSS 
would need agreement by the 
Pension Committee and would be 
included in the relevant Committee 
Meeting minutes.

A5  How does the FSS fit into 
other Fund documents?

The FSS is a summary of the 
Fund’s approach to funding 
liabilities. It is not an exhaustive 
statement of policy on all 
issues, for example there are a 
number of separate statements 
published by the Fund including 
the Statement of Investment 
Principles/Investment Strategy 
Statement, Governance Strategy 
and Communications Strategy.  
In addition, the Fund publishes 
an Annual Report and Accounts 
with up to date information on the 
Fund.  

These documents can be found on 
the web at www.gloucestershire.
gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments

Page 169



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  124

The efficient and effective 
operation of the Fund needs 
various parties to each play their 
part.

B1  The Administering Authority 
should:-

1.  operate the Fund as per the 
LGPS Regulations;

2.  effectively manage any potential 
conflicts of interest arising from 
its dual role as Administering 
Authority and a Fund employer;

3.  collect employer and employee 
contributions, and investment 
income and other amounts due to 
the Fund;

4.  ensure that cash is available 
to meet benefit payments as and 
when they fall due;

5.  pay from the Fund the relevant 
benefits and entitlements that are 
due;

6.  invest surplus monies (i.e. 
contributions and other income 
which are not immediately needed 
to pay benefits) in accordance 
with the Fund’s Statement of 
Investment Principles/Investment 
Strategy Statement (SIP/ISS) and 
LGPS Regulations;

7.  communicate appropriately 
with employers so that they fully 
understand their obligations to the 
Fund;

8.  take appropriate measures to 
safeguard the Fund against the 
consequences of employer default;

9.  manage the valuation process 
in consultation with the Fund’s 
actuary;

10.   provide data and information 
as required by the Government 
Actuary’s Department to carry 
out their statutory obligations (see 
Section 5);

11.   prepare and maintain a FSS 
and a SIP/ISS, after consultation; 

12.   notify the Fund’s actuary of 
material changes which could 
affect funding (this is covered in 
a separate agreement with the 
actuary); and 

13.   monitor all aspects of the 
fund’s performance and funding 
and amend the FSS and SIP/ISS 
as necessary and appropriate.

B2  The Individual Employer 
should:-

1. deduct contributions from 
employees’ pay correctly;

2. pay all contributions, including 
their own as determined by the 
actuary, promptly by the due date;

3. have a policy and exercise 
discretions within the regulatory 
framework;

4. make additional contributions 
in accordance with agreed 
arrangements in respect of, for 
example, augmentation of scheme 
benefits, early retirement strain; and 

5. notify the Administering 
Authority promptly of all changes 
to its circumstances, prospects or 
membership, which could affect 
future funding.

B3  The Fund Actuary should:-

1.  prepare valuations, including 
the setting of employers’ 
contribution rates. This will involve 
agreeing assumptions with the 
Administering Authority, having 
regard to the FSS and LGPS 
Regulations, and targeting each 
employer’s solvency appropriately; 

2.  provide data and information 
as required by the Government 
Actuary’s Department to carry 
out their statutory obligations (see 
Section 5);

3.  provide advice relating to new 
employers in the Fund, including 
the level and type of bonds or 
other forms of security (and the 
monitoring of these);

4.  prepare advice and calculations 
in connection with bulk transfers 
and individual benefit-related 
matters;

5.  assist the Administering 
Authority in considering possible 
changes to employer contributions 
between formal valuations, where 
circumstances suggest this may 
be necessary;

6.  advise on the termination of 
employers’ participation in the 
Fund; and

7.  fully reflect actuarial 
professional guidance and 
requirements in the advice given to 
the Administering Authority.

B4  Other parties:-

1.  investment advisers (either 
internal or external) should ensure 
the Fund’s SIP/ISS remains 
appropriate, and consistent with 
this FSS;

2.  investment managers, 
custodians and bankers should 
all play their part in the effective 
investment (and dis-investment) of 
Fund assets, in line with the SIP/
ISS;

3.  auditors should comply 
with their auditing standards, 
ensure Fund compliance with all 
requirements, monitor and advise 
on fraud detection, and sign 
off annual reports and financial 
statements as required;

4.  governance advisers may 
be appointed to advise the 
Administering Authority on efficient 
processes and working methods in 
managing the Fund;

> Appendix B 
Responsibilities of key parties

Page 170



125  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

5.  legal advisers (either internal 
or external) should ensure the 
Fund’s operation and management 
remains fully compliant with all 
regulations and broader local 
government requirements, 
including the Administering 
Authority’s own procedures.

6.  the Department for 
Communities and Local 
Government (assisted by 
the Government Actuary’s 
Department) and the Scheme 
Advisory Board, should work with 
LGPS Funds to meet Section 13 
requirements.

C1 Types of risk 

The Administering Authority has an active risk management programme in place. The measures that it has in 
place to control key risks are summarised below under the following headings: 

 financial; 
 demographic; 
 regulatory; and 
 governance.

C2  Financial risks

> Appendix C 
Key risks and controls

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

Fund assets fail to deliver 
returns in line with the 
anticipated returns underpinning 
the valuation of liabilities over 
the long-term.

Only anticipate long-term returns on a relatively prudent basis to reduce 
risk of under-performing.

Assets invested on the basis of specialist advice, in a suitably diversified 
manner across asset classes, geographies, managers, etc.

Analyse progress at three yearly valuations for all employers.  

Inter-valuation roll-forward of liabilities between valuations at whole 
Fund level.   

Inappropriate long-term 
investment strategy.

Overall investment strategy options considered as an integral part of 
the funding strategy. Used asset liability modelling to measure four key 
outcomes.  

Chosen option considered to provide the best balance.

Fall in risk-free returns on 
Government bonds, leading to 
rise in value placed on liabilities.

Stabilisation modelling at whole Fund level allows for the probability of 
this within a longer term context.  

Inter-valuation monitoring, as above.

Some investment in bonds helps to mitigate this risk.  

Active investment manager 
under-performance relative to 
benchmark.

Quarterly investment monitoring analyses market performance and 
active managers relative to their index benchmark.  

Page 171



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  126

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

Pay and price inflation 
significantly more than 
anticipated.

The focus of the actuarial valuation process is on real returns on assets, 
net of price and pay increases. 

Inter-valuation monitoring, as above, gives early warning. 

Some investment in bonds also helps to mitigate this risk.  

Employers pay for their own salary awards and should be mindful of the 
geared effect on pension liabilities of any bias in pensionable pay rises 
towards longer-serving employees.  

Effect of possible increase in 
employer’s contribution rate on 
service delivery and admission/
scheduled bodies

An explicit stabilisation mechanism has been agreed as part of the 
funding strategy. Other measures are also in place to limit sudden 
increases in contributions.

Orphaned employers give rise 
to added costs for the Fund.

The Fund seeks a cessation debt (or security/guarantor) to minimise the 
risk of this happening in the future.

If it occurs, the Actuary calculates the added cost spread pro-rata 
among all employers – (see 3.9).

C2  Financial risks (continued)

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

Pensioners living longer, thus 
increasing cost to Fund.

Set mortality assumptions with some allowance for future increases in 
life expectancy.

The Fund Actuary has direct access to the experience of over 50 LGPS 
funds which allows early identification of changes in life expectancy that 
might in turn affect the assumptions underpinning the valuation.

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion 
of actively contributing 
employees declines relative to 
retired employees.

Continue to monitor at each valuation, consider seeking monetary 
amounts rather than % of pay and consider alternative investment 
strategies.

Deteriorating patterns of early 
retirements

Employers are charged the extra cost of non ill-health retirements 
following each individual decision.

Employer ill health retirement experience is monitored, and insurance is 
an option.

Reductions in payroll causing 
insufficient deficit recovery 
payments

In many cases this may not be sufficient cause for concern, and will 
in effect be caught at the next formal valuation. However, there are 
protections where there is concern, as follows:

Employers in the stabilisation mechanism may be brought out of that 
mechanism to permit appropriate contribution increases (see Note (b) to 
3.3).

For other employers, review of contributions is permitted in general 
between valuations (see Note (f) to 3.3) and may require a move in deficit 
contributions from a percentage of payroll to fixed monetary amounts.

C3 Demographic risks

Page 172



127  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

C4 Regulatory risks

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

Changes to national pension 
requirements and/or HMRC 
rules e.g. changes arising from 
public sector pensions reform.

The Administering Authority considers all consultation papers issued by 
the Government and comments where appropriate. 

The results of the most recent reforms were built into the 2013 
valuation. Any changes to member contribution rates or benefit levels 
will be carefully communicated with members to minimise possible opt-
outs or adverse actions. 

Time, cost and/or reputational 
risks associated with any DCLG 
intervention triggered by the 
Section 13 analysis 
(see Section 5).

Take advice from Fund Actuary on position of Fund as at prior 
valuation, and consideration of proposed valuation approach relative to 
anticipated Section 13 analysis.

Changes by Government to 
particular employer participation 
in LGPS Funds, leading to 
impacts on funding and/or 
investment strategies.

The Administering Authority considers all consultation papers issued by 
the Government and comments where appropriate. 

Take advice from Fund Actuary on impact of changes on the Fund and 
amend strategy as appropriate.

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

Administering Authority unaware 
of structural changes in an 
employer’s membership (e.g. 
large fall in employee members, 
large number of retirements) 
or not advised of an employer 
closing to new entrants.

The Administering Authority has a close relationship with employing 
bodies and communicates required standards e.g. for submission of 
data. 

The Actuary may revise the Rates and Adjustments certificate to 
increase an employer’s contributions between triennial valuations.

Deficit contributions may be expressed as monetary amounts.

Actuarial or investment advice is 
not sought, or is not heeded, or 
proves to be insufficient in some 
way.

The Administering Authority maintains close contact with its specialist 
advisers.

Advice is delivered via formal meetings involving Elected Members, and 
recorded appropriately.

Actuarial advice is subject to professional requirements such as peer 
review.

Administering Authority failing to 
commission the Fund Actuary 
to carry out a termination 
valuation for a departing 
Admission Body.

The Administering Authority requires employers with Best Value 
contractors to inform it of forthcoming changes.

Community Admission Bodies’ memberships are monitored and, if 
active membership decreases, steps will be taken.

C5 Governance risks

Page 173



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  128

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

An employer ceasing to exist 
with insufficient funding or 
adequacy of a bond.

The Administering Authority believes that it would normally be too late 
to address the position if it was left to the time of departure.

The risk is mitigated by:

 Seeking a funding guarantee from another scheme employer, 
or external body, wherever possible (see Notes (h) and (j) to 3.3).

Alerting the prospective employer to its obligations and encouraging 
it to take independent actuarial advice. 

Vetting prospective employers before admission.

Where permitted under the regulations requiring a bond to protect 
the Fund from various risks.

Requiring new Community Admission Bodies to have a guarantor.

Reviewing bond or guarantor arrangements at regular intervals (see 
Note (f) to 3.3).

Reviewing contributions well ahead of cessation if thought 
appropriate (see Note (a) to 3.3).

C5 Governance risks (continued)

In Section 2 there was a broad 
description of the way in which 
contribution rates are calculated.  
This Appendix considers these 
calculations in much more detail.

All three steps below are 
considered when setting 
contributions (more details are 
given in Section 3 and Appendix D:

1. The funding target is 
based on a set of assumptions 
about the future, eg investment 
returns, inflation, pensioners’ 
life expectancies. However, if an 
employer is approaching the end 
of its participation in the Fund 
then it’s funding target may be set 
on a more prudent basis, so that 
it’s liabilities are less likely to be 
spread among other employers 
after it’s cessation of participation;

2. The time horizon required 
is, in broad terms, the period 
over which any deficit is to be 
recovered. A shorter period will 
lead to higher contributions, and 
vice versa (all other things being 
equal). Employers may be given 
a lower time horizon if they have 
a less permanent anticipated 
membership, or do not have 
tax-raising powers to increase 
contributions if investment returns 
under-perform;

3. The required probability of 
achieving the funding target over 
that time horizon will be dependent 
on the Fund’s view of the strength 
of employer covenant and its 
funding profile. Where an employer 
is considered to be weaker, or 
potentially ceasing from the Fund, 

then the required probability will 
be set higher, which in turn will 
increase the required contributions 
(and vice versa).

The calculations involve actuarial 
assumptions about future 
experience, and these are 
described in detail in Appendix E.

D1  What is the difference 
between calculations 
across the whole Fund and 
calculations for an individual 
employer?

Employer contributions are 
normally made up of two elements:

a) the estimated cost of ongoing 
benefits being accrued, referred to 
as the “Primary contribution rate” 
(see D2 overleaf); plus

> Appendix D 
The calculation of Employer contributions

Page 174



129  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

b) an adjustment for the difference 
between the Primary rate above, 
and the actual contribution the 
employer needs to pay, referred 
to as the “Secondary contribution 
rate” (see D3 below). 

The contribution rate for each 
employer is measured as above, 
appropriate for each employer’s 
funding position and membership. 
The whole Fund position, including 
that used in reporting to DCLG 
(see section 5), is calculated 
in effect as the sum of all the 
individual employer rates. DCLG 
currently only regulates at whole 
Fund level, without monitoring 
individual employer positions.

D2  How is the Primary 
contribution rate calculated? 

The Primary element of the 
employer contribution rate is 
calculated with the aim that these 
contributions will meet benefit 
payments in respect of members’ 
future service in the Fund. This is 
based upon the cost (in excess 
of members’ contributions) of the 
benefits which employee members 
earn from their service each year.  

The Primary rate is calculated 
separately for all the employers, 
although employers within a pool 
will pay the contribution rate 
applicable to the pool as a whole.  
The Primary rate is calculated such 
that it is projected to:

1. meet the required funding 
target for all future years’ accrual 
of benefits*, excluding any accrued 
assets,

2. within the determined time 
horizon (see note 3.3 Note (c) for 
further details),

3. with a sufficiently high 
probability, as set by the Fund’s 
strategy for the category of 
employer (see 3.3 Note (e) for 
further details).

* The projection is for the current 
active membership where the 
employer no longer admits new 
entrants, or additionally allows 

for new entrants where this is 
appropriate.

The projections are carried out 
using an economic modeller 
developed by the Fund’s actuary 
Hymans Robertson: this allows 
for a wide range of outcomes as 
regards key factors such as asset 
returns (based on the Fund’s 
investment strategy), inflation, 
and bond yields. The measured 
contributions are calculated such 
that the proportion of outcomes 
meeting the employer’s funding 
target (by the end of the time 
horizon) is equal to the required 
probability. 

The approach includes expenses 
of administration to the extent that 
they are borne by the Fund, and 
includes allowances for benefits 
payable on death in service and on 
ill health retirement.

D3  How is the Secondary 
contribution rate calculated?

The combined Primary and 
Secondary rates aim to achieve 
the employer’s funding target, 
within the appropriate time 
horizon, with the relevant degree of 
probability.

For the funding target, the Fund 
actuary agrees the assumptions 
to be used with the Administering 
Authority – see Appendix E. These 
assumptions are used to calculate 
the present value of all benefit 
payments expected in the future, 
relating to that employer’s current 
and former employees, based 
on pensionable service to the 
valuation date only (i.e. ignoring 
further benefits to be built up in the 
future).

The Fund operates the same 
target funding level for all 
employers of 100% of its accrued 
liabilities valued on the ongoing 
basis, unless otherwise determined 
(see Section 3). 

The Secondary rate is calculated 
as the balance over and above the 
Primary rate, such that the total is 
projected to:

1. meet the required funding 
target relating to combined past 
and future service benefit accrual, 
including accrued asset share (see 
D5 opposite)

2. within the determined time 
horizon (see 3.3 Note (c) for further 
details)

3. with a sufficiently high 
probability, as set by the Fund’s 
strategy for the category of 
employer (see 3.3 Note (e) for 
further details).

The projections are carried out 
using an economic modeller 
developed by the Fund Actuary 
Hymans Robertson: this allows 
for a wide range of outcomes as 
regards key factors such as asset 
returns (based on the Fund’s 
investment strategy), inflation, 
and bond yields. The measured 
contributions are calculated such 
that the proportion of outcomes 
with at least 100% solvency (by 
the end of the time horizon) is 
equal to the required probability. 

D4  What affects a given 
employer’s valuation results?

The results of these calculations 
for a given individual employer will 
be affected by:

1. past contributions relative to 
the cost of accruals of benefits; 

2. different liability profiles of 
employers (e.g. mix of members 
by age, gender, service vs. salary);

3. the effect of any differences 
in the funding target, i.e. the 
valuation basis used to value the 
employer’s liabilities; 

4. any different time horizons;  

5. the difference between actual 
and assumed rises in pensionable 
pay;

6. the difference between actual 
and assumed increases to 
pensions in payment and deferred 
pensions;

Page 175



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  130

7. the difference between actual 
and assumed retirements on 
grounds of ill-health from active 
status;

8. the difference between actual 
and assumed amounts of pension 
ceasing on death;

9. the additional costs of any non 
ill-health retirements relative to any 
extra payments made; and/or

10.  differences in the required 
probability of achieving the funding 
target.

D5  How is each employer’s 
asset share calculated?

Until 31st March 2016 the 
Administering Authority did not 
account for each employer’s 
assets separately. Instead, the 
Fund’s actuary apportioned the 
assets of the whole Fund between 
the employers, at each triennial 
valuation. 

This apportionment uses the 
income and expenditure figures 
provided for certain cash 
flows for each employer. This 
process adjusts for transfers of 
liabilities between employers 
participating in the Fund, 
but does make a number of 

simplifying assumptions. The split 
is calculated using an actuarial 
technique known as “analysis of 
surplus”. 

Actual investment returns 
achieved on the Fund between 
each valuation are applied 
proportionately across all 
employers, to the extent that 
employers in effect share the same 
investment strategy. Transfers of 
liabilities between employers within 
the Fund occur automatically 
within this process, with a sum 
broadly equivalent to the reserve 
required on the ongoing basis 
being exchanged between the two 
employers.   

The Fund actuary does not allow 
for certain relatively minor events, 
including but not limited to:

1. the actual timing of employer 
contributions within any financial 
year;

2. the effect of the premature 
payment of any deferred pensions 
on grounds of incapacity.

These effects are swept up 
within a miscellaneous item in the 
analysis of surplus, which is split 
between employers in proportion 
to their liabilities.

The methodology adopted until 
31st March 2016 meant that there 
were inevitably some difference 
between the asset shares 
calculated for individual employers 
and those that would have resulted 
had they participated in their own 
ring-fenced section of the Fund.  

The asset apportionment was 
capable of verification but not to 
audit standard. The Administering 
Authority recognised the limitations 
in the process, and while it 
considered that the Fund actuary’s 
approach addressed the risks of 
employer cross-subsidisation to 
an acceptable degree, it decided 
to adopt a different apportionment 
approach going forward.

With effect from 1st April 2016, 
the Fund uses the Hymans 
Robertson Employer Asset 
Tracking model (“HEAT”), which 
apportions assets at individual 
employer level allowing for monthly 
cashflows per employer (e.g. 
contributions received, benefits 
paid out, investment returns, 
transfers in and out, etc). This 
revised approach gives a greater 
degree of accuracy, for employers’ 
benefit.

Page 176



131  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

E1  What are the actuarial 
assumptions?

These are expectations of future 
experience used to place a 
value on future benefit payments 
(“the liabilities”). Assumptions 
are made about the amount of 
benefit payable to members (the 
financial assumptions) and the 
likelihood or timing of payments 
(the demographic assumptions).  
For example, financial assumptions 
include investment returns, salary 
growth and pension increases; 
demographic assumptions include 
life expectancy, probabilities of 
ill-health early retirement, and 
proportions of member deaths 
giving rise to dependants’ benefits.  

Changes in assumptions will affect 
the measured funding target.  
However, different assumptions 
will not of course affect the actual 
benefits payable by the Fund in 
future.

The combination of all 
assumptions is described as the 
“basis”. A more optimistic basis 
might involve higher assumed 
investment returns (discount 
rate), or lower assumed salary 
growth, pension increases or life 
expectancy; a more optimistic 
basis will give lower funding 
targets and lower employer costs. 
A more prudent basis will give 
higher funding targets and higher 
employer costs.

E2  What basis is used by the 
Fund?

The Fund’s standard funding 
basis is described as the “ongoing 
basis”, which applies to most 
employers in most circumstances.  
This is described in more detail 
below. It anticipates employers 
remaining in the Fund in the long 
term.

However, in certain circumstances, 
typically where the employer is not 
expected to remain in the Fund 
long term, a more prudent basis 
applies: see Note (a) to 3.3.

E3  What assumptions are 
made in the ongoing basis?

a) Investment return / discount 
rate

The key financial assumption is the 
anticipated return on the Fund’s 
investments. This “discount rate” 
assumption makes allowance for 
an anticipated out-performance 
of Fund returns relative to long 
term yields on UK Government 
bonds (“gilts”). There is, however, 
no guarantee that Fund returns 
will out-perform gilts. The risk 
is greater when measured over 
short periods such as the three 
years between formal actuarial 
valuations, when the actual returns 
and assumed returns can deviate 
sharply.  

Given the very long-term nature of 
the liabilities, a long term view of 
prospective asset returns is taken.  
The long term in this context would 
be 20 to 30 years or more.  

For the purpose of the triennial 
funding valuation at 31st March 
2016 and setting contribution rates 
effective from 1st April 2017, the 
Fund actuary has assumed that 
future investment returns earned 
by the Fund over the long term 
will be 1.8% per annum greater 
than gilt yields at the time of the 
valuation (this is higher than that 
used at the 2013 valuation, which 
was 1.6%, which produces a 
lower funding target all other things 
being equal). In the opinion of the 
Fund actuary, based on analysis 
discussed with the Fund and the 
current investment strategy, this 
asset out-performance assumption 
is within a range that would be 

considered acceptable for the 
purposes of the funding valuation.

b) Salary growth

Pay for public sector employees 
is currently subject to restriction 
by the UK Government until 2020.  
Although this “pay freeze” does not 
officially apply to local government 
and associated employers, it has 
been suggested that they are 
likely to show similar restraint in 
respect of pay awards. Based on 
long term historical analysis of the 
membership in LGPS funds, and 
continued austerity measures, the 
salary increase assumption at the 
2016 valuation has been set to be 
a blended rate combined of:

1. 1% p.a. until 31st March 2020, 
followed by

2. Increases in line with the retail 
prices index (RPI) per annum 
thereafter.  

This emerges as a blended single 
salary growth assumption of RPI 
less 0.7%. This is a change from 
the previous valuation, which 
assumed a flat assumption of 
RPI plus 0.5% per annum. The 
change has led to a reduction in 
the funding target (all other things 
being equal).

c) Pension increases

Since 2011 the consumer prices 
index (CPI), rather than RPI, has 
been the basis for increases 
to public sector pensions in 
deferment and in payment. Note 
that the basis of such increases is 
set by the Government, and is not 
under the control of the Fund or 
any employers.

As at the previous valuation, 
we derive our assumption for 
RPI from market data as the 
difference between the yield on 

> Appendix E 
Actuarial assumptions

Page 177



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  132

long-dated fixed interest and 
index-linked government bonds.  
This is then reduced to arrive 
at the CPI assumption, to allow 
for the “formula effect” of the 
difference between RPI and CPI.  
At this valuation, we propose a 
reduction of 1.0% per annum.  
This is a larger reduction than at 
2013 (0.8%), which will serve to 
reduce the funding target (all other 
things being equal). (Note that the 
reduction is applied in a geometric, 
not arithmetic, basis).

d) Life expectancy

The demographic assumptions 
are intended to be best estimates 
of future experience in the Fund 
based on past experience of LGPS 
funds which participate in Club 
Vita, the longevity analytics service 
used by the Fund, and endorsed 
by the actuary.  

The longevity assumptions 
that have been adopted at this 
valuation are a bespoke set of 
“VitaCurves”, produced by the 

Club Vita’s detailed analysis, which 
are specifically tailored to fit the 
membership profile of the Fund.  
These curves are based on the 
data provided by the Fund for the 
purposes of this valuation. 

It is acknowledged that future life 
expectancy and, in particular, the 
allowance for future improvements 
in life expectancy, is uncertain.  
There is a consensus amongst 
actuaries, demographers 
and medical experts that life 
expectancy is likely to improve in 
the future. Allowance has been 
made in the ongoing valuation 
basis for future improvements in 
line with the 2013 version of the 
Continuous Mortality Investigation 
model published by the Actuarial 
Profession and a 1.25% per 
annum minimum underpin to future 
reductions in mortality rates. This 
is a similar allowance for future 
improvements than was made in 
2013.

The combined effect of the above 
changes from the 2013 valuation 

approach, is a slight reduction 
in assumed life expectancy on 
average. The approach taken is 
considered reasonable in light of 
the long term nature of the Fund 
and the assumed level of security 
underpinning members’ benefits.   

e) General

The same financial assumptions 
are adopted for most employers, 
in deriving the funding target 
underpinning the Primary and 
Secondary rates: as described in 
(3.3), these calculated figures are 
translated in different ways into 
employer contributions, depending 
on the employer’s circumstances.

The demographic assumptions, 
in particular the life expectancy 
assumption, in effect vary by type 
of member and so reflect the 
different membership profiles of 
employers.

Page 178



133  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Actuarial assumptions/basis 
The combined set of assumptions 
made by the actuary, regarding 
the future, to calculate the value 
of the funding target. The main 
assumptions will relate to the 
discount rate, salary growth, 
pension increases and longevity.  
More prudent assumptions will 
give a higher target value, whereas 
more optimistic assumptions will 
give a lower value. 

Administering Authority  
The council with statutory 
responsibility for running the Fund, 
in effect the Fund’s “trustees”.

Admission Bodies  
Employers where there is an 
Admission Agreement setting out 
the employer’s obligations. These 
can be Community Admission 
Bodies or Transferee Admission 
Bodies. For more details (see 2.3).

Covenant 
The assessed financial strength of 
the employer. A strong covenant 
indicates a greater ability (and 
willingness) to pay for pension 
obligations in the long run. A 
weaker covenant means that 
it appears that the employer 
may have difficulties meeting its 
pension obligations in full over the 
longer term.

Designating Employer 
Employers such as town and 
parish councils that are able 
to participate in the LGPS via 
resolution. These employers 
can designate which of their 
employees are eligible to join the 
Fund.

Discount rate 
The annual rate at which future 
assumed cashflows (in and out of 
the Fund) are discounted to the 
present day. This is necessary to 
provide a funding target which 
is consistent with the present 

day value of the assets. A lower 
discount rate gives a higher target 
value, and vice versa. It is used in 
the calculation of the Primary and 
Secondary rates. 

Employer   
An individual participating body in 
the Fund, which employs (or used 
to employ) members of the Fund. 
Normally the assets and funding 
target values for each employer 
are individually tracked, together 
with its Primary rate at each 
valuation. 

Funding target
The actuarially calculated present 
value of all pension entitlements 
of all members of the Fund, built 
up to date. This is compared with 
the present market value of Fund 
assets to derive the deficit. It is 
calculated on a chosen set of 
actuarial assumptions.

Gilt 
A UK Government bond, i.e. a 
promise by the Government to 
pay interest and capital as per 
the terms of that particular gilt, 
in return for an initial payment of 
capital by the purchaser. Gilts 
can be “fixed interest”, where 
the interest payments are level 
throughout the gilt’s term, or 
“index-linked” where the interest 
payments vary each year in line 
with a specified index (usually RPI). 
Gilts can be bought as assets by 
the Fund, but their main use in 
funding is as an objective measure 
of solvency.

Guarantee / Guarantor 
A formal promise by a third party 
(the guarantor) that it will meet 
any pension obligations not met 
by a specified employer. The 
presence of a guarantor will mean, 
for instance, that the Fund can 
consider the employer’s covenant 
to be as strong as its guarantor’s.

Letting employer 
An employer which outsources 
or transfers a part of its services 
and workforce to another 
employer (usually a contractor). 
The contractor will pay towards 
the LGPS benefits accrued by 
the transferring members, but 
ultimately the obligation to pay 
for these benefits will revert to the 
letting employer. A letting employer 
will usually be a local authority, but 
can sometimes be another type of 
employer such as an Academy.

LGPS 
The Local Government Pension 
Scheme, a public sector pension 
arrangement put in place via 
Government Regulations, for 
workers in local government.  
These Regulations also dictate 
eligibility (particularly for Scheduled 
Bodies), members’ contribution 
rates, benefit calculations and 
certain governance requirements.  
The LGPS is divided into 101 
Funds which map the UK. Each 
LGPS Fund is autonomous to the 
extent not dictated by Regulations, 
e.g. regarding investment strategy, 
employer contributions and choice 
of advisers. 

Maturity 
A general term to describe a Fund 
(or an employer’s position within 
a Fund) where the members are 
closer to retirement (or more 
of them already retired) and 
the investment time horizon is 
shorter. This has implications 
for investment strategy and, 
consequently, funding strategy. 

Members 
The individuals who have built 
up (and may still be building up) 
entitlement in the Fund. They 
are divided into actives (current 
employee members), deferreds 
(ex-employees who have not 
yet retired) and pensioners (ex-
employees who have now retired, 

> Appendix F 
Glossary

Page 179



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  134

and dependants of deceased 
ex-employees). 

Primary contribution rate The 
employer contribution rate required 
to pay for ongoing accrual of 
active members’ benefits (including 
an allowance for administrative 
expenses). See Appendix D for 
further details.

Profile 
The profile of an employer’s 
membership or liability reflects 
various measurements of that 
employer’s members, i.e. current 
and former employees. This 
includes: the proportions which are 
active, deferred or pensioner; the 
average ages of each category; 
the varying salary or pension 
levels; the lengths of service of 
active members vs. their salary 
levels, etc. A membership (or 
liability) profile might be measured 
for its maturity also.

Rates and Adjustments 
Certificate 
A formal document required by the 
LGPS Regulations, which must be 
updated at least every three years 
at the conclusion of the formal 
valuation. This is completed 
by the actuary and confirms the 
contributions to be paid by each 
employer (or pool of employers) 
in the Fund for the three year 
period until the next valuation is 
completed.

Scheduled Bodies  
Types of employer explicitly 
defined in the LGPS Regulations, 
whose employers must be offered 
membership of their local LGPS 
Fund. These include Councils, 
colleges, universities, academies, 
police and fire authorities etc, 
other than employees who have 
entitlement to a different public 
sector pension scheme (e.g. 
teachers, police and fire officers, 
university lecturers). 

Secondary contribution 
rate 
The difference between the 
employer’s actual and Primary 
contribution rates. In broad 
terms, this relates to the shortfall 
of its asset share to its funding 
target. See Appendix D for further 
details.

Stabilisation 
Any method used to smooth out 
changes in employer contributions 
from one year to the next. This 
is very broadly required by the 
LGPS Regulations, but in practice 
is particularly employed for large 
stable employers in the Fund.  
Different methods may involve: 
probability-based modelling 
of future market movements; 
longer deficit recovery periods; 
higher discount rates; or some 
combination of these. 

Valuation 
An actuarial investigation to 
calculate the liabilities, future 
service contribution rate and 
common contribution rate for 
a Fund, and usually individual 
employers too. This is normally 
carried out in full every three years 
(last done as at 31st March 2016), 
but can be approximately updated 
at other times. The assets value 
is based on market values at the 
valuation date, and the liabilities 
value and contribution rates are 
based on long term bond market 
yields at that date also.

Page 180



135  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

This is the Investment Strategy 
Statement (“ISS”) of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund (“the 
Fund”), which is administered by 
Gloucestershire County Council, 
(“the Administering Authority”). 
The ISS is made in accordance 
with Regulation 7 of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
(Management and Investment of 
Funds) Regulations 2016 (“the 
Regulations”). 

The ISS has been prepared by the 
Fund’s Pension Committee (“the 
Committee”) having taken advice 
from the investment consultancy 
team at Hymans Robertson LLP, 
and the Fund’s Independent 
Advisor. The Committee acts on 
the delegated authority of the 
Administering Authority. 

The ISS, which was approved by 
the Committee in March 2017, 
is subject to periodic review 
at least every three years and 
without delay after any significant 
change in investment policy. The 
Committee has consulted on the 
contents of the Fund’s investment 
strategy with such persons it 
considers appropriate. 

The Committee seeks to invest 
in accordance with the ISS, any 
Fund money that is not needed 
immediately to make payments 
from the Fund. The ISS should be 
read in conjunction with the Fund’s 
Funding Strategy (dated February 
2017).

The suitability of particular 
investments and types of 
investments 

The primary objective of the Fund 
is to provide pension and lump 
sum benefits for members on 
their retirement and/or benefits on 

death for their dependants, on a 
defined benefits basis. This funding 
position will be reviewed at each 
triennial actuarial valuation, or more 
frequently as required. 

The Committee aims to fund the 
Fund in such a manner that, in 
normal market conditions, all 
accrued benefits are fully covered 
by the value of the Fund’s assets 
and that an appropriate level of 
contributions is agreed by the 
employers to meet the cost of 
future benefits accruing. For 
employee members, benefits will 
be based on service completed 
but will take account of future 
salary and/or inflation increases. 

The Committee has translated its 
objectives into a suitable strategic 
asset allocation benchmark for 
the Fund. This benchmark is 
consistent with the Committee’s 
views on the appropriate balance 
between generating a satisfactory 
long-term return on investments 
whilst taking account of market 
volatility and risk and the nature of 
the Fund’s liabilities. 

It is intended that the Fund’s 
investment strategy will be 
reviewed at least every three years 
following actuarial valuations of the 
Fund. 

The Fund carried out an asset 
liability modelling exercise in 
conjunction with the 2016 actuarial 
valuation. A number of different 
contribution and investment 
strategies were modelled and 
the future evolution of the Fund 
considered under a wide range of 
different scenarios. The Committee 
considered the chances of 
achieving their long term funding 
target – achieving a fully funded 
position within the next 17 years. 

They also considered the level 
of downside risk in the various 
strategies by identifying the low 
funding levels which might emerge 
in the event of poor outcomes.

This approach helps to ensure that 
the investment strategy takes due 
account of the maturity profile of 
the Fund (in terms of the relative 
proportions of liabilities in respect 
of pensioners, deferred and active 
members), together with the level 
of disclosed surplus or deficit 
(relative to the funding bases 
used). 

In addition, the Committee 
monitors investment strategy on an 
ongoing basis, focusing on factors 
including, but not limited to:

 Suitability, given the Fund’s level 
of funding and liability profile 

 The level of expected risk 

 The outlook for asset returns 

The Committee also monitors 
the Fund’s actual allocation on a 
regular basis to ensure it does not 
notably deviate from the target 
allocation. 

Investment of money 
in a wide variety of 
investments 

Asset classes 

The Fund may invest in quoted 
and unquoted securities of UK 
and overseas markets including 
equities and fixed interest and 
index linked bonds, cash, property, 
and loans either directly or through 
pooled funds. The Fund may 
also make use of contracts for 
differences and other derivatives 
either directly or in pooled funds 

Investment Strategy 
Statement

Page 181



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  136

investing in these products for 
the purpose of efficient portfolio 
management or to hedge specific 
risks. 

The Committee reviews the nature 
of Fund investments on a regular 
basis, with particular reference 
to suitability and diversification. 
The Committee seeks and 
considers written advice from 
a suitably qualified person in 
undertaking such a review. If, at 
any time, investment in a security 
or product not previously known 
to the Committee is proposed, 
appropriate advice is sought and 
considered to ensure its suitability 
and diversification. 

The Committee has recently 
carried out a review of the 

investment strategy. The 
conclusions of the review were 
that the Fund could afford to 
take a modestly lower level of 
investment risk and that the BPP 
pool arrangements would allow 
more opportunity for cost-effective 
diversification into other ‘return-
seeking’ assets. As a result, the 
overall target allocation to equities 
has been reduced and there 
have been increases in the target 
allocations to corporate bonds, 
diversified credit, infrastructure and 
private debt. 

The new target investment 
strategy is set out below. In 
line with the Regulations, the 
authority’s investment strategy 
does not permit more than 5% of 
the total value of all investments 

of fund money to be invested 
in entities which are connected 
with that authority within the 
meaning of section 212 of the 
Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007. 

The short term target allocation 
refers to the proposed allocation 
prior to the investment of assets 
within the Brunel pool. The 
medium term target allocation 
refers to the proposed allocation 
within the Brunel pool once the 
Equity and Bond Funds are 
launched. The long term target 
allocation refers to the intended 
allocation once the range of Brunel 
funds have all been established.

Table 1: Target asset allocations by Investment Category

   Evolution of Brunel Funds All Brunel
   the Brunel Pool Launched Funds available

 Investment Current Final proposed Final proposed Final proposed
 Category allocation (%) Short Term Medium Term Long Term
   target target target
   allocation (%) allocation (%) allocation (%)

 Equities  65.0 60.5 60.5 58.5

 Alternatives  17.0 20.0 20.0 22.0

 Core Bonds  18.0 19.5 19.5 19.5

 Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

Page 182



137  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Table 2: Target asset allocations by Individual Asset Category

 Evolution of  Pre-pooling Brunel Equity/ All Brunel
 the Brunel Pool   Bond Funds Funds available
    launched

  Current FINAL Short FINAL Medium FINAL Long
  allocation (%) Term target Term target Term target
   allocation (%) allocation (%) allocation (%)

 UK Core Active  20.0  18.5  - -
 UK High Active  -  - 7.5  7.5 
 UK Passive  -  - 7.5  7.5 
 Global Core Active  23.5  22.5  - -
 Global High Active  - - 20.5  20.5 
 Global Passive  17.5  15.5  13.5  11.5 
 Smart Beta Equity Passive - - 7.5 7.5
 Emerging Markets Passive  4.0  4.0  4.0  4.0 

 Total Equities  65.0  60.5  60.5  58.5  

 DGF  5.0  5.0  5.0  5.0 
 Infrastructure Capital  -  -  - 2.0 
 Property  7.5  7.5  7.5  7.5 
 Private Debt  - 2.5  2.5  2.5 
 Multi Sector Credit  4.5  5.0  5.0  5.0 

 Total Alternatives  17.0  20.0  20.0  22.0 

 UK Corporate Bonds  6.0  7.5  7.5  7.5 
 Fixed Interest Gilts  6.0  6.0  - - 
 Index Linked Gilts  6.0  6.0  -  - 
 Passive Gilts/  -  -  12.0  12.0 
 Index Linked Gilts

 Total Core Bonds  18.0  19.5  19.5  19.5 

 TOTAL ALL  100  100  100  100 

As at February 2017, the expected 
return on the final target portfolio 
is approximately 5.4% p.a. with 
an expected annual volatility of the 
funding level of 9.6%. This volatility 
includes an assumed diversification 
benefit. Further details on the 
Fund’s risks, including the 
approach to mitigating risks, is 
provided in the following section.

Restrictions on investment 

The Regulations have removed 
the previous restrictions 
that applied under the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
(Management and Investment 

of Funds) Regulations 2009. 
The Committee’s approach to 
setting its investment strategy and 
assessing the suitability of different 
types of investment takes account 
of the various risks involved and 
a rebalancing policy is applied to 
maintain the asset split close to 
the agreed asset allocation target. 
Therefore it is not felt necessary 
to set additional restrictions on 
investments. 

Managers 

The Committee has appointed a 
number of investment managers 
all of whom are authorised under 

the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 to undertake investment 
business. 

The Committee, after seeking 
appropriate investment advice, 
has agreed specific benchmarks 
with each manager so that, in 
aggregate, they are consistent 
with the overall asset allocation 
for the Fund. The Fund’s 
investment managers will hold 
a mix of investments which 
reflects their views relative to their 
respective benchmarks. Within 
each major market and asset 
class, the managers will maintain 
diversified portfolios through direct 

Page 183



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  138

investment or pooled vehicles. The manager of the 
passive funds in which the Fund invests holds a mix 
of investments within each pooled fund that reflects 
that of their respective benchmark indices. 

The individual investment manager mandates in 
which the Fund assets will be invested prior to 
investing in the Brunel pool are as follows:-

 Investment Asset Class Investment Benchmark
 Manager  style Index

 Standard Life  UK Equities  Active FTSE All Share

 Blackrock  Global Equities  Active MSCI AC World

 Blackrock  Global Equities  Passive MSCI World (Hedged)

 Blackrock  Emerging Market Equities  Passive MSCI Em. Markets

 Standard Life  Diversified Growth  Active Cash + 5%

 Hermes  UK Property  Active IPD UK Balanced

 CBRE  UK and Global Property  Active IPD UK Balanced

 Western  Multi Sector Credit  Active Cash + 2%

 Western  Bonds  Active Composite – Gilts, Index   
    Linked and Corporate Bonds

In addition, there are small 
holdings in two private equity 
funds managed by Yorkshire Fund 
Managers and Technology Venture 
Partners LLP. 

The approach to risk, 
including the ways in 
which risks are to be 
measured and managed 

The Committee is aware that 
the Fund has a need to take 
risk to help it achieve its funding 
objectives. It has an active risk 
management programme in place 
that aims to help it identify the 
risks being taken and put in place 
processes to manage, measure, 
monitor and (where possible) 
mitigate the risks being taken. 

The principal risks affecting the 
Fund are set out below, we also 
discuss the Fund’s approach to 
managing these risks and the 
contingency plans that are in 
place: 

Funding risks 

 Financial mismatch – The risk 
that Fund assets fail to grow in 
line with the developing cost of 
meeting the liabilities

 Changing demographics –
The risk that longevity improves 
and other demographic factors 
change, increasing the cost of 
Fund benefits. 

 Systemic risk - The possibility 
of an interlinked and simultaneous 
failure of several asset classes 
and/or investment managers, 
possibly compounded by financial 
‘contagion’, resulting in an 
increase in the cost of meeting the 
Fund’s liabilities. 

The Committee measures and 
manages financial mismatch in 
two ways. As indicated above, 
the Committee has set a strategic 
asset allocation benchmark for 
the Fund. This benchmark was 
set taking into account asset 
liability modelling which focused 
on probability of success and level 
of downside risk. This analysis will 
be revisited as part of the 2019 
valuation process. The Committee 
assesses risk relative to the 
strategic benchmark by monitoring 
the Fund’s asset allocation and 
investment returns relative to the 
benchmark. The Committee also 
assesses risk relative to liabilities 
by monitoring the delivery of 
benchmark returns relative to 
liabilities. 

The Committee also seeks to 
understand the assumptions used 
in any analysis and modelling so 
they can be compared to their 
own views and the level of risks 
associated with these assumptions 
to be assessed. 

The Committee seeks to mitigate 
systemic risk through a diversified 
portfolio but it is not possible to 
make specific provision for all 
possible eventualities that may 
arise under this heading. 

Asset risks 

 Concentration - The risk 
that a significant allocation to 
any single asset category and 
its underperformance relative 
to expectation would result in 
difficulties in achieving funding 
objectives. 

 Illiquidity - The risk that the 
Fund cannot meet its immediate 
liabilities because it has insufficient 
liquid assets. 

 Currency risk – The risk that 
the currency of the Fund’s assets 
underperforms relative to Sterling 
(i.e. the currency of the liabilities). 

Page 184



139  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

 Environmental, social and 
governance (“ESG”) – The risk that 
ESG related factors reduce the 
Fund’s ability to generate the long-
term returns. 

 Manager underperformance - 
The failure by the fund managers 
to achieve the rate of investment 
return assumed in setting their 
mandates. 

The Committee measure and 
manage asset risks as follows: 

The Fund’s strategic asset 
allocation benchmark invests 
in a diversified range of asset 
classes. The Committee has put 
in place rebalancing arrangements 
to ensure the Fund’s “actual 
allocation” does not deviate 
substantially from its target. 
The Fund invests in a range of 
investment mandates each of 
which has a defined objective, 
performance benchmark and 
manager process which, taken 
in aggregate, help reduce the 
Fund’s asset concentration risk. By 
investing across a range of assets, 
including liquid quoted equities 
and bonds, the Committee has 
recognised the need for access to 
liquidity in the short term. 

The Fund in a range of overseas 
markets which provides a 
diversified approach to currency 
markets; the Committee also 
assess the Fund’s currency 
risk during their risk analysis. A 
proportion of the currency risk 
relating to the Fund’s overseas 
equity investments is hedged 
through investment in currency 
hedged fund units with Blackrock. 
Details of the Fund’s approach to 
managing ESG risks is set out later 
in this document.

The Committee has considered 
the risk of underperformance by 
any single investment manager 
and have attempted to reduce 
this risk by appointing more 
than one manager and having a 
proportion of the Scheme’s assets 

managed on a passive basis. The 
Committee assess the Fund’s 
managers’ performance on a 
regular basis, and will take steps, 
including potentially replacing 
one or more of their managers, if 
underperformance persists. 

Other provider risk 

 Transition risk - The risk of 
incurring unexpected costs 
in relation to the transition of 
assets among managers. When 
carrying out significant transitions, 
the Committee seeks suitable 
professional advice. 

 Custody risk - The risk of losing 
economic rights to Fund assets, 
when held in custody or when 
being traded. 

 Credit default - The possibility 
of default of a counterparty in 
meeting its obligations. 

 Stock-lending – The possibility 
of default and loss of economic 
rights to Fund assets. 

The Committee monitors and 
manages risks in these areas 
through a process of regular 
scrutiny of its providers, and audit 
of the operations it conducts for 
the Fund, or has delegated such 
monitoring and management of 
risk to the appointed investment 
managers as appropriate (e.g. 
custody risk in relation to pooled 
funds). The Committee has the 
power to replace a provider should 
serious concerns exist. 

A separate schedule of risks 
that the Fund monitors is set out 
in the Fund’s Funding Strategy 
Statement. 

The approach to pooling 
investments, including 
the use of collective 
investment vehicles and 
shared services 

The Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund is working with nine other 

administering authorities to pool 
investment assets through the 
Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. 
(BPP Ltd). This is currently work 
in progress with the intention 
of meeting the Government’s 
requirement for the pool to 
become operational and for the 
first assets to transition to the 
pool from April 2018.The Fund’s 
intention is to invest its assets 
through the BPP pool as and 
when suitable investment solutions 
become available. An indicative 
timetable for investing through the 
Pool was set out in the July 2016 
submission to Government. The 
key criteria for assessment of Pool 
solutions will be as follows: 

1 That the Pool enables access to 
an appropriate solution that meets 
the objectives and benchmark 
criteria set by the Fund. 

2 That there is financial benefit to 
the Fund in investing in the solution 
offered by the Pool. 

The detailed parameters and 
objectives of the BPP fund range 
are still being finalised. 

At the time of preparing this 
statement, the Fund has elected 
not to invest the following assets 
via the BPP Pool: 

 Holdings in two closed end 
fixed life venture capital funds 
managed by Technology Venture 
Partners LLP and Yorkshire Fund 
Managers, namely the South West 
Region Venture Capital Fund and 
Chandos Fund. Commitments 
to these funds total £5.5m. The 
funds will mature over the next few 
years and repay their proceeds 
to the Fund. There is no effective 
secondary market for the Fund’s 
investments. 

Any assets not invested in BPP 
will be reviewed at least every 
three years to determine whether 
the rationale remains appropriate, 
and whether it continues to 
demonstrate value for money.

Page 185



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  140

Once the Brunel Pension 
Partnership Ltd. is established the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund, 
through the Pension Committee, 
will retain the responsibility for 
setting the detailed Strategic 
Asset Allocation for the Fund and 
allocating investment assets to the 
portfolios provided by BPP Ltd. 

The Brunel Pension Partnership 
Ltd will be a new company which 
will be wholly owned by the 
Administering Authorities. The 
company will seek authorisation 
from the Financial Conduct 
Authority (FCA) to act as the 
operator of an unregulated 
Collective Investment Scheme. 
It will be responsible for 
implementing the detailed 
Strategic Asset Allocations of the 
participating funds by investing 
Funds assets within defined 
outcome focused investment 
portfolios. In particular it will 
research and select the Manager 
Operated Funds needed to meet 
the requirements of the detailed 
Strategic Asset Allocations. 
These Manager Operated Funds 
will be operated by professional 
external investment managers. 
The Gloucestershire fund will be a 
client of BPP Ltd and as a client 
will have the right to expect certain 
standards and quality of service. 

A detailed service agreement is 
being drafted which will set out 
the duties and responsibilities 
of BPP ltd, and the rights of the 
Gloucestershire Fund as a client. It 
includes a duty of care of BPP to 
act in its clients’ interests. 

An Oversight Board will be 
established. This will be comprised 
of representatives from each of 
the Administering Authorities. It 
will be set up by them according 
to an agreed constitution and 
terms of reference. Acting for the 
Administering Authorities, it will 
have ultimate responsibility for 
ensuring that BPP Ltd delivers 
the services required to achieve 
investment pooling. It will therefore 

have a monitoring and oversight 
function. Subject to its terms of 
reference it will be able to consider 
relevant matters on behalf of the 
Administering Authorities, but will 
not have delegated powers to take 
decisions requiring shareholder 
approval. These will be remitted 
back to each Administering 
Authority individually. 

The Oversight Board will be 
supported by the Client Group, 
comprised primarily of pension 
investment officers drawn 
from each of the Administering 
Authorities but will also draw on 
Administering Authorities finance 
and legal officers from time to 
time. It will have a primary role in 
reviewing the implementation of 
pooling by BPP Ltd, and provide 
a forum for discussing technical 
and practical matters, confirming 
priorities, and resolving differences. 
It will be responsible for providing 
practical support to enable 
the Oversight Board to fulfil its 
monitoring and oversight function. 

The proposed arrangements for 
asset pooling for the Brunel pool 
have been formulated to meet 
the requirements of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
(Management and Investment 
of Funds) Regulations 2016 
and Government guidance. 
Regular reports have been made 
to Government on progress 
towards the pooling of investment 
assets, and the Minister for Local 
Government has confirmed that 
the pool should proceed as set out 
in the proposals made. 

Gloucestershire County Council 
has approved the full business 
case for the Brunel Pension 
Partnership. It is anticipated 
that investment assets will be 
transitioned across from the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund’s 
existing investment managers 
to the portfolios managed by 
BPP Ltd between April 2018 
and March 2020 in accordance 
with a timetable that will be 

agreed with BPP Ltd. Until such 
time as transitions take place, 
the Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will continue to maintain 
the relationship with its current 
investment managers and oversee 
their investment performance, 
working in partnership with BPP 
Ltd. where appropriate. 

Following the completion of the 
transition plan outlined above, 
it is envisaged that all of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund’s 
assets will be invested through 
BPP Ltd. However, the Fund has 
certain commitments to long term 
illiquid investment funds which will 
take longer to transition across 
to the new portfolios to be set up 
by BPP Ltd. These assets will be 
managed in partnership with BPP 
Ltd. until such time as they are 
liquidated, and capital is returned.

How social, environmental 
or corporate governance 
considerations are taken 
into account in the 
selection, non-selection, 
retention and realisation 
of investments 

It is recognised that ESG factors 
can influence long term investment 
performance and the ability to 
achieve long term sustainable 
returns. The Committee 
consider the Fund’s approach to 
responsible investment in two key 
areas: 

 Sustainable investment / 
ESG factors – considering the 
financial impact of environmental, 
social and governance (ESG) 
factors on its investments. 

 Stewardship and 
governance – acting as 
responsible and active investors/
owners, through considered 
voting of shares, and encouraging 
its investment managers to 
engage with investee company 
management as part of the 
investment process. 

Page 186



141  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

At the present time the Committee 
does not take into account 
non-financial factors when 
selecting, retaining, or realising 
its investments. The Committee 
understand the Fund is not able 
to exclude investments in order to 
pursue boycotts, divestment and 
sanctions against foreign nations 
and UK defence industries, other 
than where formal legal sanctions, 
embargoes and restrictions 
have been put in place by the 
Government. 

To date, the Fund’s approach to 
Social investments has largely 
been to delegate this to their 
underlying investment managers 
as part of their overall ESG duties. 
The Fund’s managers report on 
this matter in their quarterly reports 
to the Committee. 

The Fund does not hold any 
assets which it deems to be social 
investments. 

The Brunel Pension Partnership 
Investment Principles clearly 
articulate the commitment of each 
Fund in the Partnership and its 
operator (Brunel Company), to be 
responsible investors and as such 
recognise that social, environment 
and corporate governance 
considerations are part of the 
processes in the selection, non-
selection, retention and realisation 
of assets. One of the principal 
benefits, outlined in the BPP 
business case, achieved through 
scale and resources arising 
from pooling is the improved 
implementation of responsible 
investment and stewardship. 
Every portfolio, in every asset 
class, under the Brunel Pension 
Partnership, explicitly includes 
responsible investment and 
includes an assessment of how 

social, environment and corporate 
governance considerations may 
present financial risks to the 
delivery of the portfolio objectives. 
These considerations will therefore 
be taken into account in the 
selection, non-selection, retention 
and realisation of assets. The 
approach undertaken will vary in 
order to be the most effective in 
mitigating risks and enhancing 
investor value in relation to each 
portfolio and its objectives. More 
information is on the BPP website. 

The exercise of rights 
(including voting rights) 
attaching to investments 

Voting rights 

The Committee has delegated 
the exercise of voting rights to the 
investment managers on the basis 
that voting power will be exercised 
by them with the objective 
of preserving and enhancing 
long term shareholder value. 
Accordingly, the Fund’s managers 
have produced written guidelines 
of their process and practice in 
this regard. The managers are 
strongly encouraged to vote in 
line with their guidelines in respect 
of all resolutions at annual and 
extraordinary general meetings of 
companies under Regulation 7(2)
(f). The Committee monitor the 
voting decisions made by all its 
investment managers on a regular 
basis.

Stewardship 

The Committee will be reviewing 
its policy towards becoming a 
signatory to the Stewardship Code 
as published by the Financial 
Reporting Council. In relation to 
the asset classes where the UK 

Stewardship Code is relevant, our 
Fund Managers are signatories. 
The Committee expects both 
the BPP pool and any directly 
appointed fund managers to 
comply with the Stewardship Code 
and this is monitored on an annual 
basis. 

In addition, the Fund believes in 
collective engagement and is a 
member of the Local Authority 
Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF), 
through which it collectively 
exercises a voice across a range of 
corporate governance issues. 

As part of the Brunel Pension 
Partnership (BPP) we are exploring 
opportunities to enhance our 
stewardship activities. More 
information is on the BPP website. 
One of the principal benefits, 
outlined in the BPP business 
case, achieved through scale and 
resources arising from pooling 
is the improved implementation 
of responsible investment and 
stewardship. Once established and 
fully operation the Brunel company 
will deliver best practice standards 
in responsible investment and 
stewardship as outlined in the BPP 
Investment Principles.

Page 187



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  142

Communications Policy

The following Communications 
Policy Statement outlines how the 
Fund communicates with scheme 
members, their representatives 
and employers and was reviewed 
in August 2018.

All employers are instructed to 
issue new employees with a 
pensions starter pack provided by 
the Administering Authority, which 
provides information regarding 
the pension scheme and the 
individual’s options together with 
links to where more detailed 
scheme information can be 
obtained.

HR and Payroll Guides to the 2014 
Scheme are provided by the Local 
Government Association on the 
National LGPS 2014 Regulations 
& Guidance website. A link to 
this information is provided 
on the Employer page of the 
Fund’s website together with an 
administration guide to the 2008 
Scheme. 

During 2018/19 the Pension Fund 
communicated with scheme 
members, their representatives 
and employers as set out in the 
policy statement below. 

> Communications Policy Statement

Various means are employed to 
communicate with the Fund’s 
stakeholders. These are described 
in respect of each interested group 
as shown below:

Members of the Scheme 

An Annual Meeting is held each 
December and provides the main 
opportunity for the Fund to explain 
its performance and accounts 
to members of the Fund and 
employers.

The Fund’s Annual Report is 
also placed on the pension 
pages of the County Council’s 
website. This Report includes 
the Fund’s policy statements 
covering Funding Strategy, 
Governance, Communication 
and Administration. In addition, 
each policy statement is listed 
separately on the website.

All pensioner members receive a 
pension newsletter each April that 

covers matters of interest. 

An annual Benefit Statement is 
sent to all active and deferred 
members of the Fund showing 
their accrued benefits up to the 
end of the previous financial year. 
At this time the opportunity is 
also taken to include information 
on current matters of interest to 
scheme members. 

Information on the scheme and 
changes to it are posted on the 
pension pages of the County 
Council’s website and where 
appropriate these are also posted 
onto the “news” section of the staff 
intranet. 

The Authority continues to send 
payslips to pensioners every April, 
May and October. The October 
pensioner pay slips include an 
invitation to the Fund’s Annual 
Meeting and details on how to 
access the annual report and 
accounts.

Page 188



143  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Pay slips are also sent where 
the difference in the net pension 
payment is £10 or more from the 
previous month.

All active scheme members are 
sent an invitation to attend the 
Fund’s Annual Meeting, via their 
employer and are given the link 
to the County Council’s website 
to access a copy of the Fund’s 
annual report and accounts. They 
are also given details on how to 
request a paper copy of the annual 
report and accounts. 

Prospective Members 
of the Scheme 

All employers are provided with a 
link to the employers’ pages of the 
Fund’s pension website, together 
with instructions on how to supply 
all prospective members of the 
scheme with a pensions pack. 
This pack informs individuals of 
the benefits of the scheme as well 
as details about where they can 
obtain further information. 

Advice and guidance is provided 
by Pensions staff to all employers 
within the Fund on an on-going 
basis.

Scheme Employers 

An online employers’ guide to the 
scheme is made available to all 
new and prospective employers 
via the County Council’s website.

Employers are also consulted 
on key revisions to the Funds 

strategy and policy documents 
- the Investment Strategy 
Statement, the Governance Policy 
and Compliance Statements, 
the Administration Strategy, the 
Communication Policy and the 
Funding Strategy Statement. 

Employer forums are held with 
the administering authority at 
least twice yearly to help improve 
understanding of: the pension 
scheme; the employers’ role and 
ways of improving the accuracy 
and timeliness of scheme 
administration. All employers 
are invited to attend. Minutes 
of the meetings and copies of 
any presentations are sent to all 
employers, including those unable 
to attend.

Copies of all relevant 
communications received centrally 
(i.e. from MHCLG, Treasury, 
HMRC, LGA, etc.) are circulated 
to employers to ensure they are 
kept informed. These documents 
are often discussed in detail 
at the Employers Forums. In 
addition, communications relating 
to operational requirements 
and changes are circulated to 
employers where required.

Where we are informed of a 
transfer, direct dialogue takes 
place between the administering 
authority and employers being 
affected by business transfers 
to ensure trades unions and 
prospective employers understand 
the pension scheme. 

Every three years when the 

triennial valuation takes place 
meetings are arranged with the 
actuary to discuss the outcome 
of the valuation, contribution rates 
and e.g. options around phasing 
in any increase in contribution 
required. 

Meetings are held with the 
Chief Financial Officers of 
District Councils where there 
is an opportunity for current 
developments and issues to be 
presented and discussed. 

Employee Representation 

The Pension Committee includes 
an employee representative 
nominated by the trades unions, 
as one of its members. The 
employee representative also 
represents pensioners and 
deferred members.

Employee representatives are 
involved in consultation where 
business transfers are proposed. 

Pension Board 

The Gloucestershire Pension 
Board meets at least twice a 
year and includes two employer 
representatives and two employee 
representatives. Members of 
the public are able to attend as 
observers.

Page 189



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  144

Summary of Fund Benefits 

Introduction

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
is administered under the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) Regulations. Benefits 
built up from 1st April 2014 are 
calculated on a Career Average 
Revalued Earnings (C.A.R.E.) 
basis. Benefits accrued prior to 
1st April 2014 continue to be 
protected on a “final salary” basis.

The scheme is open to all eligible 
employees regardless of the hours 
worked and continues to provide 
a comprehensive set of benefits 
for its members. Shown below is a 
summary of the key features of the 
scheme currently in force from 1st 
April 2014. This summary is only 
provided as an illustrative guide 
of some of the key features of the 
scheme and is not intended to give 
details of all the benefits provided, 
or the specific conditions relating 
to the provisions of the scheme.

Enquiries

Enquiries and more detailed 
information on the LGPS can 
be obtained by visiting the 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Pensions website at www.
gloucestershire.gov.uk/
pensions or from the Pensions 
Section at Shire Hall, Gloucester, 
phone (01452) 328888.

Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
Regulations 2013 (as 
amended) – 

Principal Features of the 
Scheme in Force from   
1st April 2014

 Employee Contribution Rate – 
Variable (9 Band Rates) between 
5.5% and 12.5% depending on 
level of earnings.

 Annual Pension and Lump Sum 

 C.A.R.E. Pension based 
on 1/49th of pensionable pay 
attributable to each year of 
membership (index linked by C.P.I.) 
from 1st April 2014 PLUS option 
to exchange up to ¼ of pension 
pot for a lump sum (each £1 of 
pension providing £12 lump sum).

 Any membership between 1st 
April 2008 and 31st March 2014 
will provide a pension based on 
1/60th of final years pensionable 
pay for each year of membership 
PLUS option to exchange up to 
¼ of pension pot for a lump sum 
(each £1 of pension providing £12 
lump sum)

 Any pre 1st April 2008 
membership will provide “standard 
benefits” of a pension based on 
1/80th of final years pensionable 
pay for each year of membership 
PLUS a lump sum of three times 
the pension. There is also the 
option to exchange part of the 
pension to increase the lump sum 
to ¼ of the pension pot (each £1 of 
pension providing £12 lump sum).

 50:50 Option - allowing 
members the option to pay half 
contributions for half pension 
benefits.

 Normal Retirement Date - Later 
of State Pension Age or age 65. 
Member also has the right to retire 
from age 55 (although benefits 
will normally suffer an actuarial 
reduction). 

 Earliest Retirement Date – 
age 55 in cases of – Member 
initiated Early Retirement / Flexible 
Retirement / Redundancy / 
Efficiency of the Service. 

 Ill Health Retirement – early 
payment of benefits (irrespective 

of age) if “permanently” incapable 
of continuing in the employment 
the member was engaged in 
due to medical reasons and 
is not immediately capable 
of undertaking any “gainful 
employment” in the future. Level 
of benefits based on a three tier 
system, depending on likelihood 
of being able to obtain “gainful 
employment”.

 Provision for an ongoing pension 
is provided for a spouse, registered 
civil partner, eligible cohabiting 
partner (subject to certain qualifying 
conditions) and/or any eligible 
children in the event of a member’s 
death.   

 Lump Sum Death Grant - In the 
event of death in service, a lump 
sum death grant of three times 
annual pay is payable.

 Index Linking - Pensions are 
increased in accordance with 
annual review orders made under 
the Pension (Increase) Act 1971.  
The index currently used for this 
purpose is the Consumer Price 
Index (CPI).

 Additional Pension Benefits 
- In house facilities to increase 
potential benefits by:

 paying additional monthly 
contributions to purchase 
additional pension (to a maximum 
(at 1st April 2018) of £6,822);

 making additional voluntary 
contributions to Prudential’s in-
house AVC arrangement to provide 
an additional pension benefit at 
retirement.

Page 190



145  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Accrual

An amount to cover income or spending 
that has not yet been paid but which 
belongs to that accounting period.

Actuary

An advisor on financial questions involving 
probabilities relating to mortality and other 
contingencies. Every three years the 
Scheme appointed actuary reviews the 
assets and the liabilities of the Fund and 
reports to the Strategic Finance Director 
(and Section 151 Officer) on the financial 
position. This is known as the triennial 
actuarial valuation.

Active Investment Management

A style of investment management where 
the fund manager aims to outperform a 
benchmark by superior asset allocation, 
market timing or stock selection (or by 
a combination of each).

Admitted Body

An organisation that chooses and is 
allowed by the scheme to be admitted to 
the LGPS using an Admission Agreement 
in order to provide access to the scheme 
for some or all of its employees.

Additional Voluntary Contributions 
(AVC’s)

Contributions over and above a member’s 
normal contributions which the member 
elects to pay in order to secure additional 
benefits.

Augmentation

This is when extra pension benefits can 
be bought for a pension scheme member. 
They are usually paid for by the employer 
or the pension scheme.

Benchmark

A target or measure against which 
performance is to be judged, which is 
commonly used to assess the investment 
performance of a fund or portfolio. 

Bid/Offer/Mid Price

Bid - The price at which a Market-maker 
or dealer is prepared to buy securities or 
other assets. 
Offer - The price at which a Market-maker 
or dealer is prepared to sell securities or 
other assets. 
Mid - The average of the current bid and 
offer price.

Bond

Certificate of debt issued by a Government 
or company, promising regular payments 
on a specified date or range of dates, 
usually with final capital payment at 
redemption.

Consumer Price Index (CPI)

Measure of price inflation in the UK. Differs 
from the RPI in the range of goods and 
services included, and the way the index 
is constructed.

Deferred Retirement Benefit

A retirement benefit that a member has 
accrued but is not yet entitled to receive.  

Derivatives

See definition on note N17, page 68.

Equities

Share in the ownership of a company, 
giving the holder the right to receive 
distributed profits and to vote at annual 
general meetings of the company. A term 
used for ordinary shares.

Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs/ET’s)

A fund that tracks a selection or ‘basket’ 
of related securities within a stock market 
index but can be traded on an exchange 
like a stock or share. 

Fair Value

A price deemed to accurately reflect the 
value of a security based on measurable 
valuation fundamentals. Considered to be 
an equitable valuation from the point of 
view of both buyer and seller.

FTSE

Indices maintained by the FTSE Group 
(an independent company originally set 
up by the Financial Times and the London 
Stock Exchange) which measures the 
performance of the shares listed on the 
London Stock Exchange.

Funding Level

The relationship at a specified date 
between the actuarial value of assets and 
the actuarial liability. Normally expressed 
as a funding ratio or percentage. Used 
as a measure of the fund’s ability to meet 
future liabilities.

Futures Contracts

A contract which binds two parties to 

complete a sale or purchase at a specified 
future date at a price which is fixed at 
the time the contract is effected. Futures 
contracts have standard terms. Margin 
(deposit) payments are required, and 
settlement dealt via a clearing house.

Gilts

A bond issued by the UK Government and 
so-called because certificates used to be 
gilt-edged.

Global Custodian

An organisation which is responsible 
for the safe-keeping of assets, income 
collection and settlement of trades, 
independent of the asset management 
function.

Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP)

The minimum pension which a salary 
related occupational pension scheme 
must provide in respect of contracted out 
contributions paid between April 1978 and 
1997, as a condition of contracting out of 
the state-earnings related pension scheme 
(SERPS).

Hedge

A means of protecting against financial 
loss, normally by taking an offsetting 
position in a related investment.

Index Tracking

An investment process which aims to 
match the returns on a particular market 
index either by holding all the stocks in 
the particular index or, more commonly 
a mathematically calculated sample of 
stocks that will perform as closely as 
possible to the index.

Investment Management Agreement

The document agreed between an 
investment manager and the Fund setting 
out the basis upon which the manager will 
manage a portfolio of investments for the 
Fund.

Investment Strategy

The Fund’s long-term distribution of assets 
amongst various asset classes, taking into 
consideration, for example, the goals of 
the Pension Committee and their attitude 
to risk and timescale.

Leverage

The use of borrowed money to over-invest 

Glossary of Terms

Page 191



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  146

a portfolio which magnifies both gains and 
losses. This may be achieved by derivative 
instruments. Also refers to the debt/equity 
ratio in a company’s balance sheet.

Managed Fund
A pooled fund that invests across a wide 
range of asset classes. (See Pooled 
Investment Vehicle).

Market Value
The price at which an asset might 
reasonably be expected to be sold in 
an open market.

Membership
Local authority employment during which 
time pension contributions were made 
or deemed to have been made providing 
entitlement to benefits under the scheme.

MSCI Index
Indices maintained and produced by 
Morgan Stanley Capital International 
that track equity markets throughout the 
world. MSCI indexes are weighted by 
market capitalisation and include various 
countries, regions and industries in both 
developed and emerging markets.

Net Asset Value (NAV)
The value in a company or mutual fund, 
calculated by subtracting total debt from 
total assets and dividing the result by the 
number of shares or units in existence.

Notional Value
The value of a derivative’s underlying 
assets.

Open Ended Investment Company 
(OEIC)
A pooled investment vehicle structured 
as a limited company. Investors can buy 
and sell shares on an on-going basis.

Options
The right but not the obligation to buy 
(call option) or sell (put option) a specific 
security at a specified price (the exercise 
or strike price), at or within a specified time 
(the expiry date). This right is obtained 
by payment of an amount (known as the 
premium) to the writer (seller) of the option, 
and can be exercised whatever happens 
to the security’s market price.

Over The Counter (OTC)
Any market which does not operate 
through a recognised exchange.

Pensionable Earnings
The earnings on which benefits and/or 
contributions are calculated under the 
scheme rules.

Performance Measurement

Calculation of a fund’s historic return on 
its investments.

PIRC

PIRC is an independent research and 
advisory consultancy providing services 
to institutional investors on corporate 
governance and corporate social 
responsibility.

Pooled Investment Vehicle

A fund in which a number of investors 
pool their assets, which are managed on 
a collective basis. The assets of a pooled 
investment vehicle are denominated 
in units that are re-valued regularly to 
reflect the values of underlying assets. 
Vehicles include: open ended investment 
companies, real estate investment trusts 
and unit trusts.

Projected Unit Method

An accrued benefits funding method 
in which the actuarial liability makes 
allowance for projected pensionable pay. 
The standard contribution rate is that 
necessary to cover the cost of all benefits 
which will accrue in the control period 
following the valuation date by reference 
to pensionable pay projected to the dates 
on which benefits become payable. 

Quoted Investments

Investments that have their prices quoted 
on a recognised stock exchange.

Realised Gains/ (Losses)

Profit/(losses) on investments when they 
are sold at more/(less) than the purchase 
price.

Retail Price Index (RPI)

Measure of price inflation in the UK. The 
RPI measures the average change from 
month to month in the prices of goods and 
services purchased by most households 
in the UK.

Risk

The likelihood of a return different from that 
expected and the possible extent of the 
difference. It can also indicate the volatility 
of different assets.

Securities

General name for stocks and shares of 
all types that can be traded freely on the 
open market.

Segregated Fund

Where the assets of a particular fund are 
managed independently of those of other 
funds under the fund manager’s control.

Specialist Management

When an investment manager’s mandate 
is restricted to a specific asset class 
or sector. The Pension Committee 
determines allocations to each asset class.

Strategic Asset Allocation

The process of dividing investments 
between the main asset classes to meet 
the Fund’s risk and return objectives.

Transfer Payment

A payment made from one pension 
scheme to another pension scheme 
in lieu of benefits which have accrued 
to the member or members concerned, 
to enable the receiving pension scheme 
to provide alternative benefits.

Transfer Value

The amount of the transfer payment.

Unitised Insurance Policy

Investors are issued with a life policy 
representing title. Investors’ ‘holdings of 
units’ represent a means of calculating the 
value of their policy. The life fund/company 
holds the pool of investments and is the 
owner of all the assets. 

Unit Trust

Unit trusts are collective funds which allow 
private investors to pool their money in a 
single fund, thus spreading risk, getting the 
benefit of professional fund management 
and reducing dealing costs. Unit trust 
trading is based on market forces and their 
net asset value - that is the value of their 
underlying assets divided by the number 
of units in issue. The activities of unit trusts 
are regulated by the FCA.

Universe

Term sometimes used to describe the total 
number of funds in a performance survey.

Unlisted Securities

Stocks and shares not available for 
purchase or sale through the stock market.

Unquoted Investments

Stocks that are not listed on an exchange 
and so have no publicly stated price.

Venture Capital

Investment in a company that is at a 
relatively early stage of development 
and is not listed on a stock exchange. 
A venture capitalist raises money from 
investors to invest in such opportunities.  
These investments are typically risky but 
potentially very profitable.

Page 192



147  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Notes

Page 193



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  148Page 194



149  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]

Notes

Page 195



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2018-2019 ]  150Page 196



The Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 

Pension Board – Annual Report 2018/19

All Public Sector Pension schemes were required, under the Public Service Pensions 
Act 2013, to set up a Pension Board with effect from 2015/16, to assist the 
administering authorities of their Pension scheme in ensuring compliance with LGPS 
and other pension regulations.

The County Council, as administering authority of the Gloucestershire LGPS agreed 
the terms of reference of the Pension Board in February 2015. These terms of 
reference are included within the Pension Fund's Governance Policy document, and 
this is on pages XX to XX of the Pension Fund’s Annual Report for 2018/19.

Employers, scheme members and the relevant unions were invited to be considered 
to become members of the Pension Board and the following make up the current 
membership of the Board.

Chair
Sean Collins – Head of Pensions for the Oxfordshire Pension Fund.

Employer representatives
Cllr Nigel Moor (Gloucestershire County Council)
Annette Benson (University of Gloucestershire) 

Scheme member representatives
Owen Shaw
Jon Topping

Taking account of the relevant LGPS regulations and guidance, the Gloucestershire 
LGPS decided to appoint an independent non voting chair of the Pension Board. An 
independent chair of the Pension Board cannot have any involvement (e.g. through 
membership or employer links) with the local pension scheme they would be chairing, 
but having good experience and knowledge of the LGPS would be advantageous and 
would assist the other Board members in their role. To comply with these 
requirements the Gloucestershire LGPS invited the Head of the Pension Fund at the 
Oxfordshire LGPS, Sean Collins, to become chair of the Gloucestershire Pension 
Board. 

There were two meetings of the Board in relation to the 2018/19 financial year. These 
meetings were attended by the vast majority of the Board members, with only one 
apology being received for one of the meetings.

In addition to attendance at Board Meetings, members of the Pension Board are 
invited to attend joint training and update sessions with members of the Pension 
Committee. During 2018/19 a number of members from the Pension Board attended 
at each of the following training events:

Regional engagement event on the Brunel Pension Partnership

In house training event on Investment Risks and Rewards

Page 197

Agenda Item 9



Members of the Pension Board are also sent all agenda papers for the Pension 
Committee meetings, which they can attend as observers. The minutes of the 
Pension Board are reported to the next Pension Committee and Cllr Nigel Moor, as a 
member of the Board, attends to give a verbal update to the Committee on these 
minutes.

In relation to the financial year 2018/19 the Board have focused on the following key 
areas:

 The continued development of the Governments requirement for LGPS Funds 
to combine their investments in pools of at least £25 billion via one FCA 
regulated company. 

 The Risk Register. The Board reviewed the risk register at each meeting and 
made one recommendation for an amendment to the register, which was 
subsequently actioned.

 Pension Administration Arrangements. The Board considered a detailed 
performance report on the administration arrangements. The Board was very 
pleased to be informed that 100% of Annual Benefit Statements relating to 
2017/18 were issued by the statutory deadline of the end of August 2018 to 
active members set up on the Pensions Administration system. The Board 
also noted the significant improvement in performance against KPI’s included 
within the Pension Fund Business Plan.

In relation to pension administration arrangements, the board requested and 
were provided with, additional details on performance related issues. They 
also supported the request for additional staff to be recruited to meet the 
increased administrative demands of the career average local government 
pension scheme, which was subsequently agreed by the Pension Committee.

 The Annual Business Plan and Annual Report of the Pension Fund.

 Other areas considered by the Board in relation to 2018/19 included the draft 
guidance on LGPS asset pooling released by the Department for Communities 
and Local Government, with the Board receiving assurance that the Brunel 
Pension Partnership, which the Gloucestershire Fund has joined, already 
meets all of the substantive requirements included within the guidance.

Page 198



1

Pension Committee
20th September 2019

Pension Administration Performance Report 

Report of the Director of Finance

Pension Administration Performance in 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19

Table 1 – Summary Performance

Service Standards – 
Processing tasks within 
internal targets

Target 
Achievement 
%

2016/17 full 
year – 
Actual %

2017/18 full 
year – 
Actual %

2018/19 full 
year - 
Actual

Estimates to employees 
(15 days)

90% 66% 85% 96%

Retirements and lump 
sums (15 days)

90% 35% 75% 69%

Refunds Paid (15 days) 90% 70% 96% 98%
Death Grants Paid (8 
days)

90% 54% 74% 82%

2015/16 Annual Benefits 
Statements issued within 
the statutory deadline

100% 100% see 
note 1

100% see 
note 1

100% see 
note 1

“Transfers Out” Paid (15 
days)

90% 77% 92% 98%

Table 2 - 2018/19 Performance (full year)

Service Standards – 
Processing tasks within 
internal targets

Target 
Achievement 
%

No. 
Processed

No. 
processed 
on time

Actual % 
achievement

Average 
days 
taken

Estimates to employees 
(15 days)

90% 615 587 96% 7

Retirements and lump 
sums (15 days)

90% 858 592 69% 13

Refunds Paid (15 days) 90% 620 609 98% 7
Death Grants Paid (8 
days)

90% 79 65 82% 7

2017/18 Annual Benefits 
Statements issued 
within the statutory 
deadline

100% 34,617 see 
note 1

34,617 see 
note 1

100% see 
note 1

N/A

“Transfers Out” Paid (15 
days)

90% 147 144 98 5

Page 199

Agenda Item 10



2

Table 3- 2017/18 Performance (full year) 
Service Standards – 
Processing tasks within 
internal targets

Target 
Achievement 
%

No. 
Processed

No. 
processed 
on time

Actual % 
achievement

Average 
days 
taken

Estimates to employees 
(15 days)

90% 571 485 85% 10

Retirements and lump 
sums (15 days)

90% 768 575 75% 11

Refunds Paid (15 days) 90% 448 429 96% 6
Death Grants Paid (8 
days)

90% 61 45 74% 7

2016/17 Annual Benefits 
Statements issued 
within the statutory 
deadline

100% 31,190 see 
note 1

31,190 see 
note 1

100% see 
note 1

N/A

“Transfers Out” Paid (15 
days)

90% 132 122 92% 7

Table 4 - 2016/17 Performance (full year)
Service Standards – 
Processing tasks within 
internal targets

Target 
Achievement 
%

No. 
Processed

No. 
processed 
on time

Actual % 
achievement

Average 
days 
taken

Estimates to employees 
(15 days)

90% 669 441 66% 21

Retirements and lump 
sums (15 days)

90% 807 285 35% 17

Refunds Paid (15 days) 90% 290 203 70% 15
Death Grants Paid (8 
days)

90% 59 32 54% 10

2015/16 Annual Benefits 
Statements issued 
within the statutory 
deadline

100% 30,758 see 
note 1

30,758 see 
note 1

100% see 
note 1

N/A

“Transfers Out” Paid (15 
days)

90% 96 74 77% 12

Note 1 - Regarding Annual Benefits Statements, all of the year end returns from all employers were 

received by the Administration Team within the statutory deadline. All returns were matched to the 

pensioner records held within the Administration team, and where a definitive match was made, 100% 

of the Annual Benefit Statements were distributed to active and deferred members by the statutory 

deadline.

Recommendation

That the Committee notes the Pensions Administration Performance.

Contact Officer

Mark Spilsbury - Head of Pension Fund (01452 328920)

Page 200



Gloucestershire County Council
Pension Fund

Performance Report to June 30, 2019

P
age 201

A
genda Item

 11



Market Overview
Market Commentary 1

Client Information
Market Value by Manager 2

Total Client
Performance Overview 3
Performance Summary 4-6
Manager Attribution 7-8
Ex Post Risk 9-10

Disclaimer Page 11

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to June 30, 2019

Table of Contents

State Street Global Services Performance Services
Confidential

P
age 202



Market Commentary

 

 
 

Gloucestershire Q2 2019 
 
 

The second quarter proved a positive one for equities, helped by clear signs from central bankers that they are prepared to ease monetary policy to support economic growth. Bolstered by this 
prospect, equities rallied through June to push the MSCI AC World Index to a total return of 6.1% for the three months. However, the period was not stress-free amid a fracture in US-China trade 
talks, mixed economic data, and heightened geopolitical fears. 

The equity rally was fuelled by Federal Reserve hints it may cut rates even though the economy is healthy, unemployment is at a 50-year low and inflation is below target. The market has priced 
in up to 75 basis points of rate cuts, beginning as early as July. The European Central Bank surprised in June by also signalling a possible rate cut.  While the Bank of England flagged that rates 
could rise if exit from the European Union goes smoothly, prospects for a messy Brexit seemed to rise as Theresa May resigned and Boris Johnson looked to be her likely successor.  

Among commodities, gold benefited from growth concerns and negative bond yields, rising 9% in USD terms. Oil prices slipped amid downgrades to global demand estimates, higher inventories 
and increased US supply; Middle East tensions didn’t really disrupt this trend. Industrial metals dipped amid worries about Chinese demand in the absence of a US-China trade agreement.     

 
 

UK equities initially kept pace with other European markets, before steadily underperforming through much of the rest of the quarter. Investors welcomed the UK’s extension of its Brexit deadline 
to October 31, but ongoing political risk and a Conservative Party leadership contest weighed on relative stock market performance, and particularly on sterling. The UK Equity market returned 
3.3%, led by cyclical sectors such as technology and industrials, while ‘defensives’ such as utilities and consumer staples were among the weaker performers. 

 
Most European stock markets enjoyed gains, notwithstanding worries around trade, growth and Brexit. With ECB President Mario Draghi pledging that the central bank was prepared to cut rates 
or restart bond purchases, equities ended the quarter on a high. In aggregate the Europe ex UK Index was the best performing region area to a sterling investor, returning 8.8%.  

 
The US stock market recovered strongly from a sharp drop in May; en route to a record high, the US equity market posted its best June performance since 1955. It achieved a total return of 6.6% 
for the quarter to be up 13.8% for the last 12 months. Economically-sensitive sectors such as financials and materials outperformed, while energy and healthcare lagged.   
 
The Japan Index generated a total return of 2.7% in GBP terms helped by the stronger yen (-2.2% in local terms). In the wider Asia-Pacific region, measured by the Pacific ex Japan Index the 
aggregate return was 3.2% for the quarter. China (which makes up 30% of the Index) was a notable underperformer, recording a negative return of -1.6%. The best regional performers were 
Thailand up 12% and Australia where the market gained 9.9%.  

 

Fixed income returns were strong, with yields declining across curves as markets priced in the potential for interest cuts by increasingly dovish central banks worried about falling inflation and 
slowing economic activity. Sharp equity market declines in May amid fraught trade talks helped flows into fixed income assets, but bonds continued to gain through June even as equities rallied. 
Over the quarter the FTSE Gilts over 5 year index returned 1.8% and the FTSE UK Index Linked Gilts over 5 years returned 2.0%. The ICE BoAML Non Gilt Index returned 2.0%. 

 
Among developed market currencies, the British pound was the big story as it lost ground on all major counterparts. The Japanese yen was a particularly strong performer in gained 5.2% on 
sterling, while the euro climbed more than 3.8%.  The US dollar’s gains were more muted as rate cuts were perceived as increasingly more likely, though it still gained 2.4% on GBP.  

 
 The GBP three-month LIBOR rate was 0.2% for the quarter.  
 
Property returned 0.6% for the period. 
 

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to June 30, 2019

Market Overview

1 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 203



Fund Structure By Mandate

Manager Mandate Performance Target Benchmark Indices BMV '000s EMV '000s Difference Actual Weight

Aberdeen Standard UK Equity B/M +2% net FTSE All Share 2% Capped 1,194 1,194 0 0

Brunel – Fundrock UK Active Equity Benchmark FTSE All Share 365,801 377,263 11,462 15
Brunel – Colmore Infrastructure Benchmark Consumer Price Index 1,797 2,189 392 0
Brunel – Colmore Private Equity Benchmark MSCI ACWI 480 1,689 1,209 0
Aberdeen Standard - GARS Global Absolute Return Benchmark 6M GBP LIBOR +5% 78,167 79,332 1,165 3

Blackrock EM
Emerging Markets 
Passive

Benchmark MSCI Emerging Markets 142,740 147,175 4,435 6

Blackrock Global Global Equities B/M +1-2% gross MSCI ACWI 476,518 487,900 11,382 20
Brunel - LGIM Passive Low Carbon Eq Benchmark MSCI World Low Carbon 50,750 54,252 3,502 2
Brunel - LGIM Passive Developed Eq Benchmark FTSE World Developed 127,496 135,801 8,305 5

Brunel - LGIM Passive Dev. Eq Hedged Benchmark FTSE World Dev Hedged 124,997 129,021 4,024 5

Brunel - LGIM Passive Smart Beta Benchmark SciBeta Multifactor B/M 217,971 231,669 13,698 9

WAMCO Global Fixed Interest B/M +1% net
ICE BoAML Sterling Non 
Gilts

344,259 353,050 8,791 14

WAMCO GMS Global Multi Strategy FI Benchmark 3M GBP LIBOR +2% 183,405 190,082 6,677 8
Hermes Property B/M +0.5% net MSCI UK PPF Bal PUT 140,675 141,791 1,116 6
CBREI - GMM Property B/M +0.5% net MSCI All Bal Property Fund 61,678 62,093 415 3
Golub Private Debt Benchmark 3M GBP LIBOR +5% 20,145 23,572 3,427 1
Blue Bay Private Debt Benchmark 3M GBP LIBOR +5% 22,252 21,613 -639 1
Yorkshire Fund Manager/TVP Venture Capital n/a n/a 4,944 4,951 7 0
Cash Cash n/a n/a 8,055 30,761 22,706 1
Blackrock Cash Cash n/a n/a 39 40 1 0
Brunel PM Cash Cash n/a n/a 52 18 -34 0

0
Gloucestershire CC 2,373,413 2,475,456 102,043 100

Beginning Market Value as of Mar
31 2019

Quarterly Ending Market Value as
of Jun 30 2019 Difference Actual Weight

SciBeta Multi Factor Asia Pac 9,568,684 10,210,977 512,293 0.41

SciBeta Multi Factor Japan 17,660,806 17,707,069 46,264 0.72

SciBeta Multi Factor Nth America 142,913,329 153,262,487 9,782,159 6.19

SciBeta Multi Factor EMEA Ex UK 34,582,526 37,559,525 2,894,000 1.52

SciBeta Multi Factor UK 13,245,214 12,928,990 463,775 0.52

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to June 30, 2019

Market Value by Manager

2 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 204



Fund Performance - Net

Gloucestershire County Council Gloucestershire Strategic Benchmark

3 Month Fiscal YTD 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year Since Inception

-10.0

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

R
et

ur
n 

(%
)

Fund Performance - Net

Gloucestershire County Council Gloucestershire Strategic Benchmark

3 Month Fiscal YTD 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year Since Inception

-10.0

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

R
et

ur
n 

(%
)

3 Month
(%)

Fiscal YTD
(%)

1 Year
(%)

3 Year
(% p.a.)

5 Year
(% p.a.)

10 Year
(% p.a.)

Since Inception
(% p.a.)

Gloucestershire County Council 4.1 4.1 5.8 10.0 8.8 10.7 7.7

Gloucestershire Strategic Benchmark 3.6 3.6 6.3 9.4 9.5 10.8 8.2

Excess 0.5 0.5 -0.5 0.6 -0.7 -0.0 -0.5

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to June 30, 2019

Client Overview compared with Strategic Benchmark

3 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 205



Actual Performance v Strategic Benchmark
Ending

Market Value
(Million)

Weight
(%)

3 Month
(%)

Fiscal YTD
(%)

1 Year
(%)

3 Year
(% p.a.)

5 Year
(% p.a.)

10 Year
(% p.a.)

Since Inception
(% p.a.) Inception Date

Brunel UK Active Equity 377.3 15.2% 3.1 3.1 - - - - 9.3 Nov-18

FTSE All Share - - 3.3 3.3 - - - - 9.4 Nov-18

Excess - - -0.1 -0.1 - - - - -0.1 -

Brunel - PM Infrastructure 2.2 0.1% 6.3 6.3 - - - - -3.8 Jan-19

Consumer Price Index - - 0.8 0.8 - - - - 0.7 Jan-19

Excess - - 5.5 5.5 - - - - -4.5 -

Brunel - PM Private Equity 1.7 0.1% 9.0 9.0 - - - - 19.3 Mar-19

MSCI AC World Index - - 6.3 6.3 - - - - 8.9 Mar-19

Excess - - 2.7 2.7 - - - - 10.4 -

Aberdeen Standard GARS 79.3 3.2% 1.4 1.4 3.6 1.6 1.7 - 2.9 Nov-12

Aberdeen Standard GARS Benchmark - - 1.4 1.4 6.1 5.7 5.7 - 5.7 Nov-12

Excess - - -0.1 -0.1 -2.5 -4.1 -4.0 - -2.8 -

Blackrock Emerging Markets 147.2 5.9% 3.1 3.1 5.2 12.6 9.1 - 7.5 Jan-12

Blackrock EM Benchmark - - 3.0 3.0 5.0 12.5 8.7 - 7.2 Jan-12

Excess - - 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.4 - 0.3 -

Blackrock Global Equity 487.9 19.7% 6.7 6.7 9.1 15.1 13.6 13.8 10.4 Apr-05

Blackrock Global Equity Benchmark - - 6.1 6.1 9.7 13.5 12.6 12.6 9.7 Apr-05

Excess - - 0.6 0.6 -0.6 1.6 1.0 1.2 0.6 -

Passive Developed Equities 135.8 5.5% 6.5 6.5 7.5 - - - 7.5 Jul-18

FTSE World Developed - - 6.5 6.5 7.5 - - - 7.5 Jul-18

Excess - - 0.0 0.0 -0.0 - - - -0.0 -

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to June 30, 2019

Summary of Performance - Net

4 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 206



Actual Performance v Strategic Benchmark
Ending

Market Value
(Million)

Weight
(%)

3 Month
(%)

Fiscal YTD
(%)

1 Year
(%)

3 Year
(% p.a.)

5 Year
(% p.a.)

10 Year
(% p.a.)

Since Inception
(% p.a.) Inception Date

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged) 129.0 5.2% 3.2 3.2 2.7 - - - 2.7 Jul-18

FTSE World Developed Hedged - - 3.2 3.2 2.7 - - - 2.7 Jul-18

Excess - - 0.0 0.0 -0.1 - - - -0.1 -

Passive Low Carbon Equities 54.3 2.2% 6.9 6.9 8.0 - - - 8.0 Jul-18

MSCI Low Carbon Target - - 6.9 6.9 8.2 - - - 8.2 Jul-18

Excess - - -0.0 -0.0 -0.2 - - - -0.2 -

Passive Smart Beta 231.7 9.4% 6.3 6.3 7.8 - - - 7.8 Jul-18

SciBeta Multifactor Composite - - 6.3 6.3 8.0 - - - 8.0 Jul-18

Excess - - -0.1 -0.1 -0.3 - - - -0.3 -

WAMCO 353.0 14.3% 2.5 2.5 5.3 3.9 6.9 8.2 6.2 Apr-05

WAMCO Benchmark - - 2.0 2.0 5.7 3.6 7.3 7.6 6.7 Apr-05

Excess - - 0.5 0.5 -0.4 0.2 -0.4 0.6 -0.4 -

WAMCO GMS 190.1 7.7% 3.6 3.6 7.0 4.1 3.0 - 3.8 Sep-11

WAMCO GMS Benchmark - - 0.7 0.7 2.9 2.6 2.6 - 2.6 Sep-11

Excess - - 2.9 2.9 4.1 1.5 0.4 - 1.2 -

Hermes 141.8 5.7% 0.7 0.7 4.9 7.9 10.4 10.9 6.7 Apr-05

Hermes Benchmark - - 0.6 0.6 4.1 6.6 8.9 9.1 5.1 Apr-05

Excess - - 0.0 0.0 0.9 1.2 1.6 1.8 1.7 -

CBREI 62.1 2.5% 0.6 0.6 5.0 6.0 8.6 - 8.8 Jun-11

CBREI Benchmark - - 0.7 0.7 4.0 6.8 8.9 - 8.2 Jun-11

Excess - - -0.1 -0.1 1.0 -0.8 -0.3 - 0.6 -

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to June 30, 2019

Summary of Performance - Net

5 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 207



Actual Performance v Strategic Benchmark
Ending

Market Value
(Million)

Weight
(%)

3 Month
(%)

Fiscal YTD
(%)

1 Year
(%)

3 Year
(% p.a.)

5 Year
(% p.a.)

10 Year
(% p.a.)

Since Inception
(% p.a.) Inception Date

Golub 23.6 1.0% 5.2 5.2 13.3 - - - 10.4 Jul-17

Golub Benchmark - - 1.4 1.4 5.9 - - - 5.7 Jul-17

Excess - - 3.8 3.8 7.3 - - - 4.6 -

Bluebay 21.6 0.9% 1.7 1.7 8.6 - - - 7.2 Aug-17

Bluebay Benchmark - - 1.4 1.4 5.9 - - - 5.7 Aug-17

Excess - - 0.3 0.3 2.6 - - - 1.4 -

Yorkshire Fund Managers 5.0 0.2% 0.4 0.4 -11.0 - - - - Oct-17

Cash 30.8 1.2% 0.0 0.0 0.6 - - - - Oct-17

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to June 30, 2019

Summary of Performance - Net

6 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 208



Fund Weight Target Weight

Equities Fixed Interest Property Other
0.00

15.00

30.00

45.00

60.00

75.00

Fund Weight Target Weight

Equities Fixed Interest Property Other
0.00

15.00

30.00

45.00

60.00

75.00

Quarter Ending 30 June 2019
Market Value at End of Quarter

(£000)
Actual % Allocation at End of

Quarter Strategic Asset Allocation % % Difference

Gloucestershire County Council 2,475,456 100.00 100.00 -0.00

Equities 1,564,315 63.19 58.50 4.69

Aberdeen Standard Investments 1,194 0.05 0.00 0.05

Brunel UK Active Equity 377,263 15.24 13.00 2.24

Blackrock Emerging Markets 147,175 5.95 4.00 1.95

Blackrock Global Equity 487,900 19.71 19.00 0.71

Passive Low Carbon Equities 54,252 2.19 2.00 0.19

Passive Developed Equities 135,801 5.49 5.50 -0.01

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged) 129,021 5.21 5.50 -0.29

Passive Smart Beta 231,669 9.36 9.50 -0.14

Blackrock Cash 40 0.00 0.00 0.00

Fixed Interest 543,132 21.94 24.50 -2.56

WAMCO 353,050 14.26 17.00 -2.74

WAMCO GMS 190,082 7.68 7.50 0.18

Property 203,884 8.24 7.50 0.74

Hermes 141,791 5.73 5.00 0.73

CBREI 62,093 2.51 2.50 0.01

Other 164,125 6.63 9.50 -2.87

Aberdeen Standard GARS 79,332 3.20 4.00 -0.80

Golub 23,572 0.95 1.50 -0.55

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to June 30, 2019

Manager Attribution - Net

7 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 209



Quarter Ending 30 June 2019
Market Value at End of Quarter

(£000)
Actual % Allocation at End of

Quarter Strategic Asset Allocation % % Difference

Bluebay 21,613 0.87 2.00 -1.13

Yorkshire Fund Managers 4,951 0.20 0.00 0.20

Cash 30,761 1.24 0.00 1.24

Brunel - PM Cash 18 0.00 0.00 0.00

Brunel - PM Infrastructure 2,189 0.09 1.00 -0.91

Brunel - PM Private Equity 1,689 0.07 1.00 -0.93

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to June 30, 2019

Manager Attribution - Net

8 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 210



Risk v Return - over 3 years

Gloucestershire County Council Gloucestershire Strategic Benchmark Aberdeen Standard Investments Aberdeen Standard Benchmark Aberdeen Standard GARS Aberdeen Standard GARS Benchmark

Blackrock Emerging Markets Blackrock EM Benchmark Blackrock Global Equity Blackrock Global Equity Benchmark WAMCO WAMCO Benchmark WAMCO GMS WAMCO GMS Benchmark Hermes

Hermes Benchmark CBREI CBREI Benchmark

0.00 4.00 8.00 12.00 16.00 20.00 24.00

Risk (Standard Deviation)

0.00

4.00

8.00

12.00

16.00

20.00

24.00

A
nn

ua
liz

ed
  R

et
ur

n
Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to June 30, 2019

Ex Post Risk - Net

9 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 211



Risk Statistics by Manager - over 3 years
Annualized

Return
Standard
Deviation

Benchmark
Return

Benchmark
Standard Deviation Tracking Error Information Ratio

Gloucestershire County Council 10.0 6.7 9.4 6.5 1.2 0.5

Aberdeen Standard Investments 5.9 8.7 9.0 9.8 5.7 -0.5

Aberdeen Standard GARS 1.6 3.7 5.7 0.1 3.7 -1.1

Blackrock Emerging Markets 12.6 12.5 12.5 12.5 1.1 0.1

Blackrock Global Equity 15.1 10.1 13.5 10.0 1.8 0.9

WAMCO 3.9 6.6 3.6 6.9 1.2 0.2

WAMCO GMS 4.1 4.2 2.6 0.1 4.2 0.4

Hermes 7.9 2.1 6.6 2.7 2.9 0.4

CBREI 6.0 2.6 6.8 2.6 3.2 -0.2

Golub

Bluebay

Yorkshire Fund Managers

Cash

Blackrock Cash

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to June 30, 2019

Ex Post Risk - Net

10 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 212



This report was prepared for you by State Street Bank and Trust Company (or its affiliates, “State Street”) utilizing scenarios, assumptions and reporting formats as mutually agreed between you and State Street.  While reasonable
efforts have been made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained in this report, there is no guarantee, representation or warranty, express or implied, as to its accuracy or completeness.  This information is provided “as-
is” and State Street disclaims any and all liability and makes no guarantee, representation, or warranty with respect to your use of or reliance upon this information in making any decisions or taking (or not taking) any actions.  State
Street does not verify the accuracy or completeness of any data, including data provided by State Street for other purposes, or data provided by you or third parties.  You should independently review the report (including, without
limitation, the assumptions, market data, securities prices, securities valuations, tests and calculations used in the report), and determine that the report is suitable for your purposes.

State Street provides products and services to professional and institutional clients, which are not directed at retail clients.  This report is for informational purposes only and it does not constitute investment research or investment,
legal or tax advice, and it is not an offer or solicitation to buy or sell any product, service, or securities or any financial instrument, and it does not transfer rights of any kind (except the limited use and redistribution rights described
below) or constitute any binding contractual arrangement or commitment of any kind.  You may use this report for your internal business purposes and, if such report contains any data provided by third party data sources,
including, but not limited to, market or index data, you may not redistribute this report, or an excerpted portion thereof, to any third party, including, without limitation, your investment managers, investment advisers, agents,
clients, investors or participants, whether or not they have a relationship with you or have a reasonable interest in the report, without the prior written consent of each such third party data source.  You are solely responsible and
liable for any and all use of this report.

Copyright © 2019 State Street Corporation, All rights reserved.

P
age 213



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Performance Report ‐ Q2 to 30th June 2019
Performance by Manager vs Benchmark and Performance Target

Market Value 
31.03.19

Market 
Value 

30.06.19

Manager Mandate Inception Date £000's £000's
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark 

%
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark 

%
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark 

%
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark 

%

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Mandates
Aberdeen Standard ‐ GARS Global Absolute Return Nov‐12 78,167           79,332         1.4 1.4 3.6 6.1 1.6 5.7 2.9 5.7
Blackrock Emerging Markets Emerging Markets Passive Jan‐12 142,740        147,175       3.1 3.0 5.2 5.0 12.6 12.5 7.5 7.2
Blackrock Global Global Equities Apr‐05 476,518        487,900       6.7 6.1 9.1 9.7 15.1 13.5 10.4 9.7
WAMCO Global Fixed Interest Apr‐05 344,259        353,050       2.5 2.0 5.3 5.7 3.9 3.6 6.2 6.7
WAMCO GMS Global Multi Strategy FI Sep‐11 183,405        190,082       3.6 0.7 7.0 2.9 4.1 2.6 3.8 2.6
Hermes UK Property Apr‐05 140,675        141,791       0.7 0.6 4.9 4.1 7.9 6.6 6.7 5.1
CBREI Global Property Jun‐11 61,678           62,093         0.6 0.7 5.0 4.0 6.0 6.8 8.8 8.2
Golub Capital Partners Private Debt Jul‐17 20,145           23,572         5.2 1.4 13.3 5.9 ‐ ‐ 10.4 5.7
Bluebay Asset Management Private Debt Aug‐17 22,252           21,613         1.7 1.4 8.6 5.9 ‐ ‐ 7.2 5.7
Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP Venture Capital 4,944             4,951            ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
In‐house Cash Cash 8,055             30,761         ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Fund Manager Cash Cash 1,283             1,252            ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐
Brunel Pension Partnership Mandates
Brunel ‐ Fundrock UK Active Equity Nov‐18 365,801        377,263       3.1 3.3 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ 9.3 9.4
Brunel PP ‐ LGIM Low Carbon Equities Jul‐18 50,750           54,252         6.9 6.9 8.0 8.2 ‐ ‐ 8.0 8.2
Brunel PP ‐ LGIM Passive Developed Equities (Unhdg) Jul‐18 127,496        135,801       6.5 6.5 7.5 7.5 ‐ ‐ 7.5 7.5
Brunel PP ‐ LGIM Passive Developed Equities (Hdg) Jul‐18 124,997        129,021       3.2 3.2 2.7 2.7 ‐ ‐ 2.7 2.7
Brunel PP ‐ LGIM Smart Beta Jul‐18 217,971        231,669       6.3 6.3 7.8 8.0 ‐ ‐ 7.8 8.0
Brunel ‐ Colmore Infrastructure Jan‐19 1,797             2,189            6.3 0.8 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐3.8 0.7
Brunel ‐ Colmore Private Equity Mar‐19 480                1,689            9.0 6.3 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ 19.3 8.9
Gloucestershire Pension Fund Total 2,373,413     2,475,456    4.1 3.6 5.8 6.3 10.0 9.4 7.7 8.2

Key:
GARS ‐ Global Absolute Return Strategy
WAMCO ‐ Western Asset Management Company
GMS ‐ Global Multi Strategy
TVP ‐ Technology Venture Partners
Brunel PP ‐ Brunel Pension Partnership
LGIM ‐ Legal & General Investment Management
"Unhdg" ‐ Unhedged
"Hdg" ‐ Hedged

Non‐performance related changes in the quarter:
Capital commitments made to managers (£)
Golub 2,973,200.15                                                       
Bluebay 1,009,391.75‐                                                       
Brunel ‐ Colmore Infrastructure 247,029.35                                                           
Brunel ‐ Colmore Private Equity 1,189,421.09                                                       
Capital recall requested from manager (£)
Blackrock Global 20,000,000.00                                                     

3 Years to 30‐Jun‐19  
Annualised Return

1 Year to 30‐Jun‐19  Total 
Return

3 Months to 30‐Jun‐19 Total 
Return

Since Inception to 30‐Jun‐19  
Annualised Return

P
age 215



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 217

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 229

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 247

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 249

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 253

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 263

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 273

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes -
	May 19

	6 Presentation on Responsible Investment
	7 Risk Register
	Risk Register for Sept 2019 Pension Committee

	8 Draft Pension Fund Annual Report
	Pension Committee Item 8 - Draft Annual Report

	9 Pension Board Annual Report
	10 Pension Administration Performance Report
	11 Market Valuations & Quarterly Performance Review of Pension Fund : Quarter 2 2019
	Pension Committee Item 11 - Performance Report - Q2 Summary to 30 June 2019

	13 Exempt Minutes
	14 Independent Advisors Quarterly Review
	15 Admission Body Requests
	16 Review of Strategic Asset Allocation
	Gloucestershire Strategy Review Proposal - MJ Hudson Allenbridge

	17 Ill Health Pension Strain Costs
	18 Brunel Pension Partnership Update

